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o We are dependent on patents and proprietary technology. If we fail to adequately protect this intellectual property or if we otherwise do
not have exclusivity for the marketing of our products, our ability to commercialize products could suffer. e If we infringe the rights of third
parties, we could be prevented from selling products, forced to pay damages and / or royalties, and forced to defend against litigation. ®¢ We
rely on trade secrets and other forms of non- patent intellectual property protection. If we are unable to protect our trade secrets, other
companies may be able to compete more effectively against us. ® Changes in trade policy, including the imposition of tariffs, may adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. e If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties
or if we are forced to engage in an interference proceeding, it will be costly and time- consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that
litigation or interference would have a material adverse effect on our business. ® Third- party relationships are important to our business. If
we are unable to maintain our collaborations or enter into new relationships, or if these relationships are not successful, our business could
be adversely affected. ® Our headquarters, research and development and other significant operations are located in Israel, and, therefore,
our results may be adversely affected by political, economic and military instability in Israel, including the recent war with Hamas and other
terrorist organizations from the Gaza Strip and other Middle Eastern countries. ® Qur product candidates rely on the availability of
specialty raw materials, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. ® A significant number of shares of our Common
Stock are subject to issuance upon exercise of outstanding warrants, pre- funded warrants and options or conversion of our Convertible
Preferred Stock, which upon exercise or conversion may result in dilution to our security holders. ¢ The market price of our Common Stock
and other securities may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for purchasers of our Common Stock.
e Our success depends, in part, on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. PART I ITEM
1. BUSINESS Overview We are a clinical stage product discovery company developing products using both natural and engineered phage
technologies designed to target and kill specific harmful bacteria associated with chronic diseases, such as cystic fibrosis, or CF and diabetic
foot osteomyelitis, or DFO. Bacteriophage or phage are bacterial, species- specific, strain- limited viruses that infect, amplify and kill the
target bacteria and are considered inert to mammalian cells. By utilizing proprietary combinations of naturally occurring phage and by
creating novel phage using synthetic biology, we develop phage- based therapies intended to address both large- market and orphan
diseases. Based on the urgency of treating the infection (whether acute or chronic), the susceptibility of the target bacteria to phage (e. g. the
ability to identify a phage cocktail that would target a broad range of bacterial strains) and other considerations, we offer two phage- based
product types: (1) Fixed cocktail therapy — in this approach a single product containing a fixed number of selected phages is developed to
cover a wide range of bacterial strains, thus allowing treatment of broad patient populations with the same product. Fixed cocktails are
developed using our proprietary BOLT platform, in which high throughput screening, directed evolution, and bioinformatic approaches are
leveraged to produce an optimal phage cocktail. (2) Personalized therapy — in this approach a large library of phages is developed, of which
single optimal phages are personally matched to treat specific patients. Matching optimal phages with patients is carried out using a
proprietary phage susceptibility testing, or PST, where multiple considerations are analyzed simultaneously — allowing for an efficient
screen of the phage library while maintaining short turnaround times. In our therapeutic programs, we focus on using phage therapy to
target specific strains of pathogenic bacteria that are associated with diseases. Qur phage- based product candidates are developed utilizing
our BOLT proprietary research and development platform. The BOLT platform is unique, employing cutting edge methodologies and
capabilities across disciplines including computational biology, microbiology, synthetic engineering of phage and their production bacterial
hosts, bioanalytical assay development, manufacturing and formulation, to allow agile and efficient development of natural or engineered
phage combinations, or cocktails. The cocktail contains phage with complementary features and is optimized for multiple characteristics
such as broad target host range, ability to prevent resistance, biofilm penetration, stability and ease of manufacturing. Our goal is to develop
multiple products based on the ability of phage to precisely target harmful bacteria and on our ability to screen, identify and combine
different phage, both naturally occurring and created using synthetic engineering, to develop these treatments. Our Product Pipeline The
chart below identifies our product candidates’ pipeline, their current status and expected timing for upcoming milestones. We do not have
any products approved or available for sale, our product candidates are still in the preclinical and clinical development stages, and we have
not generated any revenue from product sales. Ongoing Programs BX004 — Treatment of Cystic Fibrosis BX004 is our therapeutic phage
product candidate under development for chronic pulmonary infections caused by Pseudomonas aeruginosa, or P. aeruginosa, a main
contributor to morbidity and mortality in patients with CF. Enhanced resistance to antibiotics develops, particularly in CF patients, due to
extensive drug use consisting of prolonged and repeated broad- spectrum antibiotic courses often beginning in childhood, and leading to the
appearance of multidrug- resistant strains. In preclinical in vitro studies, BX004 was shown to be active against antibiotic resistant strains of
P. aeruginosa and demonstrated the ability to penetrate biofilm, an assemblage of surface- associated microbial cells enclosed in an
extracellular polymeric substance and one of the leading causes for antibiotic resistance. The Phase 1b / 2a trial in CF patients with chronic
respiratory infections caused by P. aeruginosa. was comprised of two parts. The study design was based on recommendations from the
Cystic Fibrosis Therapeutic Development Network. In February 2023, we announced positive results from Part 1 of the Phase 1b / 2a trial
evaluating BX004. Part 1 evaluated the safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, or PK, and microbiologic activity of BX004 over a 7- day
ascending treatment period in nine CF patients (7 on BX004, 2 on placebo) with chronic P. aeruginosa pulmonary infection in a single
ascending dose and multiple dose design. Results from Part 1 of the Phase 1b / 2a trial included the following findings: No safety events
related to treatment with BX004 occurred; Mean P. aeruginosa colony forming units, or CFU, at Day 15 (compared to baseline):- 1. 42 log
(BX004) vs.- 0. 28 log (placebo). This reduction was seen on top of standard of care inhaled antibiotics; Phage were detected in all patients
treated with BX004 during the dosing period, including in several patients up to Day 15 (one week after end of therapy); no phage were
detected in patients receiving placebo; there was no evidence of treatment- related resistance to BX004 during or after treatment, compared
to placebo; and as expected due to the short duration of treatment, there was no detectable effect on % predicted forced expiratory volume
in 1 second, or FEV1. In November 2023, we announced positive topline results from Part 2 of the Phase 1b / 2a trial evaluating BX004. The
objectives of Part 2 of the Phase 1b / 2a trial were to evaluate the safety and tolerability of BX004 in a larger number of CF patients dosed for
a longer treatment duration than Part 1 of the study, with the anticipation that the longer treatment might result in greater effects than in
the Part 1. In Part 2, 34 CF patients were randomized in a 2: 1 ratio with 23 CF patients receiving BX004 and 11 patients receiving placebo
via nebulization twice daily for 10 days. Key results from Part 2 of the Phase 1b / 2a trial included the following findings: e Study drug was
safe and well- tolerated, with no related SAEs (serious adverse events) or related APEs (acute pulmonary exacerbations) to study drug. e In
the BX004 arm, 3 out of 21 (14. 3 %) patients with quantitative CFU at baseline converted to sputum culture negative for P. aeruginosa after
10 days of treatment (including 2 patients after 4 days) compared to 0 out of 10 (0 %) in the placebo arm. e BX004 vs. placebo showed a
positive clinical effect in a predefined subgroup of patients with reduced baseline lung function (FEV1 <70 %). Difference between groups at



Day 17: relative FEV1 improvement of 5. 67 % (change from baseline 1. 46 vs.- 4. 21) and 8. 87 points in Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-
Revised (CFQR) respiratory symptom scale (change from baseline 2. 52 vs.- 6. 35). e In full population, BX004 vs. placebo P. aeruginosa
levels were more variable in sputum, potentially driven by aligning initiation of study drug administration with the initiation of standard of
care antibiotic treatment regimen. In a prespecified subgroup of patients on standard of care inhaled antibiotics on continuous regimen,
BX004 vs. placebo reduced sputum P. aeruginosa levels at Day 10: difference in change from baseline between groups of- 2. 8 logl0 CFU / g
sputum (change from baseline- 2. 91 vs- 0. 11), exceeding Part 1 results. ® Alternating / cycling background antibiotic regimen likely
associated with fluctuations in P. aeruginosa levels potentially confounding the ability to observe a P. aeruginosa reduction in this subgroup.
® During the study period, based on current available data, no evidence of treatment- related phage resistance was observed in patients
treated with BX004 compared to placebo. In August 2023, the FDA granted BX004 Fast Track designation for the treatment of chronic
respiratory infections caused by P. aeruginosa bacterial strains in patients with CF. In addition, in December 2023, BX004 received orphan
drug designation from the FDA. BiomX expects to initiate a randomized, double blind, placebo- controlled, multi- center Phase 2b study in
CF patients with chronic P. aeruginosa pulmonary infections in the second quarter of 2025. The study is designed to enroll approximately 60
patients randomized at a 2: 1 ratio to BX004 or placebo. Treatment is expected to be administered via inhalation twice daily for a duration
of 8 weeks. The study is designed to monitor the safety and tolerability of BX004 and is designed to demonstrate improvement in
microbiological reduction of P. aeruginosa burden and evaluation of effects on clinical parameters such as lung function measured by FEV1
and patient reported outcomes. BX004 Phase 2b topline results are anticipated in the first quarter of 2026. BiomX has been in
communication with the FDA and additional regulatory agencies regarding the potential to use Real- World Evidence, or RWE, to explore
the link between P. aeruginosa reduction and improved clinical outcomes. RWE is clinical evidence on the usage, benefits, or risks of a
medical product derived from real- world data, which includes sources such as electronic health records, claims data, patient registries,
wearable devices, and observational studies. We anticipate further discussion with the FDA and European Committee for Medicinal
Products for Human Use, or CHMP, in 2025 to discuss our proposed plan to use RWE to support potential future regulatory filings. BX211
— Treatment of Diabetic Foot Osteomyelitis (DFO) BX211 is a phage therapy for the treatment of DFO associated with Staphylococcus
aureus, or S. aureus. The personalized phage treatment tailors a specific phage selected from a proprietary phage- bank according to the
specific strain of S. aureus biopsied and isolated from each patient. DFO is a bacterial infection of the bone that usually develops from an
infected foot ulcer and is a leading cause of amputation in patients with diabetes. We believe that scientific literature demonstrating the
potential benefit in treating osteomyelitis using phage in animal models as well as numerous successful compassionate cases using phage
therapy to treat DFO patient support our approach of using phage therapy to treat DFO. The randomized, double- blind, placebo-
controlled, multi- center phase 2 study investigating the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of BX211 for subjects with DFO associated with S.
aureus enrolled 41 subjects randomized at a 2: 1 ratio to BX211 or placebo. BX211 or placebo is designed to be administered weekly, by
topical and intravenous, or IV route at week 1 and by the topical route only at each of weeks 2- 12. Over the 12- week treatment period, all
subjects will be treated in accordance with standard of care which includes antibiotic treatment as appropriate. Readout of study topline
results is expected at week 13 evaluating healing of the wound associated with osteomyelitis, and is expected in the first quarter of 2025. Non-
CF Bronchiectasis, or NCFB NCFB is a chronic, progressive inflammatory lung disease characterized by permanent dilation of the bronchi.
Affecting over 1 million diagnosed patients across the US, Europe, and Japan (according to Weycker, Chron Respir Dis. 2017, Quint,
European Respiratory Journal, 2016, Ringshausen, European Respiratory Journal, 2019, Henkle, Chest, 2018, Asakura, American Journal
of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2024, Insmed Commercial Presentation June 4th, 2024), NCFB is caused by multiple etiologies
but manifests with similar debilitating symptoms, including chronic cough, sputum production, and recurrent infections. Chronic P.
aeruginosa infections in NCFB patients are a main contributor to morbidity and mortality in this disease. In preclinical in vitro studies,
BX004 was shown to be active against antibiotic resistant strains of P. aeruginosa and demonstrated the ability to penetrate biofilm, an
assemblage of surface- associated microbial cells enclosed in an extracellular polymeric substance and one of the leading causes for antibiotic
resistance. Pending positive data of BX004 in our CF Phase 2b study, we will explore the feasibility of a Phase 2 study in NCFB as an
additional indication for BX004. National Institutes of Health, or NIH study in Cystic FibrosisWe are supporting a study conducted by the
NIH and The Antibacterial Resistance Leadership Group targeting P. Aeruginosa infections in CF patients under FDA emergency
Investigational New Drug, or eIND, allowance. The Phase 1b / 2, multi- centered, randomized, double- blind, placebo- controlled trial is
assessing the safety and microbiological activity of a single IV dose of bacteriophage therapy in cystic fibrosis subjects colonized with P.
aeruginosa. Programs on hold Prosthetic Joint Infections, or PJI Our personalized phage therapy for treating PJI targets multiple bacterial
organisms such as Staphylococcus aureus, Staphylococcus epidermidis and Enterococcus faecium. This treatment was granted Orphan-
drug designation by the FDA in July 2020. As of the date of this Annual Report, we have paused development efforts of this program due to
prioritizing resources towards our CF and DFO programs, and we cannot provide guidance on resuming its development. Discontinued
programs BX005 — Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis, or AD BX005 is our topical phage product candidate targeting Staphylococcus aureus,
or S. aureus, a bacterium associated with the development and exacerbation of inflammation in AD. S. aureus is more abundant on the skin
of AD patients than on the skin of healthy individuals and on lesional skin than non- lesional skin. It also increases in abundance, becoming
the dominant bacteria, when patients experience flares. By reducing the load of S. aureus, BX005 is designed to shift the skin microbiome
composition to its ¢ pre- flare’ state and potentially provide a clinical benefit. In preclinical in vitro studies, BX005 was shown to eradicate
over 90 % of strains, including antibiotic resistant strains, from a panel of S. aureus strains (120 strains isolated from skin of subjects from
the U. S. and Europe). On April 8, 2022, the FDA approved the Company’ s Investigational New Drug, or IND, application for BX005. In
2024, we discontinued the development of BX005, choosing instead to focus our resources on our Cystic Fibrosis and DFO programs. Our
Strategy Our goal is to develop multiple products based on the ability of phage to precisely target harmful bacteria and on our ability to
screen, identify and optimally combine different phage, both naturally occurring and generated using synthetic engineering, to develop these
treatments. We intend to continue to: ® Investigate clinical safety and efficacy of our lead phage- based product candidates to treat CF and
DFO; e Identify new pathogenic bacteria to be targeted by phage therapy for our existing indications and possible new indications; and e
Develop and partner microbiome- based biomarker tests, based on our proprietary XMarker platform, that can be used for disease
diagnosis or as companion diagnostics. Our phage discovery platform Our approach is driven by the convergence of several factors: a
rapidly increasing understanding of phage, including the links between phage behaviors and their genomes; growing evidence that the
presence of specific harmful bacteria may impact chronic diseases, such as CF, making them in principle, amenable to treatment with phage;
and by a growing number of anecdotal reports from different academic centers of successful compassionate use of phage to treat seriously ill
patients who were unresponsive to other therapies. We believe our phage therapeutic product candidates have the potential to treat
conditions and diseases by precisely targeting pathogenic bacteria without disrupting elements of the healthy microbiota. Our phage- based
product candidates, either fixed phage cocktails or personalized phage treatments, are developed utilizing our proprietary research and
development platforms, named BOLT and PST. The BOLT, platform is unique, employing cutting edge methodologies and capabilities
across disciplines including computational biology, microbiology, synthetic engineering of phage and their production bacterial hosts,
bioanalytical assay development, manufacturing and formulation, to allow agile and efficient development of natural or engineered phage
combinations, or cocktails. The PST platform utilizes proprietary assays to allow us to screen extensive phage libraries in search of optimal



phage for treatment of the specific target bacteria isolated from a given patient. BOLT is designed to allow the rapid development of
optimized phage cocktails. These cocktails may be comprised of naturally- occurring or synthetically engineered phage. The cocktail
contains phage with complementary features and is optimized for multiple characteristics such as broad target host range, ability to prevent
resistance, biofilm penetration, stability and ease of manufacturing. Pre- clinical development of the optimized phage cocktail is anticipated
to require 1- 2 years. We combine multiple technologies that originate from the laboratories of our scientific founders and that were
developed internally. Technologies that were developed by our scientific founders are described in leading scientific journals. One of our
scientific founders, Professor Rotem Sorek, a Professor in the Department of Molecular Genetics at the Weizmann Institute of Science, or
WIS, is a world leader in phage genomics and bacterial defense mechanisms. Another scientific founder, Professor Eran Elinav, a Professor
in the Department of Immunology at the WIS, is an expert in investigating the link between the microbiome and human health and disease.
Our third scientific founder, Professor Timothy K. Lu, is a world leader in synthetic biology approaches to engineering gene circuits and
phage, leading the Synthetic Biology Group in the Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science and the Department of
Biological Engineering at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. In addition, through the acquisition of the privately held Israel- based
company, RondinX Ltd. in 2017, we gained access to high throughput genomic analyses techniques developed by Professor Eran Segal, a
leading computational biologist from the Department of Computer Science and Applied Mathematics at the WIS. The combination of the
technologies and expertise from these leaders in each of their respective fields is critical in enabling us to focus on treating complex human
diseases and conditions by precise manipulation of the microbiome. Additionally, we developed proprietary assays and screening technology
for robust and high throughput testing PST. The PST platform combines state of the art automation with advanced microbiology assays.
The output is a reproducible conclusive decision for optimal phage matching, based on multiple factors, including success of phage infection,
suppression of resistant mutants, and antibiofilm activity. Manufacturing We have developed manufacturing processes that utilize state- of-
the- art industrial methods for the manufacturing of our product candidates. These processes are designed to comply with current Good
Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, with the appropriate scale to meet our clinical study needs, and to fulfill the requirements of regulators
for human studies. In February 2021, we consolidated our U. S. Good Manufacturing Practice, or GMP, manufacturing, testing and
development into a 6, 100 square feet space in our Gaithersburg facility and in March 2021, we moved into a new 6, S00 square feet
manufacturing facility in our headquarters, in Ness Ziona, Israel. Both facilities were designed to produce clinical quantities of our product
candidates required for early- stage clinical development with compliance suitable for this stage of development and to support eIND.
Currently, our use of these 2 facilities for GMP manufacturing has been put on hold while our in- house development activities continue to
support our projects in other ways. The Ness Ziona facility, which has currently been put on hold but can resume GMP manufacturing,
consists of two suites for drug substance phage production / development as well as formulation and final drug product production rooms to
support topical, oral, inhaled and injectable phage- based products in a liquid, cream, semi- solid or dry form. We no longer expect to use
our Gaithersburg facility for manufacturing. We currently operate a manufacturing model that combines in- house process development
and testing with the flexibility to outsource to third- party development, manufacturing, testing, and logistics organizations, when needed.
We maintain service agreements with multiple manufacturers, testing laboratories and a third- party logistics warehouse for product
candidate distribution. These service agreements are generally short- term in nature and can be extended or renewed. As such, for BX004,
we have engaged a third- party to supplement our in- house process development activities. We selected this organization based on its
experience, capability, capacity and regulatory status. Manufacturing and development projects are managed by a team of internal staff
who assure compliance with the technical aspects and regulatory requirements of the manufacturing process. While we do not have a
current need for a commerecial scale manufacturing capacity, at the appropriate time we intend to evaluate building large scale cGMP
internal manufacturing capabilities, which may include expansion of our operations. Intellectual Property We strive to protect the
proprietary technology that we believe is important to our business, including seeking and maintaining patent protection in the United
States and internationally for our product candidates and discovery platform. We also rely on trademarks, trade secrets, know- how,
copyrights, continuing technological innovation and in- licensing opportunities to develop and maintain our proprietary position. For more
information regarding the risks related to our intellectual property, see “ Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Licensed and Co- Owned
Intellectual Property. ” We plan to continue to expand our intellectual property estate by filing patent applications directed to formulations,
related methods of treatment, methods of manufacture or identification from our ongoing development of our product candidates, as well as
discovery based on our proprietary product platform. Our success will depend on our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other
proprietary protection for commerecially important technology, inventions and know- how related to our business, defend, and enforce any
patents that we may obtain, preserve the confidentiality of our trade secrets and know- how and operate without infringing the valid and
enforceable patents and proprietary rights of third parties. Because patent applications in the United States and certain other jurisdictions
are maintained in secrecy for 18 months or potentially even longer, and because publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent
literature often lags behind actual discoveries and patent application filings, we cannot be certain of the priority of inventions covered by
pending patent applications. Accordingly, we may not have been the first to invent the subject matter disclosed in some of its patent
applications or the first to file patent applications covering such subject matter, and we may have to participate in interference proceedings
or derivation proceedings declared by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, to determine priority of invention. Patent
portfolio Our patent portfolio consists of owned patent applications, as well as both licensed and co- owned patent applications (that are also
licensed). See “ Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Licensed and Co- Owned Intellectual Property. ” For some of these applications,
prosecution has not started, and others are in the early stages of prosecution in the United States and in selected jurisdictions outside of the
United States. We solely own eight patent families. We co- own one US patent family with Keio University in Tokyo, Japan, or Keio, one
international patent family (United States, Australia, Canada, European Patent Office national filings) with Yeda Research and
Development Company Limited, the technology transfer office of the WIS, or Yeda, and one international patent family (United States,
Europe) with both Keio and Yeda. We have an exclusive license from Yeda and Keio for these co- owned patent applications. We have
exclusive licenses from Yeda or Keio for the rest of the patents and patent applications in its portfolio. A significant portion of our portfolio
is directed to CF, as well as product candidates relevant to programs which we have stopped their development such as: AD, inflammatory
bowel disease, or IBD, primary sclerosing cholangitis and colorectal cancer, or CRC, as well as to our bacterial target discovery and
bacteriophage discovery technology platforms. Prosecution has yet to commence for most of the pending patent applications covering our
product candidates. Prosecution is a lengthy process, during which the scope of the claims initially submitted for examination by the USPTO
are often significantly narrowed by the time they issue, if they issue at all. We expect this to be the case with respect to our licensed and co-
owned patent applications, described briefly below. In connection with the Acquisition, we further enhanced our intellectual property
portfolio with the addition of APT’ s portfolio comprising of 7 issued or allowed patents, 19 patent families (including applications in United
States, Europe, Australia, Canada, China, India, Japan, Korea, Israel, Brazil, and South Africa). APT’ s patents and patent applications
consist of patents and patent applications with respect to pharmaceutical compositions and methods of treatment, methods of manufacture
of such compositions and expire between June 2037 and October 2043. We solely own two patent families (one at pre- PCT stage and a
second in national phase stage in United States, Australia, Canada, European Patent Office, Japan and China) containing claims directed to
pharmaceutical compositions comprising combinations of bacteriophage to treat chronic Pseudomonas lung infections, especially common



in CF patients, methods of use for these bacteriophage combinations, and methods of identifying patients who will respond to these
bacteriophage combinations. Any United States patents issuing from the pending application covering our lead bacteriophage combination
in this program, if issued, are expected to expire in 2042. Patent term adjustments or patent term extensions could result in later expiration
dates. DFOAD We solely own one patent family (United States, Australia, Canada, European Patent Office and Japan) containing claims
directed to pharmaceutical compositions comprising combinations of bacteriophage to treat staphylococcus aureus infections, common in
patients with DFO and in AD patients, methods of use for these bacteriophage combinations, and methods of identifying patients who will
respond to these bacteriophage combinations. Any United States patents issuing from the pending application covering our lead
bacteriophage combination in this program, if issued, are expected to expire in 2042. Patent term adjustments or patent term extensions
could result in later expiration dates. The term of individual patents depends upon the legal term of the patents in the countries in which
they are obtained. In most countries in which we file patent applications, including the United States, the base term is 20 years from the
filing date of the earliest- filed non- provisional patent application from which the patent claims priority. The term of a United States patent
can be lengthened by patent term adjustment, which compensates the owner of the patent for administrative delays at the USPTO. In some
cases, the term of a United States patent is shortened by a terminal disclaimer that reduces its term to that of an earlier- expiring patent.
The term of a United States patent may be eligible for patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch- Waxman Act, to account for at least some of the time the drug is under development and
regulatory review after the patent is granted. With regard to a drug for which FDA approval is the first permitted marketing of the active
ingredient, the Hatch- Waxman Act allows for extension of the term of one United States patent that includes at least one claim covering the
composition of matter of such an FDA- approved drug, an FDA- approved method of treatment using the drug and / or a method of
manufacturing the FDA- approved drug. The extended patent term cannot exceed the shorter of five years beyond the non- extended
expiration of the patent or fourteen years from the date of the FDA approval of the drug, and a patent cannot be extended more than once or
for more than a single product. During the period of extension, if granted, the scope of exclusivity is limited to the approved product for
approved uses. Some foreign jurisdictions, including Europe and Japan, have analogous patent term extension provisions, which allow for
extension of the term of a patent that covers a drug approved by the applicable foreign regulatory agency. In the future, if and when our
product candidates receive FDA approval, we expect to apply, if appropriate, for patent term extension on patents directed to those product
candidates, their methods of use and / or methods of manufacture. However, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities, including
the FDA in the United States, will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and if granted, the length of such
extensions. Trade Secrets and Know- How In addition to patents, we rely on trade secrets and know- how to develop and maintain our
competitive position. We typically rely on trade secrets to protect aspects of our business that are not amenable to, or that we do not
consider appropriate for, patent protection. We protect trade secrets and know- how by establishing confidentiality agreements and
invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, contractors and collaborators. These agreements
provide that all confidential information developed or made known during the course of an individual’ s or entities’ relationship with us
must be kept confidential during and after the relationship. These agreements also provide that all inventions resulting from work
performed for us or relating to our business and conceived or completed during the period of employment or assignment, as applicable, shall
be our exclusive property. In addition, we take other appropriate precautions, such as physical and technological security measures, to
guard against misappropriation of its proprietary information by third parties. Although we take steps to protect our proprietary
information and trade secrets, including through contractual means with our employees and consultants, third parties may independently
develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or disclose our
technology. Thus, we may not be able to meaningfully protect our trade secrets and benefit from the exclusive use thereof. For more
information regarding the risks related to our intellectual property, see “ Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Licensed and Co- Owned
Intellectual Property. ” The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, strong
competition and an emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe that our technology, knowledge and experience provide us with
competitive advantages, we face substantial competition from many different sources, including larger pharmaceutical companies with
more resources. Specialty biotechnology companies, academic research institutions, governmental agencies, as well as public and private
institutions are also potential sources of competitive products and technologies. We believe that the key competitive factors affecting the
success of any of our product candidates will include efficacy, safety profile, time to market, cost, level of promotional activity and
intellectual property protection. We are aware of a number of biotechnology companies developing bacteriophage products to treat diseases.
To our knowledge, several biotechnology companies, such as Locus Biosciences, Inc., Armata Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and SNIPR Biome, as
well as academic institutions, have discovery stage or clinical programs utilizing naturally occurring phage or synthetic biology approaches.
In addition, we are aware of several investigational and marketed products to treat the indications that we are targeting with our product
candidates, including, but not limited to: ® CF: Trikafta, Symdeco, Pulmozyme, Tobramycin, Aztreonam e DFO: TP- 102 being developed
by Technophage, a phage- based product being developed by PhaxiamMany of our competitors, either alone or with their strategic partners,
have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than ours and significantly greater experience in the discovery and
development of product candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products and the commercialization of those products.
Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful than us in discovering product candidates, obtaining approval for such product
candidates and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’ products may be more effective, or more effectively marketed
and sold, than any product we may commercialize and may render our product candidates obsolete or non- competitive before we can
recover the expenses of developing and commercializing any of our product candidates. We anticipate that we will face intense and
increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and advanced technologies become available. These third parties compete with us in
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing, sales and marketing and management personnel, establishing clinical
trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our program.
Sales and Marketing We intend to pursue the commercialization of our drug product candidates either by building internal sales and
marketing capabilities or through collaborations with others. Government Regulation Government authorities in the United States and
other countries regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling,
packaging, storage, record- keeping, promotion, advertising, distribution, post- approval monitoring and reporting, marketing and export
and import of drug and biological products. Generally, before a new drug or biologic can be studied in human clinical trials or marketed,
considerable data demonstrating its quality, safety, efficacy, purity, and / or potency must be obtained, organized into a format specific for
each regulatory authority, submitted for review and approved by the regulatory authority where the product is intended to be studied or
marketed. U. S. Biological Product Development Process In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and its implementing regulations under the FDCA, the Public Health Service Act, or the PHSA, and their
implementing regulations. Both drugs and biologics are also subject to other federal, state and local statutes and regulations. The process of
obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state and local statutes and regulations requires
the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with applicable U. S. requirements at any time during the
product development, approval, or post- marketing process may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions



could include, among other actions, the FDA’ s refusal to approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval or license revocation, a
clinical hold, untitled or warning letters, product recalls or market withdrawals, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production
or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution, disgorgement and civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or
judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on us. Certain of our current product candidates and future product
candidates must be approved by the FDA through a Biologics License Application, or BLA, process before they may be legally marketed in
the United States. The process generally involves the following. However, the new Trump administration may change or overhaul existing
drug regulations, which would lead to additional time and money to comply with: ¢ Completion of extensive preclinical studies in
accordance with applicable regulations, including studies conducted in accordance with GLP requirements, if needed; ® Submission to the
FDA of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin; ® Approval by an institutional review board, or IRB,
at each clinical trial site before each trial may be initiated; ® Performance of adequate and well- controlled human clinical trials in
accordance with applicable IND regulations, good clinical practice, or GCP, requirements and other clinical trial- related regulations to
establish the safety, purity, potency and efficacy of the investigational product for each proposed indication; ¢ Submission to the FDA of a
BLA; e A determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of a BLA to accept the application for review; e Satisfactory completion of
an FDA pre- approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities where the biologic will be produced to assess compliance with
c¢GMP requirements to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to preserve the biologic’ s identity, strength, quality and
purity; e Potential FDA audit of the clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the BLA; ® Payment of user fees for FDA review
of the BLA (unless a fee waiver applies); and e FDA review and approval of the BLA, including consideration of the views of any FDA
advisory committee, prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the biologic in the United States. Preclinical Studies and IND Preclinical
studies include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as in vitro and animal studies to establish a rationale for
therapeutic use and in some cases to assess the potential for adverse events. The conduct of preclinical studies is subject to federal
regulations and requirements, including in some cases GLP regulations for safety / toxicology studies. An IND sponsor must submit the
results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans
for clinical trials, among other things, to the FDA as part of an IND. An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an
investigational product to humans, and, must become effective before human clinical trials may begin. Some long- term preclinical testing
may continue after the IND is submitted. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time,
the FDA raises concerns or questions related to one or more proposed clinical trials and places the trial on clinical hold. In such a case, the
IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. As a result, submission of an IND may
not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. Clinical Trials Clinical trials involve the administration of the drug or biological
product candidate to healthy volunteers or disease- affected patients under the supervision of qualified investigators, generally physicians
not employed by, or under, the trial sponsor’ s control. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the
objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject selection and exclusion criteria, and the parameters to be used to monitor subject
safety and efficacy, including stopping rules that assure a clinical trial will be stopped if certain adverse events should occur. Each protocol
and any amendments to the protocol must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Clinical trials must be conducted and monitored in
accordance with the FDA’ s regulations comprising the GCP requirements, including the requirement that all research subjects provide
informed consent. Further, each clinical trial must be reviewed and approved by an IRB at or servicing each institution at which the clinical
trial will be conducted. An IRB is charged with protecting the welfare and rights of study participants and considers such items as whether
the risks to individuals participating in the clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also
approves the form and content of the informed consent that must be signed by each clinical trial subject or his or her legal representative
and must monitor the clinical trial until completed. There are also requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and
completed clinical trial results to public registries. Information about certain clinical trials, including clinical trial results, must be submitted
within specific timeframes for publication on the www. clinicaltrials. gov website. Clinical trials generally are conducted in three sequential
phases, known as Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3, and may overlap. e Phase 1 clinical trials generally involve a small number of healthy
volunteers or disease- affected patients who are initially exposed to a single dose and then multiple doses of the product candidate. The
primary purpose of these clinical trials is to assess the metabolism, pharmacologic action, side effect tolerability and safety of the product
candidate. @ Phase 2 clinical trials generally involve studies in disease- affected patients to evaluate proof of concept and / or determine the
dosing regimen (s) for subsequent investigations. At the same time, safety and sometimes further pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic
information is collected, possible adverse effects and safety risks are identified and a preliminary evaluation of efficacy is conducted. ® Phase
3 clinical trials generally involve a large number of patients at multiple sites and are designed to provide the data necessary to demonstrate
the effectiveness of the product for its intended use, its safety in use and to establish the overall benefit / risk relationship of the product and
provide an adequate basis for labeling for new drugs. Post- approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials, may be
conducted after initial marketing approval. These trials are conducted to gain additional experience from the treatment of patients in the
intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials as a condition of
approval of a BLA. Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials, among other information, must be submitted at least annually
to the FDA and written IND safety reports must be submitted to the FDA and the investigators for serious and unexpected suspected adverse
events, findings from other studies or animal or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk for human subjects and any clinically
important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or investigator brochure. It is possible
for Phase 1, Phase 2, Phase 3 and other types of clinical trials not to be completed successfully within a specified period, if at all. The FDA or
the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the patients are being exposed
to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is
not being conducted in accordance with the IRB’ s requirements or if the tested biological product has been associated with unexpected
serious harm to patients. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the
clinical trial sponsor, or the Data Safety Monitoring Board. This group provides authorization for whether a trial may move forward at
designated check points based on access to certain data from the trial. Concurrent with clinical trials, companies may complete additional
animal studies and also must develop additional information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the biologic as well as
finalize a process for manufacturing the product in commercial quantities in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing
process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the product and, among other things, companies must develop methods
for testing the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and tested,
and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the product candidates do not undergo unacceptable deterioration over their
shelf life. FDA Review Process Following completion of the clinical trials, data are analyzed to assess whether the investigational product is
safe and effective for the proposed indicated use or uses and also meets the regulatory requirements for potency and purity. The results of
preclinical studies and clinical trials are then submitted to the FDA as part of a BLA, along with proposed labeling, chemistry and
manufacturing information to ensure product quality and other relevant data. The BLA is a request for approval to market the biological
product for one or more specified indications and must contain proof of safety, purity and potency. The application may include both



negative and ambiguous results of preclinical studies and clinical trials, as well as positive findings. Data may come from company-
sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and efficacy of a product’ s use or from a number of alternative sources, including studies
initiated by investigators. To support marketing approval, the data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the
safety and efficacy in the intended indication, purity and potency of the investigational product to the satisfaction of the FDA. FDA approval
of a BLA must be obtained before a biologic may be marketed in the United States. Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA,
as amended, each BLA must be accompanied by a user fee. The FDA adjusts the PDUFA user fees on an annual basis. Fee waivers or
reductions are available in certain circumstances, including a waiver of the application fee for the first application filed by a small business.
Additionally, no user fees are assessed on BLAs for products designated as orphan drugs, unless the product also includes a non- orphan
indication. The FDA reviews all submitted BLAs before it accepts them for filing and may request additional information rather than accept
the BLA for filing. The FDA must make a decision on accepting a BLA for filing within 60 days of receipt, and such a decision could include
a refusal to file by the FDA. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in- depth review of the BLA. Under the goals and
policies agreed to by the FDA under PDUFA, the FDA has 10 months, from the filing date, in which to complete its initial review of an
original BLA and respond to the applicant, and 6 months from the filing date of an original BLA designated for priority review. The FDA
does not always meet its PDUFA goal dates for standard and priority BLAs, and the review process is often extended by FDA requests for
additional information or clarification. Before approving a BLA, the FDA will conduct a pre- approval inspection of the manufacturing
facilities for the new product to determine whether they comply with cGMP requirements. The FDA will not approve the product unless it
determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent
production of the product within required specifications. The FDA also may audit data from clinical trials to ensure compliance with GCP
requirements. Additionally, the FDA may refer applications for novel products or products which present difficult questions of safety or
efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation
as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions, if any. The FDA is not bound by recommendations of an
advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations when making decisions on approval. The FDA likely will reanalyze the clinical
trial data, which could result in extensive discussions between the FDA and the applicant during the review process. After the FDA evaluates
a BLA, it will issue an approval letter, or a Complete Response Letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the biologic
with specific prescribing information for specific indications. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application
is complete and the application will not be approved in its present form. A Complete Response Letter usually describes all the specific
deficiencies in the BLA identified by the FDA. The Complete Response Letter may require additional clinical data and / or other significant
and time- consuming requirements related to clinical trials, preclinical studies or manufacturing. If a Complete Response Letter is issued,
the applicant may either resubmit the BLA, addressing all the deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the application. Even if such
data and information are submitted, the FDA may decide that the BLA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Data obtained from clinical
trials are not always conclusive and the FDA may interpret data differently than the sponsor’ s interpretation of the same data. Orphan
Drug Designation Under the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, or the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan designation to a drug or
biological product intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally a disease or condition that affects fewer than 200, 000
individuals in the United States, or more than 200, 000 individuals in the United States and for which there is no reasonable expectation that
the cost of developing and making the product available in the United States for this type of disease or condition will be recovered from sales
of the product. Orphan drug designation for a biological product must be requested before submitting a BLA. After the FDA grants orphan
drug designation, the identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. orphan drug
designation does not convey any advantage in or shorten the duration of the regulatory review and approval process. Orphan drug
designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax advantages and
user- fee waivers. If a product that has orphan designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease or condition for
which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the same indication for seven years from the date of such approval, except in limited
circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the product with orphan exclusivity by means of greater effectiveness, greater
safety or providing a major contribution to patient care, or in instances of drug supply issues. Competitors, however, may receive approval
of either a different product for the same indication or the same product for a different indication but that could be used off- label in the
orphan indication. Orphan drug exclusivity also could block the approval of one of our products for seven years if a competitor obtains
approval before we do for the same product, as defined by the FDA, for the same indication we are seeking approval, or if our product is
determined to be contained within the scope of the competitor’ s product for the same indication or disease. If one of our products
designated as an orphan drug receives marketing approval for an indication broader than that which is designated, it may not be entitled to
orphan drug exclusivity. In December 2023, BX004, received orphan drug designation from the FDA. Expedited Development and Review
Programs The FDA has a fast- track program that is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new drugs and biologics
that meet certain criteria. Specifically, new drugs and biologics are eligible for fast- track designation if they are intended to treat a serious
or life- threatening condition and preclinical or clinical data demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition.
Fast track designation applies to the combination of the product and the specific indication for which it is being studied. Any product
submitted to the FDA for marketing, including under a fast- track program, may be eligible for other types of FDA programs intended to
expedite development and review, such as priority review and accelerated approval. A product is eligible for priority review if it treats a
serious or life- threatening condition and, if approved, would provide a significant improvement in safety and effectiveness compared to
available therapies. The FDA will attempt to direct additional resources to the evaluation of an application for a new drug or biologic
designated for priority review in an effort to facilitate the review. A product may also be eligible for accelerated approval if it treats a serious
or life- threatening condition and demonstrates an effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on a
clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect
on IMM or other clinical benefit. As a condition of approval, the FDA generally requires that a sponsor of a drug or biologic receiving
accelerated approval perform adequate and well- controlled post- marketing clinical trials to demonstrate clinical benefit. Products
receiving accelerated approval may be subject to expedited withdrawal procedures if such clinical trials fail to verify the predicted clinical
benefit or if the sponsor fails to conduct such trials in a timely manner. Additionally, a drug or biologic may be eligible for designation as a
breakthrough therapy if the product is intended, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, to treat a serious or life-
threatening condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the product may demonstrate substantial improvement over currently
approved therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints. The benefits of breakthrough therapy designation include the same
benefits as fast- track designation, plus intensive guidance from the FDA to ensure an efficient drug development program. Even if a product
qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer meets the conditions for qualification or
the time period for FDA review or approval may not be shortened. Furthermore, fast track designation, priority review, accelerated
approval and breakthrough therapy designation do not change the standards for approval, but may expedite the development or approval
process. Pediatric Information Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, or PREA, a BLA or supplement to a BLA must contain



data to assess the safety and efficacy of the biologic for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing
and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for
submission of pediatric data or full or partial waivers. A sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a drug that includes
a new active ingredient, new indication, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration must submit an initial
Pediatric Study Plan, or PSP, within 60 days of an end- of- Phase 2 meeting or, if there is no such meeting, as early as practicable before the
initiation of the Phase 3 or Phase 2 / 3 study. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans
to conduct, including study objectives and design, age groups, relevant endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including
such detailed information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to provide
data from pediatric studies along with supporting information. The FDA and the sponsor must reach an agreement on the PSP. A sponsor
can submit amendments to an agreed- upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be considered based on data
collected from preclinical studies, early phase clinical trials and / or other clinical development programs. Post- marketing Requirements
Following approval of a new product, the manufacturer and the approved product are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA,
including, among other things, monitoring and record- keeping activities, reporting of adverse experiences, complying with promotion and
advertising requirements, which include restrictions on promoting products for unapproved uses or patient populations (known as “ off-
label use ”) and limitations on industry- sponsored scientific and educational activities. Although physicians may prescribe legally available
products for off- label uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such uses. Prescription drug and biologic promotional materials
must be submitted to the FDA in conjunction with their first use. Further, if there are any modifications to the biologic, including changes in
indications, labeling or manufacturing processes or facilities, the applicant may be required to submit and obtain FDA approval of a new
BLA or BLA supplement, which may require the development of additional data or preclinical studies and clinical trials. The FDA may also
place other conditions on approvals including the requirement for a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, to assure the safe
use of the product. If the FDA concludes a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the BLA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA will not
approve the BLA without an approved REMS, if required. A REMS could include medication guides, physician communication plans or
elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. Any of these
limitations on approval or marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of products. Newly
discovered or developed safety or effectiveness data may require changes to a product’ s approved labeling, including the addition of new
warnings and contraindications, and also may require the implementation of other risk management measures, including a REMS or the
conduct of post- marketing studies to assess a newly discovered safety issue. Product approvals may be withdrawn for non- compliance with
regulatory standards or if problems occur following initial marketing. FDA regulations require that products be manufactured in specific
approved facilities and in accordance with cGMP regulations, which require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance, the
maintenance of records and documentation and the obligation to investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Manufacturers and
other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs or biologics are required to register their establishments with
the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for
compliance with cGMP requirements and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the
area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance. The discovery of violative conditions, including failure to conform to
c¢GMP regulations, could result in enforcement actions, and the discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in
restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved BLA, including recall. Biosimilars and Exclusivity An abbreviated
approval pathway for biological products shown to be biosimilar to, or interchangeable with, an FDA licensed reference biological product
was created by the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009. This amendment to the PHSA, in part, attempts to minimize
duplicative testing. Biosimilarity, which requires that the biological product be highly similar to the reference product notwithstanding
minor differences in clinically inactive components and that there be no clinically meaningful differences between the product and the
reference product in terms of safety, purity and potency, can be shown through analytical studies, animal studies and a clinical trial or
trials. Interchangeability requires that a biological product be biosimilar to the reference product and that the product can be expected to
produce the same clinical results as the reference product in any given patient and, for products administered multiple times to an
individual, that the product and the reference product may be alternated or switched after one has been previously administered without
increasing safety risks or risks of diminished efficacy relative to exclusive use of the reference biological product without such alternation or
switch. A reference biological product is granted 12 years of data exclusivity from the time of first licensure of the product, and the FDA will
not accept an application for a biosimilar or interchangeable product based on the reference biological product until four years after the
date of first licensure of the reference product. “ First licensure ” typically means the initial date the particular product at issue was licensed
in the United States. Date of first licensure does not include the date of licensure of (and a new period of exclusivity is not available for) a
biological product if the licensure is for a supplement for the biological product or for a subsequent application by the same sponsor or
manufacturer of the biological product (or licensor, predecessor in interest, or other related entity) for a change (not including a
modification to the structure of the biological product) that results in a new indication, route of administration, dosing schedule, dosage
form, delivery system, delivery device or strength, or for a modification to the structure of the biological product that does not result in a
change in safety, purity, or potency. Pediatric exclusivity is another type of regulatory market exclusivity in the United States, available
under the Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act by way of its application to biologics through the Biologics Price Competition and
Innovation Act. Pediatric exclusivity, if granted, adds six months to existing regulatory exclusivity periods, which must be in place in order
for pediatric exclusivity to apply. This six- month exclusivity may be granted based on the voluntary completion of a pediatric trial in
accordance with an FDA issued “ Written Request ” for such a trial, although FDA may issue such a Written Request at the request of the
sponsor. Companion Diagnostics We may employ companion diagnostics to identify the most suitable phage to treat a specific patient under
our personalized phage treatments and to help more accurately identify patients sensitive to our phage cocktails, during our clinical trials
and potentially also in connection with the commercialization of our product candidates that we are developing or may in the future develop.
Companion diagnostics can identify patients who are most likely to benefit from a particular therapeutic product; identify patients likely to
be at increased risk for serious side effects as a result of treatment with a particular therapeutic product; or monitor response to treatment
with a particular therapeutic product for the purpose of adjusting treatment to achieve improved safety or effectiveness. Companion
diagnostics are regulated as medical devices by the FDA and, as such, require either clearance or approval prior to commercialization. The
level of risk combined with available controls to mitigate risk determines whether a companion diagnostic device requires Premarket
Approval Application approval or is cleared through the 510 (k) premarket notification process. For a novel therapeutic product for which a
companion diagnostic device is essential for the safe and effective use of the product, the companion diagnostic device should be developed
and approved or 510 (k)- cleared contemporaneously with the therapeutic. The use of the companion diagnostic device will be stipulated in
the labeling of the therapeutic product. Government Regulation Outside of the United States In addition to regulations in the United States,
we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions governing, among other things, clinical trials of drug products as well as
the approval, manufacture and distribution of our product candidates. Because biologically sourced raw materials are subject to unique
contamination risks, their use may be restricted in some countries. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product candidate, we



must obtain the requisite approvals from regulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to the commencement of clinical trials or
marketing of the product in those countries. If we fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to,
among other things, fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and
criminal prosecution. Certain countries outside of the United States have a regulatory process similar to the U. S process that requires the
submission of a clinical trial application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the European Union, for
example, a clinical trial application, or CTA, must be submitted for each clinical trial in a centralized manner to the relevant national health
authority and an independent ethics committee in each country in which the trial is to be conducted through a single EU portal for
harmonized assessment, much like the FDA and an IRB, respectively. CTAs must be accompanied by an investigational medicinal product
dossier with supporting information prescribed by the Clinical Trials Regulation (and corresponding national laws of the member states)
and further detailed in applicable guidance documents. Once the CTA is approved in accordance with the European Commission and each
country’ s requirements, the clinical trial may proceed. A similar process to the one described for the European Union is required in Israel
for initiation of clinical trials. The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials vary from country to country. In all
cases, the clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with GCP and the applicable regulatory requirements and the ethical principles
that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki. Approval Process In order to market our products, we must obtain a marketing
approval for each product and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among
countries and can involve additional testing in comparison to the testing carried out for the U. S. approval. The time required to obtain
approval in foreign countries may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. Clinical trials conducted in one country
may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries. The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally is
subject to all of the same risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. In addition, in many countries outside the United States, it is
required that the product be approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in that country. To obtain marketing
approval of a medicinal product under the European Union regulatory system, an applicant must submit a marketing authorization
application, or MAA, under either a centralized or a decentralized procedure. The decentralized procedure is based on a collaboration
among the member states selected by the applicant. In essence, the applicant chooses a ¢ lead’ member state that will carry out the scientific
assessment of the MAA and review the product information. The other member states must recognize the outcome of such assessment and
review except in case of a “ serious potential risk to public health. ” The decentralized procedure results in the grant of a national marketing
authorization in each selected country. That procedure is available for all medicinal products unless they fall into the mandatory scope of the
centralized procedure. In practice, it is used for OTC, not highly innovative products, generic products and, increasingly, for biosimilars.
The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization by the European Commission that is valid for all
European Union member states. The centralized procedure is compulsory for certain medicinal products, including for medicinal products
produced by certain biotechnological processes, products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced therapy medicinal products,
or ATMPs, and products with a new active substance and indicated for the treatment of certain diseases. For products with a new active
substance and indicated for the treatment of other diseases, products that are highly innovative or for which a centralized process is in the
interest of patients, the centralized procedure is optional. Under the centralized procedure, the CHMP, the main scientific committee
established at the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, is responsible for conducting the scientific assessment of the future medicinal
product. The CHMP is also responsible for several post- authorization and maintenance activities, such as the assessment of modifications or
extensions to an existing marketing authorization. The maximum timeframe for the evaluation of an MAA is 210 days, excluding clock stops.
The European Commission grants or refuses the marketing authorization, following a procedure that involves representatives of the
member states. The European Commission’ s decision is in accordance with the CHMP scientific assessment except in very rare cases.
Pursuant to Regulation (EC) 1394 / 2007, specific rules apply to ATMPs, a category that is comprised of gene therapy medical products,
somatic cell therapy medicinal products, and tissue- engineered medicinal products. Those rules have triggered the adoption of guidelines on
manufacturing, clinical trials and pharmacovigilance that adapt the general regulatory requirements to the specific characteristics of
ATMPs. Regulation (EC) 1394 /2007 introduced a “ hospital exemption ”, which authorizes hospitals to develop ATMP for their internal use
without having obtained a marketing authorization and to complying with European Union pharmaceutical law. The hospital exemption,
which is in essence a compounded ATMP, has been transposed in all Member States, sometimes in such a way that the ATMPs under the
hospital exemption are competitive alternatives to ATMPs with marketing authorization. The broad use of the hospital exemption by
national hospitals led the European Commission to discuss with the Member States a more reasonable application of the hospital exemption
that would not undermine the common legal regime for ATMP. Marketing authorization is valid for five years in principle and the
marketing authorization may be renewed after five years on the basis of a re- evaluation of the risk- benefit balance by the EMA or the
competent authority of the authorizing member state. To this end, the marketing authorization holder must provide the EMA or the
competent authority with a consolidated version of the file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, including all variations introduced since
the marketing authorization was granted, at least six months before the marketing authorization ceases to be valid. Once renewed, the
marketing authorization is valid for an unlimited period, unless the European Commission or the national competent authority decides, on
justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one additional renewal. Any authorization which is not followed by the
actual placing of the medicinal product on the European Union market (in case of centralized procedure) or on the market of the
authorizing member state within three years after authorization ceases to be valid (the so- called sunset clause). Orphan Designation
Countries other than the United States have adopted a specific legal regime to support the development and marketing of drugs and
biologics for rare diseases. For example, in the European Union, Regulation 141 / 2000 organizes the grant of orphan drug designations to
promote the development of products that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of life threatening or chronically
debilitating conditions affecting not more than 5 in 10, 000 persons in the European Economic Area (the European Union, plus Iceland,
Liechtenstein and Norway), or EEA, (or where it is unlikely that the development of the medicine would generate sufficient return to justify
the investment) and for which no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment has been authorized or, if a method exists, the
product would be of significant benefit to those affected. The EMA’ s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, or COMP, examines if the
orphan criteria are met and gives opinions thereon, and the orphan status is granted by the European Commission. The meeting of the
criteria for orphan designation is examined again by the COMP at the time of approval of the medicinal product, which typically occurs
several years after the grant of the orphan designation. If the criteria for orphan designation are no longer met at that time, the European
Commission withdraws the orphan status. In the European Union, orphan drug designation entitles the sponsor to financial incentives such
as reduction of fees or fee waivers and to ten years of market exclusivity granted following medicinal product approval. Market exclusivity
precludes the EMA or a national regulatory authority from validating another MAA, and the European Commission or a national
regulatory authority from granting another marketing authorization, for a same or similar medicinal product and a same therapeutic
indication, for that time period. This 10- year period may be reduced to six years if the orphan drug designation criteria are no longer met,
including where it is shown that the product is sufficiently profitable not to justify maintenance of market exclusivity. The orphan
exclusivity may be lost vis- a- vis another medicinal product in cases the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the
medicinal product to meet patient needs or if that other product is proved to be clinically superior to the approved orphan product. A drug



is clinically superior if it is safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation must be requested
before submitting a MAA. Orphan drug designation does not convey any advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and
approval process, and it does not afford any regulatory exclusivity until a marketing authorization is granted. Expedited Development and
Approval Mechanisms are in place in many jurisdictions that allow an earlier approval of the drug so that it reaches patients with unmet
medical needs earlier. The European Union, for example, has instituted several expedited approval mechanisms including two mechanisms
that are specific to the centralized procedure: e the accelerated approval: the EMA may reduce the maximum timeframe for the evaluation
of an MAA from 210 days to 150 days when the future medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public health, in
particular from the viewpoint of therapeutic innovation. e the conditional marketing authorization: as part of its marketing authorization
process, the European Commission may grant marketing authorizations on the basis of less complete data than is normally required. A
conditional marketing authorization may be granted when the CHMP finds that, although comprehensive clinical data referring to the safety
and efficacy of the medicinal product have not been supplied, all the following requirements are met: e the risk / benefit balance of the
medicinal product is positive; e it is likely that the applicant will be in a position to provide the comprehensive clinical data; e unmet
medical needs will be addressed; and e the benefit to public health of the immediate availability on the market of the medicinal product
concerned outweighs the risk inherent in the fact that additional data is still required. The granting of a conditional marketing authorization
is typically restricted to situations in which only the clinical part of the application is not yet fully complete. Incomplete preclinical or quality
data may however be accepted if duly justified and only in the case of a product intended to be used in emergency situations in response to
public health threats. Conditional marketing authorizations are valid for one year, on a renewable basis. The conditions to which approval
is subject will typically require the holder to complete ongoing trials or to conduct new trials with a view to confirming that the benefit- risk
balance is positive and to collect pharmacovigilance data. Once the conditions to which the marketing authorization is subject are fulfilled,
the conditional marketing authorization is transformed into a regular marketing authorization. If, however, the conditions are not fulfilled
with the timeframe set by EMA, the conditional marketing authorization ceases to be renewed. The EMA has also implemented the so-
called “ PRIME ” (PRIority MEdicines) status in order support the development and accelerate the approval of complex innovative
medicinal products addressing an unmet medical need. PRIME status enables early dialogue with the relevant EMA scientific committees
and, possibly, some payors and thus reinforces the EMA’ s scientific and regulatory support. It also opens accelerated assessment of the
MAA as PRIME status, is normally reserved for medicinal products that may benefit from accelerated assessment, i. e., medicines of major
interest from a public health perspective, in particular from a therapeutic innovation perspective. Finally, all medicinal products (i. e.
decentralized and centralized procedures) may benefit from an MA “ under exceptional circumstances. ” This marketing authorization is
close to the conditional marketing authorization as it is reserved to medicinal products to be approved for severe diseases or unmet medical
needs and the applicant does not hold the complete data set legally required for the grant of a marketing authorization. However, unlike the
conditional marketing authorization, the applicant does not have to provide the missing data and will never have to. The risk- benefit of the
medicinal product is reviewed annually. As a result, although the MA “ under exceptional circumstances > is granted definitively, the risk-
benefit balance of the medicinal product is reviewed annually and the marketing authorization is withdrawn in case the risk- benefit ratio is
no longer favorable. Pediatrics Mandatory testing in the pediatric population is required in more and more jurisdictions. The European
Union has enacted a complex and very stringent system that has inspired other jurisdictions, including the United States and Switzerland.
Any application for approval of (i) a medicinal product containing a new active substance or (ii) a new therapeutic indication,
pharmaceutical form or route of administration of an already authorized medicinal product which contains an active substance still
protected by a supplementary protection certificate, or SPC, or a patent that qualifies for an SPC, must include pediatric data. Otherwise,
the application is not validated by the competent regulatory authority. The submission of pediatric data is mandatory in those cases, even if
the application concerns an adult use. Submission of pediatric data is not required or fully required if the EMA granted, respectively, a full
or partial waiver to pediatric development. Moreover, that submission can be postponed if the EMA grants a deferral in order not to delay
the submission of the MAA for the adult population. The pediatric data are generated through the implementation of a pediatric
investigation plan, or PIP, that is proposed by the company after completion of the PK studies in adults and agreed upon by the EMA,
typically after some modifications. The PIP lists all the studies to conduct and measures to take in order to prove the safety and efficacy of
the future medicinal product when used in children. The EMA may agree to modify the PIP at the company’ s request. The scope of the PIP
is the adult therapeutic indication or the condition of which the adult application is part or even the mechanism of action of the active
substance, at the EMA’ s quasi- discretion. This very broad discretion enables the EMA to require companies to develop children indications
that are different from the adult indications. Completion of a PIP renders the company eligible for a pediatric reward, which can be six-
month extension of the term of the SPC or, in the cases of orphan medicinal products, two additional years of market exclusivity. The
reward is subject, among other conditions, to the PIP being fully completed, to the pediatric medicinal product being approved in all the
member states, and to the results of the pediatric studies being mentioned, in one way or another (for example, the approval of a pediatric
indication), in the summary of product characteristics of the product. Post- Marketing Requirements Many countries impose post-
marketing requirements similar to those imposed in the United States, in particular safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance. In the
European Union, pharmacovigilance data are the basis for the competent regulatory authorities imposing the conduct of post- approval
safety or efficacy study, including on off- label use. Non- compliance with those requirements can result in significant financial penalties as
well as the suspension or withdrawal of the marketing authorization. Supplementary Protection Certificate and Regulatory Exclusivities In
some countries other than the United States, some of our patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension, depending upon the
timing, duration and specifics of the regulatory approval of our product candidates and any future product candidates. Furthermore,
authorized drugs and biologics may benefit from regulatory exclusivities (in additional to patent protection resulting from patents). In the
European Union, Regulation (EC) 469 / 2009 institutes SPCs. An SPC is an extension of the term of a patent that compensates for the patent
protection lost because of the legal requirements to conduct safety and efficacy tests and to obtain a marketing authorization before placing
a medicinal product on the market. An SPC may be applied for any active substance that is protected by a “ basic patent ” (a patent chosen
by the patent holder, which can be a product, process or application patent) and has not been placed on the market as a medicinal product
before having obtained a marketing authorization in accordance with European Union pharmaceutical law. The term of the SPC is
maximum five years, and the combined patent and SPC protection may not exceed fifteen years from the date of the first marketing
authorization in the EEA. SPC rights are restricted by both the basic patent and the marketing authorization, i. e., the SPC grants the same
rights as those conferred by the basic patent but limited to the active substance covered by the marketing authorization (and any use as
medicinal product approved afterwards). While SPC are regulated at the European level, they are granted by the national patent offices.
The grant of an SPC requires a basic patent granted by the national patent office and a marketing authorization, which is the first
marketing authorization for the active substance as a medicinal product in the country. Furthermore, no SPC must have already been
granted to the active substance, and the application for the SPC must be filed with the national patent office within six months of the first
marketing authorization in the EEA or the grant of the basic patent, whichever is the latest. In the future, we may apply for an SPC for one
or more of our currently owned or licensed European patents to add patent life beyond their current expiration date, depending on the
expected length of the clinical trials and other factors involved in the filing of the relevant MAA. Furthermore, in the European Union,



medicinal products may benefit from the following regulatory exclusivities: data exclusivity, market protection, market exclusivity, and
pediatric reward. A medicinal product that contains a new active substance (reference medicinal product) is granted eight years of data
exclusivity followed by two years of market protection. Data exclusivity prevents other companies from referring to the non- clinical and
clinical data in marketing authorization dossier of the reference medicinal product for submission of generic MAA purposes, and market
protection prevents other companies from placing generics on the market. Pursuant to the concept of global marketing authorization, any
further development of that medicinal product (e. g., new indication, new form, change to the active substance) by the marketing
authorization holder does not trigger any new or additional protection. The authorization of any new development is considered as “ falling
” into the initial marketing authorization with regard to regulatory protection; hence, the new development only benefits from the
regulatory protection that remains when it is authorized. The only exception is a new therapeutic indication that is considered as bringing a
significant clinical benefit in comparison to the existing therapies. Such new indication will add one- year of market protection to the global
marketing authorization, provided that it is authorized within the first eight years of authorization (i. e., during the data exclusivity period).
Moreover, a new therapeutic indication of a *“ well- established substance ” benefits from one- year data exclusivity but limited to the non-
clinical and clinical data supporting the new indication. Any active substance approved for at least ten years in the EEA qualifies as well-
established substance. Biosimilars may be approved through an abbreviated approval pathway after the expiration of the eight- year data
exclusivity period and may be marketed after the 10 or 11- year market protection period. The approval of biosimilars requires the
applicant to demonstrate similarity between the biosimilar and the biological medicinal product and to submit the non- clinical and clinical
data defined by the EMA. The biosimilar legal regime has been mainly developed through EMA’ s scientific guidelines applicable to
categories of biological active substances. Unlike in the United States, interchangeability is regulated by each member state. Market
exclusivity is a regulatory protection exclusively afforded to medicinal products with an orphan status. Market exclusivity precludes the
EMA or a national regulatory authority from validating another MAA, and the European Commission or a national regulatory authority
from granting another marketing authorization, for a same or similar medicinal product and a same therapeutic indication, for a period of
ten years from approval (see above). Pediatric reward is another regulatory exclusivity. Completion of a PIP renders the company eligible
for a pediatric reward, which can be six- month extension of the term of the SPC or, in the cases of orphan medicinal products, two
additional years of market exclusivity (see above). In case a PIP is completed on a voluntary basis, i. e., for an approved medicinal product
that is not or no longer protected by an SPC or a basic patent, the pediatric reward takes the form of a “ pediatric use marketing
authorization ”, or PUMA. That special authorization does not fall into the global marketing authorization and thus benefits from eight
years of data exclusivity followed by two or three years of market protection. Other U. S. Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements
In addition to FDA restrictions on the marketing of pharmaceutical products, we may be subject to various federal and state laws targeting
fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry. These laws may impact, among other things, our business or financial arrangements and
relationships through which we market, sell and distribute the products, if any, for which we obtain approval. The laws that may affect our
ability to operate include: o the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting,
receiving, offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash
or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any good,
facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and
Medicaid programs; a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute or specific intent to
violate it to have committed a violation. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a
violation of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act, or FCA,
or federal civil money penalties statute; e federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalties laws, such as the FCA,
which impose criminal and civil penalties and authorize civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for, among
other things: knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent;
making, using or causing to be made or used, a false statement or record material to a false or fraudulent claim or obligation to pay or
transmit money or property to the federal government; or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an
obligation to pay money to the federal government; e the civil monetary penalties law, which prohibits, among other things, the offering or
giving of remuneration, which includes, without limitation, any transfer of items or services for free or for less than fair market value (with
limited exceptions), to a Medicare or Medicaid beneficiary that the person knows or should know is likely to influence the beneficiary’ s
selection of a particular supplier of items or services reimbursable by a federal or state governmental program; e the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent
pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit
program, regardless of the payor (e. g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick or
device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits,
items or services relating to healthcare matters; similar to the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; e the federal transparency requirements
under the Affordable Care Act, or ACA, including the provision commonly referred to as the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which
requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the
Children’ s Health Insurance Program to report annually to the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services information related to
payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors),
certain non- physician practitioners (physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, anesthesiologist assistants, certified
registered nurse anesthetists and certified nurse midwives) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by the
physicians described above and their immediate family members; o federal government price reporting laws, which require us to calculate
and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government programs; and e federal consumer protection and
unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers. Additionally, we are
subject to state and foreign equivalents of each of the healthcare laws described above, among others, some of which may be broader in
scope and may apply regardless of the payor. Many U. S. states have adopted laws similar to the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, some of
which apply to the referral of patients for healthcare services reimbursed by any source, not just governmental payors, including private
insurers. In addition, some states have passed laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the April 2003 Office of Inspector
General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and / or the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of
America’ s Code on Interactions with Healthcare Professionals. Several states also impose other marketing restrictions or require
pharmaceutical companies to make marketing or price disclosures to the state. There are ambiguities as to what is required to comply with
these state requirements and if we fail to comply with an applicable state law requirement we could be subject to penalties. Finally, there are
state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health information, many of which differ from each other in significant ways
and often are not pre- empted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts. Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of
the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available, it is possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one



or more of such laws. Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punishable by criminal and / or civil sanctions, including penalties, fines,
imprisonment and / or exclusion or suspension from federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid and debarment
from contracting with the U. S. government. In addition, private individuals have the ability to bring actions on behalf of the U. S.
government under the federal FCA, as well as under the false claims laws of several states. Law enforcement authorities are increasingly
focused on enforcing fraud and abuse laws, and it is possible that some of our practices may be challenged under these laws. Efforts to
ensure that our current and future business arrangements with third parties, and our business generally, will comply with applicable
healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business
practices, including our arrangements with physicians and other healthcare providers, some of whom receive stock options as compensation
for services provided, may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud
and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and
administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare,
Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and
curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. In
addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the United States will also likely subject us to foreign
equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or
entities with whom we expect to do business are found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or
administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs, which may also adversely affect our business.
Much like the federal Anti- Kickback Statute in the United States, the provision of benefits or advantages to physicians to induce or
encourage the prescription, recommendation, endorsement, purchase, supply, order or use of medicinal products is also prohibited in the
European Union. The provision of benefits or advantages to physicians is mainly governed by the national anti- bribery laws of the member
states, such as the UK Bribery Act 2010, or national anti- kickback provisions (France, Belgium, etc.). Infringement of these laws could
result in substantial fines and imprisonment. In certain member states, payments made to physicians must be publicly disclosed. Moreover,
agreements with physicians often must be the subject of prior notification and approval by the physician’ s employer, his or her competent
professional organization and / or the regulatory authorities of the individual member states. These requirements are provided in the
national laws, industry codes or professional codes of conduct, applicable in the member states. Failure to comply with these requirements
could result in reputational risk, public reprimands, administrative penalties, fines or imprisonment. Additional Regulation In addition to
the foregoing, state and federal laws regarding environmental protection and hazardous substances, including the Occupational Safety and
Health Act, the Resource Conservancy and Recovery Act and the Toxic Substances Control Act, affect our business. These and other laws
govern our use, handling and disposal of various biological, chemical and radioactive substances used in, and wastes generated by, our
operations. If our operations result in contamination of the environment or expose individuals to hazardous substances, we could be liable
for damages and governmental fines. We believe that we are in material compliance with applicable environmental laws and that continued
compliance therewith will not have a material adverse effect on our business. We cannot predict, however, how changes in these laws may
affect our future operations. U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act The U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, to which we are subject,
prohibits corporations and individuals from engaging in certain activities to obtain or retain business or to influence a person working in an
official capacity. It is illegal to pay, offer to pay or authorize the payment of anything of value to any foreign government official,
government staff member, political party or political candidate in an attempt to obtain or retain business or to otherwise influence a person
working in an official capacity. Similar rules apply to many other countries worldwide such as France (“ Loi Sapin ”) or the United
Kingdom (UK Bribery Act). U. S. Healthcare Reform A primary trend in the U. S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment.
Government authorities and other third- party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of
reimbursement for particular medical products. For example, in March 2010, the ACA was enacted, which, among other things, increased
the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; introduced a new methodology by
which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are inhaled, infused,
instilled, implanted or injected; extended the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to utilization of prescriptions of individuals enrolled in
Medicaid managed care plans; imposed mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries as a condition for manufacturers’
outpatient drugs coverage under Medicare Part D; subjected drug manufacturers to new annual fees based on pharmaceutical companies’
share of sales to federal healthcare programs; created a new Patient Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in
and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with funding for such research; and established the Center for Medicare &
Medicaid Innovation at the CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending. Since its
enactment, there have been a number of significant changes to the ACA. On June 17, 2021, the U. S. Supreme Court dismissed the most
recent judicial challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the U. S. Supreme Court’ s
decision, President Biden issued an executive order initiating a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021
for purposes of obtaining health insurance coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain
governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and rules that limit access to healthcare. More recently, on March 11,
2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 into law, which eliminates the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap,
currently set at 100 % of a drug’ s average manufacturer price, beginning January 1, 2024. In addition, the Budget Control Act of 2011 and
the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 led to aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2 % per fiscal year that will remain in
effect through 2030, unless additional Congressional action is taken. Further, on January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act was
signed into law, which, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several types of providers, including hospitals, imaging centers
and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from
three to five years. More recently, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for
their marketed products, which have resulted in several recent Congressional inquiries and proposed bills designed to, among other things,
bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform
government program reimbursement methodologies for pharmaceutical products. In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act authorized
Medicare to negotiate drug prices for certain high expenditure, single source Medicare part B or D drugs. Individual states in the United
States have also become increasingly active in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product
pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost
disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.
We expect that additional foreign, federal and state healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the
amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in limited coverage and
reimbursement and reduced demand for our products, once approved, or additional pricing pressures. Coverage and Reimbursement
Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any products for which we obtain regulatory approval. In the
United States, cosmetics are not generally eligible for coverage and reimbursement and thus any products that are marketed as cosmetics



will not be covered or reimbursed. In the United States and markets in other countries, sales of any products for which we receive regulatory
approval for commercial sale will depend, in part, on the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third- party payors. Third- party
payors include government authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. The process for
determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the process for setting the reimbursement rate that
the payor will pay for the product. Third- party payors may limit coverage to specific products on an approved list, or formulary, which
might not include all of the FDA- approved products for a particular indication. A decision by a third- party payor not to cover our products
could reduce physician utilization of our products once approved and have a material adverse effect on our sales, results of operations and
financial condition. Moreover, a payor’ s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate
will be approved. Adequate third- party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an
appropriate return on our investment in product development. In addition, coverage and reimbursement for products can differ
significantly from payor to payor. One third- party payor’ s decision to cover a particular medical product or service does not ensure that
other payors will also provide coverage for the medical product or service, or will provide coverage at an adequate reimbursement rate. As a
result, the coverage determination process will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor
separately and will be a time- consuming process. Third- party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical
necessity and cost- effectiveness of medical products and services, in addition to their safety and efficacy. In order to obtain and maintain
coverage and reimbursement for any product, we may need to conduct expensive clinical trials in order to demonstrate the medical necessity
and cost- effectiveness of such product, in addition to the costs required to obtain regulatory approvals. If third- party payors do not
consider a product to be cost- effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product as a benefit under their plans
or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to sell its products at a profit. Outside of the United States, the
pricing of pharmaceutical products is subject to governmental control in many countries. For example, in the European Union, pricing and
reimbursement schemes vary widely from member state to member state. Some countries provide that products may be marketed only after
a reimbursement price has been agreed. Some countries may require the completion of additional studies that compare the cost-
effectiveness of a particular therapy to currently available therapies or so- called health technology assessments, in order to obtain
reimbursement or pricing approval. Other countries may allow companies to fix their own prices for products, but monitor and control
product volumes and issue guidance to physicians to limit prescriptions. Efforts to control prices and utilization of pharmaceutical products
and medical devices will likely continue as countries attempt to manage healthcare expenditures. Data Privacy and Security Laws Numerous
state, federal and foreign laws, including consumer protection laws and regulations, govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to,
confidentiality and security of personal information, including health- related information. In the United States, numerous federal and state
laws and regulations, including data breach notification laws, health information privacy and security laws, including HIPAA, and federal
and state consumer protection laws and regulations (e. g., Section 5 of the FTC Act), that govern the collection, use, disclosure, and
protection of health- related and other personal information could apply to our operations or the operations of our partners. In addition,
certain state and non- U. S. laws, such as the California Consumer Protection Act, the California Privacy Rights Act, and the General Data
Protection Regulation, or GDPR, govern the privacy and security of personal information, including health- related information in certain
circumstances, some of which are more stringent than HIPAA and many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not
have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, can result in the imposition
of significant civil and / or criminal penalties and private litigation. Privacy and security laws, regulations, and other obligations are
constantly evolving, may conflict with each other to complicate compliance efforts, and can result in investigations, proceedings, or actions
that lead to significant civil and / or criminal penalties and restrictions on data processing. Material Agreements License Agreements
License Agreement with Yeda On June 22, 2015, BiomX Ltd. entered into a Research and License Agreement, with Yeda, or, as amended,
the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, pursuant to which BiomX Ltd. received an exclusive worldwide license to certain know- how and
research information related to the development, testing, manufacturing, production and sale of microbiome- based therapeutic product
candidates, including candidates specified in the agreement, which are used in our phage discovery platform, as well as patents, research
and other rights to phage product candidates resulting from the work of the consultants identified in the agreement and further research
conducted at the WIS which BiomX Ltd. funded. In connection with this license, BiomX Ltd. agreed to pay a non- refundable license fee of $
10, 000 per year. In addition, BiomX Ltd. contributed an aggregate of approximately $ 2. 0 million to the research budget agreed upon in the
Yeda 2015 License Agreement. BiomX Ltd is also required to pay tiered royalties in the low single digits on net sales of products and
diagnostic kits covered by the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, subject to reductions as described therein. The products and diagnostic kits
covered by the license agreement include those directed to CF and any other indication that may be treated by phage- based therapies, as
well as related technology platforms. If BiomX Ltd. sublicenses its rights under the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, BiomX Ltd. will be
obligated to pay Yeda additional sublicense royalties expressed as a percentage of the sublicensing receipts described in the agreement
received ranging from the mid- teens to the mid- twenties. BiomX Ltd. is obligated to pay filing and maintenance expenses in respect of
patents licensed under the Yeda 2015 License Agreement. In connection with the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, BiomX Ltd. also issued
certain ordinary shares which were subsequently converted to 193, 406 shares of our Common Stock as part of the Business Combination as
defined below under “ Liquidity and Capital Resources ”. In the event of certain mergers and acquisitions we are party to, we are obligated
to pay Yeda an amount equivalent to approximately 1 % of the consideration received under such transaction. Unless terminated earlier by
either party, the license granted will remain in effect in each country and for each product developed based on the license until the later of
the expiration of the last licensed patent (which is expected to be in 2039) in such country for such product, and eleven years from the date of
first commercial sale of such product in such country for such product. The Yeda 2015 License Agreement terminates upon the later of the
expiration of the last of the patents covered under the agreement, and the expiry of a continuous 15- year period during which there has not
been a first commercial sale of any product in any country. Yeda may also terminate the agreement if BiomX Ltd. fails to observe certain
diligence and development requirements and milestones as described in the Yeda 2015 License Agreement. BiomX Ltd. or Yeda may
terminate the Yeda 2015 License Agreement for the material uncured breach of the other party after a notice period, or the other party’ s
winding up, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or other similar discontinuation of business. Upon termination of the Yeda 2015 License
Agreement, other than due to the passage of time, BiomX Ltd. is required to grant to Yeda a non- exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, fully
paid- up, sublicensable, worldwide license in respect of our rights in know- how and research results as described in the Yeda 2015 License
Agreement, provided that if Yeda subsequently grants a license to a third party that utilizes our rights, BiomX Ltd. is entitled to share in the
net proceeds actually received by Yeda arising out of that license, subject to a cap based on the development expenses that BiomX incurs in
connection with the Yeda 2015 License Agreement. BiomX Ltd. consults with Yeda with respect to patent prosecution and maintenance
decisions. Yeda is primarily responsible for prosecution and maintenance with respect to Licensed Information (as defined in the license)
and we are responsible for prosecution and maintenance with respect to Subsequent Results (as defined in the license). BiomX Ltd. and
Yeda are both entitled to consultation rights. BiomX is responsible for costs associated with prosecution and maintenance of all patents and
applications. BiomX Ltd. is entitled to enforce the patent rights under the license upon approval by Yeda. Yeda may elect to join the lawsuit,
but we are responsible for all litigation- related expenses. Yeda reserves the right to bring its own actions if we do not notify Yeda of our



intent to enforce a right or bring an action after we initially notified Yeda of the potential action. Exclusive License with United States Navy
On March 16, 2017, APT entered into an exclusive license (as amended on January 10, 2019, or the USN License Agreement, with the United
States of America, as represented by the Secretary of the Navy or the USN, pursuant to which APT received an exclusive license throughout
the territory encompassing the United States, Canada and Europe to an invention entitled “ Bacteriophage Compositions and Method of
Selection of Components Against Specific Bacteria or the USN Licensed Patent, as well as associated materials, including approximately 350
phage (or collectively with the USN Licensed Patent, the USN Materials), in the field of treating and / or eliminating multi- drug resistant
bacteria for all uses, including industrial or medical uses. Pursuant to the USN License Agreement, APT agreed to carry out a commercial
development plan or the Commercial Development Plan, for the development and marketing of an invention claimed or disclosed in the USN
Licensed Patent or a Licensed Invention, to bring a Licensed Invention to practical application consistent with the milestones provided in the
Commercial Development Plan by December 31, 2022, and, thereafter, to continue to make the benefits of a Licensed Invention reasonably
accessible to the public for the remainder of the term of the USN License Agreement. For the term of the license, any Licensed Invention or
product produced through the use of a Licensed Invention for use or sale in the United States must be manufactured substantially in the
United States. The Company uses the phage provided in connection with the USN License Agreement as a potential source of phage for the
development of its phage treatments. In connection with the USN License Agreement, APT paid the USN a license execution royalty of $ 5,
000. We are also required to pay royalties expressed as a percentage in the high single digits on net sales of products, or Royalty- Bearing
Products (i) defined by or containing a composition defined by any claim of the USN Licensed Patent, (ii) made by a method claimed in a
Licensed Invention, (iii) based on, originating from or containing USN Materials, or (iv) based on, originating from or supported by USN-
created information not found within the USN Licensed Patent and used to support the commercialization or regulatory approval of a
Royalty- Bearing Product, including, DNA sequence data, clinical trial data and detailed laboratory methods, related to the Licensed
Invention. APT agreed to pay minimum annual royalties in the amount of $ 5, 000 from 2018 to 2020 and $ 20, 000 thereafter. APT also
agreed to pay (a) a regulatory approval royalty in the low $ 100, 000s within 180 days of receiving FDA approval to market a Royalty-
Bearing Product and (b) a revenue milestone royalty in the low $ 100, 000s when certain revenue thresholds have been met. Additionally, we
agreed to pay royalties expressed as a percentage in the mid- twenties of all revenue received from sublicensing any Royalty- Bearing
Product. We are responsible for controlling and diligently prosecuting the USN Licensed Patent and paying all costs associated with
prosecuting and maintaining the USN Licensed Patent in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions. We agreed to submit annual
progress reports on our efforts to achieve a practical application of the Licensed Invention by January 1, 2021, and thereafter until such
practical application has been received. We may terminate the USN License Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice, and the USN may
terminate the USN License Agreement if (i) the USN determines we are not executing the Commercial Development Plan, and cannot
demonstrate progression towards practical application, (ii) the USN determines such termination is necessary to meet requirements for
public use specified by U. S. federal regulations issued after the date of the USN License Agreement and not reasonably satisfied by us, (iii)
in the event we willfully made a material false statement or omitted a material fact in our application for the USN License Agreement or any
report required thereby, (iv) we commit a substantial material breach of the USN License Agreement that has not been remedied within 30
days of written notice, (v) we file for bankruptcy, become subject to bankruptcy proceedings, or assign the agreement without USN
approval, or (vi) the agreement automatically terminates on May 1, 2025, unless a new agreement is executed. Upon termination, all rights to
the Licensed Patents, USN Materials, and data revert to the USN. License Agreement with Walter Reed Army Institute of Research On
August 24, 2021, APT entered into a Biological Materials License Agreement (or, as modified on August 31, 2022, the WRAIR License
Agreement) with Walter Reed Army Institute of Research or WRAIR, pursuant to which APT received a nonexclusive worldwide license to
certain materials and information, including approximately 100 phage, or WRAIR Materials, to develop and commercialize phage products
to treat / prevent Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Acinebactor baumannii, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumonia, wound and UTI
Escherichia coli and Enterobacter cloacae bacterial infections. The Company uses the phage provided in connection with the WRAIR
License Agreement as a potential source of phage for the development of its phage treatments. In connection with the WRAIR License
Agreement, APT paid WRAIR an initial execution fee in the mid- thousands of dollars and agreed to pay a maintenance fee in the mid-
thousands of dollars per year. We are also required to pay royalties expressed as a percentage in the low single digits on net sales of products
that incorporate the WRAIR Materials, or the WRAIR Licensed Products, subject to reductions as described in the WRAIR License
Agreement. In addition, if we sublicense our rights under the WRAIR License Agreement we are obligated to pay WRAIR additional
sublicense royalties expressed as a percentage in the low teens of the sublicensing receipts we receive from any such sublicense royalties. In
addition, additional royalties in the low teens may be assessed on any overdue royalty payments. We are obligated to make written annual
progress reports to WRAIR, detailing our efforts to bring any inventions licensed under WRAIR License Agreement to the point of practical
application, together with any additional information requested by WRAIR or as contemplated or required under the development plan. As
part of our performance under the WRAIR License Agreement, we have agreed to dose the first patient in a clinical trial with a WRAIR
Licensed Product within four years from the effective date of the WRAIR License Agreement. In the event WRAIR files a non- provisional
patent application covering the WRAIR Materials and / or the use thereof, provided as part of this License Agreement, WRAIR is obligated
to notify us, and we and WRAIR will assess the need and / or desirability of a patent license. In such case, we will have the first right of
refusal to negotiate a non- exclusive or exclusive license. The WRAIR License Agreement will expire as to each WRAIR Material ten years
from the date that such WRAIR Material was added to the WRAIR License Agreement unless earlier terminated in accordance with its
terms. We may terminate the WRAIR License Agreement upon 60 days’ written notice, and WRAIR may terminate if we are in default and
such default has not been remedied within 90 days after written notice of such default. The MTEC Grant Agreement Industry and academia
have entered into a Consortium Member Agreement to participate in the Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium, or MTEC, a 501 (c)
(3) biomedical technology consortium working in partnership with the U. S. Department of Defense, for the purpose of conducting research,
development and testing in cooperation with the U. S. Government in an overall effort to improve Service member health and performance
in diverse environments. In 2019, APT entered into a Base Agreement and Research Project Award, or, collectively, the Research
Agreement, with the U. S. Army Medical Research Acquisition Activity, or USAMRAA, and the U. S. Army Medical Research &
Development Command, or USAMRDC, to advance personalized phage therapy from niche to broad use. Awards under the Research
Agreement are intended to lay the groundwork for rapid advancement of personalized phage therapy to commercialization for the variety of
clinical indications and bacterial pathogens representing un- met needs with a focus on infections with significant military relevance. The
competitive award was granted by USAMRAA and USAMRDOC in collaboration with MTEC. Under the cost reimbursement contract,
MTEC reimburses APT for approved incurred costs that are based upon the achievement of certain milestones to support the development
of personalized phage therapy. For the period between the Acquisition and December 31, 2024, APT received an aggregate of $ 3. 5 million
in grants from MTEC. Employees As of December 31, 2024, we had 52 full- time employees and S part- time employees. 17 of our employees
have Ph. D. or M. D. degrees and 41 of our employees are currently engaged in research and development and clinical activities. None of our
employees is represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees
to be strong. Corporate Information The mailing address of our principal executive office is 22 Einstein St., Floor 4, Ness Ziona, Israel
7414003 and the telephone number is (972) 72- 394- 2377. Our corporate website address is www. biomx. com. The content of our website is



not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report or in any other report or document we file and any references to these
websites are intended to be inactive textual references only. ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS You should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below and the other information in this Annual Report before making an investment in our securities. Qur business,
financial condition, results of operations, or prospects could be materially and adversely affected if any of these risks occurs, and as a result,
the market price of our securities could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment. This Annual Report also contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “ Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward- Looking Statements. ” Our actual
results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including those set forth below. Risks Related to Our Business, Technology and Industry We are a clinical- stage company and have
incurred losses since our inception. We anticipate that we will continue to incur significant expenses, and we will continue to incur
significant losses for the foreseeable future. We are a clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company with limited operating history compared to
the long time it takes to develop phage based products. We have incurred losses in each year since BiomX Ltd.’ s inception in 2015. As of
December 31, 2024, our accumulated deficit was $ 180. 7 million, and we expect to incur increasingly significant losses for the foreseeable
future. Preclinical development and clinical trials and activities are costly. We have devoted, and will continue to devote for the foreseeable
future, substantially all of our resources to research and development and clinical trials for our product candidates. We do not expect to
generate any revenue from the commercial sales of our product candidates in the near term. In addition, as a result of the Acquisition, our
future business, prospects, financial position and operating results could be significantly different than those in historical periods or
projected by our management. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had losses from operations of § 44. 5 million and § 25. 3
million, respectively. We anticipate that the level of our expenses is expected to increase and will continue to be significant if and as we: o
initiate and continue research, preclinical and clinical development efforts for any future product candidates; e seek to discover and develop
additional product candidates and further expand our clinical product pipeline; ® seek marketing and regulatory approvals for any product
candidates that successfully complete clinical trials; ® require the manufacture of larger quantities of product candidates for clinical
development and, potentially, commercialization; ® maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio; ® expand our research
and development infrastructure; e establish sales, marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure in the future to
commercialize products for which we obtain marketing approval, if any; and e add operational, financial and management information
systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and commercialization and help us continue to comply with
our obligations as a public company. We will need to raise additional capital in the future to support our operations which may not be
available at terms that are favorable to us and might cause significant dilution to our stockholders or increase our debt towards third
parties. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $ 18 million, and we have had recurring losses from
operations and negative operating cash flows since inception. We will need to raise additional capital in the future to support our operations
and product development activities. In the near term, we expect to continue to fund our operations and other development activities relating
to additional product candidates from the cash held by us, governmental and other grants and through future equity and debt financing. We
have explored and raised funds in multiple manners since our inception. For instance we filed in December 2023 a shelf registration
statement on Form S- 3 that was subsequently declared effective by the SEC and entered into an At the Market Offering Agreement, or the
ATM Agreement, with H. C. Wainwright & Co., LLC, or Wainwright, as manager, pursuant to which we may issue and sell shares of our
Common Stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $ 7. 5 million from time to time through Wainwright. We are not obligated to
make any sales of Common Stock under the ATM Agreement. On February 24, 2025, we suspended the ATM Agreement. Furthermore, on
March 15, 2024, concurrently with the consummation of the Acquisition, we consummated a private placement of $ S0 million in
consideration of 216, 417 shares of our Series X non- voting convertible preferred stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share, with each such
convertible preferred stock being convertible into 100 shares of our shares of Common Stock and warrants, or Private Placement Warrants,
to purchase up to an aggregate of 10, 820, 850 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock. Most recently, on February 27, 2025, we completed
a registered direct offering and a concurrent private placement. Additionally, certain warrant holders agreed to exercise their warrants
following our agreement to reduce the exercise price. Through these transactions, we generated approximately $ 12 million in proceeds. We
anticipate conducting additional capital raises in the future. If we enter into a collaboration for one or more of our current or future
product candidates at an earlier development stage, the terms of such a collaboration will likely be less favorable than if we were to enter the
collaboration in later stages or if we commercialized the product independently. If we raise additional funds through equity offerings, the
terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our stockholders’ rights or cause significant
dilution to our stockholders. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, it would be subject to fixed payment obligations and may
be subject to covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital
expenditures, declaring dividends or acquiring or licensing intellectual property rights. Developing drugs and conducting clinical trials is
expensive. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including: e the costs, timing and progress of our research and
development and clinical activities; ® manufacturing costs associated with our targeted bacteriophage, or phage, therapies strategy and
other research and development activities; ® the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing, acquisition or other arrangements that we
may establish; e employee- related expenses, as well as external costs such as fees paid to outside consultants; e the costs and timing of
seeking regulatory approvals and related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and e the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and
enforcing any patent applications, claims, patents and other intellectual property rights. Domestic and international equity and debt
markets have experienced and may continue to experience heightened volatility and turmoil based on domestic and international economic
conditions and concerns. In the event these economic conditions and concerns continue or worsen and the markets continue to remain
volatile, or a bear market, or recession, ensues in the U. S. stock market, or the markets are negatively impacted by factors such as Israel’ s
war with Hamas and Hezbollah, the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the resulting world sanctions on Russia, Belarus, and related parties or
other sources of geopolitical uncertainty and instability, our operating results and liquidity could be affected adversely by those factors in
many ways, including making it more difficult for us to raise funds if necessary and our stock price may decline. There can be no assurance

that sufficient funds will be available to us when required or on acceptable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain additional funds could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, if we are unable to obtain additional funds on a
timely basis, there will be substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and increased risk of insolvency and up to a total loss of
investment by our stockholders. Our financial statements contain an explanatory paragraph regarding substantial doubt about our ability to continue

as a going concern, which could prevent us from obtaining new financing on reasonable terms or at all. Our financial statements contain an
explanatory paragraph regarding substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have concluded that there is substantial doubt
about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have accumulated a deficit of $ +63-180. 7 million since our inception. To date, we have not
generated revenue from our operations and we do not expect to generate any significant revenues from sales of products in the next twelve months.
Our cash needs may increase in the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had $ 18 +5-9-million efin cash and cash equivalents.
We believe our cash and cash equivalents and-shert—termdepesits-on hand , including the cash raised in the February 2025 Financing, as
described under “ Liquidity and Capital Resources ” in Item 7 of this Annual Report, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements into for-atteast+2-months—Heowever,sinee-there—- the first quarter is-a-riskol eurstoekholdersnotapproving-the
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g —We are seeking to develop product candidates using phage technology, an
approdch for which it is dlthcult to prgdl(,t th(. time and u)st of development. To our knowledge, as of the date of this Annual Report, no
bacteriophage has thus far been approved as a drug in the United States or in the European Union. We are developing our drug product candidates
with phage technology. We have not, nor to our knowledge has any other company, received regulatory marketing approval from the FDA, or
equivalent foreign regulatory agencies for a drug product eandtdate-based on this approach (phage technology) . While in vitro and in vivo studies
have characterized the behavior of phage in cell cultures and animal models and there exists a body of literature regarding the use of phage therapy in
humans, the safety and efficacy of phage therapy in humans has not been extensively studied in well- controlled modern clinical trials. Most of the
prior research on phage- based therapy was conducted in the former Soviet Union prior to and immediately after World War II and lacked
appropriate control group design or lacked control groups at all. Furthermore, the standard of care has changed substantially during the ensuing
decades since those studies were performed, diminishing the relevance of prior claims of improved cure rates. Any product candidates that we
develop may not demonstrate in patients the therapeutic properties ascribed to them in laboratory and other preclinical studies, and they may interact
with human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or even harmful ways. We cannot be certain that our approach will lead to the development
of approvable or marketable drug products. Furthermore, the bacterial targets of phage may develop resistance to our product candidates over time,
which we may or may not be able to overcome with the development of new phage cocktails or we may not be able to construct a cocktail with
sufficient coverage of our target pathogen universe. If our product candidates receive regulatory approval but do not achieve an adequate level of
acceptance by physicians, healthcare payors and patients, we may not generate product revenue sufficient to attain profitability. Our success will
depend upon physicians who specialize in the treatment of diseases targeted by our product candidates that we pursue as drugs, prescribing potential
treatments that involve the use of our product candidates in lieu of, or in addition to, existing treatments with which they are more familiar and for
which greater clinical data may be available. Our success will also depend on consumer acceptance and adoption of our products that we
commercialize. Adverse events in preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates or in clinical trials of others developing similar
products and the resulting publicity, as well as any other adverse events in the field of phage therapeutics, could result in a decrease in demand for
any product that we may develop. The degree of market acceptance of any approved products will depend on a number of factors, including: e the
effectiveness of the product; e the prevalence and severity of any side effects; ® potential advantages or disadvantages over alternative treatments; ®
relative convenience and ease of administration; e the strength of marketing and distribution support; e the price of the product, both in absolute
terms and relative to alternative treatments; and e sufficient third- party coverage or reimbursement. Developing our product candidates on a
commercial scale will require substantial technical, financial and human resources. We and our third- party collaborators may experience delays in
developing manufacturing capabilities for our product candidates, and may not be able to do so at the scale required to efficiently conduct the clinical
trials required to obtain regulatory approval of those of our product candidates that require it, or to manufacture commercial quantities of our
products, if approved or otherwise permitted to be marketed. Our product candidates must undergo clinical testing which may fail to demonstrate the
requisite safety and efficacy for drug products, or safety, purity, and potency for biologics, and any of our product candidates could cause adverse
effects, which would substantially delay or prevent regulatory approval and / or commercialization. Before we can obtain regulatory approval for a
product candidate or otherwise obtain evidence allowing us to market the product as a drug or biologic, we must undertake extensive preclinical and
clinical testing in humans to demonstrate safety and efficacy or in the case of biologics, safety, purity, and potency, to the satisfaction of the FDA or
other regulatory agencies. Clinical trials of product candidates sufficient to obtain regulatory marketing approval or otherwise demonstrate safety
prior to marketing, are expensive and take years to complete. Furthermore, results from these clinical trials may not show safety or efficacy of our
product candidates sufficient to lead to approval, or to warrant further development. Our approach is intended to design phage combinations, or
cocktails, to target specific strains of pathogenic bacteria in order to alter microbiome composition and confer potential therapeutic or cosmetic
benefit to patients. However, there can be no assurance that the eradication of the selected targets will result in a clinically meaningful effect on the
underlying disease, such as in cases where the pathology of the disease is not well- defined. In addition, the bacteria that we target may be associated
with the disease, but may not be causative or contributive to the pathology of the disease, or there may be other bacteria that our product candidates
do not target that are more meaningful drivers of the underlying disease. In addition, our product candidates require the use of effective delivery
vehicles to reach the target organ or tissue, and there can be no assurance that our intended delivery systems will allow our product candidates to
reach the desired locations in a patient. Safety must first be established through preclinical testing and early clinical trials, before efficacy can be
evaluated and established and thereby lead to FDA or other regulatory agencies marketing approval. Our clinical trials may produce undesirable side
effects or negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical and / or preclinical testing
or to abandon programs. Ongoing geopolitical instability have adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect our business, including our
clinical trials. General economic, political, demographic and business conditions worldwide, including geopolitical uncertainty and instability, such
as the Israel = s war with Hamas War-and Hezbollah and the Russia- Ukraine conflict, might adversely affect our business, through indirect



disruption to our supply chain, harming our ability to raise funds at terms acceptable to us among other affects. We may further experience additional
disruptions that could severely impact our business, preclinical studies and clinical trials, including: e delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in
our clinical trials; @ delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and clinical site staff; ®
interruption of, or delays in receiving, supplies of our product candidates from our contract manufacturing organizations due to staffing shortages,
production slowdowns or stoppages and disruptions in delivery systems; and e interruptions or delays to our sourced discovery and clinical activities.
Changes in trade policy, including the imposition of tariffs, may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The U. S. and various foreign governments have established certain trade and tariff requirements. From time to time, the U. S. government
has indicated a willingness to revise or renegotiate tariffs on certain goods imported into the U. S. Since we rely on certain components from
certain countries in the European Union, such steps, if adopted, could adversely impact our business, increase our costs, and make our
products less competitive. On February 1, 2025, President Trump announced a 10 % additional tariff on imports from China and has
expressed the possibility of imposing tariffs on imports from the European Union and India. In addition, on February 13, 2025, President
Trump announced a plan to establish reciprocal tariffs with nations that impose tariffs on U. S. products, and directed relevant segments of
the U. S. government to assess harm of non- reciprocal trade arrangements and to generate a report of that assessment within 180 days.
Reciprocal tariffs may be imposed prior to completion of the report. There also have been statements by the Trump administration
regarding a 25 % tariff on pharmaceutical products. For the year ending December 31, 2025, we estimate the impact of tariffs currently
imposed on our imports from China will not be material. We are unable to estimate the impacts of any tariffs that have not yet been imposed
by the U. S. government. If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals for our product candidates for
therapeutic indications, we will not be able to commercialize, or will be delayed in commercializing, our product candidates, and our future ability to
generate revenue will be materially impaired. Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization for
therapeutic indications, including their design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising,
promotion, sale, distribution, import and export are subject to regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by
equivalent foreign regulatory authorities. Before we can commercialize any of our product candidates for therapeutic indications, we must obtain
marketing approval. We have not received approval to market any of our product candidates from regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction, and it is
possible that none of our product candidates or any product candidates we may seek to develop in the future will ever obtain regulatory approval. The
process of obtaining regulatory approvals for therapeutic indications, both in the United States and in other countries, is expensive, may take many
years if additional clinical trials are required, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of
the product candidates involved. Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional
statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted IND, or equivalent application types, may cause delays in the approval or
rejection of an application. The FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse
to accept any application or may decide that our data is insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies . There is
uncertainty around new budget and staffing cuts imposed by the Trump administration on the FDA, which may affect the timely
development, approval and commercialization of new drugs. Also, the Trump administration may change or overhaul existing drug
regulations, which would lead to additional time and money to comply with. Furthermore, the Trump administration’ s tariffs could raise
the cost of the clinical operations or affect the supply chains . Our product candidates could be delayed in receiving, or fail to receive, regulatory
approval for many reasons, including the following: @ the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design, including
study population, dose level, dose regimen, and bioanalytical assay methods, or implementation of our clinical trials; ® we may be unable to
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authorities that a drug candidate is safe and effective for its proposed
indication or a related companion diagnostic is suitable to identify appropriate patient populations; @ the results of clinical trials may not meet the
level of statistical significance required by the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authorities for approval, such as was the case with our acne
product candidate; ® we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’ s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; ® the FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials; @ the data collected
from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of a marketing application or other submission or to
obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere; ® the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the
manufacturing processes or facilities of third- party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and e the approval
policies or regulations of the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering our clinical data
insufficient for approval. Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or equivalent foreign
regulatory approval processes and are commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may
result in us failing to obtain regulatory approval to market its product candidates, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations
and prospects. The FDA may also require a panel of experts, referred to as an Advisory Committee, to deliberate on the adequacy of the safety and
efficacy data to support approval for therapeutic indications. The opinion of the Advisory Committee, although not binding, may have a significant
impact on our ability to obtain approval of any product candidates that we develop based on the completed clinical trials. In the European Union, the
safety and efficacy data of any product candidate considered by the EMA to qualify as an advanced therapy medicinal product must be reviewed by
the EMA’ s, Committee for Advanced Therapies, a group of experts in advanced therapy medicinal products. Moreover, under PREA, in the United
States, and the Pediatric Regulation, in the European Union, the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authority could require mandatory testing in
the pediatric population. Applications for approval in the United States or in the European Union must contain data to assess the safety and efficacy
of the biologic for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric
subpopulation for which the product is safe and effective. The FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory authority may, in its discretion, grant full or
partial waivers, or deferrals, for submission of data in pediatric subjects. If the FDA requires data in pediatric patients, significantly more capital will
have to be invested in order to conduct the mandatory pediatric clinical trials and studies, but the approval of the medicinal products for the adult
population should normally not be affected. If the results of such pediatric studies are not positive, our product candidates will not be approved for
children. In addition, even if we were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more limited
therapeutic indications than our requests, may include limitations for use or contraindications that limit the suitable patient population, may not
approve the price we intend to charge for our products, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post- marketing clinical trials or
may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of
that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates. If we experience
delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates may be
harmed and our future ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired. We have never generated any revenue from product sales and may
never be profitable or, if achieved, may not sustain profitability. Our ability to generate meaningful revenue and achieve profitability depends on our
ability, and the ability of any third party with which we may partner, to successfully complete the development of, and meet regulatory requirements,
including (but not limited to) obtaining any necessary regulatory approvals, to commercialize our product candidates. We do not currently meet
regulatory requirements or have the required approvals to market our product candidates and may never meet or receive them. We do not anticipate
generating revenue from product sales for the foreseeable future, if ever. If any of our product candidates fail in clinical trials or if any of our product
candidates do not meet regulatory requirements, including gaining regulatory approval when needed, or if any of our product candidates, if marketed,



fail to achieve market acceptance, we may never become profitable. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain
profitability in subsequent periods. Our ability to generate future revenue from product sales depends heavily on our success in: ® completing
research and preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates; ® seeking and obtaining regulatory and marketing approvals for product
candidates for which we complete clinical trials; ® meeting regulatory requirements for marketing the products; e developing a sustainable, scalable,
reproducible and transferable manufacturing process for our product candidates; ® launching and commercializing product candidates for which we
obtain regulatory and marketing approval or are otherwise permitted to market, either by establishing a sales force, marketing and distribution
infrastructure or by collaborating with a partner; ® obtaining market acceptance of any approved products; ® addressing any competing technological
and market developments; ® implementing additional internal systems and infrastructure, as needed; ® identifying and validating new product
candidates; ® negotiating favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter; ® maintaining, protecting
and expanding our portfolio of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets and know- how; and e attracting, hiring and retaining
qualified personnel. Even if one or more of the product candidates that we develop is approved for commercial sale or otherwise permitted for
marketing, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any approved product. Our expenses could increase beyond
expectations if we are required by the FDA, or the EMA, or other equivalent foreign regulatory agencies to perform clinical trials and other studies in
addition to those that we currently anticipate. Even if we are able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may not become
profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations. If we fail to become profitable, or if we are unable to fund our
continuing losses, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially adversely impacted. We are seeking to develop
product candidates to treat medical conditions related to the presence of certain bacteria. Our success is largely dependent on a broad degree of
market acceptance, and in the case of drug products, physician adoption and use, which are necessary for commercial success. Even if we obtain
FDA or foreign regulatory approvals for our drug product candidates, the commercial success of our product candidates will depend on consumer
acceptance and adoption of products that we commercialize. Adverse events in preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates or in
clinical trials of others developing similar products and the resulting publicity could result in a decrease in demand for any product that we may
develop. In addition, the commercial success of our drug product candidates will depend significantly on their broad adoption and use by
pediatricians and other physicians for approved therapeutic indications, as well as any other indications for which we may seek approval. We cannot
be certain that our approach will lead to the development of approvable or marketable products. Obtaining high titers for specific phage cocktails
necessary for our preclinical and clinical testing may be difficult and time- consuming. Our product candidates are phage cocktails that we have
designed to meet specific characteristics. We and our contract manufacturers produce a cocktail of multiple phage and it may be difficult or time-
consuming to achieve high titers, or levels, of phage sufficient for our preclinical and clinical testing. In some cases, it may require multiple product
runs in order for us to obtain the amounts necessary for its clinical testing. This may result in delays in our clinical trial timelines, and it may increase
production costs and associated expenses. Also, it may be difficult to reproduce the manufacturing process to the extent that more significant
quantities are required as our product candidates advance through the clinical development process. Results from preclinical studies of our product
candidates may not be predictive of the results of clinical trials or later stage clinical development. Preclinical studies of our product candidates, such
as BX004 and BX065-BX211 , including studies in animal disease models may not accurately predict the safety of the product candidate such that
further human clinical trials would be allowed to proceed. In particular, promising preclinical testing suggesting the potential efficacy of prototype
phage products may not predict the ability of these products to address conditions in the human clinical settings. For example, while we have studied
phage activity in vitro and in vivo, these results may not be replicated when our phage cocktails are administered to human subjects. Despite
promising data in any preclinical studies, our phage technology may be found not to be efficacious when studied in clinical trials. To satisfy FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory approval standards, we must demonstrate in adequate and well controlled clinical trials that our drug product candidates
are safe and effective for their intended use. Success in preclinical testing and early- stage clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will
be successful. Our initial results from preclinical testing also may not be confirmed by later analysis or subsequent larger clinical trials. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results in
earlier clinical trials, and most product candidates that commence clinical trials are never approved for commercial sale. If we encounter difficulties
enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected. Completion of clinical
trials depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients, which is a function of many factors, including: e the
therapeutic endpoints chosen for evaluation; e the eligibility criteria defined in the protocol; @ the perceived benefit of the product candidate under
study; e the size of the patient population required for analysis of the clinical trial’ s therapeutic endpoints; @ our ability to recruit clinical trial
investigators and sites with the appropriate competencies and experience; ® our ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and ® competition for
patients from clinical trials for other treatments. We have experienced and may continue to experience difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical
trials, including recently with respect to enrollment in our DFO phase 2 study, which could increase the costs or affect the timing or outcome of
these clinical trials. This is particularly true with respect to diseases with relatively small patient populations. In addition, potential patients for our
trials may not be adequately diagnosed or identified with the diseases that we are targeting or may not meet the entry criteria for our studies. We may
not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials if we are unable to locate a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in the clinical trials
required by the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies. In addition, the process of finding and diagnosing patients may prove costly. Our
inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for any of our clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to abandon one or
more clinical trials. Delays in our clinical trials could result in us not achieving anticipated developmental milestones when expected, increased costs
and delays in our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and commercialization of our product candidates. Delays in our clinical trials could result
in us not meeting anticipated clinical milestones and could materially impact our product development costs and delay regulatory approval of our
product candidates. Planned clinical trials may not be commenced or completed on schedule, or at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of
reasons, including: e delays in the development of manufacturing capabilities for our product candidates to enable their consistent production at
clinical trial scale; e failures in our internal manufacturing operations that result in our inability to consistently and timely produce bacteriophage in
sufficient quantities to support our clinical trials; ® the availability of financial resources to commence and complete our planned clinical trials; ®
delays in reaching a consensus with clinical investigators on study design; e delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory agencies on trial design
or in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a trial; ® delays in obtaining clinical materials; ® slower than expected patient recruitment for
participation in clinical trials; ® regulatory constraints or injunctions (for example, from supervisory authorities in case of noncompliance with
cybersecurity and data privacy laws); e failure by clinical trial sites, other third parties or us to adhere to clinical trial agreements and / or the trial
protocol; @ delays in reaching agreement on acceptable clinical trial agreement terms with prospective sites or obtaining IRB or independent ethics
committee approval; and e adverse safety events experienced during our clinical trials. If we do not successfully commence or complete our clinical
trials on schedule, the price of our securities may decline. Significant preclinical or clinical trial delays could shorten any periods during which we
may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do, potentially
impairing our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and harming our business and results of operations. Our current or future
product candidates may cause adverse effects that could halt their clinical development, prevent their approval or marketing, limit their commercial
potential or result in significant negative consequences. Adverse effects could occur and cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt
clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of marketing approval by the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory
agencies. Results of our trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects or unexpected characteristics. If adverse



effects arise in the development of our product candidates, we, the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies, the IRBs or independent ethics
committees at the institutions in which our studies are conducted, or the Data Safety Monitoring Board could suspend or terminate our clinical trials
or the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies could deny approval of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. We intend to
continue to evaluate our product candidates for safety and tolerability in the form of Phase 1 clinical trials. While our current and future product
candidates will undergo safety testing to the extent possible and, where applicable, under such conditions discussed with regulatory authorities, not all
adverse effects of drugs can be predicted or anticipated. Unforeseen adverse effects could arise either during clinical development or, if such adverse
effects are more rare, after our products have been approved by regulatory authorities and the approved product has been marketed, resulting in the
exposure of additional patients. For example, while we screen our phage in attempts to minimize safety issues, there can be no assurance that we will
eliminate the risk of the appearance of virulence genes, antibiotic resistance genes, lysogenic genes, integrase genes, or other toxic genes in our
phage, or of adverse reactions to our phage in a patient’ s immune system. So far, we have not demonstrated, and we cannot predict, if ongoing or
future clinical trials will demonstrate that any of our product candidates are safe in humans. Moreover, clinical trials of our product candidates are
conducted in carefully defined sets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials. Consequently, it is possible that our clinical trials may
indicate an apparent positive effect of a product candidate that is greater than the actual positive effect, if any, or alternatively fail to identify
undesirable adverse effects. Ultimately, some or all of our product candidates may prove to be unsafe for human use. Moreover, we could be subject
to significant liability if any volunteer or patient suffers, or appears to suffer, adverse health effects as a result of participating in our clinical trials.
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of our product candidates and could substantially increase
commercialization costs. We have not completed composition development of our product candidates. The development of our product candidates
requires that we isolate, select, optimize and combine a number of phage that target the desired bacteria for that product candidate. The selection of
phage for any of our product candidates is based on a variety of factors, including, without limitation, the ability of the selected phage, in
combination, to successfully kill the targeted bacteria, the degree of cross- reactivity of the individual phage with the same part of the bacterial
targets, the ability of the combined phage to satisfy regulatory requirements, our ability to manufacture sufficient quantities of the phage, intellectual
property rights of third parties, and other factors. While we have selected an initial formulation of BX004, there can be no assurance that this initial
formulation will be the final formulations of this product candidate for commercialization if approved. If we are unable to complete formulation
development of our product candidates in the time frame that we have anticipated, then our product development timelines, and the regulatory
approval of our product candidates, could be delayed. We must continue to develop manufacturing processes for our product candidates, and any
delay in doing so, or our inability to do so, would result in delays in our clinical trials. The manufacturing processes for our product candidates, and
the scale- up of such processes for clinical trials, may present challenges, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to complete this work in
a timely manner, if at all. Any delay in the development or scale- up of these manufacturing processes could delay the start of clinical trials and harm
our business. In order to scale- up our manufacturing capacity, we need to either build additional internal manufacturing capacity, contract with one or
more partners, or both. Our technology and the production process for our equipment and tools are complex and we may encounter unexpected
difficulties in manufacturing our product candidates. For example, the manufacturing hosts that we use to produce our phage may contain one or
more integrated phage in their genomes that, if we are unable to remove, can present challenges in manufacturing of the produced phage. There is no
assurance that we will be able to continue to build manufacturing capacity internally or find one or more suitable partners, or both, to meet the
necessary volume and quality requirements. Manufacturing and product quality issues may arise as we increase the scale of our production. Any
delay or inability in establishing or expanding our manufacturing capacity could diminish our ability to develop our product candidates. In the-third
guarterof2019, we established our own manufacturmg fa0111ty at our headquaners in Ness Zlona lsrael and we have executed cGMP manufacturmg
for our first in human clinical study. In 8 3 an e-testing-and-de nts-Gaithersb
faethity—n-March 2021, we moved into anew manufacturlng fac111ty at our headquarters in Ness Zlona Israel. Qu-r—new-Durlng 2024 the use of the
manufacturing facility undergees-engoinginternal-inspee haset-was put on hold as part of the Company
strategic decision and -H—chmcal sfud-}es—m—aeeefd&nee—w&h-trlal matenal was transferred to an outsourced company. We have the option to
return our own facnhty to full eG-M-P—~ GMP fequﬁemenfs—actlwty lf needed and sub]ect to sufficient funding . [n that case the-eventthese

e A t t a ates-, we may need to fund additional modifications to our
manufacturmg process —and conduct addltlonal valldatlon stud1es or. As a backup we belleve that we can find alternative manufacturing facilities 5
any-. Each of whieh-weuld-the options above might result in significant cost to us as well as a delay of up to several years in obtaining approval for
such product candidate. If we submit marketing applications for any of our product candidates manufactured at this facility, this manufacturing
facility will be subjected to ongoing periodic inspection for compliance with European, FDA and cGMP regulations. Compliance with these
regulations and standards is complex and costly, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to comply. Any failure to comply with applicable
regulations could result in sanctions being imposed (including fines, injunctions and civil penalties), failure of regulatory authorities to grant
marketing approval of our product candidates, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product
candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution. If our competitors are able to develop and market products that are more
effective, safer or more affordable than ours, or obtain marketing approval before we do, our commercial opportunities may be limited. Competition
in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries is intense and continues to increase. Some companies that are larger and have significantly more
resources than us are aggressively pursuing development programs for indications that we are pursuing, including traditional therapies and therapies
with novel mechanisms of action. In addition, other companies are developing phage- based products for therapeutic and non- therapeutic uses, and
may elect to use their expertise in phage development and manufacturing to try to develop products that would compete with our products. We also
face potential competition from academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions engaged in the discovery and
development of drugs and therapies. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and
development, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, manufacturing, sales and marketing than we do. Smaller
or early- stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established
pharmaceutical companies. In the European Union, potential competition also comes from medicinal preparations made by hospitals or pharmacists
and administered without marketing authorizations, generally referred to as “ compounding. > In some member states, national authorities generally
promote compounding in order to reduce healthcare expenses. Our competitors may succeed in developing products that are more effective, have
fewer side effects and are safer or more affordable than our product candidates, which would render our product candidates less competitive or
noncompetitive and would prevent the granting or maintenance of an orphan designation. These competitors also compete with us to recruit and
retain qualified scientific and management personnel, establish clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as to acquire
technology and technology licenses complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business. Moreover, competitors that are able to achieve
patent protection, obtain regulatory approvals and commence commercial sales of their products before we do, and competitors that have already
done so may enjoy a significant competitive advantage. We may not be successful in our efforts to identify or discover additional product candidates.
Although we intend to utilize our technology to evaluate other therapeutic opportunities in addition to the product candidates that we are currently
developing, we may fail to identify other product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons. For example, our research
methodology may not be successful in identifying potential product candidates, or those we identify may be shown to have harmful side effects or
other characteristics that make them unmarketable or unlikely to receive regulatory approval. In addition, we may not be able to identify phage that
eradicate the target bacteria, including due to sourcing difficulties such as lack of diversity, inability to obtain samples in a timely manner or at all, or




contamination in the samples. We may also encounter difficulties in designing phage cocktails that meet the requirements of an investigational
therapy, including due to the build- up of resistances in bacteria to our phage, the range of host bacteria that are affected by our phage, the variety of
activity on different bacteria growth states, issues with toxicity in our phage, and the stability, robustness and ease of manufacturing of our product
candidates. In addition, the designing of synthetically engineered phage may fail to result in the development of phage with the desired characteristics
or behaviors that are suitable for use as viable therapies, or may result in phage that contain undesired features such as immunogenicity, toxicity and
other safety concerns. A key part of our strategy is to utilize our screening technology to identify product candidates to pursue in clinical
development. If we fail to identify and develop additional potential product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business and our results of
operations could be materially harmed. Such product candidates will require additional, time- consuming development efforts prior to commercial
sale, including preclinical studies, clinical trials and approval by the FDA and / or applicable foreign regulatory agencies. All product candidates are
prone to the risks of failure that are inherent in pharmaceutical product development. Legal requirements as well as ethical and social concerns about
synthetic biology and genetic engineering could limit or prevent the use of our technologies and limit our revenues. Our technology may include the
use of synthetic biology and genetic engineering. In some countries, drugs made using genetically modified organisms may be subject to a more
stringent legal regime, which could prove to be complex and very challenging, especially for a small life sciences company. For example, in the
European Union, the rules on genetically modified organisms would apply in addition to the general rules on medicinal products or cosmetic
products. The rules on advanced therapy medicinal products may also apply. Additionally, public perception about the safety and environmental
hazards of, and ethical concerns over, synthetic biology and genetic engineering could influence public acceptance of our technologies, product
candidates and processes. If we and our collaborators are not able to overcome the legal challenges as well as the ethical and social concerns relating
to synthetic biology and genetic engineering, our technologies, product candidates and processes may not be accepted. These challenges and concerns
could result in increased expenses, regulatory scrutiny and increased regulation, trade restrictions on imports of our product candidates, delays or
other impediments to our programs or the public acceptance and commercialization of our products. We design and produce product candidates with
characteristics comparable or superior to those found in naturally occurring organisms or enzymes in a controlled laboratory; however, the release of
such organisms into uncontrolled environments could have unintended consequences. Any adverse effect resulting from such a release could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, and we may have exposure to liability for any resulting harm. We
may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that
may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success. Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we intend
to focus on developing product candidates for specific indications that we identify as most likely to succeed, in terms of both their potential for
marketing approval and commercialization. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other
indications that may prove to have greater commercral potentral For example, we spent srgnrﬁcant time and resources developrng BX06+-BX005 ,
which we discontinued ;and-e A 6 v ely-. Our resource
allocation decisions may cause us to fail to cap1tal1ze on V1able commercral products or proﬁtable market opportun1t1es Our spending on current and
future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable product candidates.
If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to
that product candidate through collaboration, licensing or other royalty arrangements 1n cases in whrch it would have been more advantageoue for us
to retain sole development and commercrahzatron r1ghts to the product candrdate e y

substantral risk of product lrabrlrty clarms in our busrness If we do not obtarn sufﬁcrent lrabrlrty insurance, a product lrabrllty clarm could result in
substantial liabilities to us. Our business exposes us to significant potential product liability risks that are inherent in the development, manufacturing
and marketing of human therapeutic products. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in: ® delay or failure to
complete our clinical trials; ® withdrawal of clinical trial participants; ® decreased demand for our product candidates; @ injury to our reputation; @
litigation costs; @ substantial monetary awards against us; and e diversion of management or other resources from key aspects of our operations. If
we succeed in marketing products, product liability claims could result in an FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agency investigation of the safety
or efficacy of our products, our manufacturing processes and facilities or our marketing programs. Such investigation could also potentially lead to a
recall of our products or more serious enforcement actions, or limitations on the indications, for which they may be used, or suspension or withdrawal
of approval. We currently only have limited clinical trials insurance policies that cover clinical trials in certain territories. We intend to expand our
insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for our product candidates or any other compound
that we may develop. However, insurance coverage is expensive, and we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or at
all, and the insurance coverage that we have or obtain may not be adequate to cover potential claims or losses. Our employees, independent
contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with
regulatory standards and requirements. We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other illegal activity by our employees, independent
contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and / or negligent conduct
that fails to comply with the laws of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, provide true, complete and accurate information to the
FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, comply with manufacturing standards we have established, comply with healthcare fraud and abuse
laws in the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws or report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized
activities to us. If we obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the United States, our
potential exposure under such laws will increase significantly, and our costs associated with compliance with such laws are also likely to increase.
These laws may impact, among other things, our current activities with principal investigators and research patients, as well as proposed and future
sales, marketing and education programs. Our limited operating history compared to the long time it takes to develop phage based products may
make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability. Since inception in 2015, BiomX Ltd. has devoted
substantially all of its resources to developing product candidates with phage technology through its preclinical programs, building its intellectual
property portfolio, developing a supply chain, planning its business, raising capital and providing general and administrative support for these
operations . Such development efforts take very long periods of time before they can be proved successful . We have not yet demonstrated our
ability to successfully complete any clinical study or other pivotal clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a commercial- scale
product, or arrange for a third- party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful product
commercialization. Consequently, any predictions made about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a
longer operating history. In addition, as an early- stage company, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and



other known and unknown circumstances. As we advance our product candidates, we will need to transition from a company with a research focus to
a company capable of supporting clinical development and, if successful, commercial activities. We may not be successful in such a transition. We
may need to grow the size of our organization and may experience difficulties in managing this growth. As our research, development, manufacturing
and commercialization plans and strategies, we may need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other personnel. Future
growth would impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including: e identifying, recruiting, compensating, integrating,
maintaining and motivating additional employees; ® managing our internal research and development efforts effectively, including identification of
clinical candidates, scaling our manufacturing process and navigating the clinical and FDA review process for our product candidates; and e
improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. Our future financial performance and our ability to
commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth, and our management may also
have to divert a disproportionate amount of our attention away from day- to- day activities in order to devote a substantial amount of time to
managing these growth activities. If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring additional employees and expanding our groups
of consultants and contractors, we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize our product
candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development and commercialization goals. Risks Related to Government Regulation and
Government Our product candidates are subject to significant regulatory approval requirements, which could delay, prevent or limit our ability to
market or develop our product candidates. Our research and development activities, preclinical studies, clinical trials and the anticipated
manufacturing and marketing of our drug product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the
United States and by comparable authorities in Europe and elsewhere. To satisfy FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory approval standards, we must
demonstrate in adequate and well controlled clinical trials that our drug product candidates are safe and effective for their intended use. The
regulatory approval process is expensive and time- consuming, and the timing of receipt of regulatory approval is difficult to predict. Given the
uncertainties around phage therapy, our product candidates could require a significantly longer time to gain regulatory approval than expected or may
never gain approval. We cannot be certain that, even after expending substantial time and financial resources, we will obtain regulatory approval for
any of our product candidates. A delay or denial of regulatory approval could delay or prevent our ability to generate product revenue and to achieve
profitability. Regulatory requirements for development of our product candidates are uncertain and evolving. Changes in these laws or the current
interpretation or application of these laws would have a significant adverse impact on our ability to develop and commercialize our product
candidates. The legal and regulatory status of phage therapy remains unclear in many countries, including the European Union. Changes in regulatory
approval policies during the development period of any of our product candidates, changes in, or the enactment of, additional regulations or statutes,
or changes in regulatory review practices for a submitted product application may cause a delay in obtaining approval or result in the rejection of an
application for regulatory approval. Regulatory approval, if obtained, may be made subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may
market a product, as well as the approved labeling for the product. These limitations could adversely affect our potential product revenue. Regulatory
approval may also be conditioned on costly post- marketing follow- up studies. In addition, the labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage,
advertising, promotion and recordkeeping related to the product will be subject to extensive ongoing regulatory requirements. Furthermore, for any
marketed product, our manufacturer and our manufacturing facilities will be subject to registration and listing requirements and continual review and
periodic inspections by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements may, among other things,
result in fines, suspensions of regulatory approvals, product recalls, product seizures, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution. Breakthrough
Therapy Designation or Fast Track Designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of our product candidates developed for therapeutic indications,
may not lead to a faster development, regulatory review or approval process, and it does not increase the likelihood that any of our product
candidates will receive marketing approval in the United States. In the United States, we may seek a Breakthrough Therapy Designation for some of
our product candidates, including BX004 or another product candidate under development. A breakthrough therapy is defined as a therapy that is
intended, alone or in combination with one or more other therapies, to treat a serious or life- threatening disease or condition, and preliminary clinical
evidence indicates that the therapy may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints,
such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. For therapies that have been designated as breakthrough therapies,
interaction and communication between the FDA and the sponsor of the trial can help to identify the most efficient path for clinical development
while minimizing the number of patients placed in ineffective control regimens. Breakthrough designation also provides sponsors with the potential
for rolling review of a BLA. Designation as a breakthrough therapy is within the discretion of the FDA. In the European Union, the PRIME
(PRIority MEdicines) status is similar to the Breakthrough Therapy Designation. The EMA has implemented the PRIME status to support the
development and accelerate the approval of complex, innovative medicinal products addressing an unmet medical need. The PRIME status enables
early dialogue with the relevant EMA scientific committees and, possibly, some payors and thus reinforces the EMA’ s scientific and regulatory
support. The PRIME status, which is granted at the EMA’ s discretion, focuses on medicinal products the marketing authorization of which qualifies
for accelerated assessment (medicinal products of major interest from a public health perspective, in particular from a therapeutic innovation
perspective). Accordingly, even if we believe one of our product candidates meets the criteria for designation as a breakthrough therapy or for
PRIME status, the FDA or EMA, respectively, may disagree and instead determine not to make such designation. In any event, the receipt of a
Breakthrough Therapy Designation or PRIME status for a product candidate may not actually result in a faster development process, review or
approval compared to therapies considered for approval under conventional procedures and does not assure ultimate approval. In addition, even if one
or more of our product candidates qualify as breakthrough therapies or is granted PRIME status, the FDA or EMA, respectively, may later decide that
such product candidates no longer meet the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for review or approval will not be shortened. In
the United States, we may seek Fast Track Designation for some of our product candidates for therapeutic indications. If a therapy is intended for the
treatment of a serious or life- threatening condition and the therapy demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition, the
therapy sponsor may apply for Fast Track Designation. The FDA has broad discretion whether or not to grant this designation, so even if we believe
a particular product candidate is eligible for this designation; we cannot assure you that the FDA would decide to grant it. In August 2023, we
obtained Fast Track Designation for BX004 in the United States. Although we received Fast Track Designation, we may not experience a faster
development process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The FDA may withdraw Fast Track Designation if they believe
that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. Fast Track Designation alone does not guarantee
qualification for the FDA’ s priority review procedures. Other countries may have adopted schemes designed to ensure an accelerated approval of
drugs that are especially important for patients. For example, in the European Union, the EMA may agree to an accelerated assessment (150 days
instead of 210 days) for medicinal products of major interest from a public health perspective, in particular from a therapeutic innovation
perspective). Furthermore, competent regulatory authorities may grant market authorizations *“ under exceptional circumstances, ” in cases where all
the required safety and efficacy data have not been and will not be collected, to medicinal products designed for unmet needs or orphan medicinal
products. Although a marketing authorization under exceptional circumstances is definitive, the risk- benefit balance of the medicinal product must
be reviewed annually and the marketing authorization is withdrawn if it becomes negative. Moreover, under the centralized procedure, the European
Commission may grant *“ conditional marketing authorizations ” in cases where all the required safety and efficacy data are not yet available. The
conditional marketing authorization is subject to conditions to be fulfilled for generating the missing data or ensuring increased safety measures. It is
valid for one year and has to be renewed annually until fulfillment of all the conditions. If the conditions are not fulfilled within the timeframe set by
the EMA, the marketing authorization ceases to be renewed. As with Fast Track Designation, the competent regulatory authorities in the European



Union have broad discretion whether or not to grant such an accelerated assessment or approval and, even if such assessment or approval is granted,
we may not experience a faster development process, review or approval compared to conventional procedures. We may fail to obtain and maintain
orphan drug designations from the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies for our current and future therapeutic product candidates, as
applicable. In the United States, under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug or biologic intended to treat a rare
disease or condition, which is defined as one occurring in a patient population of fewer than 200, 000 in the United States, or a patient population
greater than 200, 000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug or biologic will be recovered
from sales in the United States. In December 2023, we obtained orphan drug designation for BX004 in the United States. In the United States, the
orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives, such as opportunities for grant funding toward clinical trial costs, tax advantages and
user- fee waivers. In addition, if a product that has the orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the disease for
which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications,
including an NDA, to market the same drug or biologic for the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of
clinical superiority to the product with orphan drug exclusivity or where the original manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient product quantity. In
addition, exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be limited if we seek approval for an indication broader than the orphan- designated
indication or may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective, or if we are unable to assure sufficient
quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the orphan- designated disease or condition. Further, even if we obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different drugs with different active
moieties may receive and be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan- designated product is approved, the FDA can subsequently
approve a later drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior if it is shown to
be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory
review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process. In addition, while we may seek the orphan drug
designation for our product candidates, we may never receive such designation. An orphan drug legal regime also exists in the European Union. The
EMA” s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, or COMP, gives opinions, and the European Commission takes decisions, on the granting of the
orphan drug designation to the development of products that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of (i) a life- threatening or
chronically debilitating condition affecting not more than five in 10, 000 persons in the European Economic Area (comprising the European Union,
Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway); or (ii) a life- threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition when, without incentives, it is
unlikely that sales of the drug in the European Economic Area would be sufficient to justify the necessary investment in developing the drug or
biological product. The granting of the orphan designation requires that there is no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment, or, if
such a method exists, that the future medicine is to be of significant benefit to those affected by the condition. The test for that later condition is
stringent, because the future product must be compared with all existing therapies for the rare condition, including surgical operations, already
authorized medicinal products and compounded preparations (subject to certain conditions). At the time of marketing authorization, the orphan
designation is reviewed again by the COMP in view of the maintenance of the orphan status. If the designation criteria are no longer met, the
European Commission withdraws the orphan designation. Maintenance of the orphan designation at the time of marketing authorization means that
all the drugs / biologicals authorized since the granting of the designation become relevant for determining the lack of satisfactory therapy or the
significant benefit. If obtained, the orphan drug designation would entitle us to financial incentives, such as reductions of fees or fee waivers and 10
years of market exclusivity. Market exclusivity precludes the EMA or the national competent authorities from validating a marketing authorization
application, and the European Commission or a national competent authority from granting a marketing authorization, for a same or similar drug /
biological and the same therapeutic indication. The 10- year period may be reduced to six years if the orphan designation criteria are no longer met,
including where it is shown that the product is not sufficiently profitable to justify maintenance of market exclusivity. The orphan exclusivity may
also be lost vis- a- vis another drug / biological in cases where the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet patient
needs or if that other product is proved to be clinically superior to the approved orphan product. A drug / biological is clinically superior if it is safer,
more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. Failure to comply with health and data protection laws and regulations could lead to
claims, government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties), regulatory actions, private litigation and / or adverse
publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. We may be subject to federal, state and foreign data protection laws and
regulations (i. e., laws and regulations that address privacy and security). In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations,
including federal health information privacy laws, state consumer privacy laws, state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy
laws and federal and state consumer protection laws (e. g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), that govern the collection, use,
disclosure and protection of health- related and other personal information could apply to our operations or the operations of our collaborators. In
addition, we may obtain health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are
subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health of
2009. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain, use or disclose individually
identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA- covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. Additional
requirements may also be imposed by international data protection laws. In this context, Regulation 2016 / 679 of the GDPR (in addition to many
other international data protection laws) may have an impact on our operations when we collect and / or process personal data of individuals located
in the European Union. The GDPR has applied since May 25, 2018 (replacing previously applicable data protection frameworks) and has an
extraterritorial reach. The GDPR allows members states to introduce specific requirements in relation to certain areas, including processing of special
categories of data, and we may face further restrictions and non- compliance risks under such national frameworks. We have not yet assessed
whether its activities might be caught by the GDPR. Because of the types of data we collect and process, which may involve health, biometric and
genetic data, we may face high risks for non- compliance with the GDPR rules (or local declinations of GDPR- rules across the different European
Union Member States), as these types of data are considered as special categories of data and are granted higher protection. The risks are further
increased considering the diverging approach in the European Union as to the rules, requirements and frameworks in relation to the processing of
personal data in clinical trials (in matters such as the choice of the legal basis for the processing of data, the possible uses of the personal data
collected, etc.) and the interplay with other relevant frameworks. The GDPR introduced stringent data protection requirements in the European
Union, as well as potential fines for noncompliant companies of up to the greater of € 20 million or 4 % of annual worldwide turnover. Supervisory
authorities also have the ability to restrict our processing activities if those are deemed not to be in compliance with the GDPR (or local declinations);
this may significantly impact the way we conduct our activities. The GDPR imposes numerous requirements for the collection, use and disclosure of
personal data, including high standards for consent to be valid, and specific information to be provided to individuals about how their personal data is
used, the obligation to notify regulators and (in some cases) to communicate to affected individuals of personal data breaches, extensive new internal
privacy governance requirements and obligations to allow individuals to exercise their strengthened privacy rights (e. g., the right to access, correct
and delete their personal data, to withdraw their consent, etc.), and obligations when contracting with third parties such as service providers, CROs,
etc. In addition, the GDPR includes restrictions on data transfers outside the EEA. The actual mechanisms made available under GDPR to transfer
such personal data have received heightened regulatory and judicial scrutiny. If we cannot rely on existing mechanisms for transferring personal data
from the EEA, the United Kingdom, or other jurisdictions, we may be unable to transfer personal data in those regions. Further, the United
Kingdom’ s vote in favor of exiting the European Union, often referred to as *“ Brexit, ” has created uncertainty as to whether or not the United



Kingdom data protection legislation will depart from the GDPR and how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated.
Compliance with U. S. and international data protection laws and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts,
restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Such laws and regulations
could limit our ability to use and share personal or other data, thereby increasing our costs and harming our business and financial condition. Failure
to comply with U. S. and international data protection laws and regulations could result in claims, government enforcement actions (which could
include civil or criminal penalties), regulatory actions, private litigation and / or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results
and business. Moreover, clinical trial subjects about whom we or our potential collaborators obtain information, as well as the providers who share
this information with us, may contractually limit our ability to use and disclose the information. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy
rights, failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and
time consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business. Finally, we may be required to disclose personal data
pursuant to demands from government agencies, from law enforcement agencies, and from intelligence agencies. This disclosure may result in a
failure or perceived failure by us to comply with data privacy laws, rules, and regulations and could result in proceedings or actions against us in the
same or other jurisdictions, and could have an adverse impact on our reputation and brand. Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians
and third- party payors will be subject to applicable anti- kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us
to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits and future earnings. Healthcare providers,
physicians and third- party payors in the United States and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of pharmaceutical
products. Arrangements with third- party payors and customers can expose pharmaceutical manufacturers to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and
other healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Anti- Kickback Statute and the FCA, and foreign equivalent
legislation, which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which such companies sell, market and distribute
pharmaceutical products. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business arrangements
in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self- dealing and other abusive practices. These laws
and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commissions, certain
customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations laws that may
affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to: @ the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and
willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or
covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any
good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and
Medicaid programs. A person or entity can be found guilty of violating the statute without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate
it. In addition, a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent
claim for purposes of the FCA. The Anti- Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on
the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other hand. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe
harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution; e federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the FCA, which prohibit,
among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment to, or
approval by Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record or
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim or an obligation to pay or transmit money to the federal government, or knowingly concealing or
knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held
liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to *“ cause  the submission of false or
fraudulent claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “ whistleblower ” to bring actions on behalf of the federal government
alleging violations of the FCA and to share in any monetary recovery; ® HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly
and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent
pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program,
regardless of the payor (e. g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material
fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to
healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, a person or entity can be found guilty of violating HIPAA without actual knowledge
of the statute or specific intent to violate it; ® the federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, created under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care
Act and its implementing regulations, which require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplies for which payment is
available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’ s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to report annually to the United States
Department of Health and Human Services information related to payments or other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors,
dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain non- physician practitioners (physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse
specialists, anesthesiologist assistants, certified registered nurse anesthetists and certified nurse midwives) and teaching hospitals, as well as
ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members; ® federal consumer protection and unfair competition
laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers; ® analogous state and foreign laws and
regulations, such as state anti- kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare
items or services reimbursed by nongovernmental third- party payors, including private insurers, and may be broader in scope than their federal
equivalents; state and foreign laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’ s voluntary compliance
guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to
healthcare providers; and state and foreign laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value
to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and ® European Union and other foreign provisions. The distribution of
pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive recordkeeping, licensing, storage, security
requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products and, in some foreign countries, including the European Union
countries, mandatory anti- counterfeit features. The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the
current environment of healthcare reform, especially in light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement
bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of
investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Ensuring business arrangements comply with applicable
healthcare laws, as well as responding to possible investigations by government authorities, can be time- and resource- consuming and can divert a
company’ s attention from the business. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect
and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental
investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. Efforts to ensure that our
business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental and enforcement
authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable
fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. The failure to comply with any of these laws or regulatory requirements could subject us to
possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements can result in civil, criminal



and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in federal and state
funded healthcare programs, contractual damages and the curtailment or restricting of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and
oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of noncompliance with these laws. Any
action for violation of these laws, even if successfully defended, could cause a pharmaceutical manufacturer to incur significant legal expenses and
divert management’ s attention from the operation of the business. Prohibitions or restrictions on sales or withdrawal of future marketed products
could materially affect business in an adverse way. In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the
United States will also likely subject us to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws. The FDA and other
equivalent foreign regulatory agencies may implement additional regulations or restrictions on the development and commercialization of products
which act on the microbiome, which may be difficult to predict. The FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory agencies in other countries have each
expressed interest in further regulating biotechnology products and product candidates, such as those that act on the human microbiome. Agencies at
both the federal and state level in the United States, as well as the U. S. congressional committees and other governments or governing agencies,
have also expressed interest in further regulating the biotechnology industry. Such action may delay or prevent commercialization of some or all of
our product candidates. Adverse developments in non- IND human clinical studies or clinical trials of microbiome products conducted by others may
cause the FDA or other oversight bodies to change the requirements for approval of any of our product candidates. These regulatory review agencies
and committees and the new requirements or guidelines they promulgate may lengthen the regulatory review process, require us to perform
additional studies or trials, increase our development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or prevent approval and
commercialization of our product candidates or lead to significant post- approval limitations or restrictions. As we advance our product candidates,
we will be required to consult with these regulatory agencies and comply with applicable requirements and guidelines. If we fail to do so, we may be
required to delay or discontinue development of such product candidates. These additional processes may result in a review and approval process that
is longer than we otherwise would have expected. Delays as a result of an increased or lengthier regulatory approval process or further restrictions on
the development of our product candidates can be costly and could negatively impact our ability to complete clinical trials and commercialize our
current and future product candidates in a timely manner if at all. Even if we receive regulatory approval of any product candidates for therapeutic
indications, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory compliance obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant
additional expense. Additionally, any of our product candidates, if approved, could be subject to labeling and other restrictions and market
withdrawal, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our
product candidates. If any of our product candidates is approved for therapeutic indications, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements
for manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, advertising, promotion, sampling, recordkeeping, export, import, conduct of post-
marketing studies and submission of safety, efficacy and other post- market information, including both federal and state requirements in the United
States and requirements of equivalent foreign regulatory agencies. In addition, we will be subject to continued compliance with cGMP and GCP
requirements for any clinical trials that we conduct post- approval. Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive
FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory agency requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP
regulations. As such, we and our contract manufacturers will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMP and
adherence to commitments made in any NDA, other marketing applications and previous responses to inspection observations. Accordingly, we and
others with whom we work must continue to expend time, money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing,
production and quality control. The FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies have significant post- marketing authority, including, for example,
the authority to require labeling changes based on new safety information and to require post- marketing studies or clinical trials to evaluate serious
safety risks related to the use of a drug. Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may be subject to limitations on the
approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-
marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory agencies may also require a REMS program as a condition of approval of our product candidates, which could entail
requirements for long- term patient follow- up, a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as
restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or an equivalent foreign regulatory agency
approves our product candidates, we will have to comply with requirements, including submissions of safety and other post- marketing information
and reports and registration. The FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies may impose consent decrees or withdraw approval if compliance
with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously
unknown problems with our product candidates, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third- party
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add
new safety information, the imposition of post- market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks, or the imposition of distribution restrictions
or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things: e restrictions on the marketing or
manufacturing of our products, withdrawal of products from the market, or voluntary or mandatory product recalls; ® fines, warning or untitled
enforcement letters, or holds on clinical trials; e refusal by the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies to approve pending applications or
supplements to approved applications filed by us or the suspension or revocation of license approvals; @ product seizure or detention or refusal to
permit the import or export of our product candidates; and @ injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. The FDA or equivalent
foreign regulatory agencies strictly regulate the marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of drug products that are placed on the market.
Products may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label or other regulatory
marketing pathway. The FDA and equivalent foreign regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-
label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off- label uses may be subject to significant liability. The policies of the FDA
or equivalent foreign regulatory agencies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay
regulatory approval of our product candidates. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained,
which would adversely affect our business, prospects and the ability to achieve or sustain profitability. The policies of the FDA or equivalent foreign
regulatory agencies may change, and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our
product candidates. We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or
administrative or executive action, either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the
adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may be subject to enforcement action, and we
may not achieve or sustain profitability. Noncompliance by us or any future collaborator with regulatory requirements, including safety monitoring or
pharmacovigilance requirements, can also result in significant financial penalties. We may conduct clinical trials for our product candidates outside
the United States, and the FDA may not accept data from such trials. We have and may continue to conduct certain clinical trials or a portion of our
clinical trials for our product candidates outside the U. S. The acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the U. S. or another
jurisdiction by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. In cases where
data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve as the sole basis for marketing approval in the U. S., the FDA will generally not approve the
application on the basis of foreign data alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the U. S. population and U. S. medical practice; (ii) the trials were
performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence and pursuant to GCP regulations; and (iii) the data may be considered valid without the



need for an on- site inspection by the FDA, or if the FDA considers such inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an
on- site inspection or other appropriate means. In addition, even where the foreign study data are not intended to serve as the sole basis for approval,
the FDA will not accept the data as support for an application for marketing approval unless the study is well- designed and well- conducted in
accordance with GCP requirements and the FDA is able to validate the data from the study through an onsite inspection if deemed necessary. Many
foreign regulatory authorities have similar approval requirements. In addition, such foreign trials would be subject to the applicable local laws of the
foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority will
accept data from trials conducted outside of the U. S. or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority does
not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials, which could be costly and time- consuming, and which may result in current or
future product candidates that we may develop not receiving approval for commercialization in the applicable jurisdiction. Any products that we may
develop may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third- party reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives, which could
make it difficult for us to sell any product candidates or therapies profitably. The regulations that govern pricing for new medical products vary
widely from country to country. As a result, we might obtain regulatory approval for a product in a particular country but then be subject to pricing
regulations in that country that delay the commercial launch of the product and negatively impact the revenue we are able to generate from the sale
of the product in that country. In addition, our ability to commercialize any approved products successfully will depend in part on the extent to which
reimbursement for these products will be available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations.
Even if we succeed in bringing one or more therapeutic products to market, these products may not be considered cost- effective, and the amount
reimbursed for any products may be insufficient to allow us to sell them on a competitive basis. If the price we are able to charge for therapeutic
products is inadequate in light of our development and other costs, our future profitability could be adversely affected. Ongoing health care
legislative and regulatory reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Changes in regulations,
statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example, (i) changes to our
manufacturing arrangements, (ii) additions or modifications to product labeling, (iii) the recall or discontinuation of our products, or (iv) additional
record- keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of our business. In the United
States, there have been and continue to be a number of legislative initiatives to contain health care costs. For example, in March 2010, the ACA was
passed, which substantially changed the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers and significantly impacted the United
States pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, among other things, subjected biological products to potential competition by lower- cost biosimilars;
addressed a new methodology by which rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for drugs that are
inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected; increased the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program; and extended the rebate program to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations. It also established annual fees and taxes
on manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs and creates a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program in which manufacturers
must now agree to offer 50 % point of sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage
gap period as a condition for the manufacturer’ s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D. Since its enactment, there have been judicial,
executive and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. On June 17, 2021, the U. S. Supreme Court dismissed the most recent judicial
challenge to the ACA without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the ACA. Prior to the Supreme Court’ s decision, President Biden issued
an executive order initiating a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through August 15, 2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance
coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructed certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing
policies and rules that limit access to healthcare. More recently, on March 11, 2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021
into law, which eliminates the statutory Medicaid drug rebate cap, currently set at 100 % of a drug’ s average manufacturer price, beginning January
1, 2024. It is unclear how other healthcare reform measures of the Biden administration, if any, will impact our business. These laws and future state
and federal health care reform measures may be adopted in the future, any of which may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other health
care funding and otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for any of our product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval or the
frequency with which any such product candidate is prescribed or used. A similar movement is observed in the European Union countries. Criteria
for pricing and reimbursement, which vary from country to country, are regularly amended and tightened in order to reduce the draw on the budget
allocated to national health insurance systems. Moreover, the system of reference pricing (the price in a country calculated on the basis of prices in
other countries with typically lower prices) leads to price reductions in countries that traditionally granted high prices. Disruptions at the FDA and
other government agencies and entities, such as the U. S. Department of Defense, caused by funding shortages er-global health concerns or other
causes could hinder their ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise prevent new or modified products from
being developed, approved or commercialized in a timely manner or at all, which could negatively impact our business. The ability of the FDA to
review and or approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, statutory, regulatory,
and policy changes, the FDA’ s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other events that may otherwise
affect the FDA’ s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the FDA have fluctuated in recent years as a result. Any material
reductions in the ability of FDA to perform these and other functions may delay the development and approval of our product candidates.
Recent actions by the Trump administration have caused concern in the industry that this may occur. For example, beginning on February
13, 2025, the Department of Health and Human Services began firing a large number of its probationary employees, a category that includes
new federal employees and employees recently promoted or transferred to new positions or agencies. Reports indicate that 5, 000 out of 80,
000 employees have been terminated. Although we cannot be certain at this early stage, these terminations and others, if they withstand
legal challenges, may significantly delay and impede our interactions with FDA. Similar results may stem from the recent confirmed
resignations of some senior FDA employees with responsibility for regulation of drugs and biologics, as well as possible future layoffs and
resignations. There are also reports that the Trump administration intends to request Congress to reduce FDA funding in upcoming
budgets. Such funding cuts may also delay the development and approval of our products. [n addition, government funding of other government
agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. For instance,
we have funded our research and development from grants, including grants from MTEC, a consortium working in partnership with the U.
S. Department of Defense. In connection therewith, in 2019, APT entered into the Research Agreement, with the USAMRAA, and the
USAMRDOC, to advance personalized phage therapy from niche to broad use and have received awards under this agreement. Cost cutting
of grants and other Disruptions-disruptions at the Department of Defense, the FDA and other regulatory authorities may also stew-lengthen the
time necessary for new drugs and biologics to be developed, reviewed and / or approved by necessary regulatory authorities, which would adversely
affect our busmess —, For- or e*a-mp-}e—ever—requlre us to obtaln alternatlve fundmg and t-he—other resources -l-ast—sevefa-l—yeafs— 1f avallable t-he

sfep—eﬁﬁea-l—aeﬁﬂ&es— We are sub]ect to certain U. S. dnd forelgn dntlcorruptlon anti- money laundermg, export control sanctions and other trade
laws and regulations. We can face serious consequences for violations. Among other matters, U. S. and foreign anticorruption, anti- money
laundering, export control, sanctions and other trade laws and regulations, which are collectively referred to as Trade Laws, prohibit companies and
their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors and other partners from authorizing,
promising, offering, providing, soliciting or receiving, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from
recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the loss



of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other consequences. We have direct
or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government- affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations.
We also expect our non- U. S. activities to increase over time. We plan to engage third parties for clinical trials and / or to obtain necessary permits,
licenses, patent registrations and other regulatory approvals, and we can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel,
agents or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. Risks Related to our Licensed and Co- Owned
Intellectual Property The license agreements we maintain, including the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, with Yeda are important to our business. If
we or the other parties to our license agreements fail to adequately perform under the license agreements, or if we or they terminate the license
agreements, the development, testing, manufacture, production and sale of our phage- based therapeutic product candidates would be delayed or
terminated, and our business would be adversely affected. The Yeda 2015 License Agreement provides for an exclusive worldwide license to certain
know- how and research information related to the development, testing, manufacture, production and sale of phage- based therapeutic product
candidates, including candidates specified in the agreement, which are used in our phage discovery platform, as well as patents, research and other
rights to phage product candidates resulting from the work of the consultants identified in the agreement and further research that we funded. The
Yeda 2015 License Agreement terminates upon the later of the expiration of the last of the patents covered under the Yeda 2015 License Agreement
and the expiry of a continuous 15- year period during which there has not been a first commercial sale of any product in any country. Yeda may also
terminate the agreement if we fail to observe certain diligence and development requirements and milestones as described in the Yeda 2015 License
Agreement. We or Yeda may terminate the agreement for the material uncured breach of the other party after a notice period or the other party’ s
winding up, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or other similar discontinuation of business. Upon termination of the agreement, other than due to
the passage of time, we are required to grant to Yeda a nonexclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, fully paid- up, sublicensable, worldwide license in
respect of our rights in know- how and research results as described in the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, provided that, if Yeda subsequently grants
a license to a third party that utilizes our rights, we are entitled to share in the net proceeds actually received by Yeda arising out of that license,
subject to a cap based on the development expenses that we incur in connection with the Yeda 2015 License Agreement. For more information on
the Yeda 2015 License Agreement, see “ Business — Material Agreements — License Agreements — License Agreement with Yeda. ” Termination
of our license agreements could cause significant delays in our product and commercialization efforts that could prevent us from commercializing our
product candidates, including our phage- based therapeutic product candidates, without first expanding our internal capabilities or entering into other
agreements with third parties. Any alternative collaboration or license could also be on less favorable terms to us. We are highly dependent on
intellectual property licensed from third parties, and termination or limitation of any of these licenses could result in the loss of significant rights and
materially harm our business. We currently rely on licenses from third- party collaborators for certain aspects of our technology and for certain of our
existing programs. In particular, we received exclusive, royalty- bearing licenses to certain patents held by third parties, including Yeda. The Yeda
2015 License Agreement provide license to certain know- how and research information related to the development, testing, manufacture, production
and sale of phage- based therapeutic product candidates that are used in our phage discovery platform, as well as patents, research and other rights to
phage product candidates resulting from the work of the consultants identified in the agreement and further research that we funded. If we fail to
comply with our obligations under our license agreements, including payment terms, our licensors may have the right to terminate our license
agreements, in which event we may not be able to develop, manufacture, market or sell the products covered by those license agreements. We may
also face other penalties under our license agreements if we do not meet our contractual obligations. Such an occurrence could materially adversely
affect the value of our products being developed under any such license agreements. Termination of one or more of our license agreements, or
reduction or elimination of our rights under these license agreements, may result in us having to negotiate new or reinstated license agreements,
which may not be available to us on equally favorable terms, or at all, which may mean we are unable to commercialize the affected product
candidates. In the future, we may rely upon additional licenses to certain patent rights and proprietary technology from third parties that are important
or necessary to the development of our product candidates and proprietary product platform. Patent rights that we in- license in the future may be
subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. As a result, any such third party may have certain rights to such intellectual property. In
addition, subject to the terms of any such license agreements, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing, prosecution and
maintenance, and we may not have the right to control the enforcement and defense, of patents and patent applications covering the technology that
we license from third parties. We cannot be certain that our in- licensed patent applications (and any patents issuing therefrom) that are controlled by
our licensors will be prepared, filed, prosecuted, maintained, enforced and defended in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. If
our licensors fail to prosecute, maintain, enforce and defend such patents rights, or lose rights to those patent applications (or any patents issuing
therefrom), the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated, our right to develop and commercialize any of our product candidates and
proprietary product platform technology that are subject of such licensed rights could be adversely affected, and we may not be able to prevent
competitors from making, using and selling competing products. Moreover, we cannot be certain that such activities by our potential future licensors
will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents or other intellectual property
rights. In addition, even where we may have the right to control the prosecution of patents and patent applications that we may license to and from
third parties, we may still be adversely affected or prejudiced by actions or inactions of our potential future licensees, licensors and their counsel that
took place prior to the date of assumption of control over patent prosecution. The patent position of biopharmaceutical companies, including ours and
our licensors’, is generally uncertain and involves complex legal and factual considerations and, therefore, validity and enforceability cannot be
predicted with certainty. Our licensed and co- owned intellectual property may be challenged, deemed unenforceable, invalidated or circumvented.
We and our licensors will be able to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use by third parties only to the extent that these rights
(and the products and services they cover) are protected by valid and enforceable patents, copyrights or trademarks, or are effectively maintained as
trade secrets. Any patents obtained by our licensors or us, may be challenged by re- examination or otherwise invalidated or eventually found
unenforceable. Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive. If we or one
of our licensors were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent relating to one of our products, the defendant in such
litigation could counterclaim that the asserted patents are invalid and / or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the U. S., defendant counterclaims
alleging invalidity or unenforceability are common, as are validity challenges by the defendant against the subject patent or related patents before the
USPTO. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory patentability requirements, including lack of
novelty, obviousness, non- enablement, failure to meet the written description requirement, indefiniteness, and / or failure to claim patentable subject
matter. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected to prosecution of the patent / s at issue intentionally
withheld material information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution. Additional grounds for an unenforceability
assertion include an allegation of misuse or anticompetitive use of patent rights, and an allegation of incorrect inventorship with deceptive intent.
Third parties may also raise similar claims before the USPTO, even outside the context of litigation. The outcome of any assertion of invalidity and /
or unenforceability is unpredictable. If a defendant or third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and / or unenforceability, we and
our licensors would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the claims of the challenged patent / s. Such a loss of patent protection could have a material
adverse impact on our business. We are dependent on patents and proprietary technology. If we fail to adequately protect this intellectual property or
if we otherwise do not have exclusivity for the marketing of our products, our ability to commercialize products could suffer. Our commercial
success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection sufficient to prevent others from marketing our product candidates,
as well as to defend and enforce these patents against infringement and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others. Protection of our



product candidates from unauthorized use by third parties will depend on having valid and enforceable patents that cover our product candidates or
their manufacture or use or on having effective trade secret protection. If our patent applications do not result in issued patents or if our patents are
found to be invalid, we will lose the ability to exclude others from making, using or selling the inventions claimed therein. We have a limited number
of patents and pending patent applications. The patent positions of biotechnology companies can be uncertain and involve complex legal and factual
questions. This is due to inconsistent application of policies and changes in policy relating to the examination and enforcement of biotechnology
patents to date on a global scale. The laws of some countries may not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of countries
having well- established patent systems, and those countries may lack adequate rules and procedures for defending our intellectual property rights.
Also, changes in either patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws may diminish the value of our intellectual property. We are not able to
guarantee that all of our patent applications will result in the issuance of patents, and we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed in
our patent applications or in the patent applications we may license from others. The Leahy- Smith America Invents Act provides for proceedings
involving post- issuance patent review procedures, such as inter partes review, or IPR, and post- grant review, that allow third parties to challenge the
validity of an issued patent in front of the USPTO Patent Trial and Appeal Board. Each proceeding has different eligibility criteria and different
patentability challenges that can be raised. IPRs permit any person (except a party who has been litigating the patent for more than a year) to
challenge the validity of the patent on the grounds that it was anticipated or made obvious by prior art. Patents covering pharmaceutical products
have been subject to attack in [IPRs from generic drug companies and from hedge funds. If it is within nine months of the issuance of the challenged
patent, a third party can petition the USPTO for post- grant review, which can be based on any invalidity grounds and is not limited to prior art
patents or printed publications. In post- issuance proceedings, USPTO rules and regulations generally tend to favor patent challengers over patent
owners. For example, unlike in district court litigation, claims challenged in post- issuance proceedings are given their broadest reasonable meaning,
which increases the chance a claim might be invalidated by prior art or lack support in the patent specification. As another example, unlike in district
court litigation, there is no presumption of validity for an issued patent, and thus a challenger’ s burden to prove invalidity is by a preponderance of
the evidence, as opposed to the heightened clear and convincing evidence standard. As a result of these rules and others, statistics released by the
USPTO show a high percentage of claims being invalidated in post- issuance proceedings. Moreover, with few exceptions, there is no standing
requirement to petition the USPTO for inter partes review or post- grant review. In other words, companies that have not been charged with
infringement or that lack commercial interest in the patented subject matter can still petition the USPTO for review of an issued patent. Thus, even
where we have issued patents, our rights under those patents may be challenged and ultimately not provide us with sufficient protection against
competitive products or processes. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain, because legal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example: ® we might not be the first
to file patent applications for our inventions; e others may independently develop similar or alternative product candidates to any of our product
candidates that fall outside the scope of our patents; ® our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents; ® our issued patents may not
provide a basis for commercially viable products or may not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties; ®
others may design around our patent claims to produce competitive products that fall outside the scope of our patents; ® we may not develop
additional patentable proprietary technology related to our product candidates; and @ we are dependent upon the diligence of our appointed agents in
national jurisdictions, acting for and on our behalf, which control the prosecution of pending domestic and foreign patent applications and maintain
granted domestic and foreign patents. An issued patent does not guarantee us the right to practice the patented technology or commercialize the
patented product. Third parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from commercializing our patented products and
practicing our patented technology. Our issued patents and those that may be issued in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented,
which could limit our ability to prevent competitors from marketing the same or related product candidates or could limit the length of the term of
patent protection of our product candidates. Moreover, because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a
potential product, it is possible that, before any of our product candidates can be commercialized, any related patent may expire or remain in force for
only a short period following commercialization, thereby reducing any advantage of the patent. Patent term extensions may not be available for these
patents. Our rights to develop and commercialize our product candidates and proprietary product platform may be subject, in part, to the terms and
conditions of current and future licenses granted to us by others. Some of our licensed rights could provide us with freedom to operate for aspects of
our products and services. We may need to obtain additional licenses from others to advance our research, development and commercialization
activities. Disputes may arise between us and our licensors regarding intellectual property subject to a license agreement, including: e the scope of
rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation- related issues; ® whether, and the extent to which, our products, services,
technology and processes infringe on the intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the license agreement; ® our right to sublicense
patent and other rights to third parties under collaborative development relationships; @ our diligence obligations under the license agreement and
what activities satisfy those diligence obligations; @ the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know- how resulting from the joint creation or
use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our collaborators; and e the priority of invention of patented technology. If we do not prevail
in such disputes, we may lose any or all of our rights under such license agreements. In addition, the agreements under which we currently license
intellectual property or technology from third parties are complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple
interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights
to the relevant intellectual property or technology or could increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant
agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreover, if
disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on commercially
acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize any affected products or services, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects. Absent the license agreements, we may infringe patents
subject to those agreements, and, if the license agreements are terminated, we may be subject to litigation by the licensor. Litigation could result in
substantial costs to us and distract our management. If we do not prevail, we may be required to pay damages, including treble damages, attorneys’
fees, costs and expenses and royalties. We may also be enjoined from selling our products or services, which could adversely affect our ability to
offer products or services, our ability to continue operations, and our financial condition. If we infringe the rights of third parties, we could be
prevented from selling products, forced to pay damages and / or royalties, and forced to defend against litigation. We do not believe that the products
we are currently developing infringe upon the rights of any third parties or are infringed upon by third parties. However, there can be no assurance
that our technology will not be found in the future to infringe upon the rights of others or be infringed upon by others. Moreover, patent applications
are in some cases maintained in secrecy until patents are issued. The publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature frequently occurs
much later than the date on which the underlying discoveries were made and patent applications were filed. Because patents can take many years to
issue, there may be currently pending applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products or product
candidates infringe. For example, pending patent applications may exist that provide support or can be amended to provide support for a claim that
results in an issued patent that is infringed by one or more of our products. In such a case, others may assert infringement claims against us, and
should we be found to infringe these patents or impermissibly use their intellectual property, we might be forced to pay damages, potentially
including treble damages, if we are found to have willfully infringed on such third parties’ patent rights. In addition to any damages we might have to
pay, we may also be required to obtain licenses from the holders of this intellectual property, enter into royalty agreements, or redesign our products
so as not to use this intellectual property. Each of these penalties may prove to be uneconomical or otherwise impossible. We may fail to obtain any



such licenses or intellectual property rights on commercially reasonable terms. Even if we are able to obtain a license, it may be non- exclusive,
thereby giving our competitors access to the same licensed technologies. In that event, we may be required to spend significant time and resources to
develop or license replacement technologies. If we are unable to do so, we may be unable to develop or commercialize the affected products, which
could materially harm our business. Conversely, we may not be able to pursue claims against third parties that infringe on our licensed or co- owned
technology. Thus, our licensed and co- owned technology may not provide adequate protection against competitors. The pharmaceutical industry is
characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. Moreover, the cost to us of any litigation or other
proceeding relating to our licensed and / or co- owned intellectual property rights, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Any such
litigation would divert our management efforts, and we may not have sufficient resources to bring any such action to a successful conclusion.
Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could limit our ability to continue operations. Additionally, because our
pipeline may involve additional development candidates that could require the use of proprietary rights held by third parties, the growth of our
business could depend in part on our ability to acquire, in- license or use these proprietary rights. In addition, our development candidates may
require specific formulations to work effectively and efficiently and these rights may be held by others. We may be unable to acquire or in- license
any compositions, methods of use, processes or other third- party intellectual property rights from third parties that we identify. The licensing and
acquisition of third- party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and a number of more established companies are also pursuing strategies
to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive. These established companies may have a competitive
advantage over us due to their size, cash resources, and greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. For example, we sometimes
collaborate with U. S. and foreign academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or development under written agreements with these
institutions. Typically, these institutions provide us with an option to negotiate a license to any of the institution’ s rights in technology resulting from
the collaboration. Regardless of such right of first negotiation for intellectual property, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified
time frame or under terms that are acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to other parties,
potentially blocking our ability to pursue our program. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or
license rights to us. We also may be unable to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights on terms that would allow us to make an
appropriate return on our investment. If we are unable to successfully obtain rights to require third- party intellectual property rights, our business,
financial condition and prospects for growth could suffer. We may not be successful in obtaining, through acquisitions, in- licenses or otherwise,
necessary rights to our product candidates, proprietary product platform technologies or other technologies. We currently have rights to certain
intellectual property, through licenses from third parties, to develop our product candidates and proprietary product platform technologies. Some
healthcare companies and academic institutions are competing with us in the field of phage- based therapies and may have patents and / or have filed
and are likely filing patent applications potentially relevant to our business. In order to avoid infringing these third- party patents, we may find it
necessary or prudent to obtain licenses to such patents from such third- party intellectual property holders. We may also require licenses from third
parties for certain technologies that we may be evaluating for use with our current or future product candidates. However, we may be unable to
secure such licenses or otherwise acquire or in- license any compositions, methods of use, processes or other intellectual property rights from third
parties that we identify as necessary for our current or future product candidates and our proprietary product platform at a reasonable cost or on
reasonable terms, if at all. The licensing or acquisition of third- party intellectual property rights is a competitive area, and several more established
companies may pursue strategies to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These
established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital resources and greater clinical development and
commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign or license rights to us. We also
may be unable to license or acquire third- party intellectual property rights on terms that would allow us to make an appropriate return on our
investment or at all. In the event that we try to obtain rights to required third- party intellectual property rights and are ultimately unsuccessful, we
may be required to expend significant time and resources to redesign our technology, product candidates or the methods for manufacturing them or to
develop or license replacement technology, all of which may not be feasible on a technical or commercial basis. If we are unable to do so, we may be
unable to develop or commercialize the affected product candidates or continue to utilize our existing proprietary product platform technology, which
could significantly harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We rely on our proprietary product platform to identify
phage- based therapies. Our competitive position could be materially harmed if our competitors develop a similar platform and develop rival product
candidates. We rely on know- how, inventions and other proprietary information to strengthen our competitive position. We consider know- how to
be our primary intellectual property with respect to our proprietary product platform. Our clinical trials allow us to collect clinical data, which we use
as a feedback loop to make improvements to our proprietary product platform. In particular, we anticipate that, with respect to this proprietary
product platform, this data may over time be disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of journal articles
describing the method and the movement of skilled personnel. We cannot rule out that our competitors may have or obtain the knowledge necessary
to analyze and characterize similar data to our known data for the purpose of identifying and developing products that could compete with any of our
product candidates. Our competitors may also have significantly greater financial, product development, technical and human resources access to
date. Further, our competitors may have significantly greater experience in using translational science methods to identify and develop product
candidates. We may not be able to prohibit our competitors from using technology or methods that are the same as or similar to our proprietary
product platform to develop their own product candidates. If our competitors develop associated therapies, our ability to develop and market a
promising product or product candidate may diminish substantially, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
prospects and results of operations. We rely on trade secrets and other forms of non- patent intellectual property protection. If we are unable to
protect our trade secrets, other companies may be able to compete more effectively against us. We rely on trade secrets to protect certain aspects of
our technology, including our proprietary processes for manufacturing and purifying bacteriophage. Trade secrets are difficult to protect, especially in
the pharmaceutical industry, where much of the information about a product must be made public during the regulatory approval process. Although
we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other advisors may
unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using our trade
secret information is expensive and time- consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States may be less
willing to or may not protect trade secrets. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know- how. If
we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties or if we are forced to engage in an interference proceeding, it will be costly and
time- consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation or interference would have a material adverse effect on our business. Our ability to
commercialize our product candidates depends on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates without infringing the
proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous U. S. and foreign patents and patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the general
field of anti- infective products or in fields that otherwise may relate to our product candidates. If we are shown to infringe, we could be enjoined
from the use or sale of the claimed invention if we are unable to prove that the patent is invalid. In addition, because patent applications can take
many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications, unknown to us, that may later result in issued patents that our product
candidates may infringe or that may trigger an interference proceeding regarding one of our owned or licensed patents or applications. There could
also be existing patents of which we are not aware that our product candidates may inadvertently infringe or that may become involved in an
interference proceeding. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and
frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement. For so long as our product candidates are in clinical trials, we believe our clinical



activities fall within the scope of the exemptions provided by 35 U. S. C. Section 271 (e) in the United States, which exempts from patent
infringement liability activities reasonably related to the development and submission of information to the FDA. As our clinical investigational drug
product candidates progress toward commercialization, the possibility of a patent infringement claim against us increases. While we attempt to
ensure that our active clinical investigational drugs and the methods we employ to manufacture them, as well as the methods for their use we intend
to promote, do not infringe other parties’ patents and other proprietary rights, we cannot be certain they do not, and competitors or other parties may
assert that we infringe their proprietary rights in any event. We may be exposed to future litigation based on claims that our product candidates, the
methods we employ to manufacture them or the uses for which we intend to promote them infringe the intellectual property rights of others. Our
ability to manufacture and commercialize our product candidates may depend on our ability to demonstrate that the manufacturing processes we
employ and the use of our product candidates do not infringe third- party patents. If third- party patents were found to cover our product candidates or
their use or manufacture, we could be required to pay damages or be enjoined and therefore unable to commercialize our product candidates, unless
we obtained a license. A license may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. We may become subject to claims for remuneration or
royalties for assigned service invention rights by our employees, which could result in litigation and adversely affect our business. A significant
portion of our intellectual property has been developed by our employees in the course of their employment for us. Under the Israeli Patent Law,
5727- 1967, or the Patent Law, inventions conceived by an employee during the term and as part of the scope of his or her employment with a
company are regarded as “ service inventions, ”” which belong to the employer, absent a specific agreement between the employee and employer
giving the employee service invention rights. The Patent Law also provides that, if there is no such agreement between an employer and an
employee, the Israeli Compensation and Royalties Committee, a body constituted under the Patent Law, shall determine whether the employee is
entitled to remuneration for his or her inventions. We generally enter into assignment of invention agreements with our employees pursuant to which
such individuals assign to us all rights to any inventions created in the scope of their employment or engagement with us. Although our employees
have agreed to assign to our service invention rights, we may face claims demanding remuneration in consideration for assigned inventions. As a
consequence of such claims, we could be required to pay additional remuneration or royalties to our current or former employees or be forced to
litigate such claims, which could negatively affect our business. Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties We rely, and continue to rely, on
third parties to conduct our clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the
completion of such trials. We continue to rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical investigators, to conduct
and manage our clinical trials. Our reliance on these third parties for research and development activities will reduce our control over these activities
but does not relieve us of our responsibilities. For example, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in
accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with GCPs for conducting,
recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, safety and
welfare of trial participants are protected. Other countries’ regulatory agencies also have requirements for clinical trials with which we must comply.
We are also required to register ongoing clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials in a government- sponsored database,
clinicaltrials. gov, within specified time frames. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity, and civil and criminal sanctions. Furthermore,
these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not successfully
carry out their contractual duties, do not meet expected deadlines, experience work stoppages, terminate their agreements with us or need to be
replaced, or do not conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we may need to enter into new
arrangements with alternative third parties, which could be difficult, costly or impossible, and our clinical trials may be extended, delayed, terminated
or need to be repeated. If any of the foregoing occurs, we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our
product candidates and may not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product candidates. We also rely on
other third parties to store and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the part of our distributors could delay
clinical development or marketing approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our products, producing additional losses and
depriving us of potential product revenue. Third- party relationships are important to our business. If we are unable to maintain our collaborations or
enter into new relationships, or if these relationships are not successful, our business could be adversely affected. We have limited capabilities for
product development and do not yet have any capability for sales, marketing or distribution. Accordingly, we enter into relationships with other
companies and academic institutions to provide us with important technology, and we may receive additional technology and funding under these and
other collaborations in the future. The relationships we enter into may pose a number of risks, including the following: e third parties have, and
future third- party collaborators may have, significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply; e current and future
third parties may not perform their obligations as expected; e current and future third parties may not pursue development and commercialization of
any product candidates that achieve regulatory approval or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs based on
clinical trial results, changes in the third parties’ strategic focus or available funding, or external factors, such as a strategic transaction that may
divert resources or create competing priorities; ® third parties may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a
clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical
testing; ® current and future third parties could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with
our products and product candidates if the third parties believe that the competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be
commercialized under terms that are more economically attractive than ours; @ product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed
by our current or future third parties as competitive with their own product candidates or products, which may cause such third parties to cease to
devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates; ® current and future third parties may fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements regarding the development, manufacture, distribution or marketing of a product candidate or product; e current and future third parties
with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not commit sufficient resources
to the marketing and distribution of such product or products; e disagreements with current or future third parties, including disagreements over
proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development, might cause delays or terminations of the research, development or
commercialization of product candidates, might lead to additional responsibilities for us with respect to product candidates, or might result in
litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time- consuming and expensive; ® current and future third parties may not properly maintain or
defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate
our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation; @ current and future third parties may infringe the intellectual
property rights of others, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability; e current and future third parties may infringe regulatory
frameworks (such as but not limited to cybersecurity and / or privacy frameworks), which may expose us to litigation and potential liability or require
or lead us to terminate relationships with them; e if a current or future third party is involved in a business combination, the collaborator might
deemphasize or terminate the development or commercialization of any product candidate licensed to it by us; and e current and future relationships
may be terminated by the collaborator, and, if terminated, we could be required to raise additional capital to pursue further development or
commercialization of the applicable product candidates. If our relationships do not result in the successful discovery, development and
commercialization of products or if one of our third- party collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any future research
funding or milestone or royalty payments under the collaboration. If we do not receive the funding we expect under these agreements, our
development of our technology and product candidates could be delayed, and we may need additional resources to develop product candidates and
our technology. Additionally, if any of our current or future third- party collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may find it more difficult



to attract new collaborators, and our reputation in the business and financial communities could be adversely affected. Relationships are complex and
time- consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large
pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators. We face significant competition in seeking
appropriate collaborators. Our ability to reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of a
collaborator’ s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of a proposed collaboration and a proposed collaborator’ s evaluation of a number of
factors. We may not be successful in maintaining or establishing collaborations, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and, if required
regulatory approvals are obtained, commercialize our product candidates. In the future, in order to advance our clinical development, or in connection
with any potential out- licensing of product candidates or technologies, we may seek to enter into collaboration agreements. In addition, we may
consider entering into collaboration arrangements with medical technology, pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies and / or seek to establish
strategic relationships with marketing partners for the development, sale, marketing and / or distribution of our product candidates within or outside
of the United States. If we are unable to reach agreements with potential collaborators, then we may fail to meet our business objectives for the
affected product candidates or programs. Collaboration arrangements are complex and time- consuming to negotiate, document and implement, and
we may not be successful in our efforts, if any, to establish and implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements. The terms of any
collaboration or other arrangements that we establish may not be favorable to us, and the success of any such collaboration will depend heavily on the
efforts and activities of our collaborators. Moreover, our collaboration agreement could be terminated or not renewed by a third party at a time that is
costly or damaging to us. Any failure to engage successful collaborators could cause delays in our product development and / or commercialization
efforts, which could harm our financial condition and operational results. Risks Related to Our Operations in Israel Our headquarters, research and
development and other significant operations are located in Israel, and, therefore, our results may be adversely affected by political, economic and
military instability in Israel, including the recent war with Hamas and other terrorist organizations from the Gaza Strip. Our executive offices and
research and development facilities are located in Israel. In addition, the majority of our key employees and all of our officers are residents of Israel.
Accordingly, political, geopolitical, economic and military conditions in Israel may directly affect our business. Since the establishment of the State
of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel and its neighboring Arab countries, the Hamas (an Islamist terrorist
militia and political group that controls the Gaza strip), the Hezbollah (an Islamist terrorist militia and political group based in Lebanon) and other
terrorist organizations active in the region. These conflicts have involved missile strikes, hostile infiltrations and terrorism against civilian targets in
various parts of Israel, which have negatively affected business conditions in Israel. Any hostilities involving Israel or the interruption or curtailment
of trade between Israel and its trading partners could negatively affect business conditions in Israel in general and our business in particular, and
adversely affect our product development, ()pLI‘dtl()nS dl’ld results of ()erdtl()nS -l-ﬁ-Followmg the October 2023 —attacks by Hamas terrorists
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eabmet—decldred a war agamst Hamas and a-since then, Israel has been mvolved in mlhtary ea-mpargﬂ—agamst—conﬂlcts wnth Hamas, Hezbollah a
terrorist organization based in Lebanon, and Iran, both directly and through proxies such as these—- the Houthi movement in Yemen, armed
groups in Iraq and other terrorist organizations eemmeneed-. Additionally, following the fall of the Assad regime in paratet-Syria, Israel has
conducted limited military operations targeting certain Syrian military assets, Iranian military assets and infrastructure linked to Hezbollah
and their— other Iran- supported groups eentinued-rocket-and-terror-attacks-. Although a ceasefire agreement has fr-addition;sinee-the
eommeneementofthese-eventsrthere-have-been reached eontinted-hostilities-alongIsraelsnorthernberder-with Lebanon (with the-respect to
Hezbollah terrer-erganizationr) there is no assurance that this agreement will be upheld. Military activity and seuthern-border{hostilities
contmue to ex1st at varylng levels of 1ntens1ty, and the sltuatlon remains volatlle, with the potential for Houthimevementin-Yemen;as

alate escalatmn —aﬂd—t-hat—et-her—mto a broader regional conﬂlct

involving addltlonal terrorist orgamzatlons and possibly -+ i i i A W

countries ysueh-astranwilljointhe-hostilities -Sueh—el-ashes—Furthermore, the fall of the Assad reglme in Syr1a may esealate—m—t-he—ﬁﬁufe-mte-a
greater— create additional geopolitical instability in the regional—- region eenfliet- In connection with the ongoing fsraeli-seetrity-eabinet’s
deelaration-of-war against Hamas and Hezbollah and possible hostilities with other organizations, several hundred thousand Israeli military reservists
were drafted to perform immediate military service, including 9-5 employees, none of whom are management or key employees, who were called up
for reserve service, of which 4-5 have since returned to work full time and their pre- war military reserve duty. So long as the war continues, our
personnel may be called up for reserve service, whether for anextended periods or periodically for short- term periods. Military service call ups that
result in absences of personnel for an extended period of time may materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations. Since the war broke out on October 7, 2023, our operations have not been adversely affected by this situation, and we have not
experienced disruptions to our business operations. As such, our product and business development activities remain on track. However, the intensity
and duration of Israel’ s current war against Hamas-is difficult to predict at this stage, as are such war’ s economic implications on our business and
operations and on Israel’ s economy in general. If the war extends for a long period of time or expands to other fronts, such as Eebanen;-Syria and the
West Bank, our operations may be adversely affected. Any armed conflicts, terrorist activities or political instability in the region could adversely
affect business conditions, could harm our results of operations and the market price of our Common Stock, and could make it more difficult for us
to raise capital. Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the
Middle East. Although the Israeli government has in the past covered the reinstatement value of certain damages that were caused by terrorist attacks
or acts of war, we cannot assure you that this government coverage will be maintained or, if maintained, will be sufficient to compensate us fully for
damages incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business. The global perception of Israel and
Israeli companies, influenced by actions by international judicial bodies, may lead to increased sanctions and other negative measures
against Israel, as well as Israeli companies and academic institutions. There is also a growing movement among countries, activists, and
organizations to boycott Israeli goods, services and academic research or restrict business with Israel, which could affect business
operations. If these efforts become widespread, along with any future rulings from international tribunals against Israel, they could
negatively impact our business operations. Finally, political conditions within Israecl may affect our operations. israethasheld-five-generat
eleetions-between2649-and-2622-and-prior-Prior to October 7, 2023, the Israeli government pursued extensive changes to Israel” s judicial system,
which sparked extensive political debate and unrest. Fe-date-Since October 7, 2023 , these initiatives have been substantialls—put on hold ; however,
the Israeli government has recently renewed its efforts to effect such changes . Actual or perceived political instability in Israel or any negative
changes in the political environment, may individually or in the aggregate adversely affect the Israeli economy and, in turn, our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of management or key personnel
to perform military service. As of the date hereof, we currently have 99-50 full- time employees, of which 6441 are located in Israel, including 5-3
members of our senior management. Certain of our employees and consultants in Israel, including members of our senior management, may be
obligated to perform military reserve duty generally until they reach the age of 40 (or older, for officers or other citizens who hold certain positions
in the Israeli armed forces reserves) and, in the event of a military conflict, may be called to active duty. In response to increases in terrorist activity,
there have been periods of significant call- ups of military reservists. It is possible that there will be similar large- scale military reserve duty call- ups
in the future. Our operations could be disrupted by the absence of a significant number of our officers, directors, employees and consultants. Such



disruption could materially adversely affect our business and operations. The Israeli government grants we have received for research and
development expenditures restrict our ability to manufacture products and transfer technology outside of Israel and require us to satisfy specified
conditions. If we fail to satisfy these conditions, we may be required to refund grants previously received, together with interest and penalties. Our
research and development efforts have been financed, in part, through the grants that we have received from the Israeli Innovation Authority, or the
IIA. We stherefore ;must comply with the requirements of Israel’ s Law for the Encouragement of Research and Development in Industries, or the
Research Law. For the years— year ended December 31, 2024 no grants were recorded. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and2022-, we
recorded grants totaling $ 1. 0 mllhon aﬁd—$—1—l—m-ﬂ-heﬁ—from the TIA whlch —respeeﬁvel-y—"l:he—graﬁs—represented 7.3 % and-6—+%-of our gross
research and development € . Under the Research Law, we are required to
manufacture the major portion of each of our products developed using these grants in the State of Israel or otherwise ask for special approvals. We
may not receive the required approvals for any proposed transfer of manufacturing activities. Even if we receive approval to manufacture products
developed with government grants outside of Israel, the royalty rate may be increased, and we may be required to pay up to 300 % of the grant
amounts, plus interest, depending on the manufacturing volume that is performed outside of Israel. This restriction may impair our ability to
outsource manufacturing or engage in our own manufacturing operations for those products or technology. Additionally, under the Research Law, we
are prohibited from transferring, including by way of license, the IIA- financed technology and related intellectual property rights and know- how
outside of the State of Israel, except under limited circumstances and only with the approval of the IIA Research Committee. We may not receive the
required approvals for any proposed transfer, and, even if received, we may be required to pay the IIA a portion, to be set by the IIA, in its discretion
and taking into account the circumstances, upon its approval of such transaction, of the consideration or milestone and royalty payments that we
receive upon any sale or out- licensing of such technology to a non- Israeli entity, up to 600 % of the grant amounts plus interest. These restrictions
may impair our ability to sell our technology assets or to perform or outsource manufacturing outside of Israel or otherwise transfer our know- how
outside of Israel and may require us to obtain the approval of the IIA for certain actions and transactions and pay additional royalties and other
amounts to the IIA. In addition, any change of control and any change of ownership of our Common Stock that would make a non- Israeli citizen or
resident an “ interested party, ” as defined in the Research Law, requires prior written notice to the IIA, and our failure to comply with this
requirement could, under certain circumstances, result in criminal liability. These restrictions will continue to apply even after we have repaid the full
amount of royalties on the grants. We have received, and may continue to receive, Israeli governmental grants to assist in the funding of our research
and development activities. If we lose our funding from these research and development grants, we may encounter difficulties in the funding of
future research and development projects and implementing technological improvements, which would harm our operating results. Through
December 31, 2023-2024 , we had received an aggregate of $ 8. 0 million in the form of grants from the IIA. BiomX Ltd. wasformed-as-an
originated within the Futqu IIA supported 1ncubator eefma&ny—as—p&ft—e%t-he—Fuﬂﬂa—meube’eer— &nd—&n&l—wnh primary funding through 2017
coming ,—t-he—majeﬂeyhe-fle&r—ftmdmg—w&s—from A—gta H by-the-IIA. We continued to apply for
and receive IIA grants after we left the incubator. The requlrements and restrlct10ns for such grants are found in the Research Law. Under the
Research Law, royalties of 3 % to 3. 5 % on the revenue derived from sales of products or services developed in whole or in part using these [IA
grants are payable to the Israeli government. We developed both of our platform technologies, at least in part, with funds from these grants, and,
accordingly, we would be obligated to pay these royalties on sales of any of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval. As long as the
manufacturing of our product candidates takes place in Israel and no technology funded with ITA grants is sold or out licensed to a non- Israeli entity,
the maximum aggregate royalties paid generally would not exceed 100 % of the grants made to us, plus annual interest equal to the 12- month
Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, applicable to dollar deposits, as published on the first trading day of each calendar year. As of
December 31, 2023-2024 , the balance of the principal and interest in respect of our commitments for future payments to the IIA totaled
approximately $ -8 . 9-3 million. As part of funding our current and planned product development activities, we may submit follow- up grant
applications for additional grants. These grants have funded some of our personnel, development activities with subcontractors, and other research
and development costs and expenses. However, if these awards are not funded in their entirety or if additional grants are not awarded in the future,
due to, for example, IIA budget constraints or governmental policy decisions, our ability to fund future research and development and implement
technological improvements would be impaired, which would negatively impact our ability to develop our product candidates. Exchange rate
fluctuations between the U. S. Dollar, the New Israeli Shekel, the Euro and other foreign currencies, may negatively affect our future expenses. Our
proceeds from sales of our securities are generally received in U. S. Dollars. Our headquarters are located in Israel, where the majority of our general
and administrative expenses and research and development costs are incurred in the New Israeli Shekel, or NIS. Future expenses may be incurred in
foreign currencies such as the Euro or British Pound. As a result, our financial results may be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rates of
currencies in the countries. For example, during 2026-2024 , we witnessed a strengthening-weakening of the average exchange rate of the NIS
against the U. S. Dollar, which inereased-decreased the U. S. Dollar value of [sraeli expenses. [f the NIS strengthens-weakens against the U. S.
Dollar, as it did in 2626-2024 and 2624-2023 , the U. S. Dollar value of our Israeli expenses, mainly personnel and facility- related, will inerease
decrease . We use foreign exchange contracts (mainly option and forward contracts) to hedge balance sheet items from currency exposure. However,
these foreign exchange contracts are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes and they may not be effective. Although
exposure to currency fluctuations to date has not had a material adverse effect on our business, there can be no assurance that fluctuations in the
future will not have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. Under applicable employment laws, we may not be
able to enforce covenants not to compete. We generally enter into noncompetition agreements with our employees. These agreements prohibit our
employees, if they cease working for us, from competing directly with us or working for our competitors or clients for a limited period. We may be
unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the jurisdictions in which our employees work, and it may be difficult for us to restrict our
competitors from benefitting from the expertise our former employees or consultants developed while working for us. For example, Israeli labor
courts have required employers seeking to enforce noncompete undertakings of a former employee to demonstrate that the competitive activities of
the former employee will harm one of a limited number of material interests of the employer that have been recognized by the courts, such as the
protection of a company’ s trade secrets or other intellectual property. The tax benefits that are available to us if and when we generate taxable
income require us to meet various conditions and may be prevented or reduced in the future, which could increase our costs and taxes. If and when
we generate taxable income, we would be eligible for certain tax benefits provided to “ Technologic Preferred Enterprise ” and / or “ Preferred
Enterprise ” as defined under the Encouragement of Capital Investment Law- 1959, the Law, and its regulations, as amended and, accordingly, could
be subject to a reduced corporate tax rate on its income that will meet the provisions of the Law (ranging between 7. 5 %- 16 %). To the extent that
we are not eligible to obtain such statuses, our Israeli taxable income would be subject to regular Israeli corporate tax rates. The standard corporate
tax rate for Israeli companies is 23 %. The benefits available to us in accordance to the Law and its regulations are subject to the fulfillment of
conditions stipulated in the Law and the regulations. Further, in the future, these tax benefits may be reduced or discontinued. It may be difficult to
enforce a U. S. judgment against us or our officers and directors in Israel or the United States or to assert U. S. securities laws claims in Israel or
serve process on our officers and directors. Not all of our directors or officers are residents of the United States, and most of their and our assets are
located outside the United States. Service of process upon us or our non- U. S. resident directors and officers may be difficult to obtain within the
United States. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on a violation of U. S. securities laws against us or our non- U. S. officers and directors,
because Israel may not be the most appropriate forum to bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may
determine that Israeli law, and not U. S. law, is applicable to the claim. If U. S. law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable U. S. law




must be proved as a fact, which can be a time- consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law.
There is little binding case law in Israel addressing the matters described above. Additionally, Israeli courts might not enforce judgments obtained in
the United States against us or our non- U. S. directors and executive officers, which may make it difficult to collect on judgments rendered against
us or our non- U. S. officers and directors. Moreover, an Israeli court will not enforce a non- Israeli judgment if it was given in a state whose laws do
not provide for the enforcement of judgments of Israeli courts (subject to exceptional cases), if its enforcement is likely to prejudice the sovereignty
or security of the State of Israel, if it was obtained by fraud or in the absence of due process, if it is at variance with another valid judgment that was
given in the same matter between the same parties, or if a suit in the same matter between the same parties was pending before a court or tribunal in
Israel at the time the foreign action was brought. Risks Related to Manufacturing and Supply We rely on third parties to manufacture our clinical
supply of product candidates and we intend to rely on third parties to produce and process our products, if approved. We currently rely on outside
vendors to supply raw materials and other important components, such as lab equipment. Additionally, our clinical trial material is being
manufactured by an outsourced contract manufacturing operation as our current GMP facility was put on hold. We have not yet caused any
product candidates to be manufactured or processed on a commercial scale and may not be able to do so for any of our product candidates. We will
make changes as it works to optimize the manufacturing process for our product candidates, and we cannot be sure that even minor changes in the
process will result in therapies that are safe and effective. The facilities used to manufacture our product candidates must be approved by the FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory agencies pursuant to inspections that will be conducted after we submit a marketing application to the FDA or
equivalent foreign regulatory agency. Additionally, any facilities used for the manufacture of product candidates commercialized for non- therapeutic
uses will be subject to inspection by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies. We do not currently control all aspects of the manufacturing process
of, and are currently largely dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with regulatory requirements, known as cGMP
requirements, for manufacture of our product candidates. If and when our manufacturing facility becomes operational, we will be responsible for
compliance with cGMP requirements. If we or our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture in conformance with our specifications
and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or other regulatory authorities, we and they will not be able to secure and / or maintain regulatory
approval for their manufacturing facilities with respect to the manufacture of our product candidates. In addition, we have no control over the ability
of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or an equivalent foreign
regulatory agency does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future,
we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or
market our product candidates, if approved. We have limited experience manufacturing our product candidates for purposes of clinical trials for
therapeutic indications or for non- therapeutic clinical studies or trials. We opened our own manufacturing facility at our headquarters in Ness Ziona,
Isracl in 2019 , but it has currently been put on hold . We cannot assure you that we can manufacture our product candidates in compliance with
regulations at a cost or in quantities necessary to make them commercially viable. Our product candidates rely on the availability of specialty raw
materials, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Our product candidates require certain specialty raw materials, some of
which we obtain from small companies with limited resources and experience to support a commercial product. These third- party suppliers may be
ill- equipped to support our needs, especially in non- routine circumstances like an FDA inspection or medical crisis, such as widespread
contamination. We do not currently have contracts in place with all of the suppliers that we may need at any point in time and, if needed, may not be
able to contract with them on acceptable terms or at all. Accordingly, we may experience delays in receiving key raw materials to support clinical or
commercial manufacturing. Risks Related to Our Common Stock A significant number of shares of our Common Stock are subject to issuance upon
exercise of outstanding warrants and options or conversion of our Convertible Preferred Stock, which upon such exercise or conversion, as
applicable, may result in dilution to our security holders. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had &ﬁ-aggfegate—e%é—%é%—é%&warrdnts outstanding
to purchase an aggregate of up to 26-12 , 926-296 , -1-89—430 sharcs of Common Stock w1th a wc1ghtcd average exercise prlce of § 2—4 69—34 eeﬁa-m
ofwhieh-or-the-Unit-Warrants-are-ineluded-inour— :

PEe—f&nded—Waﬁ&nts—&nd—Pubhe—W&ﬁ&nts—collectlvely, er—thc Outstandmg Warrams in each case subject to adjustment To the extent sueh
Outstanding Warrants are exercised, additional shares of our Common Stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the then existing holders
of Common Stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public
market could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock. In addition, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had outstanding vested and
unvested options to purchase 5-2 , 286-002 , 41-365 shares of our Common Stock. To the extent any of these options are exercised, additional shares
of Common Stock will be issued that will generally be eligible for resale in the public market (subject to limitations under Rule 144 under the
Securities Act with respect to shares held by our affiliates), which will result in dilution to our security holders. Farthermere-As of March 20 , 2025,
and following the February 2025 SPA ( +as defined below ) inreenneetion-with-the-Aequisition-, in-addittenrwe had warrants outstanding to
ﬁsua-nee-purchase an aggregate of up to 14 391 386 shares of Common Stock wnth —we—rssued—(—a welghted average )—a—n—aggfega&eem—%

8 val-a s-and-may issue addmonal optlons, warrants and shares of preferred stock in the 1ulure
Furthermore, the issuance of additional shares of our Common Stock upon exercise of such securities, as applicable, will result in dilution to the then
existing holders of Common Stock and could also have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock. We have never paid dividends
on our Common Stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. We have never declared
or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock. We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our Common Stock will be our stockholders” sole source of gain for the foreseeable future. We GurPublie-Warrantshave
been-delisted;-and-we-may be unable to maintain the listing of our securities in the future. Our Common Stock and-YUnits-trade-trades on NYSE



American , which imposes continued listing requirements with respect to listed shares . OurPublie- Warrants-previously-If we fail to satisfy the

continued listing standards, such as, for example, the requirement that our shares not traded- trade en-" for a substantial period of time at a

low prlce per share" or fall to meet stockholders equity requirements, among other requirements, the NYSE American may issue a butswere
afd v q non - compllance letter or initiate GfFePnﬂh%s—a—resu}t—ef—ﬂaedehstmg proceedmgs of

P&b-l-le—Waﬁaﬂts— If our Common Stock is eﬁUmfs—afe—sabsequeﬂt-l-y—dellsted we could face 51gmﬁcam materlal adverse consequences, mcludmg °
a limited availability of market quotations for our securities; ® reduced liquidity with respect to our securities; ® a determination that our shares are a
“ penny stock, ” which will require brokers trading in our securities to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resulting in a reduced level of trading
activity in the secondary trading market for our securities; ® a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for the Company; and e a decreased
ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future. The market price of our Common Stock and other securities may be
volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for purchasers of our Common Stock. The stock markets in general and
the markets for biotechnology stocks have experienced extreme volatility. The market for the common stock of smaller companies such as ours is
characterized by significant price volatility when compared to the shares of larger, more established companies that trade on a national securities
exchange and have large public floats, and our share price is more volatile than the shares of such larger, more established companies for the
indefinite future. In addition to the factors discussed in this *“ Risk Factors ” section, price declines in our Common Stock (and other securities) could
also result from general market and economic conditions and a variety of other factors, including: e adverse results or delays in our clinical trials; ®
adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our product candidates, clinical trials or the manufacturing processes of our product
candidates; ® announcements of technological innovations, patents or new products by our competitors; ® regulatory developments in the United
States and foreign countries; ® any lawsuit involving us or our product candidates; ® announcements concerning our competitors, or the
biotechnology or pharmaceutical industries in general; ® developments concerning any strategic alliances or acquisitions we may enter into; ® actual
or anticipated variations in our operating results; ® changes in recommendations by securities analysts or lack of analyst coverage; ® deviations in our
operating results from the estimates of analysts; @ our inability, or the perception by investors that we will be unable, to continue to meet all
applicable requirements for continued listing of our Common Stock on NYSE American, and the possible delisting of our Common Stock; e sales of
our Common Stock by our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders or sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock; and e loss of
any of our key scientific or management personnel. Additionally, market prices for securities of biotechnology companies historically have been very
volatile. The market for these securities has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations for reasons unrelated to the
operating performance of any one company. Furthermore, our business may be adversely impacted by risks, or the public perception of the risks,
related to a pandemic or other health crisis, sueh-or as the-€OVBD—9-er-as-a result of the Isracl — s war with Hamas War-and Hezbollah or the
Russian invasion of Ukraine and the resulting world sanctions on Russia, Belarus, and related parties. A significant outbreak of contagious diseases
could result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic
downturn. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’ s securities, litigation has often been brought
against that company. Any such lawsuit could consume resources and management time and attention, which could adversely affect our business. As
a *“ smaller reporting company ” we are permitted to provide less disclosure than larger public companies, which may make our Common Stock less
attractive to investors. We are currently a “ smaller reporting company, ” as defined by Rule 12b- 2 of the Exchange Act. As a smaller reporting
company, we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies.
Consequently, it may be more challenging for investors to analyze our results of operations and financial prospects which may result in less investor
confidence. Investors may find our Common Stock less attractive as a result of our smaller reporting company status. If some investors find our
Common Stock less attractive, there may be a less active trading market for our Common Stock and our stock price may be more volatile. General
Risk Factors Our success depends, in part, on our ability to retain key executives and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. We are highly
dependent on Jonathan Solomon, our chief executive officer, as well as the other principal members of our management, scientific and clinical team.
Although we have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers, each of them may terminate their employment with us at any
time. We do not maintain “ key person ” insurance for any of our executives or other employees. The loss of the services of any of our executive
officers, other key employees, and other scientific and medical advisors, and our inability to find suitable replacements could result in delays in
product development and harm our business. Additionally, our recent acquisition of APT and its integration into the Company’ s business may
increase the likelihood that employees depart in the foreseeable future. Our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified
management, clinical and scientific personnel and our ability to develop and maintain important relationships with leading academic institutions,
clinicians and scientists is critical to our success. Competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense, particularly in Israel
where our headquarters are located. We face competition for personnel from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, universities, public
and private research institutions and other organizations. We also face competition from other more well- funded and well- established businesses,
and we may also be viewed as a riskier choice from a job stability perspective due to our relatively newer status than longer existing biotech and
pharmaceutical companies. We may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel on acceptable terms given the competition for such
personnel. If we are unsuccessful in our retention, motivation and recruitment efforts, we may be unable to execute our business strategy.
Expectations relating to environmental, social and governance (ESG) programs may impose additional costs and expose us to new risks. There is an
increasing focus from certain investors and other key stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social
and governance, or ESG, factors. As a result, there is an increased emphasis on corporate responsibility ratings and a number of third parties provide
reports on companies in order to measure and assess corporate responsibility performance. In addition, the ESG factors by which companies’
corporate responsibility practices are assessed may change, which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly
initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. Alternatively, if we are unable to satisfy such new criteria, investors may conclude that our policies with
respect to corporate responsibility are inadequate. We risk damage to our brand and reputation if our corporate responsibility procedures or standards
do not meet the standards set by various constituencies. We may be required to make investments in matters related to ESG, which could be
significant and adversely impact our results of operations. Furthermore, if our competitors’ corporate responsibility performance is perceived to be
greater than ours, potential or current investors may elect to invest with our competitors instead. In addition, if we communicate certain initiatives and
goals regarding ESG matters, we could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our achievement of such initiatives or goals, or we could be criticized for the
scope of such initiatives or goals. If we fail to satisfy the expectations of investors and other key stakeholders or our initiatives are not executed as
planned, our reputation and financial results could be materially and adversely affected. If we engage in future acquisitions or strategic partnerships,
this may increase our capital requirements, dilute our stockholders, cause us to incur debt or assume contingent liabilities, and subject us to other
risks. On March 15, 2024, we acquired APT. We may evaluate various additional acquisition opportunities and strategic partnerships, including
licensing or acquiring complementary products, intellectual property rights, technologies or businesses. Any potential acquisition or strategic
partnership may entail numerous risks, including: e increased operating expenses and cash requirements; ® the assumption of additional
indebtedness or contingent liabilities; ® the issuance of our equity securities; ® assimilation of operations, intellectual property and products of an
acquired company, including difficulties associated with integrating new personnel; @ the diversion of our management’ s attention from our existing
product programs and initiatives in pursuing such a strategic merger or acquisition; e retention of key employees, the loss of key personnel and
uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships; e risks and uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction,



including the prospects of that party and their existing products or product candidates and marketing approvals; and e our inability to generate
revenue from acquired technology and / or products sufficient to meet our objectives in undertaking the acquisition or even to offset the associated
acquisition and maintenance costs. Our business and operations would suffer in the event of computer system failures, cyber- attacks or deficiencies
in our cyber- security. Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of third parties on which we rely,
are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, malware, natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and electrical failures, cyber- attacks
or cyber- intrusions over the Internet, attachments to emails, persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our
organization. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber- attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers,
foreign governments, and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions
from around the world have increased. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption
of our product development programs. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in
delays in our clinical trial efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security
breach was to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could
incur material legal claims and liability, and damage to our reputation, and the further development of our product candidates could be delayed. We
also maintain compliance programs to address the potential applicability of restrictions against trading while in possession of material, nonpublic
information generally and in connection with a cyber- security breach. However, a breakdown in existing controls and procedures around our cyber-
security environment may prevent us from detecting, reporting or responding to cyber incidents in a timely manner and could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position and value of our stock. We incur significant costs operating as a public company. As a public company, we incur
significant costs in connection with our directors and officers insurance, paying for service providers such as legal and accounting as well as other
expenses. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which require, among other things, that we file with the SEC annual,
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. In addition, the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, as well as rules subsequently
adopted by the SEC and NYSE American to implement provisions of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act, or the Dodd- Frank Act, and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board impose significant requirements on public companies,
including requiring the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices.
These expenses will likely increase in the future, particularly if we cease to be a *“ smaller reporting company ”, as a result of additional corporate
governance and disclosure requirements under the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, the Dodd- Frank Act, and SEC rules and regulations. The rules and
regulations applicable to public companies result in us continuing to incur substantial legal and financial compliance costs. These costs increase our
net loss or decrease any net income and may require us to reduce costs in other areas of our business. ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS Not applicable. ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY We recognize the critical importance of developing, implementing, and maintaining
cybersecurity measures to safeguard our information systems and protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our data. We address
cybersecurity risks by implementing security measures on our internal computer systems and ensuring that third parties and business partners
implement similar measures. These security measures include firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection systems, antimalware functionality and
access controls, which are evaluated by our external IT consultant and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat
intelligence. Our sentor-direetor-vice president of eperation-operations is responsible for day- to- day assessment and management of risks from
cybersecurity threats, including the prevention, mitigation, detection, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents. The Audit Committee is responsible
for reviewing our policies with respect to cybersecurity risks and relevant contingent liabilities and risks that may be material to the Company,
including risks from third parties and business partners. The Audit Committee receives guartesty-updates from management with respect to risks from
cybersecurity threats. Such updates cover the Company’ s information technology security program, including its current status, capabilities, changes
during the last quarter, objectives and plans, as well as the evolving cybersecurity threat landscape. To date, risks from cybersecurity threats have not
materially affected us and we do not currently believe any risks from cybersecurity threats are reasonably likely to affect the Company, including our
business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. For further information, see *“ Risk Factors — Our business and operations would
suffer in the event of computer system failures, cyber- attacks or deficiencies in our cyber- security. ” in Item 1A of this Annual Report. We maintain
a cyber liability insurance policy. However, our cyber liability insurance policy may not cover all claims made against us, and defending a suit,
regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’ s attention from our bus1ness and operat1ons ITEM 2. PROPERTIES Our corporate
headquarters are located in Ness Ziona, Israel. Our facility comprises ng-the-see e anew-28, 010 square feet
faethity-of office and laboratory space, ineluding-which includes a rew-6, 500 square -feet—foot manufacturmg {bei-l-rt-y-area The lease agreement
expires in November 2025, with an option to extend the term by five years. This facility has been designed with the capacity to produce clinical
quantities of our product candidates required for clinical development. In August 2022, BromX Israel entered into a sublease ag,reement for a portion
of'its office space in Ness Ziona, Isracl. The sublease agreement ended in September s :

2024 . In addition to our premises in Israel, we are leasing a 25, 894 square feet facility of ofﬁce and laboratory space in Galthersburg, Maryland
including 6, 100 square feet manufacturing facility. The lease agreement expires in July 2034, with an option to terminate in February 2029, subject
to 12 months’ notice and early termination fee . In December 2024, we decided to cease the use of the property in Gaithersburg, Maryland and
made it available for sublease . We believe our facilities are sufficient to meet our current needs. ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS We may be
subject to legal proceedings, investigations and claims incidental to the conduct of our business from time to time. We are not currently a party to any
material litigation or other material legal proceedings brought against us. ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Not Applicable. part II ITEM 5.
MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES Our shares of Common Stock —a-nd—U-mts—are traded on NYSE American under the symbels-- symbol PHGE sandPHGES;

-the 2~ Holders of Record As of March 2820 , 2624-2025 ,
there were 55—24 2%9—966 —7‘9—7’—053 issued and outstandmg shares of our Common Stock held by #5-77 stockholders of record. The number of
record holders was determmed from the records of our transfer agent and does not include beneficial owners of shares of Common Stock whose
shares are held in the names of various security brokers, dealers, and registered clearing agencies. Dividends We have not paid any cash dividends on
our Common Stock to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon our revenues
and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the discretion of our
Board of Directors , or the Board, at such time. Further if we incur indebtedness, our ability to declare dividends may be further limited by
restrictive covenants we may agree to in connection therewith. ITEM 6. [ RESERVED. ] ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition
and results of 0perat1ons should be read in conjunctlon w1th our ﬁnanc1al statements and the notes thereto contarned elsewhere in this Annual Report.

; p e —Certain information
contamed in the drscussron and analysrs set forth below mcludes forward- lookmg, statements that involve rrsks and uncertamtres Our actual results
may differ materially from those discussed in any forward- looking statement because of various factors, including those described in the sections
titled “ Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward- Looking Statements ” and *“ Risk Factors  in this Annual Report. Overview-We are a clinical
stage product discovery company developing products using both natural and engineered phage technologies designed to target and kill specific
harmful bacteria associated with chronic diseases, such as CF and DFO. Bacteriophage or phage are bacterial, species- specific, strain- limited
viruses that infect, amplify and kill the target bacteria and are considered inert to mammalian cells. By utilizing proprietary combinations of naturally




occurring phage and by creating novel phage using synthetic biology, we develop phage- based therapies intended to address both large- market and
orphan diseases. Since BiomX Ltd.” s inception in 2015, we have devoted substantially all our resources to organizing and staffing our company,
raising capital, acquiring rights to or discovering product candidates, developing our technology platforms, securing related intellectual property
rights, and conducting discovery, research and development and clinical activities for our product candidates. We do not have any products approved
for sale, and we have not generated any revenue from product sales. As we advance our product candidates, we expect our expenses to remain
significant. To date, we have funded our operations with proceeds from sales of our Common Stock, preferred shares and warrants, governmental
grants, collaboration agreements and debt. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had-received gross proceeds of approximately $ 454-204 million from
sales of our securmes In addmon as of December 31, 2—92—3—2024 we have—recelved $ 2—13 9—7 mllhon 1r0m our collaborauon agreemenls and

ﬂﬂ-l-l-tefrh&d—beeﬁ-ﬁeeeﬁ*ed—a&e-ﬁBeeember—SH@%— ln dddltl()n we hd\/(, mcurrcd slgmhcdnt operating losses. Our ability to g,cncmtc revenue from
product sales sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the successful development of, the receipt of regulatory approval for, and eventual
commercialization of one or more of our product candidates. Our net losses were approximately $ 17. 7 million and $ 26. 2 mithen-and-$28-3
million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, respectively. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had an accumulated deficit of
$ +63-180. 7 million and expect that for the foreseeable future we will continue to incur significant expenses as we advance our product candidates
from discovery through preclinical development and clinical trials and seek regulatory approval of our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain
regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing,
marketing, sales and distribution. We may also incur expenses in connection with in- licensing or acquiring additional product candidates. Because of
the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or
when or if we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate product sales, we may not become profitable. If we
fail to become profitable or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels
and be forced to reduce or terminate our operations. We may implement cost reduction strategies, which may include amending, delaying, limiting,
reducing or tmmmatmg one or more of our programs or ongomg or planncd clmlcal trlals of our product candldatc% As -I-n—M-ay%OQ%—we—&nﬂe&need—

e-prio ; p —On December 31 292—3—2024 we had msh cash equwalents and restrlcted cash 0f$ 18-16—9
mllhon Our ﬁnancml statements CO]’Itd]I’l an exp]andtory paragraph regarding substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for-at
{east, as we believe our cash and cash equivalents ene-- on yearuntit-Apri-3;-hand will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capltal
expenditure requirements only into the first quarter of 2625-2026 ;-as discussed further below under *“ —Liquidity and Capital Resources ”. On
March 6, 2024 we entered into a merger agreement with APT and certain other parties, as a result of which APT became our wholly- owned
subsidiary, effective as of March 15, 2024, or the Acquisition. The Acquisition was structured as a stock- for- stock transaction whereby all
outstanding equity interests of APT were exchanged in a merger for an aggregate of 9-916 , 497 +64;968-shares of BiomX eemmen-Common steek
Stock , 40, 470 Redeemable Convertible shares-of-SeriesX-Preferred SteekShares , convertible upen-steekholder-approval-into 46-4 , 476-047 ,
000 shares of BiomX eemmen-Common steel-Stock . and warrants, or the Merger Warrants, exercisable for 2216 , 650 +66;497shares of BiomX
eemmoen-Common steek-Stock . Upon the consummation of the Acquisition, a successor- in- interest OFAPT became a wholly owned sub51d1a1y of
BiomX. The Merger Warrants are wil-be-cxercisable at any time after July 9, 2024 the-date e

exeretse-at an exercise price of $ 5-50 . 00 per share and will expire on January 28, 2027. Concur remly Wlth the consummatlon of the Acqu]smon
BiomX consummated a-private-plaeement-finaneing-or-the March 2024 PIPE, with existing and new investors, resulting in aggregate gross proceeds
of approximately $ 50 million, in which the investors purchased (i) an aggregate of 216, 417 shares of Sertes2-Redeemable Convertible Preferred
SteelcShares , convertible upen-steekholder-apprevakinto an aggregate of up to 246— 21 , 447641 , 686-700 sharcs of BiomX eemmern-Common
stoeleStock . and (i1) warrants;erthe-Private Placement Warrants, to purchase up to an aggregate of $88— 10 , 268-820 , 566-850 shares of BiomX
eemmon-Common steek-Stock , at a combined purchase price of $ 231. 10 per share of Sertes%-Redeemable Convertible Preferred StoeleShares
and an accompanying Private Placement Warrant to purchase 500 shdres of Bl()l]’lX ee-m-meﬂ-Common SteeleStock The Private Placement
Warrants are wiH-be-cxercisable at any time after July 9, 2024 the-da e val-, at an exercise price of $6-2 .
23+H-31 per share, and will expire on July 9, 2026 M—mﬂ&mmemﬂ-&ﬁhe—rm&&e*ere&tbﬁﬁyd&t& Immcdlatcly following the
Acquisition, and without taking into account the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock issued in the March 2024 PIPE, and assuming conversion of
all of the Convertible Preferred Stock into Common Stock, our stockholders (including holders of the Pre- Funded Warrants, as defined below) prior
to the Acquisition owned approximately 55 % of the share capital of the Company and APT’ s stockholders prior to the Acquisition owned
approximately 45 % of the share capital of the Company . On July 9, 2024, the Company’ s stockholders approved a reverse stock split at a
ratio within a range of 1- for- 5 and 1- for- 10 at such time as the Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, at any time before July 9, 2025.
On August 8, 2024, the Board approved a 1- for- 10 Reverse Stock Split of the Company’ s shares of Common Stock, or the Reverse Stock
Split. On August 20, 2024, the Company filed the Certificate of Amendment with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the Reverse Split,
which became effective on August 26, 2024, or the Effective Date. The Company’ s Common Stock began trading on a Reverse Stock Split-
adjusted basis on the NYSE American at the open of the markets on the Effective Date. Unless otherwise indicated, all issued and
outstanding shares amounts in this Annual Report have been adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented.
Proportional adjustments also were made to shares underlying outstanding equity awards, warrants and Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Shares, and to the number of shares issued and issuable under the Company’ s stock incentive plans and certain existing agreements .
Components of Our Consolidated Results of Operations Revenue To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect
to generate any revenue from product sales in the near future. If development efforts for our product candidates are successful and result in any
necessary regulatory approvals or otherwise lead to any commercialized products or additional license agreements with third parties, we may
generate revenue in the future from product sales or payments from collaboration or license agreements with third parties. Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses, net Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the discovery
and development of our product candidates. We expense research and development costs as incurred, offset by the IIA and MTEC grants and, to a
lesser degree, income from research and development collaboration agreements. These expenses include: e development and operation of our
proprietary platform; @ expenses incurred in connection with the preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates, including under
agreements with third parties, such as CROs and contract manufacturing organizations, as well as consultants, subcontractors and key opinion leaders
providing scientific development services; ® manufacturing scale- up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical and clinical
trial materials; ® license maintenance fees and milestone fees incurred in connection with various license agreements; ® employee- related expenses,
including salaries, related benefits, travel and stock- based compensation expenses for employees engaged in research and development functions, as
well as external costs, such as fees paid to outside consultants engaged in such activities; ® costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements
and legal fees relating to patent matters; and e depreciation and other expenses. We recognize external development costs based on an evaluation of
the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our service providers. We do not allocate employee costs or facility
expenses, including depreciation or other indirect costs, to specific programs because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and, as such,
are not separately classified. We use internal resources primarily to oversee the research and discovery as well as for managing our preclinical




development, process development, manufacturing and clinical development activities. These employees work across multiple programs and,
therefore, we do not track their costs by program. The table below summarizes our research and development expenses incurred by program: Year
Ended December 31, 206232022-USD In thousands BX004 10, 495 8, 853 3-BX211 2 , 239- 499BX005-8++-0+H-Salaries and related benefits
(including stock- based compensation) 8, 006 6, 004 95436-Depreciation 782-999-1, 488 Rent and related expenses 3 965+, 64900 [nfrastructure
& other unallocated or R & D expenses 1, 123 2, 491 410-2;-6+7L ess grants from the IIA and MTEC and consideration from collaboration
agreements (2, 337588 ) (+2 , 423-337 ) Total research and development expenses, net 24, 663 16, 698 +6;244-Research and development
activities are central to our business. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than those in
earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later- stage clinical trials. Our research and development
expenses reflect, among other things, programs that were discontinued or put on hold as well as new development programs. As a result, we expect
that our research and development expenses will increase substantially over the next several years, particularly as we increase personnel costs,
including stock- based compensation, contractor costs and facilities costs, as we continue to advance the development of our product candidates. We
also may incur additional expenses related to milestone and royalty payments payable to third parties with whom we have entered into license
agreements to acquire the rights to our product candidates. General and Administrative Expenses General and administrative expenses consist
primarily of salaries, related benefits and stock- based compensation expenses for personnel in executive, finance, corporate, business development
and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees relating te corporate and securities matters; professional
fees for d(.(.()Lll]tlnL tax and audit services; msumnee costs; travel u(penses dnd tdelllt}— related expenses meludlnL rent, as w ell as ()])letlnL related

: v a a anllupaln lhal we will continue to incur significant accounting,
audit, leua] 1etvu]a101> Lomph‘mce directors’ and OHICCIb insurance eesls as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a
public company. We anticipate the additional costs for these services will increase our general and administrative expenses in the future.
Additionally, if and when we believe a regulatory approval of a product candidate appears likely, we anticipate an increase in payroll and expenses as
a result of our preparation for commercial operations, especially as it relates to the sales and marketing of our product candidate. Amertization
Impairment of Goodwill, intangible-Intangible Asset and long- lived asscts Goodwill and [ntangible assets-eensist-Asset In connection with our
acquisition of APT, we allocated a portion of the purchase price to goodwill and in- process research and development (“ IPR & D )
intangible asset. During the third and fourth quarters of 2024 , amertized-we experienced a decline in our stock price resulting in market
capitalization being less than our stockholders’ equity, which we concluded as an lmpalrment mdlcator As a result we performed a
quantitative assessment for goodwill and IPR & D impairment and recognized & hat-started-o y an
ended-enr-impairment charge of $ 0. 8 million and $ 3. 2 million, respectively. Long- lived assets In Deeembu SHGQQ—ZOM we dec1ded to
cease the use of the property in Gaithersburg, Maryland and made it available for sublease. As a result, we performed an impairment
assessment of the right- of- use asset and related leasehold improvements and recognized an impairment charge of $ 4. 0 million . Other
income Other income consists of a reversion of the contract liability associated with the AD program which has been paused and proceeds from
sub- leasing a portion of our office space in Ness Ziona, Israel starrt-mg— whlch sub lease ended in Attgust—September 26222024 . Interest expenses
Interest expense consists of interest incurred under th Ag ¢ d-belo A nte-a Loan and Security
Agreement with Hercules Capital, Inc., or Herea%es—wﬁ%rrespeet—te—a—ventare—debt—ﬁeethty—eﬂhe Hereules Loan Aueemem Under the Hercules
Loan Agreement, Hercules Capital, Inc or Hercules, provided the Company with access to a term loan with an aggregate principal amount of up to
$ 30 million, or the Term Loan Facility. On March 19, 2024, we the-Cempany-prepaid all of the remaining loan balance under the Term Loan
Facility in a total amount of $ 10 ;428theusands-. 4 million . The prepayment included an end of term charge of $ 983 theusands— thousand and
accrued interest of $ 69 theusands— thousand. Income from change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants Income from change in fair
value of Private Placement Warrants reflects the revaluation that resulted from the accounting of the Private Placement Warrants issued
under the March 2024 PIPE . Financial expenses, net Financial expenses, net consist primarily of income or expenses related to revaluation of
foreign currencies and interest income on our bank deposits and money market funds. Results of Operations Comparison of the Years Ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-The following table summarizes our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and2622-: Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-USD $rin thousands R & D expenses, net 24, 663 16, 698 +6;244
Amertization-ofintangible-assets—55149-General and administrative expenses 11, 776 8, 650 9-Goodwill impairment 801- IPR & D impairment 3
, 456-237- Long- lived assets impairment 4, 046- Operating loss 44, 523 25, 348 27;249-Interest-expenses2;,404-2,-069-Finanee-ineomer et {5
249902)-Other income ( 2, 143) (357) Interest expenses 873 2, 404 Finance expense ( +34-income ) , net 919 (1, 249) Income from change in
fair value of Private Placement Warrants (26, 458)- Tax expenses 13 23 65-Net Loss 17, 727 26, 169 28;3+7R & D expenses, net (net of grants
received from the IIA and MTEC , and consideration from research collaborations) were $ +6-24 . 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023
2024 , compared to $ 16. 2-7 million for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . The increase of $ 8. 0 —5-million, or 3-48 %, in the year Llld(,d
December 31, 2023-2024 compared to the prior year, is primarily due to the following: ® an increase of $ 5-1 . 3-6 million primarily reflects due-te
tnereased-expenses related to eendueting-preparations for Phase 2b in the clinical trial of our CF product candidate, BX004; e a-an deerease
increase of $ 2. 2 million in expenses relating to the clinical trial of our DFO product candidate, BX211; and e increased expenses of $ 1. 9
million and $ 3. 0 million relating to the combined workforce and rent expenses, respectively, following the Acquisition, respectively. We
recorded $ 2. 6 mllllon of MTEC grants and no ITA grants for the year ended December 31 2024 compared to $ 1.1 mllllon fn—sa-}aﬂes—&nd

mllll()n ofdue—te-mefeased-e(mslduanon from research eolldbomtl()ns v
$t—1tmilhenfor eaehofthe years— year cnded December 31, 2023 and A atton ttargtble-assetsended-on
342022 -as-the-intangible-assetwasfully-amertized- General and admlmslrallw e\penses were $ 11. 8 —Fmillion for Lhe year ended December 31,
2023-2024 , compared to $ 9-8 . 5-7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 . The $ 3. 1 million deerease-increase of, or 36 %, is
primarily driven by Acquisition- related expenses, including S 0. 9 million in issuance costs and $ 0. 4 million in legal fees associated with
both the Acquisition and the March 2024 PIPE. Additionally, the increase reflects higher salary and share- based compensation expenses of
$ 0. 9 million related to the combined workforce, as well as $ 0. 3 million in rent expenses following the Acquisition. Goodwill impairment
was $ 0. 8 million ;-erfor 8-the year ended December 31, 2024, following an impairment of the Company’ s goodwill resulted from the
Acquisition. We had no goodwill impairment in the year ended December 31, 2023. IPR & D impairment was $ 3. 2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, following our quantitative assessment for IPR & D impairment. We had no IPR & D impairment in the year
ended December 31, 2023. Long- lived assets impairment was $ 4. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, after evaluating the right-
of- use asset and related leasehold improvements following our decision to cease the use of the property in Gaithersburg, Maryland and
make it available for sublease. We had no long- lived assets impairment in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other income was $ 2. 1
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $ 0. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase of $ 1.7
million, or 425 %, is primarily due to a-deerease-the reversion of the contract liability associated with $-08-—9-mitherinthe Company’ s AD

program which has been suspendeddﬁeetefs—aﬁd—e—ﬁﬁeers—msﬂfaﬂee-pfemﬁm— Interest expenses were $ 2-0 . 4-9 million for the year ended



December 31, 2023-2024 , compmcd to % 2.+4 mllll()n for thc year cndcd Dcccmbu 31, 2-922—2023 The inerease-decrease of $ 6-1 . 3-5 million, or
+4-63 %, is due to the full ineres 5P whie ents— repayment of the loan under the Hercules
Loan Agreement. Finance meefﬁe-expense ncl was $ -1—0 2-9 million for lhc year ended Dccunbu 31,2023-2024 , compared to finance income of
‘ﬂ 9—1 9—2 m]lhon for the year ended Decembel 31, 2—92—2—2023 The merease—lncreased expenses of §2 9—3—m-rl-l-xen—er—3—3—%—rs—pfmafrl-y—d-ue—te

mamly —ts—éue—te—reeei-pt—ef—pfeeeeds—hom the Prlvate Placement Warrants transactlon costs under the March ﬂ—sab%ease—&greemeﬂt—fer—a
2024 PIPE foHowingeur-Corporate Restraeturing-. Liquidity and

( dp]tdl Resouuces Souuex of Liquidity We In\\ € never gener: Ated an} revenue from sales of our products and have incurred significant operating
losses and negative cash flows from our operations. We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sale of our Common
Stock, preferred shares and warrants, venture debt, [IA and MTEC grants and funds from collaboration agreements and through the business
combination between Chardan Healthcare Acquisition Corp., a special purpose acquisition company, and BiomX Ltd. (the “ Business Combination
), pursuant to which Chardan Healthcare Acquisition Corp. changed its name to BiomX Inc. Through December 31, 2023-2024 , we had received
gross cash pmceeds of dppm\lmate]\ $ {64—204 m]lllon from sdles of our C ommon Stock and plel‘elled shares and —In-August2024-we-borrowed-5
+513 .79 3 g 9-million from our collaboration agreements and

grants from the Il A fer—eaeh—e#the—yeﬁs—eﬂded—l)eeember%l—.?@%—and MTEC Deeefnber—?«-l%l-@%%— Cash in excess of immediate requirements is
inv cslcd pnmalll\ with a v iew to 11(]Llldll} and capllal prcsuxallon Qﬁ-In [)cccl]lbcr%%%—ﬁ%e&&s%ﬁ%ﬂreg&&&tﬁfrst&te&m&eﬁefm—s—}

s a . a 42020, we entered into an Open Market Sale
AU] eementSM or the Sale Aﬂleement with Jetfenes LLC leﬁenes pmsuam tow h]ch we could issue and sell shares of our Common Stock having
an aggregate offering price of up to $ 50 million from time to time through Jefferies. We were not obligated to make any sales of Common Stock
under the Sale Agreement. Through December 31, 2023, we sold an aggregate of 983 98 , 384-339 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Sale
Agreement for aggregate gross proceeds of $ 5. 8 million. We terminated the Sale Agreement on December 7, 2023. On August 16, 2021 we entered
into the Hercules Loan Agreement with Hercules, with respect to a venture debt facility. Under the Hercules Loan Agreement, Hercules provided the
us with access to a term loan with an aggregate principal amount of up to $ 30 million, available in three tranches, subject to certain terms and
conditions. The first tranche of $ 15 million was advanced to us on the date the Hercules Loan Agreement was executed. The milestones for the
second and third tranches were not reached and have expired —and accordingly we never received additional amounts under the Hercules Loan
Agreement. We were required to make interest- only payments through March 1, 2023, and we were required to repay the principal balance and
interest in monthly installments through September 1, 2025. On March 19, 2024, we voluntarily prepaid the outstanding amount under the Hercules
Loan Agreement and such agreement expired. On February 22, 2023, we entered into a securities purchase agreement to issue and sell an aggregate
of +5-1 , 997599 , 448-746 shares of our Common Stock and +4-1 , 616-461 , 44-072 pre- funded warrants, or the February 2023 Pre- Funded
Warrants, and collectively, the February 2023 Securities, at a price of $ 8-2 . 245-- 45 per share and $ -2 . 244~ 44 per Pre- Funded Warrant,
through a private placement pursuant to an exemption from registration requirements under the Securities Act, or the February 2023 PIPE —Fhe-gress
, for net proceeds of frem-theFebruary2023-PHPE-were-approximately $ 7. 52 million, befere-after deducting issuance costs —Fhe-offering-elosed
tn—?we—partﬂhe—ﬁfs%e}esmg—wheh—reﬁr}tedﬁn-fhﬁssuaﬁee-ot $ 0. 3 million. As of December 31 . +99-2024 . 494-533, 031 February 2023 Pre
Funded Warrants were exercised mto 533 031 shares of Common Stock &ﬂd—2—7—76—42—8—Pfe-—Fuﬂded—Waﬁ&ﬂts—fm gress—pfeeeeds-a total
consideration of $ 6 thousand +-5-m : sable-on y
at an exercise price of § 0. 884— 01 per slmrc ()f Common 9t0cl<ﬁﬁd—have—ne—e7q9+r&ﬁeﬂ-date—&t—the—ﬁ-ﬁst—e}esmg— and 928 W—Ea-tsed—net—pfeeeeds—ef
-$—1—3—ﬂ‘lﬁ-h6ﬁ- 041 February &fteﬁdedue&ngﬁss&aﬂe&eests—e%—@—l—m&heﬂ—@ﬂﬁpfﬂ%ﬂ)ﬂ Pre- Funded Warrants were exercised into 925 ,

A v P 6 shares of Common Stock through cashless mechanism with no consideration. As
of December 31 mel-ud-mg—shares—tmdeﬂ-ymg—mu there are no outstandlng February 2023 Pre- Funded \W% andnts —m—aeeefd-a-ﬂee-wrt-h—N%FSE
Ameﬁeaﬁ—m-}es— In Decembereﬂ—May-4— 023, pursuant to we-eo h

2623;weftleda she]t 1ewlst1 ation \tatement on Form 5 3 —wh-reh—was—dedaled eﬂecme by the SF( on January 2 2024 —I-n-add-rtreﬁ- ﬁﬂ—Beeember
+-2623-or the Effective S- 3 , we entered into an At the Market Offering Agreement, or the ATM Agreement, with H. C. Wainwright & Co.,
LLC, or Wainwright, as manager, pursuant to which we may issue and sell shares of our Common Stock having an aggregate offering price of up to
$ 7. 5 million from time to time through Wainwright. We are not obligated to make any sales of Common Stock under the ATM Agreement. From
Jantary+On February 24, 2025, we suspended the ATM Agreement and the related continuous offering by us under the Effective S- 3. We
may resume use of the ATM Agreement in the future. In February and May, 2023, subsequent to the approval of the Company’ s
stockholders, we completed the closing of the February 2023 PIPE, as defined below, with $ 7. 5 million in gross proceeds. Additionally, on
March 15 , 2024 threugh-, concurrently with the consummation of the Acquisition, we consummated a private placement, or the March 26;
2024 PIPE , we-issted-75-pursuant to an exemption from registration requirements under the Securities Act , +79-with certain investors
pursuant to which such investors purchased an aggregate of 216, 417 shares of our Series X non- voting convertible preferred stock, par
value $ 0. 0001 per share, or the Convertible Preferred Stock, with each Convertible Preferred Stock being convertible into 100 shares of our
shares of Common Stock purstant, after giving effect to the ATM-Agreement-Reverse Split, and warrants, or Private Placement Warrants, to
purchase up to an aggregate of 10 820 850 shares of the Company S Common Stock for awlcgmc gross ])1()(.L(,d\ of—$—l—9—t-heusaﬁd—eﬂ—Mafeh

gress—pfeeeeds—e-f—ﬂpptoxnnale]v $ v() 1m]hon On February 25, 2025 we entered 1nt0 a Securltles Purchase Agreement w1th certain 1nvest0rs,
or the February 2025 SPA, pursuant to which we agreed to issue and sell, (i) in a registered direct offering, or the February 2025 Registered
Direct Offering: (a) an aggregate of 2, 828, 283 shares of our Common Stock, and (b) pre- funded warrants, or the February 2025 Pre-
Funded Warrants, to purchase up to an aggregate of 805, 231 shares of Common Stock, or the February 2025 Pre- Funded Warrant Shares,
and (ii) in a concurrent private placement, or the February 2025 PIPE, (a) unregistered pre- funded warrants, or the February 2025 Private
Pre- Funded Warrants, to purchase up to an aggregate of 2, 305, 869 shares of Common Stock, or the February 2025 Private Pre- Funded
Warrant Shares, and (b) unregistered warrants, or the February 2025 Common Warrants, and together with the February 2025 Private
Pre- Funded Warrants, the February 2025 Private Warrants, to purchase up to an aggregate of 5, 939, 383 shares of Common Stock, or the
February 2025 Common Warrant Shares, and together with the February 2025 Private Pre- Funded Warrant Shares, the February 2025
Private Warrant Shares. Each share of Common Stock (or February 2025 Pre- Funded Warrant in lieu thereof) and each February 2025
Private Pre- Funded Warrant is sold with an accompanying February 2025 Common Warrant. The combined effective purchase price of
each share of Common Stock (or February 2025 Pre- Funded Warrant in lieu thereof) and accompanying February 2025 Common Warrant,
and of each February 2025 Private Pre- Funded Warrant and accompanying February 2025 Common Warrant, is $ 0. 9306. The gross



proceeds to the Company from the February 2025 Registered Direct Offering and the February 2025 PIPE were $ S. 5 million, before
deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company. In addition, on February 25, 2025, we also entered
into inducement letter agreements, or the Inducement Letter Agreements, with certain holders, or the Holders, of certain of their existing
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 6, 955, 528 shares of Common Stock, originally issued to the Holders on March 15, 2024, having an
original exercise price of $ 2. 311 per share (after giving effect to the Reverse Split), or the Existing Warrants. The shares of Common Stock
issued upon the exercise of the Existing Warrants are registered pursuant to the Effective S- 3. Pursuant to the Inducement Letter
Agreements, the Holders agreed to exercise for cash the Existing Warrants at a reduced exercise price of $ 0. 9306 per share, or the
February 2025 Warrant Exercise, in consideration of our agreement to issue new unregistered warrants, or the New Warrants, to purchase
up to an aggregate of 6, 955, 528 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 9306 per share, or the New Warrant Shares. In
connection with the February 2025 Warrant Exercise, we agreed that, in the event that any February 2025 Warrant Exercise would
otherwise require the Company to issue a number of shares of Common Stock in excess of the number of shares of Common Stock that the
Holder may acquire without exceeding the beneficial ownership limitations, or the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, set forth in the Existing
Warrants (or, if applicable and at the Holder’ s election, 9. 99 %) (such excess shares, the Excess Existing Warrant Shares), (i) the Company
shall issue to the Holder the maximum number of Existing Warrant Shares that the Holder is entitled to receive without exceeding the
Beneficial Ownership Limitation, as directed by the Holder, and (ii) in lieu of issuing any Excess Existing Warrant Shares, (x) the Existing
Warrant shall automatically be amended and restated in its entirety as set in the Letter Agreement, or, following such amendment, the
Amended and Restated Warrant. The gross proceeds to the Company from the February 2025 Warrant Exercise were $ 6. 5 million prior to
deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses. We refer to the February 2025 Warrant Exercise, February 2025 Registered Direct
Offering and the February 2025 PIPE, as the February 2025 Financing. We are subject to restrictions pursuant to the February 2025
Financing, including certain standstill periods preventing us from issuing any Common Stock or Common Stock equivalents or filing any
registration statement or any amendment or supplement to any existing registration statement until 30 days after the later of (i) the date that
the resale registration statement related to the February 2025 Financing is declared effective by the SEC and (ii) the date of the stockholder
approval required in connection with the February 2025 Financing. We also agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to effect or agree to
effect any variable rate transaction until 90 days after the later of (i) the date that the resale registration Statement is declared effective by
the SEC and (ii) the stockholder approval. Following such restrictions and subject to applicable securities law limits, we may continue to sell
shares under the ATM Agreement and otherwise to use our shelf registration statement to raise additional funds from time to time. We may
also raise funds privately, as we did in February 2023, the March 2024 PIPE and the February 2025 PIPE. We may also seek funds through
arrangements with collaborators or others that may require us to relinquish rights to the product candidates that we might otherwise seek
to develop or commercialize independently . Our financial statements contain an explanatory paragraph regarding substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern for-atleastone-year-unti-Aprit-3;-as we believe that our current funds will be sufficient to meet our
working capital and capital expenditure requirements only into the first quarter of 2625-2026 . n the future, we will likely require or desire
additional funds to support our operating expenses and capital requirements or for other purposes, such as acquisitions, and may seek to raise such
additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings or collaborative agreements or from other sources, as we did are-deingrew-with
the ATM Agreement and as-we-didswith-the Hercules Loan Agreement. If certain disruptions due to, for instance, the-Israel —” s War with Hamas
War-and Hezbollah , or Israeli political instability persists and deepens, we could experience an inability to access additional capital, which could in
the future negatively affect our capacity to support our operating expenses and capital requirements or to make investments for other purposes, such
as acquisitions. We have no other commitments to obtain additional financing and cannot assure you that additional financing will be available at all
or, if available, that such financing would be obtainable on terms favorable to us and would not be dilutive. Our future liquidity and cash
requirements will depend on numerous factors, including the introduction of new products as well as the ability to continue to maintain controls over
our operating expenditures. Cash Flows The following table summarizes our cash flows for each of the periods presented: Year Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2622-USD In thousands Net cash used in operating activities (24-36 , 286-979 ) ( 29-21 , 692-286 ) Net cash provided by tused-my
investing activities 715 1, 951 €2;-3+87)-Net cash provided by financing activities 38, 374 2, 899 292-Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash 1 6 +#86-Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2, 111 (16, 430 336;86+) Operating Activitics During
the year ended December 31, 2024, operating activities used $ 37. 0 million of net cash, primarily due to a net loss of $ 17. 7 million adjusted
by non- cash charges of 16. 3 million and a net change of $ 3. 0 million in our operating assets and liabilities. Non- cash charges mainly
consisted of $ 26. 5 million related to income from change in fair value of the Private Placement Warrants, $ 2. 0 million of income from
change in contract liability resulting from pausing the Company’ s AD program, $ 1. 8 million related to stock- based compensation
expenses, $ 1. 8 million of depreciation and impairment charges of goodwill, IPR & D asset and long- lived assets of $ 0. 8 million, $ 3. 2
million and $ 4. 0 million, respectively. Net changes in our operating assets and liabilities consisted primarily of an increase in trade account
payables of $ 3. 2 million and an increase in other account payables of $ 1. 0 million, partially offset by a decrease in other current assets of $
0. 8 million and in net change in operating leases of $ 0. 3 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, operating activities used $ 21. 3
million of net cash, primarily due to a net loss of $ 26. 2 million and by net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of § 2. 5
million and non- cash charges of $ 2. 4 million. Non- cash charges for the year ended December 31, 2023, mainly consisted of stock- based
compensation expenses of $ 1. 0 million, depreciation and amortization of $ 0. 9 million and amortization of debt issuance costs of $ 0. 6 million. Net
changes in our operating assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2023, consisted primarily of an increase in trade account payables of $
0. 6 million and an increase in other account payables of $ 1. 2 million, partially offset by a decrease in other current assets of $ 0. 8 million.
Investing Activities During the yem ended Decembel 31, %92%2024 ﬁpef&t-mg-mvestment activities prov1ded used—$—2-9—l—m1-1-1-xeﬂ—ef—net msh 5
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depes-i-ts—e%—l—lé—mllhon We ha\e invested, and plan to continue lo invest, our existing u\h in \]1011 18] m investments in aumdame with our
investment policy. These investments may include money market funds and investment securities consisting of U. S. Treasury notes, and high
quality, marketable debt instruments of corporations and government sponsored enterprises. We use foreign exchange contracts (mainly option and
forward contracts) to hedge balance sheet items from currency exposure. These foreign exchange contracts are not designated as hedging instruments
for accounting purposes. In connection with these foreign exchange contracts, we recognize gains or losses that offset the revaluation of the balance
sheet items also recorded under financial expenses (income) , net. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had outstanding foreign exchange contracts in
the amount of approximately $ 2. 4 —+million with a fair value asset of $ 19 thousand 6-—3-mithen-. As of December 31, 20222023 , we had
outstanding foreign exchange contracts in the amount of approximately $ 4. 5-1 million s-=with a fair value Habtlity-asset of $ 55;-666-0. 3 million .



Financing Activities During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , financing activities provided net cash of $ 3-38 . 6-4 million, mainly consisting
of the i issuance 0f Convertlble Preferred Shares and the Private Placement Warrants in the March 2024 PIPE in the amount of $ 720 . 24
million due-te-is © d : , net of issuance costs, and $ 28. 7 million, respectively. This was
partially offset by the fepajﬂﬁeﬂt—prepayment of the long term debt in the amount of $ 4-10 . 3-7 million under the Hercules Loan Agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , financing activities provided net cash of $ 3. 0 =3-million, mainly consisting of $ 8-7 . 3-2 million
due to issuances of Common Stock under the Sale-February 2023 PIPE, net of issuance costs, partially offset by the repayment of long- term
debt of $ 4. 3 million under the Hercules Loan Agreement. Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies Our contractual obligations
and commitments relate primarily to our Herewlesoan-Agreement-operating leases and non- cancelable purchase obligations under agreements with
various research and development organizations and suppliers in the ordinary course of business. In September2626-August 2019 , we entered into a
lease agreement for new-office and lab spaces in Gaithersburg, Maryland and in September 2020, we entered into a lease agreement for office
and laboratory space in Ness Ziona, Israel. In the normal course of business, we enter into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of
representations and warranties and provide for general indemnifications. Our exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves
claims that may be made against us in the future but have not yet been made. To date, we have not paid any claims or been required to defend any
action related to our indemnification obligations. However, we may record charges in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations. In
accordance with our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as contractual indemnification agreements, we have potential indemnification
obligations to our officers and directors for specified events or occurrences, subject to some limits, while they are serving at our request in such
capacities. There have been no claims to date, and we have director and officer insurance that may enable us to recover a portion of any amounts paid
for future potential claims. Government Grants and Related Royalties The Government of Israel, through the IIA, encourages research and
development projects by providing grants. We may receive grants from the IIA at the rates that range from 20 % to 50 % of the research and
development expenses, as prescribed by the research committee of the IIA. Through December 31, 2023-2024 , we had received an aggregate of $ 8.
0 million in the form of grants from the IIA. BiomX Ltd was formed as an incubator company as part of the FutuRx incubator, and, until 2017, the
majority of its funding was from IIA grants and funding by the incubator, which is supported by the IIA. We continued to apply for and receive I1A
grants after we left the incubator. The requirements and restrictions for such grants are found in the Research Law. Under the Research Law,
royalties of 3 % to 3. 5 % on the revenue derived from sales of products or services developed in whole or in part using these IIA grants are payable
to the Israeli government. We developed both of our platform technologies, at least in part, with funds from these grants, and, accordingly, we would
be obligated to pay these royalties on sales of any of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval. Below is a description of our
obligations in connection with the grants received from the IIA under the Research Law: Local Manufacturing Obligation As long as the
manufacturing of our product candidates takes place in Israel and no technology funded with ITA grants is sold or out licensed to a non- Israeli entity,
the maximum aggregate royalties paid generally would not exceed 100 % of the grants made to us, plus annual interest equal to the 12- month SOFR
applicable to U. S. dollar deposits, as published on the first business day of each calendar year. Under the terms of the Research Law, the products
may be manufactured outside of Israel by us or by another entity only if prior approval is received from the IIA (such approval is not required for the
transfer of up to 10 % of the manufacturing capacity in the aggregate, in which case a notice must be provided to the IIA and not be objected to by the
ITIA within 30 days of such notice). Know- How Transfer Limitation The Research Law restricts the ability to transfer know- how funded by the ITA
outside of Israel. Transfer of ITA funded know- how outside of Israel requires prior approval of the ITA and may be subject to payments to the I1A,
calculated according to formulae provided under the Research Law. The redemption fee is subject to a cap of six times the total amount of the IIA
grants, plus interest accrued thereon (i. e. the total liability to the IIA, including accrued interest, multiplied by six). If we wish to transfer IIA funded
know- how, the terms for approval will be determined according to the nature of the transaction and the consideration paid to us in connection with
such transfer. Approval of transfer of IIA funded know- how to another Israeli company may be granted only if the recipient abides by the provisions
of the Research Law and related regulations, including the restrictions on the transfer of know- how and manufacturing rights outside of Israel.
Change of Control Any non- Israeli citizen, resident or entity that, among other things, (i) becomes a holder of 5 % or more of our share capital or
voting rights, (ii) is entitled to appoint our directors or our chief executive officer or (iii) serves as one of our directors or as our chief executive
officer (including holders of 25 % or more of the voting power, equity or the right to nominate directors in such direct holder, if applicable) is
required to notify the IIA and undertake to comply with the rules and regulations applicable to the grant programs of the IIA, including the
restrictions on transfer described above. Approval to manufacture products outside of Israel or consent to the transfer of I[IA funded know- how, if
requested, is within the discretion of the IIA. Furthermore, the IIA may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which it permits us to
transfer IIA funded know- how or manufacturing out of Israel. The consideration available to our shareholders in a future transaction involving the
transfer outside of Israel of know- how developed with IIA funding (such as a merger or similar transaction) may be reduced by any amounts that we
are required to pay to the IIA. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , no sales were generated and the balance of the principal and interest in respect of our
commitments for future payments to the ITA totaled approximately $ 8. 3 million, as compared to $ 7. 9 million ;as-eempared-to-$-6—6-mitlionas of
December 31, 2022-2023 . As part of funding our current and planned product development activities, we may submit follow- up grant applications
for new grants. Quteel-OutlookWe We-expect our expenses to remain substantially in the same level in connection with our ongoing activities. Our
expenses will remain substantial and may also increase as we: @ continue the development of our product candidates; ® complete IND- enabling
activities and prepare to initiate clinical trials for our product candldates—O—Wﬁflﬁeﬂﬂtegfate-the—bu&rﬂess-e%APT— e initiate additional clinical trials
and preclinical studies for product candidates in our pipeline; ® seek to identify and develop or in- license or acquire additional product candidates
and technologies; ® seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any; @ establish a sales,
marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval; e hire and retain
additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control, commercial and scientific personnel; and @ expand our infrastructure and facilities to
accommodate our growing employee base, including adding equipment and physical infrastructure to support our research and development. Our
financial statements contain an explanatory paragraph regarding substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern fer-atleastene
year-untl-Apri3;-as we believe that our current funds will only be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure
requirements into the first quarter of 2625-2026 . We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize
our available capital resources sooner than we expect. If we receive regulatory approval for our product candidates, we expect to incur significant
commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, sales, marketing and distribution, depending on where we choose to commercialize.
Until such time, if ever, that we can generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance our cash needs through public
or private sales of our equity, ineludingunderthe- ATM-Agreement-loans, milestone payments, possibly additional grants from the [IA , MTEC or
other government or non- profit institutions and other outside funding sources. Our ability to raise additional capital in the equity and debt markets is
dependent on a number of factors including, but not limited to, market volatility resulting from thes-Israel = s war with Hamas War-and Hezbollah .
other armed conflicts such as in Ukraine or other disruptions, and market demand for our securities, which itself is subject to a number of
development and business risks and uncertainties, as well as the uncertainty that we would be able to raise such additional capital at a price or on
terms that are favorable to the Company. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our
stockholders’ ownership interests may be materially diluted, and the terms of such securities could include liquidation or other preferences that
adversely affect their rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing and preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that
include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or




declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through government and other third- party funding, collaboration agreements, strategic alliances,
licensing arrangements or marketing and distribution arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue
streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds
through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market
by ourselves. For more information regarding the risks related to our outlook, see ““ Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business, Technology and
Industry. ” Foreign Exchange Contracts We entered into forward and option contracts to hedge against the risk of overall changes in future cash flow
from payments of salaries and related expenses, as well as other expenses denominated in NIS. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, we
had outstanding foreign exchange contracts in the nominal amount of approximately $ 2. 4 —+million and $ 4. 5 million, respectively. Critical
Accounting Estimates Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with US GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue, costs and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. We base our estimates on historical
experience, known trends and events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. While
our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in note 2 to our consolidated financial statements, we believe that the following
accounting policies are those most critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Accrued
research and development expenses As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our accrued
research and development expenses. This process involves reviewing open contracts and purchase orders, communicating with our applicable
personnel to identify services that have been performed on our behalf and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred
for the service when we have not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of actual costs. The majority of our service providers invoice us in arrears
for services performed, on a pre- determined schedule or when contractual milestones are met; however, some require advance payments. We make
estimates of our accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date in the consolidated financial statements based on facts and circumstances known to
us at that time. We periodically confirm the accuracy of these estimates with the service providers and make adjustments, if necessary. Examples of
estimated accrued research and development expenses include fees paid to: ® vendors in connection with preclinical development activities; ® CROs
and investigative sites in connection with preclinical and clinical trials; and e subcontractors in connection with the manufacturing of materials for
preclinical and clinical trials. We measure the expense recognized based on our estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to
quotes and contracts with multiple CROs and subcontractors that supply, conduct and manage preclinical studies, human clinical studies and clinical
trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven
payment flows. There may be instances in which payments made to our vendors will exceed the level of services provided and result in a prepayment
of the expense. Payments under some of these contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of patients and the completion of certain
milestones. In accruing service fees, we estimate the time period over which services will be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each
period. If the actual timing of the performance of services or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we adjust the accrual or the amount of
prepaid expenses accordingly. Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, our understanding
of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in changes in
estimates that increase or decrease amounts recognized in any particular period. To date, there have not been any material adjustments to our prior
estimates of accrued research and development expenses. Stock- Based Compensation We apply ASC 718- 10, “ Stock- Based Payment, ” which
requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expenses for all stock- based payment awards made to employees and directors, including
employee stock options under our stock plans based on estimated fair values. ASC 718- 10 requires that we estimate the fair value of equity- based
payment awards on the date of grant using an option- pricing model. The fair value of the award is recognized as an expense over the requisite
service periods in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We recognize stock- based award forfeitures as they occur, rather than estimate by
applying a forfeiture rate. We recognize compensation expenses for the fair value of non- employee awards over the requisite service period of each
award. We estimate the fair value of stock options granted as equity awards using a Black- Scholes options pricing model. The option- pricing model
requires a number of assumptions, of which the most significant are share price, expected volatility and the expected option term (the time from the
grant date until the options are exercised or expire). We determine the fair value per share of the underlying stock by taking into consideration our
most recent sales of stock. BiomX Ltd. has historically been a private company and lacks company- specific historical and implied volatility
information of its stock. We used an average historical stock price volatility based on a combined weighted average of our historical average
volatility and that of a selected peer group of comparable public companies within the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry that were deemed
to be representative of future stock price trends as we do not have a sufficient historical trading history of our Common Stock. We will continue to
apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our stock price becomes available. We have
historically not paid dividends and has no foreseeable plans to issue dividends. The risk- free interest rate is based on the yield from governmental
zero- coupon bonds with an equivalent term. The expected option term is calculated for all stock option grants using the “ simplified ” method.
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§ a 8 v+, or IPR 2020;-the-in—preeessR-& D , and goodwill. The IPR & D is
conSIdered lndefinlte llved untll the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts were-eompleted-. Upon
successful completion The-Company-had-determined-the-usefuldifeof the R-project, IPR & D asscts are reclassified to developed technology and
amortized over their estimated useful lives. We test goodwill and IPR & D for impairment at least on an annual basis, on three—- the last day
of the third quarter of the fiscal years— year and beganamoertizing-whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of
a reporting unit may not be recoverable. We estimate the fair value of IPR & D assets using discounted cash flow valuation models, which
require the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, estimating the timing of and expected costs to complete
in- process projects, projecting regulatory approvals, estimating future cash flows from product sales and developing appropriate discount
rates. Business Combination We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and
intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair value. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of
these identifiable asscts aceerdingly-and liabilities are recorded as goodwill and IPR & D. Such valuations require our management to make
significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing certain intangible assets
include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from intangible assets, the-their useful lives and discount rates. Our management’
s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as
a result, actual results may differ from estimates. See Note 1D to the consolidated financial statements —During-the-year-ended-included in Part
1L, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Beeember3+-Form 10- K for additional information related to business combination. Private Placement




Warrants fair value revaluation We account for the Private Placement Warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815
under which the Private Placement Warrants do not meet the crlterla for equlty treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly .
2022-we classify ree ation 3 the intangible-asset-Private Placement Warrants was
- as -fu-l-l-y—a-mefﬁzed-llablllty at their falr value and adJust the Prlvate Placement Warrants to fair value at each reporting period. This liability
is subject to re- measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in our statement of
operations. The Private Placement Warrants are valued using the Black- Scholes model . I[TEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to make disclosures under this Item. ITEM 8.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA Our financial statements and the notes thereto begin on page F- 1 of this Annual
Report. ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None. ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management, with the participation of
our Chief Executive Officer and our aterim-Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, respectively),
performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the
Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Based on the aforementioned evaluation, our management has concluded that our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Management’ s Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our
internal control over financial reporting has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of our assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, and that
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorization of our management and directors; and provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial
statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting on December 31, 2623-2024 . In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 2013 framework, in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on that assessment
under those criteria, management has determined that, as of December 31, 2023-2024 , our internal control over financial reporting was effective. We
are exempt from this requirement to provide an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting due to our status under the Exchange Act as a non- accelerated filer as of the current time . Changes in Internal Control over
Financial Reporting There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d-
15 (f) under the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2623-2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting. ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION Grant of Bonuses On March 24, 2025, the Board
approved the payment of bonuses, payable in cash in amounts that equals to three- month salary for each of our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Development Officer, in the amounts of $ 102, 000, $ 55, 000 and $ 64, 000, respectively. Upon payment of
the bonuses, the non- statutory severance period for each of such officers, as agreed with the Company, will be shortened by three months.
Trading Arrangements During the three months ended December 31, 2023-2024 , none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “ Rule
10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or ““ non- Rule 10b5- 1 lradmg arrangcmcnt as cach term is dctlmd in ltem 408 (a) ot chulallon S- K—Rﬂﬁﬁe&ﬁeﬂ
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l“ORl:lGN IURISD]C[T]ONS TH/\T PRI:V]:NT INSPI:CTIONS pdrt lIl ITEM l() D[Rl:CTORg EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE Set forth below are the names, ages and positions of each of the individuals who serve as our executive officers and member of the
Board ef Direeters;-orBeard-, as of Aprit3-March 25 | 2024-2025 . Name Age Position Executive Officers Jonathan Solomon Chief Executive
Officer and Director Assa#Gfeﬂ-Gh-tef—Btmﬁess—GfﬁeerMarma Wolfson EhiefFinanetal-OffteerAvraham-GabayInterim-Chief Financial Officer
Dr. Merav Bassan Chief Development Officer Non- Employee Directors Dr. Russell Greig (1) (2) (3) Director and Chairman of the Board of
Directors Jonathanrteff-Susan Blum ( 2-1 ) Director Dr. Adan-Meses-Jesse Goodman (3) Director Jonathan Leff (2) Director Gregory Merril (3)
Director Dr. Alan Meses (2) Director Edward Williams (1) Director BrJesse-Goedman{3)Direeter{ 1) Member of the audit committee (2)
Member of the compensation committee (3) Member of the nominating and corporate governance eommitteeJonathan-committeeExecutive Officers
Jonathan Solomon has served as the Chief Executive Officer and as a director of the Company since October 2019. Mr. Solomon served as Board
member of BiomX Ltd., or BiomX Israel, from February 2016 and also as Chief Executive Officer from February 2017 to October 2019. From July
2007 to December 2015, Mr. Solomon was a co- founder, President, and Chief Executive Officer of ProClara Biosciences Inc. (formerly NeuroPhage
Pharmaceuticals Inc.), a biotechnology company pioneering an approach to treating neurodegenerative diseases. Prior to joining ProClara, he served
for ten years in a classified military unit of the Israeli Defense Forces. Mr. Solomon holds B. Sc. magna cum laude in Physics and Mathematics from
the Hebrew University, an M. Sc. summa cum laude in Electrical Engineering from Tel Aviv University, and an MBA with honors from the Harvard
Busmess School We believe that Mr. Solomon s qunhfcatlons to sit on our Board mclude hls extensive bmld and manﬂéement expenence in the

-frem—"Fel—ArH-v—anefsﬂ-y—Marma Wolfson has @Lrvud as thc Chld Fmancml Oftleur of the Company since Apul 2022

maternityteave-. Ms. Wolfson served in several finance and operations roles in the Company from December 2019 to March 2022. Ms. Wolfson’ s
experience includes working with large pharmaceutical and hi- tech companies, as well as venture capital funds. Prior to joining the Company, Ms.
Wolfson worked as Vice President of Finance at BioView Ltd. (TASE: BIOV) from 2010 to 2019 and a senior auditor at Ernst & Young, from 2007



to 2010. Ms. Wolfson is a certified public accountant in Israel and holds aB.Ain Econom1cs and Accountmg (wrth honors) and an MBA (w1th
honors, specializing in ﬁnance) trom Ben- Gurron Un1versrty —Acy bay v

has served as the Chief Development Ofﬁcer of the Company since October 2019 Prror to this posrtron she served in various development roles at
Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Limited between 2005 and 2019, including Vice President, Head of Translational Sciences, Specialty Clinical
Development R & D from 2017 to 2019, Vice President, Pain and Global Internal Medicine, Project Leadership, Innovative Product Development,
Global IR & D from 2015 to 2017, and Project Champion, Senior Director, Innovative Product Development, Global IR & D from 2009 to 2015. Dr.
Bassan holds a B. Sc. in Biology, a M. Sc. in Human Genetics and a Ph. D. in Neurobiology from Tel Aviv University, and she completed a Post-
Doctoral Fellowship in Neuroscience at Harvard Medical School at Harvard University. The biography of Mr. Solomon is set forth above under the
header “ Executive Officers. ” The biographies of our non- employee directors are set forth below: Dr. Russell Greig has served as a director and
chairman of the Board of the Company since October 2019. Dr. Greig has more than 44 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry, with
knowledge and expertise in research and development, business development and commercial operations. He spent the majority of his career at
GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, where he held a number of positions including GSK” s President of Pharmaceuticals International from 2003 to 2008 and
Senior Vice President Worldwide Business Development. From 2008 to 2010, Dr. Greig was also President of SR One, GSK’ s corporate venture
group. He is currently Chairman of Cardier{Germany)-, Nucleome Therapeutics (UK) and BiomX (NYSE). In addition, Dr. Greig previously served
on the boards of Sanifit (Spain) (acquired by Vifor Pharma AG (SWX: VIFN), Tigenix N. V. (acquired by Takeda Pharmaceutical Company
Limited), Ablynx N. V. (acquired by Sanofi, France) and Merus N. V. (Nasdaq: MRUS). He was previously Chairman of Syntaxin Ltd (UK)
(acquired by Ipsen), Novagali Pharma S. A. (France) (acquired by Santen Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.), and Isconova AB (Sweden) (acquired by
Novavax, Inc. (Nasdaq: NVAX). He served as acting Chief Executive Officer at Genocea Biosciences (Nasdaq: GNCA) and Isconova AB for an
interim period. He was also a member of the Scottish Scientific Advisory Committee, reporting to the First Minister of Scotland. We believe that Dr.
Greig’ s quahﬁcatrons to sit on our Board 1nclude h1s extensrve board and leadersh1p experrence in business development and in drug resear ch and

snifteant-expertise—Dr.Jesse Goodman has served asa d1rector of the Company since March
2024. Dr Goodman has been the drrcctor of the Center on Medrcal Product Access,Safety and Stewardship,and professor of medicine and attending
physician in infectious diseases,at Georgetown University since March 2014.Dr.Goodman also is an infectious disease physician at the Washington
DC Veterans Affairs and Walter Reed Medical Centers.He serves on the board of directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc,a multinational pharmaceutical
company,which he joined in 2016,and chaired that board’ s science committee until early 2023,and he has served on the board of directors of Intellia
Therapeutics,Inc.,a publicly traded biotechnology company,since October 2018.Prior to the Merger Agreement,Dr.Goodman served on the board of
directors of APT.He also has served as a president (2015 to 2020) and member (2015 to present) of the board of trustees of the United States
Pharmacopeia Convention,Inc.From 2009 until February 2014,Dr.Goodman served as the chief scientist of the FDA.Dr.Goodman also served as
deputy commissioner for science and public health at the FDA from 2009 through 2012.Prior to that,Dr.Goodman was the director of the FDA’ s
Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research from 2003 to 2009 and a senior advisor to the FDA commissioner from 1998 through 2000.Prior to his
government service,Dr.Goodman was professor of medicine and chief of infectious diseases at the University of Minnesota.Dr.Goodman has served
on numerous advisory boards and committees for national and international health care organizations,including the CDC,the National Institute of
Health,the World Health Organization and the Coalition on Epidemic Preparedness Innovations.Dr.Goodman received a B.S.in biology from Harvard
College,a master’ s in public health from the University of Minnesota and an M.D.from the Albert Einstein College of Medicine,and did his
residency and fellowship training in medicine,infectious diseases and oncology at the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania and at the
University of California in Los Angeles,where he was also chief medical resident.He has been elected to the Institute of Medicine of the National
Academy of Sciences.We believe that Dr. Goodman’ s qualifications to sit on our Board include his extensive board and leadership experience
in clinical development in the pharmaceutical industry and regulation. Jonathan Leff has served as a director of the Company since March 2024.
Mr. Leff is a Partner at Deerfield Management Company, L. P., or Deerfield and Chairman of the Deerfield Institute. He joined Deerfield in 2013 and
focuses on venture capital and structured investments in biotechnology and pharmaceuticals. Prior thereto, Mr. Leff served as Managing Director at
Warburg Pincus LLC from 2000 to 2012, where he led the firm’ s investment efforts in biotechnology and pharmaceuticals. Mr. Leff also previously
served as a member of the Executive Committee of the Board of the National Venture Capital Association, or NVCA, and led NVCA’ s life sciences
industry efforts as Chair of NVCA’ s Medical Innovation and Competitiveness Coalition. He also served on the Emerging Companies Section Board
of the Biotechnology Industry Organization. Mr. Leff is involved in the governance of several not- for- profit organizations, including serving as a
member of the board of directors of the Spinal Muscular Atrophy Foundation and sitting on the Columbia University Medical Center Board of
Advisors. He currently serves on the board of directors of Larimar Therapeutics, Inc., a publicly traded biotechnology company. Mr. Leff also
previously served on the boards of several other publicly traded biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, including ARS Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
from 2022 to 2023, Proteon Therapeutics, Inc. from 2017 to 2019, AveXis, Inc. from 2014 to 2017 and Nivalis Therapeutics, Inc. from 2014 to 2016.
He currently serves on the boards of several private biopharmaceutical companies and has previously served on the boards of other privately held
biopharmaceutical companies. Mr. Leff received his A. B. from Harvard University, MBA from the Stanford University Graduate School of
Business and M. S. in Biotechnology from Johns Hopkins University. We believe that Mr. Leff” s qualifications to sit on our Board include his
extensive board and leadership experience in capital markets and the pharmaceutical and biotech industries =Gregory Merril has served as a director
of the Company since March 2024.Mr.Merril founded APT in October 2016,and served as its Chief Executive Officer until October 2023 and served
on its board of directors until March 2024.Currently,he lends his expertise to various startups,serving in capacities ranging from advisor to executive
director.Mr.Merril served as Chief Executive Officer of Yost Labs,a developer of inertial motion sensors used in fields such as physical rehabilitation
and drone navigation,from August 2015 to December 2017.Between 2011 and August 2015,he founded and led Brain Sentry,a company dedicated to
developing wearable sensors to detect head impacts risking traumatic brain injury in sports including football,hockey,and lacrosse.From October
2009 to February 2011,he served as chief operating officer of Decision Technologies,which supported the U.S.Navy and the Missile Defense Agency
with technology acquisitions and deployments.Earlier,as the founding chief executive officer and chair of Interaction Laboratories from March 2002
to October 2009,Merril worked on patents and products that enhanced physical activity in video games and military simulations.Before this,he was
the founding Chief Executive Officer of HT Medical Systems,a company focusing on surgical training simulators,which merged with Immersion
Corp (NASDAQ:IMMR) in July 2000.Mr.Merril is credited as inventor with 22 issued patents and holds a B.A.in psychobiology from McDaniel



College.We believe that Mr.Merril’ s qualifications to sit on our Board include his experience in drug research and development in the
pharmaceutical industry .. Dr. Alan Moses has served as a director of the Company since October 2020. Dr. Moses has been a Board member of
Chemomab Therapeutics, Ltd. (Nasdaq: CMMB) since March 2021. Dr. Moses served as the Global Chief Medical Officer of Novo Nordisk A /S
from 2013 until his retirement in 2018. Prior to that he served in various roles at Novo Nordisk A /S since 2004, beginning as Associate Vice
President of Medical Affairs in the United States. Throughout his career, Dr. Moses has specialized in developing novel therapeutics and diagnostics
for diabetes mellitus. He co- founded and directed the Clinical Investigator Training Program at Beth Israel Deaconess- Harvard Medical School-
MIT. From 1998 to 2004, Dr. Moses served as Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer of the Joslin Diabetes Center with specific
responsibility for the Joslin Clinic. He now serves as a member of the Board of Joslin Diabetes Center since December 2021. He also serves as
Chairman of the Board of the nonprofit diaTribe Foundation and is a member of the Board of the Greater New England Chapter of the Juvenile
Diabetes Research Foundation. Dr. Moses earned his MD from the Washington University School of Medicine in St. Louis, worked for three years at
the National Institutes of Health, completed his clinical endocrine / diabetes training at Tufts New England Medical Center, and studied Health Care
Strategy at Harvard Business School. We believe that Dr. Moses’ s qualifications to sit on our Board include his extensive leadership experience in
clinical development in the pharmaceutical industry. Gregory Merril has served as a director...... and development in the pharmaceutical industry.
Edward “ Eddie ” Williams has served as a director of the Company since October 2023. Mr. Williams has served as a member of the board of
directors of BioAtla, Inc. (Nasdaq: BCAB), a publicly traded biotechnology company focusing on oncology, since December 2021. From January
2018 to December 2022, he served as a member of the board of directors of Catalyst Biosciences Inc. (Nasdaq: CBIO, now GYRE), a publicly traded
biopharmaceutical company. He also currently serves as director on the non- profit healthcare boards of Boone Memorial Health, and Innovative
Hematology, Inc. From March 2020 to September 2022, Mr. Williams held the positions of Special Advisor to the Chief Executive Officer and
Interim Chief Commercial Officer of Ascendis Pharma, Inc. (Nasdaq: ASND). Prior to Ascendis, from 2006 to January 2017, Mr. Williams served as
Senior Vice President and General Manager of US BioPharmaceuticals at Novo Nordisk, Inc. (NYSE: NVO), a multinational pharmaceutical and
biotech company. Prior to Novo, from 2003 to 2006, Mr. Williams served as Vice President of Sales at the Respiratory and Dermatology Business
Unit at Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation. Mr. Williams started his career in 1981 at The Upjohn Company (Pharmacia & Upjohn), where he
later served as Vice President of Sales until July 2001 and then as Regional Vice President of Sales of Northeast Region post- merger with Searle,
from July 2001 until May 2003. Mr. Williams holds a B. S. in Biology and Chemistry from the Marshall University, Huntington, WV, and the
Grambling State University, Grambling, LA. We believe that Mr. Williams’ s qualifications to sit on our Board include his extensive board and
leadership experience, coupled with his successful experiences pre- launch and commercialization of novel compounds in the pharmaceutical
industry. Dr. Jesse Goodman has served as...... in the pharmaceutical industry and regulation./Code of Business Conduct and Ethics We have adopted
a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on
our website at www. biomx. com. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grants any waiver from a
provision of the Code to any director or executive officer, we will promptly disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website. Board
Committees and Corporate Governance Board Composition and Leadership Structure As of Aprit-3-March 25 , 2024-2025 , the Board is comprised
of seven-eight members. The Board has a flexible policy with respect to the combination or separation of the offices of Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer. Currently, Dr. Russell Greig serves as our independent Chairman, and Mr. Jonathan Solomon serves as our Chief Executive
Officer. The Board believes that by having separate roles, the Chief Executive Officer is able to focus on the day- to- day business and affairs of the
Company and the Chairman is able to focus on key strategic issues, board leadership and communication. While the Board believes this leadership
structure is currently in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, the Board also recognizes that future circumstances could lead it to
combine these roles. The Board has established three standing committees: the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee, each of which is composed solely of independent directors, and is described more fully below. Each of the
Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates pursuant to a written charter and each
committee reviews and assesses the adequacy of its charter and submits its charter to the Board for approval. The charters for the Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are all available on our website, www. biomx. com. Audit
Committee Our Audit Committee engages the Company’ s independent accountants: reviews their independence and performance; reviews the
Company’ s accounting and financial reporting processes and the integrity of its financial statements; reviews the audits of the Company’ s financial
statements and the appointment, compensation, qualifications, independence and performance of the Company’ s independent auditors; reviews the
Company’ s compliance with legal and reviews regulatory requirements; and reviews the performance of the Company’ s internal audit function and
internal control over financial reporting. The members of the Audit Committee are Susan Blum, Dr. Russell Greig and Edward Williams, each of
whom is an independent director under NYSE American’ s listing standards and satisfies the additional independence requirements of Rule 10A- 3 of
the Exchange Act. Susan Blum BeRussel-Gretg-is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee and is —”Phe—Aud-rt—Gemmﬁtee—dees—ﬂet—euﬁeﬂﬂ-y—have
as-a-memberan “ audit committee financial expert, ”” as defined under the rules and regulations of the SEC. Our Compensation Committee reviews
annually the Company’ s corporate performance goals and objectives relevant to the Chief Executive Officer’ s compensation, evaluates the Chief
Executive Officer’ s performance in light of such goals and objectives, determines and approves the Chief Executive Office’ s compensation level
based on this evaluation; makes recommendations to the Board regarding approval, disapproval, modification, or termination of existing or proposed
employee benefit plans; makes recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation of our executive officers, other than the Chief
Executive Officer, and directors; and administers the Company’ s incentive- compensation plans and equity- based plans, as well as the Company’ s
clawback policy. The Compensation Committee has the authority to delegate any of its responsibilities to subcommittees as it may deem appropriate
in its sole discretion. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company may not be present during voting or deliberations of the Compensation Committee
with respect to his compensation. The Company’ s executive officers do not play a role in suggesting their own salaries. The members of the
Compensation Committee are Dr. Alan Moses, Mr. Jonathan Leff and Dr. Russell Greig, each of whom is an independent director under NYSE
American’ s listing standards. Dr. Alan Moses is the Chairperson of the Compensation Committee. Fhe-In 2024, the Compensation Committee
retalned Aon Solutlons UK L1m1ted or Aon, an 1ndependent compensatlon consultant to provide advice with respect to eptien-exehange-providing,

6 6 d : aity-periodically updating, competitive market data for our
executlve officers and developmg prellmmary approaches to 2024 long— term Ineentive-incentive Plan;-or-the 2649-Plan-award guidelines.
equlty grants between newly hired and long— standlng employees Provnded the updated materlals to the Company —s%@-lé—Emp}eyee—Steek

Mttt nsidered-ameong-thefactorsitreviewe hen mining-stehreprieingand-exehange ptiens NomlnatlngandGovernance
Committee Our Nomlnatlng and Corporate Governance Committee is resp0n51ble for overseeing the selection of persons to be nominated to serve on
the Board. Specifically, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee makes recommendations to the Board regarding the size and
composition of the Board, establishes procedures for the director nomination process and screens and recommends candidates for election to the
Board. On an annual basis, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee recommends for approval by the Board certain desired
qualifications and characteristics for Board membership. Additionally, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee establishes and
oversees the annual assessment of the performance of the Board as a whole and its individual members. The Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee will consider a number of qualifications relating to management and leadership experience, background and integrity and professionalism



in evaluating a person’ s candidacy for membership on the Board. Although the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee does not have a
formal policy with regard to the consideration of diversity identifying nominees, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may require
certain skills or attributes, such as financial or accounting experience, to meet specific needs of the Board that arise from time to time and will also
consider the overall experience and makeup of its members to obtain a broad and diverse mix of Board members. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee does not distinguish among nominees recommended by stockholders and other persons. The members of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee are Dr. Russell Greig, Dr. Jesse Goodman and Mr. Gregory Merril, each of whom is an independent director under
NYSE American’ s listing standards. Dr. Russell Greig is the Chairperson of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Insider
Trading Policy We have adopted an insider trading policy, or the Policy, governing the purchase, sale and other transactions in our
securities that applies to our directors, executive officers, employees, and other covered persons, including immediate family members and
entities controlled by any of the foregoing persons, as well as by the Company itself. The Policy prohibits, among other things, insider
trading and certain speculative transactions in our securities (including short sales, buying put and selling call options and other hedging or
derivative transactions in our securities) and establishes a regular blackout period schedule during which directors, executive officers,
employees, and other covered persons may not trade in the Company’ s securities, as well as certain pre- clearance procedures that directors
and executive officers must observe prior to effecting any transaction in our securities. The Company believes that the Policy is reasonably
designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and listing standards applicable to the Company. A copy of
the Policy is filed as Exhibit 19. 1 to this Form 10- K. ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION Summary Compensation Table The following
table sets forth the total compensation paid or accrued during the last two fiscal years with respect to (i) our Chief Executive Officer, (ii) our two
other most highly compensated executive officers, who each earned more than $ 100, 000 during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023-2024 ,
and were serving as executive officers as of such date. Name and Principal Position Year Salary ($) (1) Bonus ($) (1) Stock Awards ($) (4) Option
Awards €3~$) (2) All Other Compensation ($) (1) (3) Total ($) (1) Jonathan Solomon 2623-2024 442-415 . 435264103 50 , 234-464-689 49 , 174
+06-798 460 , 998-921 102, 081 1, H8-078 , 544592 Chief Executive Officer 2022-2023 424-412 , 135 201 58+-542-, 974-1+63-234- 404 , 987174
100, 998 1, 64118 , 542-541 Marina Wolfson 2023-2024 244-179 , 727-76;209-96-905 -- 124 , 742-854 46, 578428-793 351 , 256-552 Chief
Financial Officer 2022-2023 234+-214 , 727 76 434—6-, 827-209- 90, 742 46, 578 48-428 . 256 662396;243-Dr. Merav Bassan 2023-2024 264-265 ,
809 1051041451453, 248-72,463-596,93+— 31, 833 31, 273 130, 859 73, 208 532, 982 Chict Development Officer 2022-2023 286-264 . 105 101
243-206-, 332-76-145- 153 , 373-562-218 72 , 948-463 590, 931 (1) All payments were originally made in NIS and were translated into USD using
the annual average USD / NIS exchange rate for each fiscal year. (2) Amounts in this column represent the grant date fair value of the option awards
as computed in accordance with ASC 718, not including any estimates of forfeitures related to service- based vesting conditions. See note +2-12B —B-
to our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 included elsewhere in this Annual Report for a discussion of
assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date fair value of our option awards for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and-2622-. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting cost for these stock options and do not reflect the actual
economic value that may be realized by the aer—employee direetors-upon the vesting of the stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the
sale of the Common Stock underlying such stock options. (3) Amounts in this column represent additional payments for welfare benefits, disability
insurance and other customary or mandatory social benefits to employees in Isracl. (4) Amounts in this column represent the fair value of
restricted stock units, or RSUs as of the date of grant thereof. The RSUs were fully vested upon grant and the underlying shares of common
stock were issued on the grant date and are not subject to continued service to the Company. The fair value of the stock awards’ grant is the
Company’ s stock closing price as of the grant date, which was $ 0. 99 per share. Narrative Disclosure to the Summary Compensation Table
Option Awards Prior to the Business Combination, option awards were granted to our named executive officers under the 2015 Plan. Option awards
granted to our named executive officers after the closing of the Business Combination are granted pursuant to the 2019 Plan. In each case, one fourth
of the options vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the grant date, and the remainder of the options vest and become exercisable in
12 equal quarterly instalments, subject to the named executive officer’ s continued employment; provided that the options will vest and become
exercisable in the event the named executive officer is terminated within the twelve (12) month period following the occurrence of a Change in
Control (as defined in the applicable grant agreement) as a result of an involuntary termination without Cause (as defined in the applicable grant
agreement) or a voluntary termination with Good Reason (as defined in the applicable grant agreement). Subject to the terms of any employment
agreement, the unexercised portion of these awards is generally forfeited by a participant on the date his or her employment is terminated other than
due to death or disability. In the event of death or disability, the options become fully exercisable and remain exercisable for a period specified in the
applicable award agreement. RSU Awards In September 2024, pursuant to our 2019 plan, we granted RSUs to four senior officers and one
service provider. The RSUs were fully vested and issued on the grant date and are not subject to continued service to the Company. Bonus
Awards We have an annual corporate and individual goal- setting and review process for our named executive officers that is the basis for the
determination of potential annual bonuses. Each of our named executive officers is eligible for annual performance- based bonuses of up to a specific
percentage of their salary, ranging from 40 % to 50 % subject to approval by the Board or the Compensation Committee. The performance- based
bonus is tied to a set of specified corporate and / or individual goals and objectives reviewed and approved by the Board, such as clinical and
development milestones, meeting budget and strategic goals, and we conduct an annual performance review to determine the attainment of such
goals and objectives. Our management may propose bonus awards to the Board primarily based on such review process. The Compensation
Committee makes the final determination of the achievement of both the specified corporate and strategic objectives and the eligibility requirements
for and the amount of such bonus awards and recommends a bonus award payout to the Board for approval. For fiscal year 2023-2024 , bonuses were

accrued following based-enadvaneing-ordevelopment-plans-the satisfaettor-completion of the March 2024 PIPE eertainproduet-eandidate
development-milestones-and-strategie-objeetives-. Employment Agreements Below are descriptions of our employment agreements with our named

executive officers. Pursuant to an employment agreement dated February 1, 2016, by and between BiomX Israel and Mr. Solomon, as the Chief
Executive Officer of BiomX Isracl, as amended, Mr. Solomon is entitled to a base salary of NIS 64-100 , 000, or approximately $ 49-27 , 566-304 ,
per month, and an additional gross payment of NIS +6-25 , 000, or approximately $ 4-6 , 986-759 , per month for up to 40 hours per month worked
outsrde of norrnal busmess hours and norrnal busrness days (together wrth the base salary, Mr. Solomon s Salary) —Sfaﬁmg—Apﬂ-l—l—}OQ%—Mﬁ

-$-6—9-44—per—meﬂt-h— BiomX lsrael also makes customary contrlbutrons on Mr Solomon S behalfto a pension fund or a managers insurance
company, at Mr. Solomon’ s election, in an amount equal to 8. 33 % of his Salary, allocated to a fund for severance pay, and an additional amount
equal to 5. 00 % of the Salary in case Mr. Solomon is insured through a managers insurance policy, or 6. 50 % of Mr. Solomon’ s Salary in case Mr.
Solomon is insured through a pension fund, which shall be allocated to a provident fund or pension plan. In case Mr. Solomon chooses to allocate his
pension payments to a managers insurance policy (and not a pension fund), the Company shall also insure him under a work disability insurance
policy at the rate required to insure 100 % of Mr. Solomon’ s Salary and for this purpose will contribute an amount of up to 2. 50 % of Mr. Solomon’
s Salary insured in such insurance policy for disability insurance in a policy and / or insurance company. These payments are intended to be in lieu of
statutory severance pay that Mr. Solomon would otherwise be entitled to receive from BiomX Israel in accordance with Severance Pay Law 5723-
1963, or the Severance Pay Law. BiomX Israel also contributes 7. 50 % of Mr. Solomon’ s monthly salary to a recognized educational fund. BiomX
Israel also reimburses Mr. Solomon for automobile maintenance and transportation expenses of NIS 2, 000, or $ 556-541 per month. Mr. Solomon is
also entitled to non- statutory 12 months severance {inetuding-seetal-benefits)y-, upon either (i) resignation with a good reason, or (ii) termination



without cause (as the terms good reason and cause would be defined by the parties, consistent with our past practice), provided that Mr. Solomon
waives all claims and continues to comply with the other terms of his employment agreement. On March 24, 2025, the Board approved a cash
bonus equal to three- months’ salary for Mr. Solomon on the account of existing personal non- statutory severance agreement. The cash
payment is expected to be paid during April 2025. Following the payment, Mr. Solomon’ s non- statutory severance will be reduced to nine
months. Marina Wolfson Pursuant to an employment agreement dated December 1, 2019, by and between BiomX Israel and Ms. Wolfson, as
amended, she serves as our Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Wolfson is entitled to a base salary of NIS 39-54 , 666-080 , or approximately $ +-14 , 466
620, per month, and an additional gross payment of NIS 13 , 466-520 , or approximately $ 2-3 , 436-655 , per month for up to 40 hours per month
w01ked 0u151de of n01mal busmess hours and normal busmess days (logether wnh the base salary, Ms. Wollson S Salary )—SEaft-mg—May—H’-O%@—

bchalf toa pumon fund ora managurs insurance company, at M@ Woltson s clutlon in an amount Lqual to 8.33 % of Ms. Wolfson s Salaly,
allocated to a fund for severance pay, and an additional amount equal to 5. 00 % of Ms. Wolfson’ s Salary in case Ms. Wolfson is insured through a
managers insurance policy, or 6. 50 % of Ms. Wolfson’ s Salary in case Ms. Wolfson is insured through a pension fund, which shall be allocated to a
provident fund or pension plan. In case Ms. Wolfson chooses to allocate her pension payments to a managers insurance policy (and not a pension
fund), the Company shall also insure her under a work disability insurance policy at the rate required to insure 75 % of Ms. Wolfson’ s Salary and for
this purpose will contribute an amount of up to 2. 50 % of Ms. Wolfson’ s Salary insured in such insurance policy for disability insurance in a policy
and / or insurance company. These payments are in lieu of statutory severance pay that Ms. Wolfson would otherwise be entitled to receive from
BiomX Israel in accordance with the Severance Law. BiomX Israel also contributes 7. 50 % of Ms. Wolfson’ s monthly Salary (not to exceed NIS
15, 712, or approximately $ 4, 364-248 ) to a recognized educational fund. The Company reimburses Ms. Wolfson for automobile maintenance and
tr cmsportatlon expenses of NIS 2, 500, or approximately $ €94-676 , per month. Ms. Wolfson is also entitled to non- statutory 9 months severance

, upon either (i) resignation with a good reason, or (ii) termination without cause (as the terms good reason and cause
would be defined by the parties, consistent with our past practice), provided that Ms. Wolfson waives all claims and continues to comply with the
other terms of his-her employment agreement . On March 24, 2025, the Board approved a cash bonus equal to three- months’ salary for Ms.
Wolfson on the account of existing personal non- statutory severance agreement. The cash payment is expected to be paid during April 2025.
Following the payment, Ms. Wolfson’ s non- statutory severance will be reduced to six months . Pursuant to an employment agreement dated
August 26, 2019, by and between BiomX Israel and Dr. Bassan, as the Chief Development Officer of BiomX Israel, as amended, Dr. Bassan is
entitled to a base salary of NIS 56-62 ,680-800 , or approximately § #4716 , 2368-978 , per month, and an additional gross payment of NIS +4-15 , 666
700, or approximately $ 4, 367244 , per month for up to 40 hourb per month worked Ol.ll.blde ol normal busmess hours and normal busmess dayb
(to&ether w1th the base salary, Dr Bassan s Salary ) —Starting ; € e

BlOll’]X lslael also makes customary
Lontrlbutmns on Dr. Bassan s behalf to a pension fund or a managcrs insurance company, at Dr. Bassan’ s (,l(,(,tl()l’l in an amount equal to 8. 33 % of
Dr. Bassan’ s Salary, allocated to a fund for severance pay, and an additional amount equal to 7. 30 % of Dr. Bassan’ s Salary in case Dr. Bassan is
insured through a managers insurance policy, or 6. 50 % of Dr. Bassan’ s Salary in case Dr. Bassan is insured through a pension fund, which shall be
allocated to a provident fund or pension plan. In case Dr. Bassan chooses to allocate her pension payments to a managers insurance policy (and not a
pension fund), the Company shall also insure her under a work disability insurance policy at the rate required to insure 75 % of Dr. Bassan’ s Salary
and for this purpose will contribute an amount of up to 2. 50 % of the Salary insured in such insurance policy for disability insurance in a policy and /
or insurance company. These payments are in lieu of statutory severance pay that Dr. Bassan would otherwise be entitled to receive from BiomX
Israel in accordance with the Severance Law. BiomX Israel also contributes 7. 50 % of Dr. Bassan’ s monthly Salary to a recognized educational
fund. The Company reimburses Dr. Bassan for automobile maintenance and transportation expenses of NIS 2, 500, or approximately $ 694-676 , per
month. Dr. Bassan is also entitled to non- statutory 9 months severance {inetading-seetal-benrefits)-, upon either (i) resignation with a good reason, or
(i1) termination without cause (as the terms good reason and cause would be defined by the parties, consistent with our past practice), provided that
Dr. Bassan waives all claims and continues to comply with the other terms of her employment agreement. On March 24, 2025, the Board of
Directors approved cash bonus equal to three- months’ salary for Dr. Bassan on the account of existing personal non- statutory severance
agreement. The cash payment is expected to be paid during April 2025. Following the payment, Dr. Bassan’ s non- statutory severance will
be reduced to six months. Outstanding Equity Awards at 2023-2024 Fiscal Year- End The following table provides information regarding equity
awards held by the named executive officers that were outstanding as of December 31, 2623-2024 : Option Awards Name Grant Date Number of
Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable (1) (#) Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Unexercisable (1) (#) Option
Exercise Price ($) Option Expiration Date Jonathan Solomon 11/ 13 /2016 +67 16 ,434-744 - -5 . 54-38 01 / 07 /2027 03 /26 /2017 <18,214-2 3
H82433-06- 2757503 /26 /2027 05 /22 /2018 €20, 172- 2 y2045-H8-06-. 27575 05 /21 /2028 03 /29 / 2019 €28, 471- 2 y284;-76+-0- 275
7503/29/202903/25/2020 €3 35, 527790- 2 3686~ 275 75 03 / 25 /2030 03 /30 / 2021 €3 ¥2F, 750 250 2 566125606~ 275 75 03 /
30/203103/29/2022 10 3)-64-, 663-82-067 4 , 366-6-576 2 . 275 75 03 /29 /2032 08 / 22 /2022 3+5 , 250-68-625 4 , 756-375 0. 66 08 / 22/
2032 03/01/2023 446-17 ,666-6-937 23,063 4 .00 03 /01 /2033 07 /11 / 2024- 380, 500 3. 63 07 / 11 / 2034 Dr. Merav Bassan 10/ 10/2019 €
19, 000- 2 3489,-9970- 27575 10/ 10 /2029 03 /30 /2021 1 38, 171 79 2 593-3;9676- 275-- 7503 /30 /2031 03 /29 /2022 4 33+, 256
469102 ,+79-6-2332 . 2757503 /29 /2032 08 /22 /2022 23-4 , 43854219 3 , 562-0-281 6 . 66-60 08 / 22 /2032 03 /01 / 2023 —100;-660-6—4 ,
3755, 625 4.0003/01/203307/11/2024- 95,000 3. 63 07 /11 /2034 Marina Wolfson 03 /25 /2020 948- 2 3)-8;882-592-6-. 275 7503 / 25 /
23003 /30/2021 820 55 36,0472 77330~ 27575 03 /30 /2031 03 /29 /2022 2 3)+5-, 62526-455 1 , ©96-6-117 2 . 275~ 75 03 /29 /2032 08
/22/2022 234 | 43854219 3 , 562-6-281 6 . 66-60 08 / 22 /2032 03 /01 /2023 —006;-600-06-4 ,3755,6254.00 03 /01 /2033 29/10/2023 159
,800-0-4954,4852 . 27575 10/29/2033 07 /11 /2024- 95, 000 3. 63 07 /11 /2034 (1) Unless otherwise indicated, options vest and become
exercisable as follows: 25 % of the options on the first anniversary of the *“ vesting commenuemenl date ” (as defined in the applicable notice of
0pt10n mant) and thereaftel in 12 equal quartelly 1nstallments of 6.25% each he-Board-of-Directorsa ved-a

Directors We maintain a non- meloyu dlrcctor compcnsatlon pollcy pur@uant to WlllCll Lach non- cmployu director receives an annual retainer of $
35, 000. In addition, our non- employee directors receive the following cash compensation for board services, as applicable: ® the chairman of the
Board receives an annual retainer of $ 100, 000 (inclusive of annual committee chairmanship and membership); ® each member of our Audit,
Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees, other than the chairperson, receives an additional annual retainer of $ 7, 500,



$ 5,000 and $ 4, 000, respectively; and e each chairperson of our Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees
receives an additional annual retainer of $ 15, 000, $ 10, 000 and $ 8, 000, respectively. We pay all amounts in quarterly installments. We also
reimburse each of our directors for their reasonable travel, lodging and other out- of- pocket expenses incurred relating to their attendance at Board
and committee meetings. Each non- employee director also receives an annual award of options to purchase our Common Stock. One- fourth of each
Annual Option Award vests on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and the remainder of the annual option award vests in 12 equal quarterly
installments, subject to such director’ s continued service on the Board. The Company’ s policy is to grant options based, among other things, on the
recommendations of a compensation consultant. In 2623-2024 , the Company granted 445-088-options to eaeh-directors according to the following
structure: 17, 600 options to continuing non- cmployce direetor-directors and-82-, 666-26, 400 options (150 % the mentioned grant) to newly
appointed non- employee directors, and 35, 200 options to the Chairman of the Board. The following table sets forth information concerning
compensation accrued or paid to our independent, non- employee directors during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 for their service on our
Board. Mr. Jonathan Solomon, a director who is also our employee, received no additional compensation for his service as a director and is not set
forth in the table below: Name Fees earned or paid in cash ($) Option Awards (2) (3) All other compensation Total ($) Dr. Russell Greig +66-101 ,
50061262 55 . 677330 - +6+-156 ., 592 Susan Blum 35, 164 22, 442- 577 57, 606 Michael Dambach (1) 27-8 , 757 265-2;449-- 20— 8 . 757 Jesse
Goodman 31, 072 22, 442- 53, 514 Jonathan Leff (5) 31, 869 22, 442- 654 54, 311 Jason Marks (1) 25-8 , 242 6052;449- 28— 8 , 654-242 Greg
Merril 31, 072 22, 442- 53, 514 Dr. Alan Moses 4745 . 566-33-824 29 , 873-214 - $+75 , 038 43-3—Edwafd—L—Wr1+xams—7—764—l—98§—8—7-89-Lynne
Sullivan (1) (4) 54;-660-36;-538-84-538262 57413+ 13 , 627 12 4714394, 645-702- 26, 329 Edward Williams 40, 975 19, 856- 60, 831 347,
864 206, 870- 554, 734 (1) Effective as of March 15, 2024, the director resigned and no longer serves on the Board . (2) Amounts in this column
represent the grant date fair value of the option awards as computed in accordance with ASC 718, not including any estimates of forfeitures related to
service- based vesting conditions. See note 42-12B —B-. of the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in eur-this Annual
Report enFermt0-—Kfor-the-yearended Deeember3+2023-for a discussion of assumptions made by the Company in determining the grant date
fair value of our option awards for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022-and-2023 and 2024 . Note that the amounts reported in this column
reflect the accounting cost for these stock options and do not reflect the actual economic value that may be realized by the non- employee directors
upon the vesting of the stock options, the exercise of the stock options, or the sale of the Common Stock underlying such stock options. (3) As of
December 31, 2023-2024 , we had outstanding grants to our non- executive directors aggregating 493-207 , $80-910 options of which 434-19 , 675
708 were exercisable or vested, as the case may be, as follows: Name Total of options granted Total of options exercisable and vested Russell Greig
+85-53, 740 12, 456 Susan Blum 26 , 400 68;839-Michael-Dambach-41-666- Jason-Marks4+-Jesse Goodman 26 , 666-400- Jonathan Leff 26,
400- Gregory Merril 26, 400 - Dr. Alan Moses 92-26, 870 6, 227 Edward Williams 21 , 700 1, 025 Total 207, 910 19, 708 (4) Includes $ 2, 500
paid to Ms. Sullivan in consulting fees following her resignation as a director of the Company (5) Cash amounts owed to Mr. Leff for his
service as a director were paid to Deerfield Management Company LP. The Company’ s Policies and Practices Related to the Grant of
Certain Equity Awards Close in Time to the Release of Material Nonpublic Information We do not have any formal policy that requires the
Company to grant, or avoid granting, equity- based compensation at certain times. We do not grant equity awards in anticipation of the
release of material nonpublic information that is likely to result in changes to the price of our common stock, and do not time the public
release of such information based on award grant dates. The timing of any equity grants to executive officers or directors in connection with
new hires, promotions, or other non- routine grants is tied to the event giving rise to the award (such as an executive officer’ s
commencement of employment or promotion effective date). During the year ended December 3 1, 2024 41-8EdwardE—Withams<4+-, 660
there were no equity grants made to our executive officers during any period beginning four business days before the filing of a periodic
report or current report disclosing material non - Eynne-Sulhivan92,700-34-48Fotal-493;,-866134;-675-public information and ending one
business day after the filing or furnishing of such report with the Securities and Exchange Commission. [TEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP
OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS Securities Authorized for
Issuance Under Equity Compensation PlansWe—- Plans We have two equity incentive plans, the 2015 Plan, and the 2019 Plan. Although no shares
of our Common Stock are available for future issuance under the 2015 Plan, the 2015 Plan will continue to govern outstanding awards granted
thereunder. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , options to purchase 2-204 , 974 655;-836-shares of our Common Stock remained outstanding under the
2015 Plan. The 2019 Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by our stockholders in connection with the Business Combination. As
of December 31, 2023-2024 , there were +5 , 64H-818 , +84-677 shares of our Common Stock available for issuance under the 2019 Plan. The
aggregate number of shares of our Common Stock available for issuance pursuant to the 2019 Plan automatically increases on January 1 of each year,
for a period of not more than ten years, commencing on January 1, 2020 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2029, in an amount equal to 4 %
of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year. Accordingly, on January 1, 2024-2025 ,
+727 , 066 839;+9Fadditional shares of our Common Stock were made available for issuance pursuant to the 2019 Plan. For additional information
regarding the 2015 Plan and the 2019 Plan, as of December 31, 2023-2024 , please sce Part II — Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplemental Data
— Notes to consolidated financial statements — note 12B — Stock- Based Compensation. Equity Compensation Plan Information December 31, 2023
2024 Plan category Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options and restricted stock (a) Weighted- average exercise price
of outstanding options and restricted stock (b) Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (c) Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 3;224;-8H-6-68-1, 8644797 , 164-391 4.
20 5, 818, 677 Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 204, 974 3. 18- Total 2, 655-002 , 846-0-365 4 . 09 32—Tetal-5, 286-818 ,
677 H10-541-611-1+64-Sccurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management The following table sets forth information regarding
the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock as of March 2820 , 2024-2025 (except as otherwise indicated) based on information obtained from
the persons named below, with respect to the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock, by (i) each person known by us to be the beneficial owner
of more than 5 % of our outstanding Common Stock; (ii) each of our named executive officers and directors; and (iii) all our executive officers and
directors as a group. Information with respect to beneficial ownership is based on information furnished to us by each director, executive officer or
stockholder who holds more than 5 % of our outstanding Common Stock, and Schedules 13G or 13D filed with the SEC, as the case may be, and
includes shares of our Common Stock which each beneficial owner has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 28-17 , 2024-2025 . Unless
otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all Common Stock
beneficially owned by them. We have based our calculation of beneficial ownership on $5-24 , 226-966 , 877053 shares of our Common Stock
()utsmndmg3 as of Mardl 2—8—20 %99_’-4-2025 Name and Address ot BLanllel Ov\ ner (l) Amount dnd thum of Beneficial Ownership Percent of
Class v 3 d i tifd ystic Fibrosis Foundation (
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Hedlthc.cue lnnovcmons Fund ll L P. ( 4) 2,632,517 9 99 % OrblMed Israel GP Ltd. (5) 1 3-45—Paﬂh°rveﬂue—80ut-h- 847-1%t-h—F-}eﬁﬁ 565 7 New
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, 590, 738 6. 37 % Dlrectors ‘md Named ercutl\ e ()fﬁcers Jonathan Solomon (9-8 )-1—184 054 & -1-6-7—996—2—1—%-1\/["1111131 Woltson (-1-9-9 )9-8-
17 ,2—7—2—087 Dr. Merav Bassan (+H-10 ) 202-67 , 966-043 * Susan Blum — — Dr. Jesse Goodman — — Dr. Russell Greig (+2-11 ) +62-14 , 365



071 * BrJesse-Goedman—/Jonathan Leff — Gregory Merril =——— Dr. Alan Moses ( 12) 7, 582 * Edward Williams ( 13) 54-1 , 656-537 *
Edward E—Williams—All directors and executive officers as a group (410 persons) 2-291 . 374 1 8276333 717 % * Less than | %. (1) Unless
otherwise indicated, the business address of each of the individuals is ¢ / 0 BiomX Inc., 22 Einstein St., 4th Floor, Ness Ziona 7414003, Israel. (2)
Fhis-Based on certain information made available to the Company and on the Schedule 13G / A filed with the SEC on March 4, 2025.
Represents 2, 494, 109 shares of Common Stock and excludes (i) 1, 308, 800 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of 13, 088
shares of Series X Preferred Stock (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation), (ii) 1, 081, 750 shares of Common Stock issuable
upon exercise of the Private Placement Common Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation), (iii) 1, 174, 859 shares of
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of New Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership blocker). (iv) 375, 399 shares of Common
Stock issuable upon exercise of Amended and Restated warrants (subject to a beneficial ownership blocker, (v) 583, 237 shares of Common
Stock issuable upon exercise of Private Placement Pre- Funded Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation) and (vi) 591,
622 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Registered Pre- Funded Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership
limitation). Such Private Placement Common Warrants, New Warrants and Private Placement Pre- Funded Warrants will only be
exercisable following stockholder approval. The address of Cystic Fibrosis Foundation is 4550 Montgomery Ave. Suite 1100N Bethesda .
together-MD 20814. (3) Based on certain information made available to the Company and on the Schedule 13G filed jointly with the SEC on
November 13, 2024, by Nantahala Capital Management, LLC, or Nantahala, Wilmot B. Harkey and Daniel Mack. Represents 2, 494, 109
shares of Common Stock. Excludes (i) 865, 300 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of New Warrants (subject to a beneficial
ownership limitation of 9. 99 %), (ii) 424, 191 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Private Placement Common Warrants
(subject to a beneficial ownership limitation of 9. 99 %), (iii) 101, 791 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Amended and
Restated Warrants (subject to beneficial ownership limitations), (iv) 210, 582 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Private
Placement Pre- Funded Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation), and (v) 213, 609 shares of Common Stock issuable
upon exercise of Registered Pre- Funded Warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation). Such Private Placement Common
Warrants, New Warrants and Private Placement Pre- Funded Warrants will only be exercisable following stockholder approval. As the
managing members of Nantahala, each of Messrs. Harkey and Mack may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the securities reported
herein held by Nantahala. Nantahala, Mr. Harkey and Mr. Mack have shared dispositive power and voting power over the securities
reported herein. The address of Nantahala. Nantahala, Mr. Harkey and Mr. Mack its— is affilates-130 Main St, New Canaan, Connecticut
06840. (4) Based on certain information made available to the Company and on the Schedule 13D / A filed jointly with the SEC on March 3,
2025, by (i) Deerfield Private Design Fund V, L. P., or Deerfield Private Design V, (ii) Deerfield Mgmt V, L. P., or Deerfield Mgmt V, (iii)
Deerfield Healthcare Innovations Fund II, L. P., or Deerfield HIF II, (iv) Deerfield Mgmt HIF II, L. P., or Deerfield Mgmt HIF II, (v)
Deerfield Management Company, L. P., or Deerfield Management, and (vi) James E. Flynn, or collectively, Deerfield. Represents (i) 1, 247,
054 shares of common stock held directly by Deerfield Private Design V and Deerfield HIF II, or collectively, the Funds, and (ii) and- an any
aggregate of 1, 385, 463 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of shares of Series X Preferred Stock (subject to a 9. 99 %
beneficial ownership limitation) held directly by ether-- the persens-aeting-Funds, and shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of
certain warrants (subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation) that were exercisable as of March 20, 2025, or will become exercisable
within 60 days thereafter, held by the Funds. Excludes an aggregate of 5, 146, 706 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of
Series X Preferred Stock (subject to a group-together9. 99 % beneficial ownership limitation), and Common Stock issuable upon exercise of
certain warrants. Some of such warrants will only be exercisable following stockholder approval or are subject to a 9. 99 % beneficial
ownership limitation. Mr. Flynn is the managing member of the general partner of each of Deerfield Mgmt V and Deerfield Mgmt HIF II
and Deerfield Management. Deerfield Mgmt V is the general partner of Deerfield Private Design Fund V, L. P. Deerfield Mgmt HIF II is the
general partner of Deerfield Healthcare Innovations Fund II, L. P. and Deerfield Management is the investment manager of each Fund. As a
result, Deerfield Management and Mr. Flynn have shared voting power and shared dispositive power over the securities held by the Funds,
Deerfield Mgmt V has shared voting power and shared dispositive power over the securities held by Deerfield Private Design V and
Deerfield Mgmt HIF II shared voting power and shared dispositive power over the securities held by Deerfield HIF II. The address for
Deerfield is 345 Park Avenue South, 12th Floor, New York, New York 10010. (5) Based on certain information made available to the
Company and on the Schedule 13G / A filed jointly with the SEC on July 17 helderorany-ofthe-holder s-affiliated-, fnewl-ud-mg—2024 by
OrbiMed Israel BioFund GP Limited Partnership, or OrbiMed BioFund, OrbiMed Israel GP Ltd., or OrbiMed Israel, Carl L. Gordon and Erez
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thereafter. OrblMed BloFund 1s the general partner of OIP and OrblMed Israel is the general partner of OrblMed BioFund. OrblMed
Israel exercises investment power over the securities held by OrbiMed BioFund through an investment committee comprised of Mr. Gordon
and Mr. Chimovits. As a result, OrbiMed Israel, OrbiMed BioFund, Mr. Gordon, and Mr. Chimovits have shared voting power and shared
dispositive power over the securities reported herein held by OIP. OrbiMed Israel, OrbiMed BioFund, Mr. Gordon, and Mr. Chimovits may
be deemed directly or indirectly, including by reason of their mutual affiliation, to be the beneficial owners of the securities held by OIP. The
address of OrbiMed BioFund, OrbiMed Israel and Mr. Chimovits is 89 Medinat Hayehudim St. Building E Herzliya 4614001 Israel. The
address of Mr. Gordon is 601 Lexington Avenue, 54th Floor, New York, New York 10022. (6) Based on certain information made available
to the Company. Represents 1, 590, 738 shares of Common Stock held by Alyeska Master Fund, or Alyeska, and excludes an aggregate of
725, 338 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of certain warrants (subject to a beneficial ownership limitation), as such warrants
will only be exercisable following stockholder approval. The address of Alyeska is 77 W. Wacker, Suite 700, Chicago, IL 60601. (7) Based on
certain information made available to the Company. Represents 1, 590, 738 shares of Common Stock held by AIGH Investment Partners,
LP, or AIGH, and excludes an aggregate of 725, 338 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of certain warrants (subject to a
beneficial ownership limitation), as such warrants will only be exercisable following stockholder approval. The address of AIGH is 6006
Berkeley Avenue, Baltimore, MD 21209. (8) Represents (i) 53, 056 shares of Common Stock, (ii) 1, 875 shares of Common Stock issuable
upon exercise of certain warrants and (iii) certain options to purchase 129, 123 shares of Common Stock that were vested as of March 20,
2025, or will vest within 60 days thereafter. (9) Represents (i) 375 shares of Common Stock, (ii) 28-281 shares of Common Stock issuable
upon exercise of certain warrants and (iii) certain options to purchase 16 . 431 shares of Common Stock that were vested as of March 20,
2024-2025 , Date or will vest within 60 days thereafter . (10) Censists-ef3-Represents (i) 31 , 756-749 sharcs of Common Stock and 5-3;756
arrants| eﬁ&&mg—ﬂ&&hel&eﬂl) certain options to purchase 35 aequire-up-to2-, $13-294 shares of Common Stock };-847242-eptiens-that are
exeretsable-and-7were vested as of March 20 , 2025, or 467additional-eptionsthat-will vest beeeme-exeretsable-within 60 days thereafter of
Mareh28;2024- (1 1) Consists-Represents (i) 375 shares of 282-Common Stock . 966-(ii) 281 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise
of certain warrants and (iii) certain options to purchase 13, 415 shares of Common Stock that are-exereisable-and-9-were vested as of March 20
, 2025, or 934-additienal-options-that-will vest beeome-exereisable-within 60 days thereafter ef-Mareh28;2024- (12) Censists-of3;750-Represents
(1) 500 shares of Common Stock, 3:-756-warrants( ii) 375 entitling-the-holderto-aequire-upto2,-8+3-shares of Common Stock issuable upon
exercise of certain warrants and (iii ) certain ;-94;339-options to purchase 6, 707 shares of Common Stock that are-exereisable-and-4-were
vested as of March 20 , 2025, or 463-additional-options-that-will vest beeome-exereisable-within 60 days thereafter ef Mareh28;2624-. (13)
Consists-of5-Represents certain options to purchase 1 , 800-537 shares of Common Stock ;-5;-000-warrants{entithing-the-holderto-aequire-upto3;
F50-shares-of Commen-Steel;42-668-eptions-that &fe—e*erets-&b-}e-aﬂd%-were vested as of March 20 , 2025, or 232-additional-eptions-that-will
vest beeome-exereisable-within 60 days thereafter efMareh28;2624- ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE Director Independence The NYSE American requires that a majority of the Board be
composed of “ independent directors, ” which is defined generally as a person other than an officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries or
any other individual having a relationship that, as determined by the Board, would interfere with the exercise of his or her objective judgment and
will meet the required standards for independence, as established by the applicable rules and regulations of the NYSE American and the SEC. Dr.
Russell Greig, Dr. Alan Moses, Mr. Edward £=Williams, Mr. Jonathan Leff, Dr. Jesse Goodman ard-, Mr. Gregory Merril and Ms. Blum are our
independent directors. At least annually, the Board evaluates all relationships between us and each director considering relevant facts and
circumstances for the purposes of determining whether a material relationship exists that might signal a potential conflict of interest or otherwise
interfere with such director’ s ability to satisfy his or her responsibilities as an independent director. Based on this evaluation, our Board will make an
annual determination of whether each director is independent within the meaning of NYSE American and the SEC independence standards. Policies
and Procedures Regarding Transactions with Related Parties Our Related- Person Transactions Policy requires us to avoid, wherever possible, all
related party transactions that could result in actual or polemhl conflicts of interests, excepl under guidelines approved by the Board (or the Audit
Committee). For as long as the Company qualifies as a *“ smaller reporting company ” as defined under Rule 12b- 2 under the Exchange Act, a
related- person transaction is defined under our Related- Person Transactions Policy as a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of
similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which we and any Related Person (as defined in the policy) are, were or will be participants in
which the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $ 120, 000 or one percent of the average of the Company’ s total assets at year- end for the last two
completed fiscal years, and in which any Related Person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. If the Company ceases to be a smaller
reporting company, a related- person transaction will be defined as a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of similar transactions,
arrangements or relationships) in which the Company and any Related Person are, were or will be participants in which the amount involved exceeds
$ 120, 000, and in which any Related Person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Transactions involving compensation for services
provided to us as an employee, consultant or director are not considered related- person transactions under this policy. In the event that the Company
proposes to enter into, or materially amend, a related- person transaction, management of the Company shall present such related- person transaction
to the Audit Committee for review, consideration and approval or ratification. The presentation must include, to the extent reasonably available, a
description of (a) all of the parties thereto, (b) the interests, direct or indirect, of any Related Person (s) in the transaction in sufficient detail so as to
enable the Audit Committee to fully assess such interests, (¢) the purpose of the transaction, (d) all of the material facts of the proposed related-
person transaction, including the proposed aggregate value of such transaction, or, in the case of indebtedness, the amount of principal that would be
involved, (e) the benefits to the Company of the proposed related- person transaction, (f) if applicable, the availability of other sources of
comparable products or services, (g) an assessment of whether the proposed related- person transaction is on terms that are comparable to the terms
available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties that would have been negotiated at arm’ s length, and (h) management’ s
recommendation with respect to the proposed related- person transaction knowing that there is a potential or actual conflict that will arise of the
matter proceeds to fruition. In the event the Audit Committee is asked to consider whether to ratify an ongoing related- person transaction, in addition
to the information identified above, the presentation must include (i) a description of the extent of work performed and remaining to be performed in
connection with the transaction, (ii) an assessment of the potential risks and costs of termination of the transaction, and (iii) where appropriate, the
possibility of modification of the transaction. The Committee, in approving or rejecting the proposed related- person transaction, will consider all the



relevant facts and circumstances deemed relevant by and available to the Committee, including but not limited to (a) the risks, costs and benefits to
the Company, (b) the impact on a director’ s independence in the event the Related Person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an
entity with which a director is affiliated, (c) the terms and timing of the transaction, (d) the availability of other sources of comparable services or
products, (e) the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties, and (f) how the related- person transaction was realized and
communicated to the Audit Committee as required under the Related- Person Transactions Policy. The Audit Committee will approve only those
related- person transactions that, in light of known circumstances, are in, or are not inconsistent with, the best interests of the Company and its
stockholders, as the Audit Committee determines in the good faith exercise of its discretion. Other than compensation, termination, change in control
and other arrangements, which are described in Item 11 — Executive Compensation and Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
"md M"magement and Rehted Stockholder Matters, our only rehted person transactions smce J"mualy 1 292—3—2024 COﬂSlsted of(l Ja-Seeunrities

March 6 2024 w1th certain mvest01s mcludm<7 CFF, Orblmed and Telmma lelted or Telmma—etﬁ"—sfeeldae-}éefs— e”tch ot which hold more than 5
% of our outstanding Common Stock, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of 216, 417 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock and Private
Placement Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 108, 208, 500 shares of Common Stock, at a combined purchase price of $ 231. 10 per share of
Series X Preferred Stock and accompanying Private Placcmcnt Wan ant. The dggjr%atc gross pmcuds from this ()ffcrmg were dppr()xmmtcly $50
million. Thu Prlvatu Placement Warrants ey at-an W h e-COmE ted-a

W ha\e an exercise price 01 $0.2311 and expire on July
rrth-anm h hteh-th b The exercise price of the Private Placement Warrants is subject to
customary adjustments for stock d1v1dLnds stock spllts rL(,ldSSlfl(.dtl()nS and the like. Of these proceeds, an aggregate of 21, 635 shares of
Convertible Preferred Stock and 10, 817, 500 Private Placement Warrants were sold to CFF for gross proceeds of $ 5 million, an aggregate of 4, 327
shares of Convertible Preferred Stock and 2, 163, 500 Private Placement Warrants were sold to Orbimed for gross proceeds of $ 1 million and an
aggregate of 2, 596 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock and 1, 298, 000 Private Placement Warrants were sold to Telmina for gross proceeds of $
0. 6 million and (ii)) the February 2025 SPA and the Inducement Letter Agreements and other agreements related to the February 2025
Financing (as described more fully in Item 5 “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations —
Liquidity and Capital Resources ) with certain investors, including Deerfield, CFF, Nantahala Capital Management, LLC, or Nantahala,
and AIGH Investment Partners, LP, or AIGH, each of which holds more than 5 % of our outstanding Common Stock. Of the proceeds from
the February 2025 Financing, total gross proceeds from (a) the CFF were $ 2. 1 million for an aggregate of 2, 256, 609 shares of Common
Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Warrants, 375, 399 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Amended and Restated
Warrants, and 1, 174, 859 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded Warrants; (b) Deerfield were $ 3 million for an
aggregate of 3, 223, 728 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Warrants; (c) Nantahala were $ 1. 2 million for an
aggregate of 763, 509 shares of Common Stock, 1, 289, 491 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Warrants, 101, 791
shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Amended and Restated Warrants and 213, 609 shares of Common Stock issuable upon
exercise of Pre- Funded Warrants; and (d) AIGH were approximately $ 0. 7 million for an aggregate of 432, 700 shares of Common Stock
and 725, 338 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the New Warrants . [TEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND
SERVICES The following is a summary and description of fees billed by us to Kesselman & Kesselman, Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 26222023 . Fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 Fiscal year ended December
31,2022-2023 Audit fees (1) $426-190 , 000 $ 126, 000 Audit- related fees (2) $ 158, 462 $ 97, 000 $24;-969-Tax fees (3) $ 7,190 $ 3, 393 $—All
other fees $—$— Total fees $ 355, 652 $ 226, 393 $+56;969-(1) Audit Fees include fees for professional services rendered for the quarterly reviews
of the interim consolidated financial statements and the annual audit of our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form
10- K. (2) Audit- Related Fees include fees for services that were reasonably related to the performance of the audit of the annual consolidated
financial statements for the fiscal year, other than Audit Fees, such as for services in connection with the Acquisition, Sale Agreement, eurFebruary
2023-PHPE-and a registration statement filed for the re- sale of certain shares of Common Stock by selling stockholders following our March 2024
PIPE and February 2023 PIPE . (3) Tax Fees include fees for tax compliance and tax advice. Pre- Approval Policies and Procedures The Audit
Committee approves all audit and pre- approves all non- audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm before it is
engaged by us to render non- audit services. These services may include audit- related services, tax services and other services. The pre- approval
requirement set forth above does not apply with respect to non- audit services if: @ all such services do not, in the aggregate, amount to more than 5 %
of the total fees paid by us to our independent registered public accounting firm during the fiscal year in which the services are provided; e such
services were not recognized as non- audit services at the time of the relevant engagement; and e such services are promptly brought to the attention
of and approved by the Audit Committee (or its delegate) prior to the completion of the annual audit. part IV ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) The following are filed with this Annual Report: (1) The financial statements listed on the Financial
Statements’ (2) Not applicable (b) ExhibitsThe following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report or are incorporated by reference. EXHIBIT
INDEX Exhibit Description 2. 1 * Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated March 6, 2024, by and among BiomX Inc., BTX Merger Sub I, Inc., BTX
Merger Sub II, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by the Company on March 6, 2024) 3. 1 Composite Copy of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, effective on
December 11, 2018, as amended to date «Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by the
Company on November 9-14 , 2022-2024 ) 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, effective as of October 28, 2019 , as amended to
date (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 3-1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on Nevember+April 15,
20492024 ) 3. 3 Form of Certificate of Designation of Series X Preferred Stock (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on March 6, 2024) 4. 1 * * * Description of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 4. 2 Specimen Hait-Common Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 42 to the Company’ s
Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed by the Company on December 4, 2018) 4. 3 Form of Warrant Speeimen-Commen-StoelCertifteate
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on July 26,2021) 4.4 Form of
Pre- Funded Warrant —(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February
27,2023) 4. 8-5 Form of Merger Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the
Company on March 6,2024) 4. 9-6 Form of Private Placement Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2-te-the-Company—s-CurrentRepert




5 —2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on March 6,
2024) 4. 7 Form of Placement Agent Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed by the Company on March 6, 2024) 4. 8 Form of Amended and Restated Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 5 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 4. 9 Form of Pre- Funded Warrant (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 4. 10 Form of Private
Pre- Funded Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on
February 27, 2025) 4. 11 Form of Common Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form
8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 4. 12 Form of New Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 4 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 10. 1 * * Amended and Restated Chardan Healthcare
Acquisition Corp. Long- Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed by the Company on July 9, 2024) 10. 2 Registration Rights Agreement dated October 28, 2019 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on November 1, 2019) 10. 3 * * Form of Indemnification
Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by the Company on May
20, 2024) 10. 4 * Research and License Agreement, dated June 22, 2015, between BiomX Ltd. and Yeda Research and Development
Company Limited, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. S to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the
Company on November 1, 2019) 10. S * * 2015 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 1 to the
Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- +8 filed by the Company on January 2, 2020) 10. 6 Registration Rights Agreement, dated
December 413 , 2018 34-, among the Company and the initial stockholders and Chardan Capltal Markets, LLC 4—Spee1-meﬂ—Waﬁaﬂt
Geft-rﬁea’éeh(lmomomled b\ reference to F\hlbll 10. 4 - b

Funded Wdlranl ....... 18, 2018) 10. 10 * * Form of Non— Quall 1cd Stock Opllon Agrccmcnl (L S. Aw dld\ to N()n E\LLllll\ Ls) (Inunpoml;d by
reference to Exhibit 10. 19 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on March 26, 2020) 10. +-8 * * Form of Non-
Qualified Stock Option Agreement (U. S. Awards to Executive Officers) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 20 to the Company’ s Annual
Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on March 26, 2020) 10. +2-9 * * Form of Option Agreement (Israeli Awards) (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 21 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on March 26, 2020) 10. 43-10 * * Form of
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Company’ s 2019 Omnibus Long- Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by the Company on November 14, 2024) 10. 11 * An addendum to a lease
agreement dated from May 25, 2017, dated September 7, 2020 by and among AFI Assets Ltd., AF — SHAR Ltd., WIS and BiomX Ltd. (translated
from Hebrew) ( lnwlpomted by reference to Exhibit 10. 14 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on March 31,
2021) 10. 4412 * Lease agreement dated September 7, 2020 by and among AFI Assets Ltd., AF — SHAR Ltd., WIS, Nova Measuring Systems Ltd.
and BiomX Ltd. (translated from Hebrew) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 15 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the
Company on March 31,2021) 10. $5-Open-13 At the Market Sale-Offering AgreementSM-- Agreement , dated December 4-7 , 26020-2023 |
between the Company and Jeffertes-H. C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1. 2 of the Company’ s Registration
Statement on Form S- 3 filed by the Company on December 4-7 , 2626-2023 ) —10. +#+14 * * Employment Agreement, dated Feb] uary 1, 2016,
between BiomX Ltd. (formerly MBcure Ltd.) and Jonathan Solomon (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Amended Annual
Report on Form 10- K / A filed by the Company on May 2, 2022) 10. +8-15 * * Employment Agreement, dated August 26, 2019, between BiomX
Ltd. and Merav Bassan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Amended Annual Report on Form 10- K / A filed by the
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-1-9—22—“—*— l"\du%l\e l icense between A(lﬂ})ll\e Phage Thelapeullu Im and Umled Slales of America, as repr e\emed b\ the Seuelan ol the
Navy, dated March 16, 2017 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 23-%-22 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the
Company on April 4 , #%-2024) 10. 18 * First Amendment, dated January 10, 2019, to Exclusive License between Adaptive Phage Therapeutics,
Inc. and United States of America, as represented by the Secretary of the Navy (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2423 to the
Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4 , #%2024) 10. 19 * Non- Exclusive License Agreement by and
between Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. and Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, dated August 24, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 25-%%-%-24 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 20 License Modification
1, dated August 31, 2022, to Non- Exclusive License Agreement by and between Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. and Walter Reed Army Institute
of Research (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 26-25 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April
4, 2024) 10. 21 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2024, by and among BiomX Inc. and each purchaser identified on Annex A
thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on March 6, 2024) 10. 2%
22 Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 6, 2024, by and among the Company and certain purchasers (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on March 6, 2024) 10. 23 * Lease Agreement,
dated as of August 9, 2019, by and between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 28 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 24 * Amendment
No. 1, dated as of October 28, 2020, to Lease Agreement by and between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage
Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 29 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on
April 4, 2024) 10. 25 * Amendment No. 2, dated as of July 8, 2021, to Lease Agreement by and between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and
Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 30 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by
the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 26 * Amendment No. 3, dated as of July 15, 2021, to Lease Agreement by and between ARE- 708 Quince
Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 31 to the Company’ s Annual Report on
Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 27 * Amendment No. 4, dated as of September 27, 2022, to Lease Agreement by and
between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 32 to the
Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 28 * Amendment No. S , dated as of February 2, 2023,
to Lease Agreement by and between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 33 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 29 * Amendment No. 6, dated as
of March 5, 2024, to Lease Agreement by and between ARE- 708 Quince Orchard, LLC and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 34 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 10. 30
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement dated February 25, 2025, between BiomX Inc. and the purchasers party thereto (Incorporated by



reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 10. 31 Form of
Registration Rights Agreement dated February 25, 2025, between BiomX Inc. and the purchasers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 10. 32 Warrant Exercise and Reload
Agreement dated February 25, 2025, between BiomX Inc. and the holders (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 10. 33 Placement Agency Agreement dated February 25, 2025,
between BiomX Inc. and Laidlaw and Company (UK) Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Current Report
on Form 8- K filed by the Company on February 27, 2025) 10. 34 * * * LeasesMTEC Base Agrecement No. 2019- 532 , dated as of August 922,
2019, by and between ARE-708-Quinee-Orehard, -EC-Advanced Technology International (MTEC Consortium Manager) and Adaptive Phage
Therapeutlcs Inc. -1-(9—2-9i %eﬂdmeﬁt—and the followmg modlﬁcatlons thereof (1) Modlficatlon No. 1 dated as of September Oetober

‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ No dated as of J-u-l-y—lé—September 27 2021 5 (iv)

Amendment-No. 4, dated as of September 2—7’—8 2022 (v) Modlficatlon o-fed v
Ad&ptwe—PhﬁgeiPhefape&Hes—hre—}Q%%wmeﬂdmeﬁt—No 5, dated as of Febfuafy—E—December 16 %92—3—2022 (v1) Modlﬁcatlon —te—l:ease
nent-by-a veen 2 e Ada —16- No. 6, dated as of
-Mafehé—December 19 2023 (v11) Modlﬁcatlon No 7 dated as 0f January 16 2024 3 ,—te—I:ease—Agreemeﬂt—by—and (vm) Modification No
b e A re-. 248, dated as of September 11,2024 19 . | * * * BiomX Inc.
Ins1der Tradmg Pohcy 21. 1 Submdnues of Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21. 1 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form
10- K filed by the Company on April 4, 2024) 23. | * * * Consent of Kesselman & Kesselman, Certified Public Accountants (Isr.), a member firm
of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited 31. 1 * * * Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 and Rule 15d- 14 (a).
31. 2 * * * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 and Rule 15d- 14 (a). 32. 1 * * * * Certification of Chief Executive
Officer and Chlef Fmanual Ottleer pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350. 97. 1 2% Clawback Policy 99-(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97
sotution A anee-to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the Company on
Aprll 4, 2024) l()l ]NS lnlme XBRL lnstance Document 101. SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 101. CAL Inline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 101. DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 101. LAB Inline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 101. PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document Cover Page
Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) * Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Rule 601 (b)
(10) of Regulation S- K. The omitted information is not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the Company if publicly disclosed. * *
Indicates a management contract or a compensatory plan or agreement. * * * Filed herewith. * * * * Furnished herewith. Item 16. Form 10- K
Summary SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this Annual Report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. BIOMX INC. Dated: Aprit-3-March 25 , 2024-2025 By: / s / Jonathan
Solomon Name: Jonathan Solomon Title: Chief Executive OfficerPursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report
has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Signature Title Date /s /
Jonathan Solomon Chief Executive Officer Aprit3-March 25 | 2624-2025 Jonathan Solomon (Principal Executive Officer) and Director / s / Marina
Wolfson Avraham-GabayIaterim-Chicf Financial Officer Apr-3-March 25 | 2024-2025 Avrahanm-Gabay-Marina Wolfson (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) /s / Russell Greig Chairman of the Board of Directors Apri+-3-March 25 , 2624-2025 Dr. Russell Greig /s
/ Susan Blum Director March 25, 2025 Susan Bloom / s / Jesse Goodman Director Apei-3-March 25 | 2024-2025 Dr. Jesse Goodman / s / Jonathan
Leff Director ApeH-3-March 25 | 2024-2025 Jonathan Leff /s / Gregory Merril Director Aps-3-March 25 | 2024-2025 Gregory Merril / s/ Alan
Moses Director Ape3-March 25 | 2024-2025 Dr. Alan Moses / s / Eddie-Edward Williams Director Apst3-March 25 | 2624-2025 Eddie-Edward
Williams BIOMX INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2623-2024 CONTENTS Page REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (PCAOB name: Kesselman & Kesselman C. P. A. s, PCAOB ID: 1309) F-2
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: Consolidated Balance Sheets F-3-4 - F- 4-5 Consolidated Statements of Operations F- 5-6
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders” Equity F- 6-7 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F- 78 - F- 89 Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements F- 9-10 - F- 34-40 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm To the Board of Directors and stockholders of
BiomX Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BiomX Inc. and its subsidiaries
(the *“ Company ) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , and-2622-and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders'
equity and cash flows for eaelrefthe twe-ycars inthe-then perted-ended December 31, 2023-2024 |, including the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “ consolidated financial statements ”’). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , and-2622-and the results of its operations and its cash flows for eaeh-efthe
two-years rthe-then perted-ended December 31, 2623-2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Substantial Doubt about the Company’ s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1C to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company has incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations, incurred an accumulated deficit, and has stated that these events or
conditions raise substantial doubt on the Company’ s ability to continue as a going concern. Management' s plans in regard to these matters are also
described in Note 1C. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’ s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted
our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit-audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company' s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matters The €ritieal-critical audit matters— matter are-communicated below is a matters— matter
arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that sere-was communicated or required to be communicated to the
audit committee and that (i) relate-relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of We-determined-there-arenro-critical audit matters does not alter




in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit
matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. Intangible asset
initial valuation and impairment assessment As described in Notes 1D and 2R to the consolidated financial statements, as part of a business
combination, on March 15, 2024 the Company recognized an intangible asset consisting of in- process research and development (" IPR &
D") valued at § 15. 3 million. As of December 31, 2024, the IPR & D balance was $ 12 million. Management conducts an impairment test at
least annually, on the last day of the third quarter of the fiscal year or whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Potential impairment is identified by comparing the fair value of the IPR & D to its carrying value. As of December 31, 2024, management
noted that an indicator of potential impairment existed due to a decline in the market capitalization. As a result, management performed a
quantitative assessment and recorded an intangible asset impairment charge of $ 3. 2 million. Fair value is estimated by management using a
discounted cash flow model. Management' s cash flow projections included significant judgments and assumptions relating to amount and
timing of projected future cash flows and discount rates. The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures
relating to the Intangible asset' s initial valuation and impairment assessment is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by
management when developing the fair value estimate of the intangible asset; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in
performing procedures and evaluating management' s significant assumptions related to amount and timing of projected future cash flows
and discount rates; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge. Addressing the matter
involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. These procedures included, among others (i) testing management’ s process for developing the fair value estimate; (ii) evaluating
the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow model used by management; (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying
data used in the discounted cash flow model; and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management
related to the amount and timing of projected future cash flows and discount rates. Evaluating management’ s assumptions related to the
amount and timing of projected future cash flows and discount rates involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management
were reasonable considering the consistency with external market and industry data. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
were used to assist in the evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the discounted cash flow model and (ii) the reasonableness of the discount
rates assumption . / s / Kesselman & Kesselman A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited Tel- Aviv, Isracl March 25, 2025 We
have served as the Company -’ s auditor since 2021. F-3 BIOMX INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (USD in thousands, except share
and per share data) As of December 31, 2024 2023 2022-ASSETS Current assets Cash and cash equivalents 16, 856 14, 907 34:332-Restricted cash
958 957 962-Shert—termrdeposits—2,-006-Other current assets 2, 706 1, 768 2:-587Total current assets 20, 520 17, 632 36;88+-Non- current assets
Non- current restricted cash 161- Operating lease right- of- use assets 5, 457 3, 495 Property and equipment, net 5, 045 3,

equipment;aet3;-902 4-In- process Research and development (“ IPR & D ”) asset 12 , 796-050- Total non- current assets 22, 713 7, 397 843 |
650-233 25, 029 45;-53+The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2024 2023 2622
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY Current liabilities Trade account payables 1, 882 1, 381 826-Current portion of lease liabilities 1,
130 666 687FOther account payables §, 255 3, 344 2,34506-Current portion of long- term debt = 5, 785 4;282-Total current liabilities 8,267 11, 176 %
539-Non- current liabilities Contract liability -459%6-1, 976 Long- term debt, net of current portion - 5, 402 +8;-594+-Operating lease liabilities, net of
current portion 8, 454 3, 239 3:-798-Other liabilities 77 155 488-Private Placement Warrants 2, 287- Total non- current liabilities 10, 818 10, 772
+6;-553-Commitments and Contingencies (Note +8-8 ) Stockholders’ equity Preferred Stock, $ 0. 0001 par value; Authorized- 1, 000, 000 shares as of
December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 . Issued and outstanding — 147, 735 as of December 31, 2024 . No shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and-Deeember31H2022-. —18, 645 - Common stock, $ 0. 0001 par value (“ Common Stock ”); Authorized- 426
750, 000, 000 shares as of December 31, 2623-2024 and 120, 000, 000 shares as of December 31, 2622-2023 . Issued and outstanding — 45-18 |
979-176 , 936-661 and 294 , 982-723 | 282-380 as of December 31, 2023-2024 and %Hﬁespeefﬁe%y—@ﬁtst&ndmg—%—‘%—&ﬁ%éé&%
as-ef-December 31, 2023 and-2022-, respectively. (¥) 6 3 2-Additional paid in capital 186, 194 166, 048 +57-838-Accumulated deficit ( +62-180 , 970
697 ) (136162 , 86+970 ) Total Stockholders’ equity 24, 148 3. 081 24-43 , 639-233 25, 029 45;-531+(*) All share amounts have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect a 1- for- 10 reverse share split as discussed in Note 12A. BIOMX INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Research and development (“ R & D ”) expenses, net 24, 663 16, 698 +6;244
Amertization-ofintangible-assets—519-General and administrative expenses 11, 776 8, 650 9-Goodwill impairment 801- IPR & D impairment 3
, 456-237- Long- lived assets impairment 4, 046- Opcrating loss 44, 523 25, 348 27-249-Other income ( 35%2, 143 ) (434-357 ) Interest expenses
873 2. 404 2;-669-Finance expense (income ), net 919 (1, 249) Income from change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants ( 962-26, 458 )
- Loss before tax 17, 714 26, 146 28;252-Tax expenses 13 23 65-Net Loss 17, 727 26, 169 28;3+FBasic and-loss per share of Common Stock 1. 47
5. 1 Diluted loss per share of Common Stock 3. 36 5. 1 Weighted average number of shares used in computing basic loss per share of
Common Stock (*) 12, 019 401 5 133 093 Welghted average number of shares used in computing diluted loss per share of Common Stock (¥)
13 6 eh ef-Co 0 ding-, 138 baste-and-diluted-51-, 330-106 5 , 133 32429, 093 854,003
BIOMX IT\( (()NS()I ID ATFD STATFMFT\TS OF C IIAN(;FS IN %T()( Kll()l DERS” EQUITY Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares
Common stock (* * * *) Additional paid in Accumulated Total Stockholder’ Shares Amount Shares Amount Ldpltd] deficit u]mt\ Balance as of

Peeember3+-January 1, 262+-2023 29-3 |, 123
Agreementnet-of $-8issuaneeeosts (5229~ (44

251010 Netdoss—28; 3+ 28,31 Balanee-as-of Deeember34,202229,-076;-582-2 157, 838 (136, 801) 21, 039 Issuance of Common
Stock and warrants under Private Investment in Public Equity ¢“PHE>}-, net of $ 333 issuance costs (* *)+5-1 , 997599 , 448746 1 7, 151- 7, 152
Reissuance of treasury stock (* * *) §70 5;-706----- Stock- based compensation expenses-- 1, 059- 1, 059 Issuance of Common Stock under Open

Market Sales Agreement (* *) 200 20 * *- * Net loss--- (26, 169) (26, 169) Balance as of December 31, 2023 45-- 4 , 979-723 , 930-380 3 166, 048
(162, 970) 3, 081 Issuance of Common Stock, Merger Warrants and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares upon the APT acquisition,
net of issuance cost (* *) 40, 470 12, 561 916, 497 1 3, 227- 15, 789 Exercise of Pre- Funded Warrants into shares of Common Stock 1, 458,
638 1 5- 6 Issuance of Common Stock under an Open Market Offering Agreement, net of $ 1 issuance costs (* *) 7, 518 * 19- 19 Issuance of
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares upon March 2024 PIPE, net of issuance costs (* *) 216, 417 19, 859-- 541- 20, 400 Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Shares conversion into shares of Common Stock (109, 152) (13, 775) 10, 915, 200 1 13, 774- Issuance of Common
Stock upon restricted stock units (“ RSUs ) vesting 155, 429 * * Stock- based compensation expenses 2, 580 2, 580 Net loss (17, 727) (17,
727) Balance as of December 31, 2024 147, 735 18, 645 18, 176, 661 6 186, 194 (180, 697) 24, 148 (*) Less than § 1. (* *) See note 12A. (* * *
See note 9A-TA. (* * * *) All share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect a 1- for- 10 reverse share split as discussed in Note
12A . BIOMX INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (USD in thousands, except share and per share data) Year ended
December 31, 2024 2023 2622-CASH FLOWS — OPERATING ACTIVITIES Net loss (26-17 , 469-727 ) ( 28-26 , 3+7+169 ) Adjustments required
to reconcile net loss to cash flows used in operating activities Dk.pl\.(.idti()ll and-amertization-1, 803 871 2,-520-Stock- based compensation 1, 848 1,
059 -529-Amortization of debt issuance costs - 567 463-Finance income, net (435) (128) Revaluation of contingent consideration ( $42-78 )
Changesinother habilities(33) Income from change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants ( 27-26, 458 ) Capital-- Private Placement
Warrants issuance cost 732- Changes in contract liability (1, 976)- tess-Loss from sale and disposal of fixed assets , nct 221 71 +6-Goodwill
impairment 801- IPR & D impairment 3, 237- Long- lived assets impairment 4, 046- Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Other current




assets 842 819 956-Trade account payables (3, 167) 556 €5995-Other account payables (984) 1, 194 3:3033-Net change in operating leases 316 (93
H406-) Net cash used in operating activities (2436 , 286-979 ) (29-21 , 692286 ) CASH FLOWS — INVESTING ACTIVITIES Iavestmentin-short
Cash and restricted cash acquired from the APT acquisition 663 - term-depesits—13;-500)-Proceeds from short- term deposits - 2, 000 H5-560
Purchase of property and equipment ( $6-30 ) (+4+2-50 ) Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 82 1 5-Net cash provided by {ased-n)
investing activities 715 1, 951 24+0H-CASH FLOWS — FINANCING ACTIVITIES Issuance of Common Stock and warrants under February
2023 PIPE- 7, 485 Issuance costs from February 2023 PIPE- (333) Pre- Funded Warrants exercise 6- lssuancc of Common Stock Lmdu Open
Market Sales Agreement, net of issuance costs 19 5 e ; 3 :
- Repayment of long- term debt ( 10, 747) (4, 253) Issuance —Preeeeds—eﬁ—aeeeuﬂt—ol Prlvate Placement Warrants under March 2024 PIPE 28,
745- Issuance of Redeemable Convertlble Preferred shares-Shares under March 2024 PIPE 21, 269 - +9-March 2024 PIPE issuance costs
(918)- Net cash provided by financing activities 38, 374 2, 899 292-Increase ( Deerease-decrease ) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 2,
110 (16, 436 336;967) Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 1 6 +486-Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash at the beginning of the year 15, 864 32, 294 63;:-895-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the year 17,975 15,
864 32;284-Y ear ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-RECONCILIATION OF AMOUNTS ON CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS: Cash
and cash equivalents 16, 856 14, 907 34;332-Restricted cash 1, 119 957 962-Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 17, 975 15, 864 32;
294-SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: Cash paid for interest 1, 442 1, 873 4;--554-Taxes paid 13 54 65
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON- CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES: Property and equipment purchases included in accounts payable 1
5 Issuance cost from March 2024 PIPE 1, 273- Issuance of Common Stock under the APT acquisition 3, 041- Issuance of Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Shares under the APT acquisition 12, 610- Issuance of Merger Warrants under the APT acquisition 200- Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Shares conversion into shares of Common Stock 13, 774 - BIOMX INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTSNOTE 1- GENERAL A. General information: BiomX Inc., (individually, and together with its subsidiaries, BiomX Ltd. and-(*
BiomX Israel ”), RondinX Ltd. and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics LLC, (“ APT ”), the “ Company ~ or “ BiomX ) was incorporated as a blank
check company on November 1, 2017, under the laws of the state of Delaware, for the purpose of entering into a merger, stock exchange, asset
acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses or entities. On October 29,
2019, the Company merged with BiomX Israel, who survived the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of BiomX Inc. The Company acquired all
outstanding shares of BiomX Israel. In exchange, shareholders of BiomX Israel received +5-1 , 869-506 , ©58-906 shares of the Company’ s Common
Stock, representing 65 % o’r the total shares issued and outstanding after the acquisition (* Rccdpitdlimtion Transaction 7). BiomX Israel was deemed
the ““ accounting acquirer ” due to the largest ownership interest in the Comy mny Thc Company’ s shcncs of Common Stock —uﬂrts—aﬂd—waﬁ&ﬁts-dlc
lradcd on lhc NYSE American undcr the symbe%b symbol PHGE - : —WS;5respee vely- briia empan

mmen e m-the-—Te v e hteh-beeame-effee ; ber—6 BlomX is de\ e]op]my bolh natural and en"meeled
phage cocktails designed to target and destroy har mful bacterm in chronic dlseases tocusmg its efforts , at this point , on cystic fibrosis and diabetic
foot osteomyelitis to-alesserdegree-on-atopte-dermatitis-. BiomX discovers and validates proprietary bacterial targets and customizes phage
compositions against these targets. The Company’ s headquarters are located in Ness Ziona, Israel. On March 6, 2024, the Company entered into an
agreement and plan of merger (the “ Merger Agreement ) with Adaptive Phage Therapeutics Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ APT ”), and certain
other parties, as a result of which APT became a wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company (the *“ Acquisition ). See note 1D for further
information regarding the Acquisition. Additionally, on March 15, 2024, concurrently with the consummation of the Acquisition, the Company
consummated a private placement (the “ March 2024 PIPE ) with certain investors for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $ 50,
000. See Note 12A for further information regarding the March 2024 PIPE. On August 8, 2024, the Board of Directors approved a 1- for- 10
reverse stock split of the Company’ s shares of Common Stock (the “ Reverse Split ), effective on August 26, 2024. See Note 12A for further
information. B. Israel-The war with Hamas warOna-and Hezbollah On October 7, 2023, an unprecedented attack was launched against Israel by
terrorists from the Hamas terrorist organization that infiltrated Israel’ s southern border from the Gaza Strip and in other areas within the state of
Israel attacking civilians and military targets while simultaneously launching extensive rocket attacks on the Israeli population. These attacks
resulted in extensive deaths, injuries and kidnapping of civilians and soldiers. In response, the Security Cabinet of the State of Israel declared war
against Hamas and a military campaign against these terrorist organizations commenced in parallel to their continued rocket and terror attacks. In
addition, Hezbollah, an Islamist terrorist group that controls large portions of southern Lebanon, has-and Iran attacked military and civilian targets
in Nerthern-Isracl, to-whieh-both directly and through proxies such as the Houthi movement in Yemen, armed groups in Iraq and other
terrorist organizations. Additionally, following the fall of the Assad regime in Syria, [sracl has respended—Fo-date-conducted limited military
operations targeting certain Syrian military assets . Iranian military assets and infrastructure linked to Hezbollah and the-other State-of
Israel-eontintes-Iran- supported groups. Although a ceasefire agreement has been reached with Lebanon (with respect to Hezbollah) there is
no assurance that this agreement will be upheld. Military activity and hostilities continue to exist at war-varying levels of intensity, and the
situation remains volatile, with Hamas-and-on-an-armed-the potential for escalation into a broader regional eonfliets— conflict with-Hezboltah
involving additional terrorist organizations and possibly other countries. Furthermore, the fall of the Assad regime in Syria may create
additional geopolitical instability in the region . BiomX headquarters and-prineipal-offices-and-are located in Ness Ziona, Israel, as well as most
of its operations areJoeated-n-the-State-efdsrael- In addition, al-mest of the key employees and officers are residents of Isracl. Accordingly,
political, economic and military conditions in Israel and the surrounding region may directly affect its business. While a few employees of the
Company were called to reserve duty in the Israel Defense Forces, the ongoing war with Hamas and Hezbollah has not, since its inception,
materially impacted BiomX ” s business or operations. Furthermore, BiomX does not expect any delays to its programs as a result of the situation.

However, at-since this time;tis an event beyond netpessibletopredietthc Company intensity-or-durationrofdsrael’ s control war-againstHamas-,

its continuation rer— or prediethew-this-war-cessation may affect our expectations. The Company continues to monitor its ongoing activities

and will eltimately-affeetBiomX-make any needed adjustments to ensure continuity of its busincss and-eperations-ordsrael’seeenomy-in
general. NOTE 1- GENERAL (Cont.) C. Going concernThe Company has incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations and

mcmred an dccumuldted deﬂlt of $ -1-62—180 9—7‘9—697 as 01‘ December )1 %92—3—2024 T—he—These Gem-pa-n-y—are e*peets—expected to continue in te

0ng01ng ()puatl()ns as w (.ll as ()thcr dc\ clo pment activities relating to dddltl()lldl pmduct mndlddtcs thr()ugh futufe—tssﬂuaﬂee& issuance of debt and
or cqunv \LLLlllllLs loans 3 and government pess-x-b-l-y—&dd-rt-}eﬂa-l—uanls o ROV ’

Mamgcmcm bchu es thal its wa-&&b-I&current 1" unds 5 1nclud1ng the $ 12 000 ralsed in February 2025 as descrlbed

in Note 19 of the-tssuance-date-of thefinanetal-statements-, are not whieh e-sufficient
to fund its operations for at least one year from the issuance date of these ‘rmcmcml statements. Increased research -l-l-ewever—t-he—eem‘efs-reﬁ-ef—the




development, chnlcal or operatlng expenses may require addltlonal fundlng or expense postponement The Company’ s ability to raise
capital is subject to stee{eheldeﬁappfeaf&l-market condltlons and t-hefe~ other ts—ne—assuraﬂee—t-h&t—aspects, which may affect the terms and

availability of such funding apprevat-v v v b
Preferred-Steekatttsfair-value-. These mctols raise \ubsmntml doubt about thc C ompan\ S dblllt\ to continue as a going concern. The u)n\ollddtcd
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome of such
circumstances. D. Merger AgreementOn March 6, 2024, the Company, entered into the Merger Agreement with BTX Merger Sub I, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“ First Merger Sub ), BTX Merger Sub II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
and wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (* Second Merger Sub ), and APT. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, First Merger Sub merged with
and into APT, with APT being the surviving corporation and becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the *“ First Merger ).
Immediately following the First Merger, APT merged with and into Second Merger Sub, pursuant to which Second Merger Sub was the surviving
entity {tegether. APT was a U. S.- based privately held, clinical- stage biotechnology company pioneering the development of phage- based
therapies to combat bacterial infection. As a result of the Acqu1s1tlon the Company has a plpehne that 1ncludes two Phase 2 assets each
aimed at treatlng serlous mfectlons \ |1h unmet medical needs the 6 a a
e 0 A . On March 13 7( 74 the effective ﬁm&date of the Acquisition (the “ Closmg Date ”)

,APT’ s former stockholdcrs were issued an aggregate ot9—916 497 +6-4—968—sl1(11cs 01‘ the Company’ s Common Stock, 40, 470 Redeemable
shares he Ay 5 XNOH—VO b ckp hare(“~Convertible Preferred Shares Steek®)
and Warrants to pulchasc up to an aggregate ol 2—216 650 -1-66—49—7—xhdlcs ol lhc (ompdn\ (ommon steelStock (“ Merger Warrants 7). Each share
of Redeemable Convertible Plciutcd SteelkShares is convertible into an aggregate of 100 4-806-shares , after giving effect to the Reverse Split of
Common Stock. The Merger Warrants became will-be-exercisable at any time after the date of the receipt of BiomX stockholder approval , which
was obtained on July 9, 2024, at an exercise price of $ 5-50 . 00 per share and will expire on January 28, 2027. ##-On July 9, 2024, the event
Company’ s stockholders approved the conversnon of the Redeemable Conv cmblc l’rcrcrrcd Shares into shares of Common Stock and isnot
eonverted-by-the ea A y h issuance of
shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of the Merger Warrants The Redeemable Conver ublc Preferred Shares are entltled Steelet-he
Company-may-bereguired-to pay-to-each-holderreceive dividends on shares of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares equal to, on an as-
if- converted- to Common- Stock basis, an-and ameunt-in eashequal-te-the fair-value-ofthe-same form as, dividends actually paid on shares of
the Common Stock. Except as otherwise required by law or with respect to the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares protective
prov1s10ns set forth i in Steele@eﬂeuﬁen&y—w&h%-eeﬂsemm&&eﬁ-e&he—&eqwsﬁeﬂ—llu C Ompan\ * s Certificate entered-into-a-seeurities

wreha v ain 5 ieh-steh-in S cha 8 gate-0f 2+6-Designations , the Redeemable 417
shafes—ef—( onver uble Preferred SteeleﬁP—l-P-E—Shares does not have votmg rights. At the Closmg Date, the Redeemable Convertlble Preferr ed
Shares were classified as temporary equity in accordance with the provisions 2-an S agg
of ASC 480- 168 10- S99 . 268-as they included clauses that could constitute redemptlon clauses that were subject to the Company S
stockholder approval and outside of the Company’ s control. On July 9 , 560-2024 the Company’ s stockholders approved, among other
things, the conversion of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares into shares of Common Stock, which led the Company to determine
that the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares meet the definition of permanent equity as the Company is able to control the
redemption. Therefore, the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares were reclassified as equity. On July 15, 2024, 109, 152 Redeemable
Convertlble Preferred Shares that were lssued under the Acqulsntlon and the March 2024 PIPE were converted into 10 9185, 200 shares of the

the \cqu]smon dnd without mkmw into account the PIPF Preferred Shdlcs and the Pmau P]dccmcm Warrants , each as defined below , Ihc
Company’ s stockholders prior to the Acquisition owned approximate 55 % the Company and APT’ s stockholders prior to the Acquisition owned
approximately 45 % of the Company. F- +6B-11 D . Merger Agreement (Cont.) The Acquisition was wiH-be-accounted for in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC *) Topic 805, “ Business Combinations, ” using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company was
identified as the accounting acquirer, based on the evaluation of the following facts and circumstances: ® Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the
post- Acquisition board of directors of the Company consists of seven directors, out of which the Company designated four board seats, with the
Company’ s chair of the board prior to the Acquisition continuing in his position, i. e. the majority of the post- closing board was designated by the
Company. @ The Chief Executive Officer and the majority of management roles are held by individuals who were affiliated with the Company prior
to the Acquisition. The Acquisition- related transaction costs are accounted for as expenses in the period in which the costs are incurred. For
the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company incurred transaction costs of $ 888 which were included in general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Purchase Price Allocation The following sets forth the fair value of acquired
identifiable assets and assumed liabilities of APT, after considering measurement period adjustment as described below, which includes
adjustments to reflect the fair value of intangible assets acquired as of March 15, 2024: Amounts Cash and cash equivalents 509 Restricted
cash 154 Other current assets 1, 780 Property, plant and equipment 3, 748 Operating lease right- of- use asset 7, 953 IPR & D assets and
Goodwill 16, 088 Total assets 30, 232 Trade accounts payable (3, 667) Other accounts payable (2, 895) Operating lease liability (7, 819) Total
liabilities (14, 381) Total consideration 15, 851 The fair value estimate for all identifiable assets and liabilities assumed is based on
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset, based on the most advantageous market for the asset (i. e., its highest
and best use). The Company recognized intangible assets related to the Acquisition, which consist of IPR & D valued at $ 15, 287 using the
Multi- Period Excess Earnings Method valuation method and of goodwill valued at $ 501. The goodwill is primarily attributed to the
expected synergies from combining the operations of APT with the Company’ s operations and to the assembled workforce of APT. The IPR
& D is considered indefinite lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. Upon successful
completion of the project, IPR & D assets are reclassified to developed technology and amortized over their estimated useful lives. F- 12
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company made a measurement period adjustment to the purchase price allocation, which
resulted in an increase to goodwill of $ 300. The increase resulted from a provision for a contingency not provided in the initial purchase
price allocation, following a settlement agreement between APT and Oyster Point Pharma, Inc. (“ Oyster ) in connection with the
Collaboration and Option Agreement signed in May 2021 as discussed in Note 8A. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
have been finalized. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a full goodwill impairment in the amount of $ 801
and IPR & D impairment of $ 3, 237. See Note 11 for further information. These intangible assets are classified as Level 3 measurements
within the fair value hierarchy. The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration transferred to APT shareholders for the
Acquisition: Amounts Common Stock 3, 041 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares 12, 610 Merger Warrants 200 15, 851 The fair value
of shares of Common Stock issued by the Company was determined using the Company’ s closing trading price on the Closing Date
adjusted by a discount for lack of marketability (“ DLOM ”) of 9. 4 % as a registration statement was filed within 45 days. The fair value of
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares was determined using the Company’ s closing trading price on the Closing Date adjusted by a



DLOM of 14. 9 % as the conversion of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares to shares of Common Stock was subject to the
stockholder approval, which was obtained on July 9, 2024. The Company determined the fair value of the Merger Warrants using the Black-
Scholes model as of the Closing Date. The main assumptions used are as follows: Underlying value of Common Stock ($) 3. 7 Exercise price
($) 50 Expected volatility (%) 117. 7 Expected terms (years) 2. 87 Risk- free interest rate (%) 4. 5 The actual APT net loss included in the
Company’ s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024, is as follows: December 31, 2024 Net loss
attributable to APT * 16, 792 * Including impairments loss related to goodwill, IPR & D and long- lived assets of $ 801, $ 3, 237 and $ 4, 046,
respectively. The unaudited pro forma financial information below summarizes the combined results of operations for BiomX Inc.
(including its wholly owned subsidiaries, BiomX Israel and RondinX Ltd.) and APT. The unaudited pro forma financial information
includes adjustments to reflect certain business combination effects, including: acquisition- related costs incurred by both parties and
reversal of certain costs incurred by BiomX Inc. which would not have been incurred had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2023. The
unaudited pro forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations that would have been achieved if the Acquisition had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2023. F- 13 The following
unaudited table provides certain pro forma financial information for the Company as if the Acquisition occurred on January 1, 2023:
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Net loss 17, 262 45, 821 * The pro forma amounts above are derived from historical numbers of the
Company and APT. NOTE 2- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESThe significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
financial statements on a consistent basis, are as follows, except for the adoption of new accounting standards: A. Basis of presentation and
principles of consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“ GAAP ”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, BiomX Israel , APT
and RondinX Ltd. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. B. Use of estimates in the preparation of
financial statements The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the amounts of
expenses during the reported years. The most significant estimates in the Company”’ s financial statements relate to accruals for research and
development expenses ane-, valuation of stock- based compensation awards , purchase price allocation related to the Acquisition, Private
Placement Warrants fair value revaluation and estimates used in the IPR & D impairment assessment for calculating the fair value of the
Company’ s asset . These estimates and assumptions are based on current facts, future expectations, and various other factors believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and
the recording of expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially and adversely from these estimates.
The full extent to which the Isracl —* s war with Hamas war-and Hezbollah may directly or indirectly impact the Company’ s business, results of
operations and financial condition will depend on future developments that are uncertain, as well as the economic impact on local, regional, national
and international markets. C. Functional currency and foreign currency translation The functional currency of the Company is the U. S. dollar (*
USD ”) since the dollar is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company has operated and expects to continue to operate
in the foreseeable future. Transactions and balances originally denominated USD are presented at their original amounts. Balances in non- USD
currencies are translated into USDs using historical and current exchange rates for non- monetary and monetary balances, respectively. For non- USD
transactions and other items in the consolidated statements of ireeme-operations (indicated below), the following exchange rates are used: (i) for
transactions — exchange rates at transaction dates or average exchange rates; and (ii) for other items (derived from non- monetary balance sheet items
such as depreciation and amortization) — historical exchange rates. Currency transaction gains and losses are presented in finanee-financial expense (
income ) , net as appropriate. D. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash The Company considers cash equivalents to be all short- term, highly
liquid investments, which include money market funds, that are not restricted as to withdrawal or use, and short- term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase that are not restricted as to withdrawal or use and are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash. Restricted cash consists of funds that are contractually restricted to a credit line for outstanding short- term foreign exchange
contracts and bank guarantee due to rental agreements. The Company has presented restricted cash separately from cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated balance sheets. The Company includes its restricted bank deposits in cash and cash equivalents when reconciling beginning- of- period
and end- of- period total amounts shown on the eembined-consolidated statement of cash flows. F- HINOFE-14NOTE 2- SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) E. Concentrations of credit risk Financial instruments which potentially subject us to credit risk consist primarily
of cash ;-and cash equivalents ;-and-shert—term-deposits-. These amounts at times may exceed federally insured limits. We have not experienced any
credit losses in such accounts and do not believe we are exposed to any significant credit risk on these funds. Most of the Company’ s cash and cash
equivalents and bank deposits are invested in major banks in the U. S. and Isracl. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to the
financial institutions that hold the Company’ s cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits is low. Refer to note 2J. F. Property and equipment
Property and equipment are presented at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated based on the straight- line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets or terms of the related leases, as follows: Estimated Useful Lives Laboratory equipment 7 years Computers
and software 3 years Equipment and furniture 15 years Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or useful life G. Long- lived assets In
accordance with ASC 360- 10, “ Impairment and Disposal of Long- Lived Assets ”, management reviews long- lived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable based on estimated future undiscounted cash
flows. If so indicated, an impairment loss would be recognized for the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Fer-See
Note 11 for information regarding impairment charges recognized during the years— year cnded December 31, 2023-2024 and2022ne

i i . H. Income taxes The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities and the tax rates in
effect when these differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the
Company had a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. The Company is subject to the provisions of ASC 740- 10- 25, “ Income Taxes ”
(““ASC 740 ). ASC 740 prescribes a more likely- than- not threshold for the financial statement recognition of uncertain tax positions. ASC 740
clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. On a yearly basis, the Company undergoes a process to
evaluate whether income tax accruals are in accordance with ASC 740 guidance on uncertain tax positions. The Company has not recorded any
liability for uncertain tax positions for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-. The Company presents unrecognized tax benefits as
a reduction to deferred tax asset where a net operating loss, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward that are available, under the tax law of the
applicable jurisdiction, to offset any additional income taxes that would result from the settlement of a tax position. I. Derivative activity The
Company uses foreign exchange contracts (option and forward contracts) to hedge cash flows from currency exposure. These foreign exchange
contracts are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. In connection with these foreign exchange contracts, the Company
recognizes gains or losses that offset the revaluation of the cash flows also recorded under financial expenses (income), net in the consolidated
statements of operations. The Company recognizes these derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets
at their fair value. Derivatives in a gain position are reported in other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and derivatives in a
loss position are recorded as other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had



outstanding short- term foreign exchange contracts for the exchange of USD to NIS in the amount of approximately $ 4-2 , +36-413 with a fair value
asset of § 256-19 . As of December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company had outstanding short- term foreign exchange contracts for the exchange of USD to
NIS in the amount of approximately $ 4, 547-136 with a fair value }iability-asset of § 55-256 . F- +2-15 J. Fair value of financial instruments The
Company accounts for financial instruments in accordance with ASC 820, *“ Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ” (“ ASC 820 ). ASC 820
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority
to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs
(Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are described below: Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities. Level 2 — Quoted prices in non- active
markets or in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, observable inputs other than quoted prices, and inputs that are not directly observable but
are corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 — Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable. There were no changes in the fair value hierarchy levelling during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. The
following table summarizes the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis, by level
within the fair value hierarchy: December 31, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Assets: Cash equivalents: Money market funds 12, 251--
12, 251 Foreign exchange contracts receivable- 19- 19 12, 251 19- 12, 270 Liabilities: Contingent consideration-- 77 77 Private Placement
Warrants 2, 287 2, 287-- 2, 364 2, 364 December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Assets: Cash equivalents: Money market funds 11,
377-- 11, 377 Foreign exchange contracts receivable- 256- 256 11, 377 256- 11, 633 Liabilities: Contingent consideration =155 155- =155 155 The
changes in the fair value of the Company’ s Private Placement Warrants which are measured as Level 3 and on a recurring basis are as
follows: Year ended December 31, 2622-2024 Level-HEevel-Year ended December 31 2023 Beglnnlng balance-- Prlvate Placement Warrants
28 745- Change m falr value (26 458)— Endmg balance 2, Eeve a ahu : ards 27287 824 27

o F-43-16 J. Fair value
of financial instruments (( ont.) l~|ndnc1dl mstlumcnts with carrying values apprommdtmg fair lell(, 1n<,ludc cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, shert—term-depesits;other current assets, trade accounts payable and other current liabilities, due to their short- term nature. The Company
determined the fair value of the liabilities for the contingent consideration based on a probability discounted cash flow analysis. This fair value
measurement is based on significant unobservable inputs in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.
The fair value of the contingent consideration is based on several factors, such as: the attainment of future clinical, developmental, regulatory,
commercial and strategic milestones relating to product candidates for treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis (¢ PSC ”) . The discount rate
applied ranged from 2-3 . 58 % to 4 %-te<4-. 6-52 %. The contingent consideration is evaluated quarterly, or more frequently, if circumstances
dictate. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration are recorded in consolidated statements of operations. Significant changes in
unobservable inputs, mainly the probability of success and cash flows projected, could result in material changes to the contingent consideration
liability. Changes in contingent consideration for the years— year ended December 31, 2024 resulted mainly from a change in the probability of
success of the strategic milestones due to the termination of the agreement with JSR Corporation (“ JSR ”) concerning patent rights related
to the treatment of PSC. See Note 8D for further information. Changes in contingent consideration for the year ended December 31, 2023
and2022-resulted from the passage of time and discount rate revaluation . The Company determined the fair value of the liabilities for the
Private Placement Warrants using the Black- Scholes model, a Level 3 measurement, within the fair value hierarchy. December 31, 2024
December 31, 2023 Underlying value of Common Stock ($) 0. 73- Exercise price ($) 2. 31- Expected volatility (%) 120. 1- Expected terms
(years) 1. 5- Risk- free interest rate (%) 4. 1- As of December 31, 2024, the IPR & D, right- of- use asset and leasehold improvements were
assessed for impairment and measured at fair value, as described in Note 11 below . K. Defined contribution plans Under Israeli employment
laws, employees of BiomX Israel are included under Section 14 of the Severance Compensation Act, 1963 (“ Section 14 ) for a portion of their
salaries. Pursuant to Section 14, these employees are entitled to monthly deposits made by the Company on their behalf with insurance companies.
Payments in accordance with Section 14 release the Company from any future severance payments (under the Israeli Severance Compensation Act,
1963) with respect of those employees. The aforementioned deposits are not recorded as an asset on the Company’ s balance sheet, and there is no
liability recorded as the Company does not have a future obligation to make any additional payments. The Company’ s contributions to the defined
contribution plans are charged to the consolidated statements of operations as and when the services are received from the Company’ s employees.
Total expenses with respect to these contributions were $ 389 and $ 426 and-$-562-for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-,
respectively. The Company expects to contribute approximately $ 400-348 in the year ending December 31, 2024-2025 to insurance companies in
connection with its expected severance liabilities for the year. For U. S. employees the Company has a defined contribution savings plan under
Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. This plan covers substantially all employees of BiomX Inc in the U. S. who meet minimum age and
service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre- tax basis. The Company has not elected to
match any of the empleyee-employees " s-deferral. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-the Company did not record any
expenses for 401 (k) match contributions. F- 17 L. Financial instruments When the Company issues freestanding instruments, it first analyzes the
provisions of ASC 480, “ Distinguishing Liabilities From Equity ” (*“ ASC 480 ) in order to determine whether the instrument should be classified as
a liability, with subsequent changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations in each period. If the instrument is not
within the scope of ASC 480, the Company further analyzes the provisions of ASC 815- 10 in order to determine whether the instrument is
considered indexed to the entity” s own stock and qualifies for classification within equity. When Adswarrantsissted-by-the Company are-issues
preferred shares, it first considers the provisions of ASC 480, in order to determine whether the preferred shares should be classified as a
liability. If the instrument is not within the scope of ASC 480, the Company further analyzes the instrument’ s characteristics in order to
determine whether it should be classified within temporary steekhelders>cquity (mezzanine) or within permanent equity in accordance with
the provisions of ASC 480- 10- S99. The Company reassesses the classification of a contract over its own equity under the guidance above at
each balance sheet date. If classification changes as “-Additional-patd—in-eapital-—Equity-a result of events during the reporting period, the
Company reclassifies the contract as of the date of the event that caused the elassifteationrreclassification is-permitted-. See Note 1D regarding
the reclassification of the Redeemable Convertlble Preferred Shares wheﬁ-When the Company issues \\ arrants are—mdexed—te— it first
considers the provisions d e atto sstfteation-of ASC 815- 40, 2%
Contracts in Entity’ s Own bqunv ” (“ /\S( 815- 40 ”) in order to determine whether the warrants should be classnﬁed as equity . F-Equity
classification is permitted when warrants are indexed to the Company’ s own shares and meet the classification requirements for
stockholders’ equity classification under ASC 815 - +4-40. If the warrants are not within the scope of ASC 815- 40, the Company accounts
for the warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in Accounting Standards Codification 815 (“ ASC 815 ”), “ Derivatives and
Hedging ”, under which the warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as derivative liabilities.
Accordingly, the Company classifies the Private Placement Warrants as liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at
each reporting period. This liability is subject to re- measurement at each balance sheet date until the warrants are exercised or expire, and
any change in fair value is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 12A for further information regarding the
Private Placement Warrants. M. Research and development eests-expenses, net Rescarch and development costs are charged to statements of
operations as incurred. Royalty- bearing grants from the Israeli Innovation Authority (“ /A ”) and grants from the Medical Technology
Enterprise Consortium (> MTEC ”) are recognized at the time the Company is entitled to such grants, on the basis of the costs incurred and
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applied as a deduction from research and development expenses. N. Basic and diluted loss per share Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net
loss by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the year, fully vested warrants with no exercise price for the
Company’ s Common Stock and fully vested Pre- Funded Warrants for the Company’ s Common Stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 001 per share, as
the Company considers these shares to be exercised for little to no additional consideration. The calculation excludes e-shares of Common Stock
purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding during the year, plus the number of shares of Common Stock that would have been outstanding if all
polcmially dilutive shares of Common Stock hdd bun 1ssuui using the treasury stock method, in accordance with A§C 760— 10 ““ Earnings per
Share. ” The Company computes net 2 8 ateta loss per share
using the two- class method required for partlclpatmg securities. The two- class method requires income avallable to common stockholders
for the period to be allocated between shares of Common Stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive
dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company considers its Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares to be
participating securities as the holders of the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares would be entitled to dividends that would be
distributed to the holders of Common Stock, on a pro- rata basis assuming conversion of all Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares into
shares of Common Stock. These participating securities do not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the
Company s losses. As such net loss for the periods presented due-was not allocated to their-—- the Company’ s partlclpatlng securities anti-

. F-18 O. Stock compensation plans The Company applies ASC 718- 10, “ Stock- Based Payment, ” (**
ASC 718- 10 ) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expenses for all stock- based paymcnt awards made to employees
and directors including employee stock options under the Company’ s stock plans based on estimated fair values. ASC 718- 10 requires companies to
estimate the fair value of stock- based payment awards granted to employees and non- employees on the date of grant using an option- pricing model.
The fair value of the award is recognized as an expense over the requisite service periods in the Company’ s statements of operations using the
graded vesting method. The Company accounts for share- based payment awards classified as equity awards. The Company recognizes stock- based
award forfeitures as they occur rather than estimate by applying a forfeiture rate. All issuances of stock options or other equity instruments to non-
employees as Lonslduallon for goods or services received by the Company are accounted for based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted as equity awards using a Black- Scholes
option- pncm; model. The option- pnunﬁ model requires a number of assumptions, of which the most significant are share price, expected volatility
and the expected option term (the time from the grant date until the options are exercised or expire). The Company uses an average historical stock
price volatility based on a combined weighted average of the Company’ s historical average volatility and that of a selected peer group of comparable
public companies within the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry that were deemed to be representative of future stock price trends as the
Company does not have a sufficient historical trading history of its own Common Stock. The Company will continue to apply this process until a
sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of its own stock price becomes available. The Company has historically not paid
dividends and has no foreseeable plans to issue dividends. The risk- free interest rate is based on the yield from governmental zero- coupon bonds
with an equivalent term. The expected option term is calculated for all stock option grants using the “ simplified ” method. Changes in the
determination of each of the inputs can affect the fair value of the options granted and the results of operations of the Company. P. Leases Under
Accounting Standards Update, “ Leases ” (“ ASC 842 ”), the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Upon initial recognition,
the Company recognizes a liability at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term, and concurrently recognizes a right- of-
use asset at the same amount of the liability, adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments, plus initial direct costs incurred in respect of the
lease. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date to determine the present
value of the lease payments. The subsequent measurement depends on whether the lease is classified as a finance lease or an operating lease. During
the reporting periods, the Company has only operating leases. Lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option. Lease expenses for operating leases are recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. The Company has
made a policy election not to capitalize leases with a term of 12 months or less. In accordance with ASC 360- 10, management reviews operating
lease assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable based
on estimated future undiscounted cash flows. If so indicated, an impairment loss would be recognized for the difference between the carrying amount
of the asset and its fair value. For leased properties where the Company plans to cease use of the property, as well as have the intent and
ability to sublease the property, the Company tests the right- of- use asset for impairment to determine if a loss has occurred. The carrying
value of the right- of- use asset is adjusted based on the net present value of the future cash flows expected from a sublease agreement over
the remaining lease term. We may record additional impairment losses when we finalize executed agreement with the sublessee. F- 19 O.
Freasury-stoek—TFreasury-shares-Business Combination The Company allocates the fair value of consideration transferred in a business
combination to the assets acquired, liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition- related expenses arc
presented-recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as areduetien-incurred. The excess of the fair value of the
consideration transferred over the fair value of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed in the acquired business is recorded as goodwill. The
fair value of the consideration transferred included cquity securities. The allocation of the consideration transferred in certain cases may be
subject to revision based on the final determination of fair values during the measurement period , which may be up to one year from the
acquisition date. The cumulative impact of revisions during the measurement period is recognized in the reporting period in which the
revisions are identified. The Company includes the results of operations of the businesses that it has acquired in its consolidated results
prospectively from the respective dates of acquisition. R. Intangible Assets Goodwill reflects the excess of the consideration transferred at
the business combination date over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is an asset representing the future
economic benefits arising from their-- other eestte-assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and
separately recognized. The primary items that generate goodwill include the value of the synergies between the acquired company and the
Company and the acquired assembled workforce, neither of which qualifies for recognition as an intangible asset. ASC 350, ” Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other ” allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether a quantitative goodwill impairment test is
necessary. Further testing is only required if the entity determines, based on the qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that
the fair value is less than its carrying amount. Otherwise, no further impairment testing is required. The Company’ s goodwill is tested for
impairment at least on an annual basis, on the last day of the third quarter of the fiscal year and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of a reporting unit may not be recoverable. When necessary, the Company records charges for
impairments of goodwill for the amount by which the carrying amount of the respective reporting unit exceeds its fair value. However, the
loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Company recorded full goodwill impairment in the amount of $ 801. See Note 11 for further information. Intangible assets IPR & D
assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date and subsequently accounted for as indefinite-
lived intangible assets until completion or abandonment of the associated R & D efforts. Indefinite- lived intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment at least annually, on the last day of the third quarter of the fiscal year or whenever there is an indication that the asset may be
impaired. To conduct impairment tests of IPR & D, the fair value of the IPR & D asset is compared to its carrying value. If the carrying
value exceeds its fair value, the Company records an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value of the IPR & D asset exceeds its




fair value. The Company estimates the fair value of IPR & D assets using discounted cash flow valuation models, which require the use of
significant estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, estimating the timing of and expected costs to complete in- process
projects, projecting regulatory approvals, estimating future cash flows from product sales and developing appropriate discount rates.
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded IPR & D impairment in amount of $ 3, 237. See note 11 for further
information . F- +6-R-20 S . New accounting pronouncements Recently adopted accounting pronouncements In Jane-26+6-November 2023 | the
Financial /\Lu)untnm Standards B(nud (“ PASB ") ISSLlLd /\Lu)untmg gtdl]ddlds Update (“ ASU” )29-1-6-—1—3—F—maﬂe1a-1—1-ﬁ&&u-meﬁts—€feért

Improv uﬂults to RL. portable Segment Dlsel()suus (“ /\SU 207 077). lhls Lmd(mu expands public Lntmu segment dlsclosuus plmmnly by
requiring disclosure of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each
reported measure of segment profit or loss, an amount and description of its composition for other segment items, and interim disclosures of a
reportable segment’ s profit or loss and assets that are currently required annually. Public entities with a single reportable segment are required to
provide the new disclosures and all the disclosures required under ASC 280, Segment Reporting. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The
amendments are required to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in an entity’ s financial statements. The Company is-eurrently
evaluating-the-impaet-that-adopted this new standard effective December 31, 2024. See Note 18 for disclosures related to the adoption of ASU
2023- 07 may-have-on-its-eonsolidatedfinanetal-statements-. Recently issued accounting pronouncements, not yet adopted [n December 2023, the
FASB issued ASU 2023- 09 “ Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures ” (* ASU 2023- 09 ). This guidance is intended
to enhance the transparency and decision- usefulness of income tax disclosures. The amendments in ASU 2023- 09 address investor requests for
enhanced income tax information primarily through changes to disclosure regarding rate reconciliation and income taxes paid both in the U. S. and in
foreign jurisdictions. ASU 2023- 09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024 on a prospective basis, with the option to apply
the standard retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the impact it may have on
its consolidated financial statements disclosures. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03 “ Income Statement: Reporting
Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures, ” which requires more detailed information about specified categories of
expenses (purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization, and depletion) included in certain expense captions
presented on the face of the income statement, as well as disclosures about selling expenses. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2026 and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The
amendments may be applied either (1) prospectively to financial statements issued for reporting periods after the effective date of this ASU
or (2) retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to
determlne the lmpact it may have on its consolldated ﬁnancml statements dlsclosures F- NQT—E—ZINOTE 3 -—S-I-IQR—”F-—T—E—RM

Lemﬁ—Bmﬂe&s*&eH—ﬂﬁ&befe—ﬁ*ed—aﬁmmi—mfefe&&eﬁHJ%%W ()THI:R C URR]:NT /\SS]:TS As of Dcu,mbu 31,2024 7()2 3 %92%
Government institutions 74 66 86-Prepaid insurance 959 505 +5-4+6-Other prepaid expenses 322 128 84-Grants receivables 1, 171 574 567-Other 180
495 436-2,706 1, 768 2;-58FNOTE 54 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NETComposition of assets, grouped by major classifications, is as
follows: As of December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Computers and software 302 525 508-Laboratory equipment 5, 476 3, 715 3;847-Equipment and
furniture 318 154 +58-Leasehold improvements 4, 448 2, 989 2-Total property and equipment 10 , 987544 7, 383 Less: Accumulated depreciation
and amortization (5, 499) (3, 481) Total property and equipment , +6)-net 5, 045 3, 902 4—7-99—Sﬂbstaﬂﬂa-1-1-y=a+l—e{lt-he-€empaﬂy—s—neﬂ-
etrrentassets-are-eeneentratedHmdsrael—Depreciation expenses were $ 1, 803 and $ 871 aﬂd—S—l—GG—l—m the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-, respectively . NOTE 6 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARYIn ...... years hom the Llosmg of the agrucmcnt Ihc C ompdny mcurred
an impairment loss to has-the : A A FRTCHES $ afe 5 55
SteeHhe—eeﬁ&ﬂgeﬁt—wﬂsﬁefa&eﬂ—ts-lts aeeetrnted—leasehold 1mpr0vements of $ 530 assocnated w1th its rlght- of- use asset for at—fa-nﬁia-}ue

Deeember—3—l—292—2—Fef—thL year Ll]d(.d [)Lumber 31, 2—92—2—2024 8 tration t otida atements-of-operations-wa
+-519- F—Refer to Note 11 for additional information. +SNOTE- - NOTE -',’—5 - I EASESIn Seplembel 2070 BiomX Israel entered into a lease
agreement for office space in Ness Ziona, Israel for five years beginning on September 1, 2020, with an option to extend for an additional period
until November 30, 2030. The monthly lease payments under the lease agreement are approximately $ 56. As part of the agreement, the lessor
reimbursed BiomX Israel for costs incurred for leasehold improvements by a pre- defined amount. BiomX Israel will pay back the reimbursed
amount with interest during the entire contract term. As a result, the Company recognized a lease incentive asset in an amount of $ 1, 030 that is
deducted from the operating lease right- of- use asset. The operating lease right- of- use assets and operating lease liabilities contemplate the option
period. As a pdlt of the agreement, B]omX lsldel pm\lded a bank guarantee to the landlmd in the amount of dpplO‘(]]ﬂdtely $ 257, 1eplesentm0 four

BlomX Istad entered into a sublease auumunl I01 a portion 01 its oll]u space in Nus 710m Ismd The agreement is-was for a pmod of two years
beginning on August 15, 2022. The monthly lease payments under the agreement are-were approximately $ 29. The monthly lease proceeds are
recorded as other income in the consolidated statements of operations. The sublease agreement was terminated in September 2024. F- 22NOTE



5- LEASES (Cont.) On August 9, 2019, APT entered into a lease agreement (the “ APT Lease Agreement ”’) with ARE- 708 Quince Orchard,
LLC (the “ Landlord ”), for office and lab spaces in Gaithersburg, Maryland starting on September 1, 2019. On March 5, 2024, in
connection with the Acquisition, APT and the Landlord, signed an amendment to the APT Lease Agreement. Pursuant to the amendment,
the leased area was decreased to 25, 894 square feet (the “ Remaining Area ), effective as of December 31, 2024. Following the amendment,
the revised monthly lease payments are approximately $ 155. In exchange, APT was required to pay a relinquished premises fee in an
amount equal to $ 1, 500 within 10 business days following March 15, 2024. In addition, the Company issued the Landlord warrants (the «
Landlord Warrants ) to purchase up to an aggregate of 25, 000 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock at an exercise price of $ 50. 00 per
share. The Landlord Warrants became exercisable on July 9, 2024, and will expire on January 28, 2027. The amendment also included a
one- time option to early terminate the lease agreement on February 28, 2029 with respect to the Remaining Area under certain terms. The
execution of the early termination will require APT to pay a termination fee of $ 3, 000. The operating lease right- of- use assets and
operating lease liabilities contemplate the termination option. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized an
impairment charge in relation to its right- of- use asset. See Note 11 for further information. Lcase expenses recorded in the consolidated
statements of operations were $ 3, 543 and $ 628 and-$F3-for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. Supplemental
cash flow information related to operating leases was as follows: Year ended December 31, 2623-2024 Year ended December 31, 26222023 Cash
payments for operating leases 1, 533 676 #86-As of December 31, 2623-2024 ., the-Company-BiomX Israel' s operating leases had a weighted
average remaining lease term of 5. 9 years and a weighted average discount rate of 6 %. APT ’ s operating leases had a weighted average
remaining lease term of -4 . 9-1 years and a weighted average discount rate of 6-13. 67 %. The maturity anatysis-analyses of both operating leases
as of December 31, 2623-2024 were as follows: Operating Leases 2024-688-2025 688-1, 952 2026 688-1, 983 2027 688-2, 015 2028 688-5, 048 2029
688-914 2030 630-627 Total operating lease payments 4-12 , #58-538 Less imputed interest ( 53-2, 954 ) Total operating lease liability balance 3-9 |
905-584 F- NOFE-23NOTE $-6 - OTHER ACCOUNT PAYABLES As of Deuembel 31, %%%Q%Fmp]o} ees and 1elated mst]tut]ons l 852 899
Accrued expenses 3, 771 1, 289 887Government institutions 6-De neottabora § e
242-Other- §, 55-258 3, 344 2456-F—19NOFE-—- NOTE 9-7 - IR/\\JS/\C lION WIT H RI:LA TED P/\R TTES A. ln OLt()bu 2019 Bl()an Ismd
entered into a loan agreement in the amount of $ 19 with a stockholder who was subject to taxation in Israel in connection with the Recapitalization
Transaction. As part of llm Ioan agreement, 570 t-he—steeldae-}deﬁs-shams of Common Slod< held by the stockholder were restr mlud and allocated to
the (ompanv. he-ntn 6 6 o1 W rtg-o .

eqﬁ-}t-y—Dufmg—t-he—ye&r—eﬁded—DeeembeH—l—ZO’? lhu sh”uu of (ommon Slock were uan\ urul to lhu \lockholdu and were auounlud as

reissuance of treasury stock. B . Refer to note 12B regarding stock options granted to related parties. C . Refer to note 12A regarding a
Securities Purchase Agreement with institutional investors . NOTE 8- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES A. In May 2021 ., atefAPT
entered into a Collaboration and Option Agreement ( the Company-* Oyster Agreement ) with Oyster, a wholly owned subsidiary of Viatris
Inc., to collaborate on the use of APT ’ s direetors-and-proprietary phage technology for the treatment of certain ophthalmic diseases. Upon
exeettive-execution effieers—C——Refer-of the Agreement, Oyster paid an upfront payment of $ 500 to nete12Bregardingstoeloptions-granted-te
retated-parties-APT, a portion of which APT claims it has spent in the course of performing its obligations under the Oyster Agreement .
NOTEHO-COMMITMENTSAND-CONTINGENCHESA-In April 2022 and September 2023, APT received letters from Oyster and Viatris
Inc. raising concerns about APT’ s actions, including allegations that APT had breached the Oyster Agreement. On December 18, 2024, APT
and Oyster signed a settlement agreement (the “ Settlement Agreement ), which includes a payment of $ 300 from APT to Oyster. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company has recorded a provision of $ 300 as other accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets. On
January 13, 2025, APT paid Oyster $ 300 according to the Settlement Agreement. B . In March 2024-2022 | the 1A 2 approv ed an twe-new
appkeaﬁeﬂs— appllcatlon for a total budget of NIS 13 004 thousands (approxnmately $ 4, 094) in 1€]dt10ﬂ to the ( ompan\ s cy! sm f1b1 0sis

eaﬂd-tdafe— The IIA commllled 10 ﬁmd a() %o of the approved budoel The program is 101 the period beomnm(T lanum) 2()72 thlouah December 2()
Through December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company received NIS 1, 365 thousands (approximately $ 395) from the IIA with respect to this program. ln
March 2023, the ITA approved an application for a total budget of NIS 11, 283 thousands (approximately $ 3, 164) in relation to the Company’ s
cystic fibrosis product candidate. The ITA committed to fund 30 % of the approved budget. The program is for the period beginning January 2023
through December 2023. Through December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company received NIS 2, 783 thousands (approximately $ 768) from the IIA with
respect to this program. F- 24 BIOMX INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (USD in thousands, except share
and per share data) NOTE 8- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Cont.) According to the agreements with the [IA, BiomX Israel will
pdy royalties o‘r 3 % t03.5% ()’r future salcs up to an amount Lqu(\l to the accumulated grant received including annual interest of HHBOR}inkedte
et 4 anged-te-the 12- month Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR
r-&te—”) as lebllShLd on th first lladms_ day of each mluular year. BlomX [srael may be required to pay additional royalties upon the occurrence of
certain events as determined by the IIA, that are within the control of BiomX Israel. No such events have occurred or were probable of occurrence as
of the balance sheet date with respect to these royalties. Repayment of the grant is contingent upon the successful completion of the BiomX Israel’ s
R & D programs and generating sales. BiomX Israel has no obligation to repay these grants if the R & D program fails, is unsuccessful or aborted or
if no sales are generated. The Company had not yet generated sales as of December 31, 2023-2024 ; therefore, no liability was recorded in these
consolidated financial statements. IIA grants are recorded as a reduction of R & D expenses, net. Through December 31, 2023-2024 , total grants
approved from the IIA aggregated to approximately $ 9, 353 (NIS 32, 068 thousands). Through December 31, 2623-2024 , BiomX Israel had
received an aggregate amount of § 8, 003 (NIS 27, 423 thousands) in the form of grants from the ITA. Total grants subject to royalties’ payments
aggregated to approximately $ 7, 443-418 . As of December 31, 2623-2024 , BiomX Israel had a contingent obligation to the IIA in the amount of
approximately $ 78 , 944330 including annual interest of EIBOR finked SOFR applicable to the- ISB-dollar deposits . B-C . F-20-BIOMXINE:
NOTESTFO-CONSOHDATED-FINANCIAL-STATEMENTS-In June 2015, BiomX Israel entered into a Research and License Agreement ( the
€ 2015 License Agreement ” USD-in-thousands;exeept-share-and-pershare-data-) as amended with NOTE10—COMMITMENTSAND
Yeda Research and Development Company Limited (“ Yeda ) amended-the-, pursuant
to which BiomX Israel recelved an exclusnve worldwide license to certain know- how and Researeh-research information related to the




development, testing, manufacturing, production and sale of microbiome- based therapeutic product candidates, including candidates
specified in the agreement, as well as patents, research and other rights to phage product candidates. In return, BiomX Israel is obligated to
pay Yeda annual license fees of approximately $ 10 and royalties on revenues as defined in the 2015 License Agreement €. In July 2019, the <
Company and Yeda amended the 2015 License Ameemem i)-eﬁte1=eel—mte—m%O-Ié—P’crfsvaa-ﬁt—pursuant to which the—ameﬂd-meﬂt— following the
closing of the Recapitalization Transaction, the-prov h g e hat-the Company
is obligated to pay Yeda a one- time payment as described in the dmendmmt W hth will not (.xcu.d 1 % of the u)nslduatlon received in the event of
any-certain merger-mergers or aequisttion-acquisitions involving the Company instead-efthe-ExitFee,withrespeet-to-eachlicense-agreement-. The
Merger Agreement as described in aete-Note 1D, does not constitute a applyfersaeh-merger or acquisition as defined in the amendment. €D .
sueeessor-trinterestto-Following the assignment thereof from RondinX Ltd., BiomX Israel is a party to a license agreement dated March 20, ’0] 6
with Yeda, pursuant to which the Company has a worldwide exclusive license to Yeda’ s know- how, information and patents related to the
Company’ s meta- genomics target discovery platform. As consideration for the license, the Company is obligated to pay annual license fees of $ 10,
subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement. Either party has the option to terminate the agreement at any time by way of notice to the other
party, as outlined in the agreement. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay a royalty in the low single digits based on revenue of products. Fhe
As the Company has not yet generated revenue from operations, no provision was included in the consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 a-ﬂd%@%%—me}uée-a—habﬂ-ﬁy—w ith 1espe<,t to t-h-ts—the agreement fﬂ-ﬂ&e—ameuﬂt—e%—l—%—aﬂd%%—respeeﬂve}y—reeefdeé
as-otherHabilities-. E Referte 0 o e 3 v A r—D-. In December 2017,
BiomX Israel signed a patent ll(.(.l]\(. aglument w lth Kuo Um\ uslty dlld ISR Geﬁper&t-teﬂ-m ld pan. /\uordm0 t() the dsolument BiomX Israel
received an exclusive patent license to certain patent rights related to inflammatory bowel disease (“ IBD ) In return, the Company will pay an
annual license fee of between $ 15 and $ 25 subject to the terms and conditions specified in the agreement. Additionally, the Company is obligated to
make additional payments based upon the achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones up to an aggregate of $ 32, 100 and royalty payments
based on future revenue. As the Company has not yet generated revenue from operations and the achievement of certain milestones is not probable,
no provision was included in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-with respect to the agreement. In
April 2019, BiomX Israel signed an additional patent license agreement with Keio University and JSR €esperatierrin Japan. According to the
agreement, BiomX Israel received an exclusive sublicense by JSR to certain patent rights related to the treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis. In
return, the Company is required (i) to pay a license issue fee of $ 20 and annual license fees ranging from § 15 to $ 25 (ii) make additional payments
based upon the achievement of clinical and regulatory milestones up to an aggregate of $ 32, 100 and (iii) make tiered royalty payments, in the low
single digits based on future revenue. As the Company has not yet generated revenue from operations and the achievement of certain milestones is
not probable, no provision was included in the consolidated financial statements as of Duembu 31, 2024 and 2023. On January 16As—erf
Deeember34-, 2022-2025 |, the Company notified JSR of the termination of the nanetal-statements-ine b sweith
to-this-agreement m—t-he—ameuﬂt—ef—$—49—feeefded-as—et-heﬁhab&r&es— FeH-he—yeaﬁeﬂded—BeeembeH—l—Such termmatlon w1ll be effectlve on Aprll
16 , 2623-2025 +the y . . F-24-25 F. On June 23,
2022 (the “ Effective Date ”) BiomX Israel entered 1nt0 a 1(.suueh (.()lldb()ldtl()n dyeunent W lth Boehlmgu Ingelheim International GmbH (“ BI )
for a collaboration to identify biomarkers for IBD. Under the agreement, BiomX Isracl s-was ecligible to receive fees totaling $ 1, 411 to cover costs
te-be-incurred by BiomX Israel in conducting the research plan under the collaboration. The fees were swill-be-paid in instalments-installments of $
500 within 30 dﬂys of Ihe Flfeune Dﬂle and Ihlee ﬂddmoml mslallmenls of § 500 $200 "md $ 2] 1 upon Lompleuon of certain activities under the
lesedr(,h pldn A ; e f rtH-a)-a 2 h

1eu)rded asa 1eduet10n of R & D expenses, net in the u)nsollddtui statements of ()puatl()ns du.()ldmg to the 1nput model method on a cost- to- cost

basis —Fh . In December 2023, the Company
completed its oblwallons with respeu to this agreement , and the last 1nstallment of § 211 was recelved in January 2024 . As of December 31,
2623-2024 , the Company received the entire conmdemtlon of § 1,200-411 . For 34,2024~ H4a-NOTE 6- ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARYIn
November 2017,BiomX Israel signed a share purchase agreement with the shareholders of RondinX Ltd.In accordance with the share purchase
agreement,BiomX Israel acquired 100 % control and ownership of RondinX Ltd.The share purchase agreement included a contingent consideration
mechanism.The contingent consideration is based on the attainment of future clinical,developmental, regulatory,commercial and strategic milestones
relating to product candidates for treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis or entry into qualifying collaboration agreements with certain third
parties and may require the Company to issue $6-567 , #73-729 shares of Common Stock upon the attainment of certain milestones,as well as make
future cash payments and / or issue additional shares of the most senior class of the Company’ s shares of Common Stock authorized or outstanding
as of the time the payment is due,or a combination of both,up to $ 32,000 within ten years from the closing of the agreement the years ended
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 . Refer to note 2J. The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023
include a liability with respect to this agreement in the amount of $ 77 and $ 155, respectively, recorded as other liabilities. NOTE 9- U. S.
GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS AND GRANTSIn 2019, APT entered into a Base Agreement and Research Project Award (collectively, the
“ Agreement ) with the U. S. Army Medical Research Acquisition Activity (“ USAMRAA ”) and the U. S. Army Medical Research &
Development Command (“ USAMRDC ”) to advance personalized phage therapy from niche to broad use. Awards under the Agreement are
intended to lay the groundwork for rapid advancement of personalized phage therapy to commercialization for the variety of clinical
indications and bacterial pathogens representing un- met needs with a focus on infections with significant military relevance. The
competitive award was granted by USAMRAA and USAMRDC in collaboration with MTEC, a 501 (c) (3) biomedical technology
consortium working in partnership with the U. S. Department of Defense. Since Agreement inception, APT entered into certain
modifications to the Agreement to include additional activities and perform pre- clinical activities to advance the Diabetic Foot Osteomyelitis
(“ DFO ”) clinical program. Under the Agreement, MTEC reimburses APT for approved costs as incurred that are based upon the
achievement of certain milestones up to a contract value of $ 36, 214. In September 2024, the Agreement was amended to extend the period
of performance to continue and complete the pre- clinical activities for the DFO clinical program, which increased the total contract value to
$ 39, 081. In conjunction with this Agreement, APT was subject to and-—- an assessment fee of an amount equal up to 3 % of the total funded
value of the research project award which was paid by the Company upon signing the agreement or the modifications. Under the
amendment signed in September 2022-2024 , APT was subject to an assessment fee of 1 %, resulting in a payment of $ 29 to MTEC in
December 2024. For the period between the Acquisition and December 31, 2024, the Company received grants of $ 3, 494 from MTEC with
respect to the cost relmbursement contract. Durmg the year ended December 31, 2024 , the Company recorded $ +2 , 614 124-and-$28%

A rs-as a reduction of R & D expenses , net . See-note+9A-regarding-funds-The remainder of
the con51deratlon the Company is entltled to feeewed— receive after-is recorded as t-he—other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet
sheets date- F- G—R : y b 26NOTE H-10 - LONG- TERM DEBTOn
August 16, 2021, the Company entered into a Loan and Seeunly Ag,letmem (lhe Loan Agleemtm ’) with Hercules Capital, Inc. (“ Hercules ™),
with respect to a venture debt facility. Under the Loan Agreement, Hercules provided the Company with access to a term loan with an aggregate
principal amount of up to $ 30, 000 (the “ Term Loan Facility ™), available in three tranches, subject to certain terms and conditions. The first tranche

of $ 15, 000 was advanced to the Company on the date the Loan Agreement was executed. Hpen-the-oeetrrenee-of speetfied-milestones-and




ha\c cxpnul Thc Company was lcquncd to makc interest only paxmcms through M JILh 1, “O““. and started then to repay lhc principal balance and
interest in equal monthly installments through-September+;2625-. The Loan Agreement provided that the Company may-could prepay advances
under the Loan \Ulccmcnt in whole or in pdlt atany time \le]cct toa p]cpa\ mcnt charge equal m—éa-)—3.—9—%—e-ﬁaﬂﬁetm-ts-pfepaid—rf—stteh

g e menth hse)-1. 0 % after 24
monlhs bul prior to »() months followmg the Closmg Date—aﬂd—(dﬁ—ﬁe—e%ﬁﬁge—a—fter—?ré—meﬁt-hs— Upon prepayment or 1cpd\ ment of all or any of the
term loans under the Term Loan Facility, the Company is-was required to pay an end of term charge (“ End of Term Charge ) equal to 6. 55 % of
the total aggregate amount of the term loans being prepaid or repaid. See-nete-On March +9D-- 19 regarding-, 2024, the Company prepaid the
entire balance under the Term Loan Faclhty in a total of $ 10 428 The pr tpm mmt 1ncluded of the-term-loan-after-the-balancesheet-date-

i i pprex n wis‘)\vﬁ—reeegnized-m‘eﬁhe—ﬁ-fe-eﬁ-he—temﬂeoﬁ—&s
a-n—and accrued interest of $ 69 e*peﬁse—ustng—t-he—effeetﬁﬁrtefe&t—me&red— l he debt—tssuaﬂee—eesfs—Company received from Hercules a waiver
regarding the prepayment charge that should have been 1 % out reeerded-a a
the-maturity-date-of the ternrtean-prepaid principal amount that equals to $ 94 Interest expense relating to 1hc term loan, which is included in
interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $ 850 2;404-and §$ 2, 869-404 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
and2022- respectively. HaderNOTE 11- GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSET & LONG- LIVED ASSETS IMPAIRMENT Following the
APT Acquisition terms-ofthe LeanAgreement, the Company granted-first-priority-liens-and-seeurity-interestsrecognized goodwill valued at $ 801
after adjustment made during the measurement period as described in substantiallyeH-Note 1D above. In the third quarter of 2024, the
Company performed a quantltatlve assessment for goodwrll 1mpa1rment due to a dechne in the C ompam s stock prlce resultmgmtel-}eet-ua-}

éefauh—me}ud-mg—a—mateﬂai-ad-verse-ehaﬂg&m—ﬂu Company xbustness—stockholders equlty Wthh management concluded aspa-yﬁent—éefau-}ts;
breaches-ofeovenants-following-any— an appleable-eureperied;-and-a-matertal-impairment i-indicator. The assessment utilizes the Company

perfeetion-orpriority-of Heretles- seeurity-interestin-the-eoHaterals market capitalization plus an appropriate control premium . Market
capitalization is determined Ir-the-event-ofdefaultby multiplying the outstanding number of shares of Common Stock by the Company under’

s stock price. The control premium is determined by utilizing publicly available data from studies for similar transactions of public

companies. Based on the assessment FeanAgreentent, the Company concluded that may-berequired-torepay-al-amounts-then— the euntstanding
under-the-Loan-Agreement-fair value of its reporting unit was less than its carrying value . Future-prineipat-payments-Therefore, the Company
recognized a full goodwill impairment of $ 801 for the year ended teng—termdebtare-asfoHows=Deccember 31, 2023-2024 5:-785-. In the third
quarter of 2625-2024 , the Company performed a quantitative assessment for its IPR & D asset, resulting from the decline in the Company’ s
stock price as above mentioned. The assessment indicated that the fair value of its IPR & D was higher than its carrying value and no
impairment was recognized. During the fourth quarter of 2024, in light of the continued decline in the Company’ s stock price, the Company
reperformed a quantitative assessment for its IPR & D asset. The assessment was performed using the discounted cash flow model of the
income approach. The cash flow projections included significant judgments and assumptions relating to amount and timing of projected
future cash flows including, but not limited to, estimating the expected costs to complete in- process projects, projecting regulatory
approvals, estimating future cash flows from product sales and developing appropriate discount rates. The Company used a discount rate of
19 % which is based on the estimated weighted- average cost of capital for APT. As a result of the impairment assessment, the Company
concluded that the fair value of the IPR & D decreased below its carrying value and the Company recorded an impairment in the amount of
$ 3, 237 for the year ended December 31, 2024. In December 2024, the Company’ s management decided to cease the use of the property in
Gaithersburg, Maryland and made it available for sublease. The Company considered it as an impairment indicator for impairment
assessment of the right- of- use asset and related leasehold improvements as the Company considered it as one asset group for the purpose of
the long- lived asset impairment assessment. Calculating the fair value of the asset group involves significant estimates and market
participant assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include, among others, projected future cash flows, risk- adjusted discount rates
and market conditions. The Company evaluated the future cash flows expected from a sublease agreement over the remaining lease term
and concluded that the carrying value of the asset group was not recoverable as it exceeded the future net discounted cash flows that are
expected to be generated from the use of the assets w1th1n the asset group The Company recognlzed an lmpalrment of $ 4, 046 which was
allocated to the right- 96 p a dd d 2 d en-of End-- use asset and the
related leasehold 1mprovements w1th1n the asset group on a pro rata basis usmg the relatlve carrying amounts of Ferm-those assets, which
resulted in impairment €harge-charges of 440-Tetal-futureprineipal-payments5 H-3 . 516 and 187-Current-portionoftong—ternmdebt(5785)
Feng—termdebtnet$ 5530 , 402-respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2024 F- NOFE-27NOTE [2- STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
A. Share Capital: Reverse Stock Split: On July 9, 2024, the Company’ s stockholders approved a reverse stock split at a ratio within a range
of 1- for- 5 and 1- for- 10 at such time as the Board of Directors shall determine, in its sole discretion, at any time before July 9, 2025. On
August 8, 2024, the Board of Directors approved a 1- for- 10 Reverse Stock Split of the Company’ s shares of Common Stock (the “ Reverse
Stock Split ). On August 20, 2024, the Company filed the Certificate of Amendment with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the
Reverse Stock Split, which became effective on August 26, 2024 (the “ Effective Date ”). The Company’ s Common Stock began trading on a
Reverse Stock Split adjusted basis on the NYSE American at the opening of the markets on the Effective Date. As a result of the Reverse
Stock Split, the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding was reduced from 178, 958, 447 shares to 18, 021, 173 shares. No fractional
shares of Common Stock or Units were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders of the Company who otherwise were
entitled to receive fractional shares or Units, because they held a number of shares or Units, as applicable, not evenly divisible by the
Reverse Stock Split ratio were automatically entitled to receive an additional fraction of a share of the Common Stock or Unit, as applicable,
to round up to the next whole share. As a result, 125, 328 shares of Common Stock were issued. The Reverse Stock Split did not change the
par value of the Common Stock nor the authorized number of shares of Common Stock, preferred stock or any series of preferred stock.
Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts of issued and outstanding stock contained in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been adjusted to reflect the 1- for- 10 Reverse Stock Split for all prior periods presented. Proportional adjustments were also made to




shares underlying outstanding equity awards, warrants and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares, and to the number of shares issued
and issuable under the Company’ s stock incentive plans and certain existing agreements. Authorized shares of common stock : On August
24-July 9 , 20222024 , the Company’ s stockholders approved increasing the number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 68-120 , 000, 000
shares, par value $ 0. 0001 per share, to 426-750 , 000, 000 shares, par value $ 0. 0001 per share. Freasuary-Preferred Stock: Refer-The Company is
authorized to nete-9A-issue 1, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $ 0 . 0001 per share with such designation, rights and
preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Company’ s Board of Directors. On March 15, 2024, the Company issued 40, 470
and 216, 417 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares, par value $ 0. 0001 per share, as part of the Acquisition and the March 2024 PIPE,
respectively. On July 15, 2024, 109, 152 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares were converted into 10, 915, 200 shares of the Company’
s Common Stock. F- 28NOTE 12- STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (Cont.) A. Share Capital: (Cont.) Initial Public Offering: On December 18,
2018, the Company consummated its initial public offering (“ IPO ™) of 7, 000, 000 units (‘ Public Units ). The Public Units sold in the IPO were
sold at an offering price of $ 10. 00 per Public Unit, generating total gross proceeds of $ 70, 000. The Public Units each eensist-consisted of one
share of Common Stock and one warrant to purchase one- half of a share of Common Stock (“ Public Warrant ), with every two Public Warrants
entitling the holder to purchase one share of Common Stock for $ 11. 50 per full share . The Public Warrants expired on October 28, 2024 and on
October 24, 2024, the Units were mandatorily separated and ceased trading on the NYSE American . Simultaneous with the consummation of
the IPO, the Company consummated the private placement of an aggregate of 2, 900, 000 warrants (““ Private Placement Warrants ). The Private
Placement Warrants sere-cxpired on December 13, 2023, F=-23NOTFEA2-STOCKHOLEDERS EQUITFY{(Cont)-A—Share-Capital:{Cont)-Stock
Exchange: As detailed in note 1, as part of the Recapitalization lltmx(lclmn on ()clobcl 28, 701‘) the Company also agreed tot&stted— issue -15—200
000 additional 869:-858-sharcs of Common Stock irexehang p ; 3 8

preferred-shares-of BiomXIsraelJn-addition-, the-Compan d-to t mber-of-additional-sha
Wte—steekhe-}éefs—on a plo rata bd\l\ sabjeet—te—lf the dally volume welghted average prlce of lhc Company’ s aeh-tevemeﬁt—ef—t-he

W r-Common Stock in any 20 trading days within a 30- trading day period
26 is greater than or equal to $29. 00 per share ( ﬁ-l-l-\x 1lh respect to the C omp(m\ s Common §lock traded on the NYSE
00-ad S vy SRPHe he 5
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American) +A

. Private Investment in Pllb]l( LL uity: On

F Lbllldl\ 22,2023, the (ompdm entered into a gccunllcs I’Luchllse Agreement to issue and scll an aggregate of 45-1 , 997599 | 448-746 shares of its
Common Stock and +4-1 , 6+0-461 , H4-072 pre- funded warrants (the “ Pre- Funded Warrants ”, and collectively, the “ Securities ) at a price of $ &
2 . 24545 per share and $ 6-2 . 244- 44 per Pre- Funded Warrant in s-thretgh-a private placement (the “ February 2023 PIPE —Fhe-gress-) for a
net proceeds of fromrthis-effering-are-approximately $ 7, 485-152 , before-after deducting issuance costs of $ 333 . As of December 31 Fhe-offering
elosedHn-twoparts—Thefirstelosing-, 2024 which-eevered3-, $99-533 | 494-031 Pre- Funded Warrants were exercised into 533, 031 shares of

( ommon Stock aﬁd—2—746—42-8—Pfe—Fuﬂded—Wm=faﬂts—lm gress—pfeeeeds—total consideration of § 6 +-469;-eecurred-onFebruary27,2023—Sueh
A >-at an exercise ])IILL of $ 0. 99-1- 01 pu shuc of (ommon Sloclxaﬂd—have-ﬁe

3 et RO P]c I_undcd Warrants were
L\uuscd —"Fhe—exefersemto 925 607 shares ol Common Stock through cashless mechamsm w1th no consnderatlon As of December 31, 2024,
the-there are no outstanding Pre- Funded Warrants +s-. On March 15, 2024, in connection with the Acquisition, the Company issued to APT’ s
former stockholders 916, 497 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock, 40, 470 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares and Merger
Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 216, 650 shares of the Company Common Stock. See Note 1D for further information.
Concurrently with the consummation of the Acquisition as described in Note 1D, the Company entered into the March 2024 PIPE, pursuant
to which such investors purchased an aggregate of 216, 417 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“ PIPE Preferred Shares ”) and
Private Placement Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 10, 820, 850 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock, at a combined price of
$ 231. 10 per share of PIPE Preferred Share and an accompanying Private Placement Warrant to purchase 50 shares of common stock. The
PIPE Preferred Shares and the Private Placement Warrants were issued in a private placement pursuant to an exemption from registration
requirements under the Securities Act for aggregate gross proceeds of $ 50, 000. Each Private Placement Warrant’ s exercise price equals to
$ 2. 31, subject to customary adjustments for stock dividends, stock splits, reclassifications and the like, became exercisable from the date of
the receipt of BiomX stockholder approval, which was obtained on July 9, 2024, and will expire on July 9, 2026. Under certain
circumstances, the Company may be required to pay to each holder of the Private Placement Warrants (i) an amount in cash equal to the
holder’ s total purchase price for the shares of Common Stock purchased (the “ Buy- In Price ”) or credit such holder’ s balance account
with the Depository Trust Company (“ DTC ”) for such shares of Common Stock shall terminate, or (ii) promptly honor its obligation to
deliver to such holder a certificate or certificates representing such shares of Common Stock or credit such holder’ s balance account with
DTC, as applicable, and pay cash to such holder in an amount equal to the excess (if any) of the Buy- In Price over the product of (A) such
number of shares of Common Stock, times (B) Weighted Average Price (as defined in the Private Placement Warrant) on the trading day
immediately preceding the exercise date. F- 29 The Company accounted for the Private Placement Warrants as liabilities as the Private
Placement Warrants are not considered indexed to the entity’ s own stock based on the provision of ASC 815. The Private Placement
Warrants will be measured at fair value at inception and in subsequent reporting periods with changes in fair value recognized in the
consolidated statements. The terms of the PIPE Preferred Shares are substantially the same as those of the Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Shares issued under the Acquisition and were accounted for as temporary equity at the issuance date and were reclassified as
equity. See Note 1D for further information. On July 15, 2024, 109, 152 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares that were issued under
the Acquisition and the March 2024 PIPE were converted into 10, 915, 200 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock according to beneficial
ownership Himitatton-limitations between9-set by certain investors . In connection therewith 99-%5-—9-99-%- The-exereise-price-and-numberof
the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of the Company’ s Common Stock to issuable-upen-the exereise-efplacement agents for the
Pre—Funded-March 2024 PIPE (the “ Agents Warrants aresubjeet”). See Note 12B for further information. The Company allocated the total
consideration from the issuance of the 2024 March PIPE first to adjustmentin-the fair value of the Private Placement Warrants and the-then
eveﬁt—to the PIPE Preferred Shares The Company had transaction costs of any-approximately $ 3, 317 out of which $ 1, 273 is stock

d i based compensation due to issuance of the Agents Warrants. The transaction

costs were allocated m the same manner as deseﬂbed—m—the agreements-consideration . Pursuant-Issuance costs which were allocated to the sele
diseretion-of-the-holder PIPE Preferred Shares were $ 1 . 410 and deducted from Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares, and issuance




costs that were allocated to thc Private Placement Pre d-Warrants-may-be-exereisable-on-a——eashiess b h nded-Warrants
were elassiffed-as-a-componentofstoekholders™equity-$ 1, 907 and were expensed 1mmed1ately -F-%4—Al the- mmku Sales Agreement: In
December 2020, pursuant to a registration statement on Form S- 3 declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11,
2020, the Company entered into an Open Market Issuance Sales Agreement (“ ATM Agreement ) with Jefferies LLC. (“ Jefferies ), which
provided that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations in the ATM Agreement, the Company could elect, from time to time, to
offer and sell shares of Common Stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $ 50, 000 through Jefferies acting as sales agent. During the year
ended Deeembu 31, 2023, the Company sold 266 20 shares of Common %L()ek under the ATM Agreement, at an av uage puee of % 9—6 622 pu
Sh{il(, - 8 ¢ h g 2 A

& eommisston TheATM
/\Uleement was telmmated on Deeembel 7,2023. In Degembel 2023, pmsuant to a registration smtement on Folm S-3 degldled effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 2, 2024, the Company entered into an Open Market Offering Agreement with H. C. Wainwright &
Co., LLC (“ Wainwright ), pursuant to which the Company may issue and sell shares of Common Stock having an aggregate offering price of up to
$ 7, 500 +-800-from time to time through Wainwright. The Company recorded transaction costs of $ 210 in the consolidated statements of operations.
Maruho-Agreement—In-Oetober-During the year ended December 31 %92—1—2024 the C ompany sold 7 eﬂtefed—nﬁe—a—Stee}ePﬂrehase—Agreement
with-a-substdiary-ef Maraho-Co—Ltd— 518 v e-dern g
Company-issted-to-Maraho-375;:-006-shares of Common chk under thls agreement, at a-an average price of $ 8—2 99—71 per sh(ue feﬁgfess—
ra1s1ng aggregate net pl()Leuis of appr0x1mately $ 3—19 after deductlng an aggregate commlssmn 999—”Fhe~eem-p&ny—ﬁ-}se—graﬂted—Mafuhe—a

£t O O O S proa anaraate; 3 O O

Company suspended the Open Market Offerlng Agreement afrand 1

hLabilityte-berecognized-as-other—- the meeme—&Ha—pemt—rrr&me—eﬂe&ﬂﬁe—ehmeﬂl—trm%s—ulaled contlnuous offerlng by fe—the—preduet—eaﬂd-xd-&te
a-re—eemp%eted—Fe-l-}ewmg—lhe C ompan> —s—&nﬂeﬂneemeﬁt—under its reglstratlon statement on Form S May—24£922—&s—menﬂeﬁed—m—nete—l-8

%92—3—2024 1he ( ompam h'ld lhe Iollomn" oulsmndnw warrants to pulchase Common Stod< 1\sued to slockholdels Warrant l\suance Dﬂle
Expiration Date Exercise Price Per Share Number of Shares of Common Stock Underlying Warrants Publie-WarrantsHRO-(Deeember13;264+8)
Oetober28;2024H-50-3;-566,-000-202 1 Registered Direct Offering Warrants SPA (July 28, 2021) January 28, 2027 5-50 . 00 281, 251 Merger
Warrants March 15, 2024 January 28, 2027 50. 00 216, 650 Private Placement Warrants * March 15, 2024 July 9, 2026 2 . 31 10 , 8+2-820 .
850 Agents 56+Pre—Funded-\Warrants March 15, 2024 July 9, 2026 2. 31 952 381 12 271 132 i On l"ebruar\ 2—7—25 292—3—2025 - the Prlvate
Placement Warrants were repriced to an exercise price of $ 0. e y
93 -24+5-per share in connection with a Securities Purchase Agreement the Company entered lnto See N ote 19 for further mformatlon B.
Stock- based compensation: Equity Incentive Plan: In 2015, the Board of Directors of BiomX Israel approved a plan for the allocation of options to
employees, service providers, and officers (the “ 2015 Plan ™). The options represented a right to purchase one Ordinary Share of the BiomX Israel in
consideration of the payment of an exercise price. Also, the options were granted in accordance with the  capital gains route ”” under section 102 and
section 3 (i) of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance and section 409A of the U. S. Internal Revenue Code as technically adjusted following the
Recapitalization Transaction on October 28, 2019. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , there are no shares of Common Stock remaining for issuance
under the 2015 Plan. In 2019, the Company adopted a new incentive plan (the “ 2 019 Plan’ ’) to grant 1, 000 options, exercisable for Common Stock.
The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be delivered pursuant to the 2019 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each
year, commencing on January 1, 2020 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2029, in an amount equal to four percent (4 %) of the total number
of shares of Common Stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may act prior to
January 1 of a given year to provide that there will be no January 1 increase for such year or that the increase for such year will be a lesser number of
shares of Common Stock than provided herein. On July 9, 2024, the Company’ s stockholders approved increasing the number of shares of
Common Stock under the Company’ s 2019 Plan to be equal to 15 % of the total number of fully- diluted shares of Common Stock
outstanding as of the approval date, or 7, 800, 000 shares. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there were +5 , 644818 , $84-677 shares of Common
Stock remaining for issuance under the 2019 Plan. On January 1, 2624-2025 , the number of shares of Common Stock available to grant under the
2019 Plan was increased by +727 , 066 $39;+87-. F- 2731 B Stock based compen\atlon (( ont.) Stock Options: On March 29-1 , 2622-2023 , the
Board of Directors approved the grant of +-154 , 6 e ersoneconstltantand five-direetors-underth




ea areh h 8 eetors-app h ; ptions to 49 employees flw: senior oﬁlcels and thlee directors
undLr the 2019 Pldl] w 1th0ut consideration. The optlons were Q:I'dnT(,d dt an exercise price of $ -4 . 48-00 per share with a vesting period of four
years. Directors and senior officers are entitled to full acceleration of their unvested options upon the occurrence of both a change in control of the
Company and the end of their engagement with the Company. On August 21, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the grant of 82-8 , 666-200
options to two directors under the Company’ s 2019 Plan, without consideration. Options were granted at an exercise price of $ 8-3 . 363~ 63 per
share with a vesting period of four years. Directors are entitled to full acceleration of their unvested options upon the occurrence of both a change in
control of the Company and the end of their engagement with the Company. On October 19, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the grant of 4+4
,800-100 options to one director under the 2019 Plan, without consideration. The options were granted at an exercise price of $ 8-3 . 32-20 per share
with a vesting period of four years. Such director is entitled to full acceleration of his unvested options upon the occurrence of both a change in
control of the Company and the end of his engagement with the Company. On October 29, 2023, the Board of Directors approved the grant of +54—
15, 4+66-110 options to 4 employees and one senior officer under the 2019 Plan, without consideration. The options were granted at an exercise price
of $6-2 . 295~ 75 per share with a vesting period of four years. The senior officer is entitled to full acceleration of her unvested options upon the
occurrence of both a change in control of the Company and the end of her engagement with the Company. On October 29, 2023, the Board of
Directors approved a reduction in the exercise price (“ the Repricing ”’) of each outstanding option to purchase shares of the Company’ s Common
Stock currently held by employees of BiomX with an original exercise price above $ -6 . 69-90 per share granted under the Company”’ s 2015
Employee Stock Option Plan to $ 8-2 . 275 75 per share. Other than the exercise price, no other terms of grant of the repriced options were changed;
however, the options may not be exercised until one year after the repricing date. The reduction of the exercise price of the options was considered a
type I modification according to ASC 718. As a result of the Repricing, the Company recognized immediately the incremental fair value in the
amount of § 167 as the repriced options were fully vested on October 29, 2023. F- 32 Stock Options: (Cont.) On November 9, 2023, the Company
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a Tender Offer Statement defining the terms and conditions of a one- time voluntary stock option
exchange of certain eligible options for its employees (the “ Option Exchange ). the Company offered to exchange certain out- of- the- money stock
options for new stock options at an exchange ratio of between 1. 4 and 3. 8 surrendered options for one new option exercisable for shares of common
stock with a lower exercise price. On December 11, 2023, the completion date of the Option Exchange, stock options covering an aggregate of +-15 ,
083 508,2806-shares of Common Stock were tendered by eligible employees, and the Company granted new options at an exercise price of $ 82 . 275
- 75, the Company’ s closing stock price on December 11, 2023, covering an aggregate of 694— 69 , 874487 shares of Common Stock under the
2019 Plan in exchange for the tendered options. The Cancellation and new stock options grant qualifies as a *“ cancellation of an award accompanied
by the concurrent grant of a replacement award, ” as defined in ASC 718, which is accounted for as a modification. Under ASC 718, incremental
compensation cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately
before its terms are modified. As a result of the Option Exchange, the Company will recognize an incremental stock- based compensation expense of
$ 19 over the remaining vesting period of the new stock options, which is three or four years. The Company will recognize the sum of the
incremental stock- based compensation expense and the remaining unrecognized compensation expense for the original awards on the modification
date, over the remaining vesting period of the new stock options. On March 15, 2024, the Company issued Agents Warrants to purchase up to
an aggregate of 952, 381 shares of the Company’ s Common Stock to the Placement Agents in connection with the March 2024 PIPE. The
exercise price of the Agents Warrants is $ 2. 31 per share and they became exercisable at any time after the date of the receipt of BiomX
stockholder approval, which was obtained on July 9, 2024, and will expire on July 9, 2026. The Company accounted for the Agents
Warrants under the scope of ASC 718- 10, and treated them as issuance costs of the March 2024 PIPE as the Company considers these
Warrants as consideration for receipt of Private Placement Services. The Company determined the fan % alue of eaeh—epﬁeﬁ—was-es%mated-the
Agents Warrants using the Black- Scholes model as of March 5, 2024. The main the-d g g stng-the-Blae
eption—prieing-modelusing-the-following-assumptions used are as follows : 2623-2622-U ndu’lymé \dlm of Common Stock (‘B) 62 .31 %8-—9—49—9—
3F+—-4+-Exercise price ($) 82 . 31 28-0-46-037—1—4+-Expected volatility (%) 100 96-0-96-. 6 853—88—4-Expected terms ofthe-eptien{ycars) 6
2 . 32 H-53+-6—H-Risk- free interest rate (%) 4. 4 On September 16, 2024, the Company granted 155, 429 RSUs to four senior officers and
one service provider. The RSUs were fully vested and issued on the grant date and are not subject to continued service to the Company. The
RSUs’ fair value is the Company’ s stock closing price as of the grant date, which was $ 0. 99. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has no
unvested RSUs. On July 11, 2024, the Board of Directors approved the grant of 1, 567, 795 options to 51 employees, six senior officers and
seven directors under the 2019 Plan, without consideration. Options were granted at an exercise price of $ 3. 63 per share with a vesting
period of four years. Directors and senior officers are entitled to full acceleration of their unvested options upon the occurrence of both a
change in control of the Company and the end of their engagement with the Company. The fair value of each option was estimated as of the
date of grant or reporting period using the Black- Scholes option- pricing model using the following assumptions: 2024 2023 Underlying
value of Common Stock ($) 3. 63 2. 8- 4. 0 Exercise price ($) 3. 63 2. 8- 4. 0 Expected volatility (%) 112. 6 90. 0- 96. 6 Expected terms of the
option (years) 6. 11 6. 11 Risk- free interest rate (%) 4. 14 4. 21- 4. 98 2-50-4-05-F'- 33 28-SteekOptions{Centy-Total fair value embodied in
the options granted in 2024 and 2023 and2022-at the grant date, is estimated to be S 4, 870 and $ 552 and-$+3H-respectively. These amounts will
be recognized in statements of operations over the vesting period. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the unrecognized compensation cost related to all
unvested, equity classified stock options of $ 742-3, 585 is expected to be recognized as an expense on a graded vesting method over a weighted-
average period of +2 . 65-9 years. A summary of options granted to purchase the Company’ s Common Stock under the Company’ s stock option
plans are as follows: For year ended December 31, 2023-2024 Number of Options Weighted average exercise price Aggregate intrinsic value
Outstanding at the beginning of period 4-528 , 112 F69:441-5 25 . 9341 $ 46-72 Granted 1, 837567 , +66-6-795 3 . 36-63 Forfeited Feaneeled( +-85

, 588 838;140-) 3. 75 98 Replacementoptions-granted-694-8H-02F-Lxpired (+62-7 . 564954 ) 4. 66-38 Exercised- $- Outstanding at the end of
perlod 52286002 , H16-365 4 . 54-09 $ 72-15 Exercisable at end of period 2-369 , 662 5 799;269-6- 58-80 Weighted average remaining
contractual life — years as of December 31, 2623-2024 6-8 . 85-52 As of December 31, 2024, and 2023 sard2022- the Company had the following
outstanding compensation related warrants to purchase Common Stock as follows: Warrant Issuance Date Expiration Date Exercise Price Per Share
Number of Shares of Common Stock Underlying Warrants Private Warrants issued to scientific founders * {see-belew)-November 27, 2017-- 2974
F-—29-298 Landlord Warrants +Cent-* * March 15, 2024 January 28, 2027 50 . >-00 25, 000 25, 298 * In November 2017, BiomX Israel issued
298 2;-9F4-warrants to its founders. The warrants were fully vested at their grant date and will expire immediately prior to a consummation of an M
& A transaction. The warrants did not expire as a result of the Recapitalization Transaction and have no exercise price. The Merger Agreement as




described in note 1D does not apply for such M & A transaction as defined in the grant agreement. * * See Note 5 The following table sets forth the
total stock- based payment expenses resulting from options , RSUs and warrants granted, included in the consolidated statements of operations: Year
ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Research and development expenses, net 600 369 498-General and administrative 1, 248 690 1, 839-848 1, 059
+-529-The Company recognized stock- based compensation expenses in connection with options and RSUs granted to executive officers of the
Company in the amount of § 811 and $ 722 and-$-923~for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. F- 30NOFE
34NOTE 13- RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES, NET Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Professional service and
subcontractors 13, 117 10, 349 5;248-Salaries and related expenses 7, 406 5, 636 8-648-Stock- based compensation 600 369 499-Depreciation 1, 488
782 989-Materials and supplies 518 930 ,3449-Rent and related expenses 3, 900 905 53+6+-Other 222 104 +66-27, 251 19, 075 47667 ess change
in contingent liabilities (see Note +6B-8E ) - (40) —Less income from collaboration agreements (see Note +6F-10E ) - (1, 272 3287) Less grants
from the 1IA and MTEC (sce Nete-Notes +0A-8A and 9) (2,588 ) (1, 065) 24 (-, 663 436316, 698 +6;244-NOTE 14- GENERAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Salaries and related expenses 3, 101 2, 714 2,423-Stock- based
compensation 1, 248 690 4-839-Professional services 3, 227 2, 289 2,867 Travel expenses 299 112 +66-Rent and related expenses 593 298 346
Insurance expenses 1, 379 1, 577 2;-447-Acquisition transaction costs 888- Other 1, 041 970 974-11, 776 8. 650 95456-NOTE 15- FINANCE
EXPENSES (INCOME), NET Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 2622-Exchange rate differences (4+06-27 ) (862-106 ) Interest income from bank
deposits (1, +22-048 ) (4641, 122 ) Bank fees and other 6 56 +3-Loss (income) from foreign exchange contracts 81 (77) 4+-March 2024 PIPE
transaction costs 1, 907- 919 (1, 249) ©902-F- 3HNOFE-35NOTE 16- INCOME TAXES A. The Company files income tax returns in the U. S.
federal jurisdiction and in state and local jurisdictions and is subject to examination by the various taxing authorities. The Company’ s income tax
returns since 2020 remain open and subject to examination. The statutory U. S. federal income tax rate is 21 %. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the
Company had total net operating losses in the U. S. of approximately $ 49-65 , 633-638 . which may be carried forward and offset against taxable
income in the future. Utilization of carryforward losses and research and development tax credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual
limitation under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code due to ownership changes that may have occurred previously or that
could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of carryforward losses that can be utilized annually to offset
future taxable income. APT’ s carryforward losses of $ 22, 131 might be subject to Section 382 limitation. B. BiomX Israel £td—and RondinX
Ltd. file income tax returns in Israel. Their tax assessments through 26472018 and 2022, respectively, arc deemed to be final. The statutory Israeli
income tax rate is 23 %. C. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, BiomX Israel had total carryforward losses in Israel of approximately $
124 651 and $ 108 364 aﬁd—$—99—8—’;’-8—1'c%pcct1\ Ll}/ w hth mdy be oﬁsn,t dg(nnst tdxabl(, income in the future for an indefinite period —See—Nefe—l-9-E
e atto 4 Fa %8 ment-. D. Management has considered the Company’ s history of
Luleldll\L net losses mcurud since muptu)n dnd its lack of wmmuualuallon of any products or generation of any revenue from product sales
since inception and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of the deferred tax assets.
Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been established against the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-.
Management reevaluates the positive and negative evidence at each reporting period. E. The Company’ s policy is to record estimated interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. The Company has no amounts recorded for any unrecognized tax positions,
accrued interest e-nor penalties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 . F. On March 21, 2024, RondinX signed and-- an agreement with the Israeli
tax authority in respect to an assessment for the years 2018- 2022. The agreement concluded that RondinX’ s IP and employees were
transferred to BiomX Israel on the acquisition date. As a result, RondinX had a capital gain equal to its carryforward losses of $ 2, 785 (NIS
10, 036 thousand) and no further payment will be required in respect of the years 2018- 2022. A reconciliation of the U. S. federal statutory tax
rate and the effective tax rate is as follow: As of December 31, 2024 2023 2622-Statutory U. S. federal income tax rate (21) % (21) % U. S. vs
foreign tax rate differential (2) (2) Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance 23 23 Effective tax rate- %- % Loss before taxes on income,
consists of the following: As-efYear ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-United States (3, 511) 6, 085 6;-645-Isracl 21, 225 20, 061 24-17 , 667
714 26, 146 28;252-F- 36NOTE 16- INCOME TAXES (Cont.) Net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-consisted of
the following: As of December 31, 2024 2023 2622-Deferred tax assets: Net operating loss carryforwards 42, 454 29, 047 24;-569-Research and
development expenses, net 10, 898 2, 982 3;483-Lease liability 785 898 +--03+Research and development tax credits (*) 601- Other 838 200 492
Total deferred tax assets 55, 576 33, 127 28;-045-Deferred tax liabilities: Right of use assets ( 847) (964) IPR & D- Intangible Asset ( 127 +-67-) -
Private Placement Warrants (5, 571)- Fixed assets (46-190 ) (42-16 ) Total deferred tax liabilities ( 986-6, 735 ) ( 980 +-083-) Valuation
allowance (3248 , +47-841 ) ( 275832 32, 147 ) Net deferred tax assets-- (*) Research and development tax credits will begin to expire in 2038.
F- 32NOFE-37NOTE 17- BASIC LOSS PER SHAREThe basic and diluted net loss per share and weighted average number of shares of Common
Stock used in the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share are as follows: For the year ended December 31, 2024 2023 Basic and diluted
2022-Netdoss26; 16928317 Net-loss per share 8—5+-0-of common stock Numerator: Net loss 17, 727 26, 169 Denominator: Number of shares
of common stock outstanding 12, 019, 103 4, 115, 95-095 Number of shares upon Pre- Funded Warrants exercise- 1, 017, 700 Number of
shares upon fully vested Warrants exercise 298 298 Total Weighted-weighted - average number of shares of Cemmen-common Steekstock 51—,
336-shares upon Pre- Funded Warrants and fully vested Warrants exercise used in computing basic loss per share 12 , 019 324-29-, $54-401 5
,903-133, 093 Basic loss per share of common stock 1. 47 5. 1 Diluted net loss per share of common stock Numerator: Net loss 17, 727 26, 169
Change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants 26, 458- Diluted net loss 44, 185 26, 169 Denominator: Weighted- average number of
shares of common stock outstanding 12, 019, 401 S, 133, 093 Private Placement Warrants 1, 118, 705- Total weighted- average number of
shares of common stock outstanding, after giving effect to dilutive securities 13, 138, 106 5, 133, 093 Diluted net loss per share of common
stock 3. 36 5. 1 Basic loss per share is computed on the basis of the net loss for the period divided by the weighted average number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding during the period, fully vested warrants with no exercise price for the Company’ s Common Stock and fully vested Pre-
Funded Warrants for the Company’ s Common Stock at an exercise price of % 0. 99-1— 01 pu share, as the C ompany u)nsldus these shares to be
exercised for llttlL to no dddltl()ndl consideration. As-6 At

i—ditutive-to io g H Dlluted ﬂe{—lOSb per share is based upon the weighted average number of
same—as—baste—ﬂet—}ess—peﬁshafe-shares of Common Stock and of potential shares of Common Stock outstanding when dilutive. Potential
shares of Common Stock equivalents include outstanding stock options and warrants, which are included under the treasury stock method
when dilutive . The calculation of diluted loss per share as of Dcumbu 31, 2024 and 2023 , does not include the§%89—7—1—1—6—3—12—59—1—aﬂd%

000,-006-efshares underlying the following financial instruments ep a a vely-because
the-their cffect would be anti- dilutive : For the year ended %Ha%et&&ﬁeﬂ-e#d-i-k&ted—b&s—peﬂhafe—as—eﬁDewmber 31, 292—2—2024 2023 Options
2 doesnotinetade4-, 769-002 , 44+-365 528 . 9245071 Warrants 1 . 475 and4-, 282 631 250 Contmgent shares 200 000200, 000 of
Redeemable Convertible Preferred sharesShares 14 underlying-options-, 773 e & gef , 500 respeetively;
beeatse-the-effeet-wounld-be-antt— dilutive-—F- NOTE-38NOTE 18- SEGMENT INFORMATION The GORPG&A—"PE—RE—S—T—RUG’FU-RI—NGeﬂ—May
242022 the-Company anneuneed-operates as a Corperate Restrueturing-single operating segment , intended-as a clinical stage product
discovery company developing products using both natural and engineered phage technologies. The Company' s chief operating decision-
maker'" (CODM)" is its chief executive officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis. The CODM uses
consolidated Net loss and Operating loss to extend-monitor budget versus actual results in assessing segment performance and the allocation




of resources. Significant segment expenses are presented in the Company’ s eapital-reseurees-consolidated statements of operations.

Addltlonal disaggregated significant segment expenses on a functional basis , while-prieritizing-that are not separately presented on the
Company’ s engeing-eystie-fibresis-pregram-consolidated statements of operations, regularly reviewed by our CODM, include salaries and
clinical trials expenses and presented below. Year ended December 31, 2024 2023 Operating expenses: Salaries and related expenses, other
than share- based compensation 10, 507 8, 350 Clinical trials 12, 301 8, 270 Stock based compensation 1, 848 1, 059 Depreciation expenses 1,
803 871 Goodwill, IPR & D and long- lived assets impairment 8, 084- Other segment items (*) 9, 980 6, 798 Total Operating expenses 44, 523
25, 348 (*) Other segment items include all remaining costs necessary to operate our business, which primarily include external professional
services, rent, insurance and other administrative expenses, net of grants received. The Company' s Property and equipment, as well as the
Company' s operating lease right- of- use assets recognized on the consolidated balance sheets were located as follows: As of December 31,
2024 2023 Israel 6, 090 7, 397 United States 4, 412- Total 10, 502 7, 397 F- 39NOTE 19- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS A. On February 25, 2025,
the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain institutional and accredited investors, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to i issue and sell in a registered direct offering (the “ Registered Direct Offering ”) and-- an delaying-aggregate of 2, 828, 283
shares of the Company’ s atepie-dermatitis-pregram-Common Stock, pre- funded warrants (the “ Registered Pre- Funded Warrants ”) to
purchase up to an aggregate of 805, 231 shares of Common Stock (the “ Pre- Funded Warrant Shares ”), and in a concurrent private
placement (the “ Private Placement ”) (a) unregistered pre- funded warrants (the “ Private Pre- Funded Warrants ”) to purchase up to an
aggregate of 2, 305, 869 shares of Common Stock (the “ Private Pre- Funded Warrant Shares ”) and (b) unregistered warrants (the «
Common Warrants ”, and together with the Private Pre- Funded Warrants, the “ Private Warrants ”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 5,
939, 383 shares of Common Stock (the “ Common Warrant Shares ” and together with the Private Pre- Funded Warrant Shares, the “
Private Warrant Shares ). Each Share (or Registered Pre- Funded Warrant in lieu thereof) is sold with an accompanying Common
Warrant. Each Private Pre- Funded Warrant is sold with an accompanying Common Warrant . The combined effective purchase price
Corporate-Restrueturing-ineluded-areduetion-of 36-fult-each Share (or Registered Pre - time-employees-Funded Warrant in lieu thereof) and
accompanying Common Warrant , and of each Private Pre- Funded Warrant and accompanying Common Warrant, is $ 0. 93. The gross
proceeds two— to eonsultants-the Company from the Registered Direct Offering and Private Placement were $ 5, 500, before deducting
placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by the Company. In addition, on February 25, 2025, the Company entered into
inducement letter agreements (the “ Inducement Letter Agreements ”) with certain holders (the “ Holders ) of certain of its existing
warrants to purchase and-- an aggregate of 6 9-part—time-employees-, 955, 528 shares of Common Stock, originally issued to the Holders on
March 15, 2024, having an original exercise price of $ 2. 311 per share (the “ Existing Warrants ”). Pursuant to the Inducement Letter
Agreements, the Holders agreed to exercise er-for 42-%-cash the Existing Warrants at reduced exercise price of $ 0. 93 per share (the «
Warrant Exercise ”) in consideration of the Company’ s empleyees-as-agreement to issue new unregistered warrants (the “ New Warrants ”)
to purchase up to an aggregate of sueh-6, 955, 528 shares of Common Stock. The New Warrants have an exercise price of $ 0. 93 per share,
are exercisable on the effective datc of stockholder approval of the issuance of the shares of Common Stock upon exercise of the Private
Warrants (the “ Stockholder Approval Date ) and will expire on the ﬁve- year anmversary of the Stockholder Approval Date . The gross
proceeds to the Company from the Warrant Exercise were et : y stefapproximately § 2444n
eperating-6, 500 prior to deducting placement agent fees and offerlng expenses as—ef—DeeembeH—l— On February 27 ,20622-2025 , the Company
received the entire consideration of $ 12, 000 in relation to the Securities Purchase Agreement and the Inducement Letter Agreements Nomn-
B. On March 24, 2025, the Board of Directors approved cash payments equal stoek—based-eompensation-eredits-retated-to the-three forfetture—
months’ salaries for three senior officers on the account of steeleepﬂeﬂs—exnstmg personal non- statutory severance agreements. The cash
payment in a total of approximately $ 376-a
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sharesxbrli: pure utr: sqft iso4217: ILSDESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT” S SECURIFHESREGISTERED-SECURITIES REGISTERED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 BiomX Inc., or the Company, we, us or our, has three-one
elasses—- class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act —=)-shares of
Common Stock, $ 0. 0001 par value per share, or the eemmen-Common steek-Stock . The -iH)-Units;-eacheonsisting-ofoneshare-shares of
eemmen—Common stoek-Stock and-registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act are llsted ofe-- on waﬁaﬁt—eﬁt-r&mg—the NYSE Amerlcan

eﬁfs-hafe—e&pﬁa-l— We encourage you to read our Amended and Rebtated Cemmate ol Incmpmallon as amended or our Cemiluale o[ Incmpmallon
and Amended and Restated By hws or our Bylaws ;an 6 e d S
, which have been filed with the Seculmes dnd Exchdn;e Commission, as well as the app]lcable provisions of
the (mn(,ml Corporation Law of the Stdta of Delaware, or the DGCL, for more information. Our authorized capital stock consists of 426-750 , 000,
000 shares of eemmern-Common steelStock , and 1, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock , $ 0. 0001 par value per share . Our holders of ruord of
our eemmer-Common steek-Stock arc entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters to be voted on by stockholders. Our stockholders have
no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to the shares of eemmeon
Common steeleStock . There is no cumulative voting with respect to the election of directors. Our stockholders are entitled to receive ratable
dividends when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor. We have not paid any cash dividends on our
eemmoen-Common steek-Stock to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of cash dividends in the future
will be dependent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends
will be within the discretion of our Board of Directors at such time. We have 256, 888 Series X Non- Voting Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $
0. 0001 per share, outstanding, or the Series X Preferred Stock. Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 1, 000, 000 shares of
preferred stock with such designation, rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by our Board of Directors. Accordingly, our
Board of Directors is empowered, without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock with dividend, liquidation, conversion, voting or other rights
which could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock. In addition, the preferred stock could be utilized as a
method of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of us. The powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions
applicable to the Series X Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of Designation, which was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware prior to the closing of the merger between us and Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc., or APT, on March 15, 2024, or the Merger. Holders
of Series X Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends on shares of Series X Preferred Stock equal to, on an as- if- converted- to- Common-
Stock basis, and in the same form as, dividends actually paid on shares of the Common Stock. Except as otherwise required by law or with respect to
the Series X Preferred Stock protective provisions set forth the Certificate of Designations and described below, the Series X Preferred Stock does
not have voting rights. The Certificate of Designation contains certain customary covenants of the Company that are customary for documents of this
type, including restrictions on (i) consummating Fundamental Transactions (as defined in the Certificate of Designation), or (ii) reclassifying the
outstanding Common Stock, including but not limited to a stock dividend or reverse stock split, in each case prior to the stockholder approval of the
conversion of the Series X Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock in accordance with the rules of NYSE American, or the Conversion
Proposal, without the affirmative vote or written approval, agreement or waiver of the holders of 70 % of the then outstanding shares of the Series X
Preferred Stock, or the Requisite Holders. The Series X Preferred Stock does not have a preference upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding- up
of the Company. Following stockholder approval of the Conversion Proposal, each share of Series X Preferred Stock will automatically convert into
1, 000 shares of Common Stock, subject to certain limitations, including that a holder of Series X Preferred Stock is prohibited from converting
shares of Series X Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock if, as a result of such conversion, such holder, together with any person whose
beneficial ownership would be aggregated with such holder’ s for purposes of Section 13 (d) or Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, would beneficially own more than a specified percentage (to be established by the holder between 0 % and 19. 99 %)
of the total number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. In the event the Series X
Preferred Stock is not convertible pursuant to the terms of the Certificate of Designation by the earlier to occur of (i) the time that the stockholders’
meeting is ultimately concluded or (ii) five months after the initial issuance of the Series X Preferred Stock, or the Deadline Date, upon written
request by the Requisite Holders, the Company shall be required to pay to each holder of Series X Preferred Stock an amount in cash equal to the fair
value of the shares of Series X Preferred Stock held by such holder, based on an average of the daily volume weighted average price of the Common
Stock for the 30 t1admL days endmLy on (a) the first tmdmé day prior to the Stockholders Meetma or (b) the Deﬂdlme Date. -Eaeh—waﬁaﬁt—eﬂ&t-}es—bhe




Seet-teﬂ—l—E—ef—t:he—E—)eehaﬂgeAet—( ertain Anl]— Takeover PIO\ isions ol Delawate Law qnd our C e]llmale ol lmotpotallon "md Bvl"ms We are subject
to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating cmpomte takeovers. This statute prevents certain Delaware corporations, under certain
circumstances, from engaging in a *“ business combination ” with: e a stockholder who owns 10 % or more of our outstanding voting stock
(otherwise known as an “ interested stockholder ’); ® an affiliate of an interested stockholder; or ® an associate of an interested stockholder, for three
years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder. A ““ business combination * includes a merger or sale of more than 10
% of our assets. However, the above plouslons of Section 203 do not apply if: ® our Board of Directors approves the transaction that made the
stockholder an “ interested stockholder, ™ prior to the date of the transaction; e after the completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder, that stockholder owned at least 85 % of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,
other than statutorily excluded shares of common stock; or ® on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by
our Board of Directors and authorized at a meeting of our stockholders, and not by written consent, by an affirmative vote of at least two- thirds of
the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder. Special meeting of stockholders Our Bylaws provide that special meetings of
our stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our Board of Directors, or by our chief executive officer. Classified Board of Directors Our
Board of Directors is divided into three classes, each of which will generally serve for a term of three years with only one class of directors being
elected in each year. This system of electing Directors may tend to discourage a third party from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to
obtain control of us, because it generally makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a majority of the Directors. Advance notice requirements
for stockholder proposals and director nominations Our Bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of
stockholders, or to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders must provide timely notice of their intent in
writing. To be timely, a stockholder’ s notice to bring matters before our annual meeting of stockholders needs to be delivered to our principal
executive offices not later than the close of business on the 90th day nor earlier than the opening of business on the 120th day prior to the scheduled
date of the annual meeting of stockholders, and a stockholder’ s notice to nominate candidates for election as directors needs to be delivered to us not
less than 120 days prior to any meeting of stockholders called for the election of directors. Our Bylaws also specify certain requirements as to the
form and content of a stockholders’ notice. These provisions may preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of
stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. BIoMxtNECIndemnifieattor MTEC Research
Project Award Number: 001 MTEC Base Agreement Number: MTEC Project Call: MTEC; Development of Personalized Bacteriophage
Therapeutic for the Treatment of Bacterial Infections PARTIES: Advanced Technology International (MTEC Consortium Manager) and
Adaptive Phage Therapeutlcs, Inc (Awardee) Thls I-ﬂdem-m-ﬁe&ﬁeﬂ-MTEC Research Pr0]ect Award is issued under the authorlty of the
MTEC Base Agreement No {this~Agreement-)-s-made-as-of-by-and-bet ee-Biom e = 5




Prol ect Award i t hi t e e d a
l-ndemmtee—rﬂnéemﬁﬁee—was—ls Cost Relmbursable w1th Cost Share Mllestone w1th a not to exceed celhng 2 Term of the Task Agreement
The perlod of performance or-for this Research Project Award is from hrea y A

- the date S
s1gnature through October 21 2021 3 Obllgatlon The MTEC CM s llablllty to make payments to the Research PrOJect Awardee faver);

§ pt-1s approved-tradvanee-limited to only those funds
obhgated under th1s Research ProJect Award or by modification to the Gemp&ny—Research Project Award. MTEC CM may incrementally
fund this Research Project Award. 4. Estimated Cost and Cost Share The total estimated cost and cost share for the services to be provided
by the Awardee is as follows: ESTIMATED COST Estimated Cost $ 9 . 637, 711 Cost Share $ 990, 559 Total Cost $ 10, 628, 270 5.
Limitation of Costs The total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 9, 637,
711. If at any t1me the Research Pro_|ect Awardee has reason to belleve that the Total Estimated Cost w Imh will accrue e.-ppfevel-sha-l-l—net—be

feeei-pt— when added to all other payments prev1ously accrued will exceed seventy- ﬁve percent (75 %) of the then current total authorlzed
funding, the Research Project Awardee shall notify the MTEC CM to that effect, advising the estimate of additional funds required for the
period specified. The Research Project Awardee is not obligated to continue performance under this Research Project Award (including
actions under the Termination clause of the MTEC Base Agreement) or otherw1se incur costs in excess of the amount allotted to the
Research Project Award b\ the MTEC CM a rees-Hrom me—wh g a
. Sueh-advanees-6. Mllestone Payment Schedule The Research Pro] ect Awardee shall segregate and track all
Research Project costs separately and shall document the accomplishments of each Payable Mllestone under each Research Pro]ect Award.
Acceptance of Milestones shall be contingent upon approval from the Government tsee h
te—I-ﬁdem-n—rtee— S Sponsor Ofﬁce Techmcal Representatlve abitity y




O he-clain-and—subieetto-Seetiont2-h i alse-be-entitled Lxlmldfeﬁa-H—E*peﬁses-aeﬂiaﬁhaﬂd—reaseﬁ&bﬁ—meuﬁeé
hy—[ﬂd-emﬂ-ﬁee-m the amount indicated in the attached Mllestone Payment Schedule eontee R &aCICnSE
" aetionb " A : )hefee-ﬂ-and are

any-stehraetion Attachment A othe

adjustable based on actual expendltures 7 Materlal and Equlpment Any materlal or equ1pment tlmt %néemtee—has—net—met—t-he—staﬂdafds—e-f

slmll bL. éeemed—reported to have—beeﬁ—made-and approved by the MTEC CM prlor t0 procurement F0r {d—)—Pﬁymeﬂt—Dﬁeeﬁeﬂs—"Fe—t-he—those
extent-payments-items of property or nonexpendable personal property having a unit acquisition cost of $ 10, 000 or more, which will be
acquired with Government funds, the Government reserves the right to transfer the title to the Federal Government or to a third party
named by the Government as described in Article 7 of the Base Agreement. Upon completion of the Research Project Award, the Research
Project Awardee shall notify the MTEC CM and request disposition instructions 8. Invoice Invoicing details arc reguired-in Article 6 of the
MTEC base agreement. The Research Project Awardee must include the invoice for all equipment purchases, other direct cost, and material
purchases in excess of $ 10, 000 per item with their invoice for it to bc made-hereunder;-considered an acceptable invoice. All invoices must be
submitted to mtec- ap @ ati. org for processing. 9. Cost Share For thc Cempany-shal-purposes of this Research Project Award . the Research
Project Awardee’ s cost share equals one third of the cost of this MTEC project. The Research Project Awardee must meet or exceed the
cost share ratio in accordance with Indemnitee>sreguest-the agreed upon Milestone Payment Schedule. If the Research Project Awardee is
unable to meet its required cost share contribution as delineated in Clause No. 4 above and the Milestone Payment Schedule ( Attachment A

butwitheut-duphieation), the MTEC CM may withhold payment éﬁ—pay—sueh—E—xpeﬁses—eﬂ—beha-l-& mv01ces proportlonate I-néem-mtee—éﬂ-)
&dﬂv‘aﬁee-lo Indemnitee-funds-the shortfall in cost share an-an g ntto-pay-steh U

governing the eatse—- use Sﬁeh—lﬂs&rers—te-pay—Other Transactlon Agreements each MTEC Member Organization must have at least eﬁ-one
behalfof Indemniteeall-amountspayable-as-the following conditions: have at least one nontraditional defense contractor or nonprofit
research institution participating to a result-significant extent in the performance of saehProeeeding-an awarded Project Agreement or
provide a cost share of no less than one third of the value of the Project Agreement awarded to the Member Organization. Throughout the
period of performance of any Project Research Project Award, the CM, AO, and SOTR will actively monitor Nontraditional Defense
Contractor participation, nonprofit research institution participation, and / or cost sharing to ensure compliance with this provision in

accordance with implementation guldance from HQDA fhe—tef&ns—e#sae%ﬂael-mes—(—ﬁ—Defeﬂse&ﬁGlﬁm—aml Se}eet-teﬂ-ef—eeﬂ-nsel-/ or OSD
Research PrOJect Awardees r-th










uﬂder—t-lﬂs—&greemem—sha-l-l-the opportumty to become comphant w1th the guldance should they bu found non- compllant -x-n—w&t-x-ag—&nd—sha-l—l—be
. S-Failure to







pterie mlo 1hls Research Pro]ect Award -]:IGE—N—SE—t-r&rﬁfeH-he—prepeﬁ-y—ﬂghts
m—t—he—l:reeﬁsed—l-nveﬂt-teﬂ- The Research Project Awardee was proposed Hﬂdeﬁﬂﬁs—exe%uswe—heenseTHGENSGR—gwes—HeENSEE—&xe-ﬁgheef

defense contractor and determmed to e*pfesﬁset—ferth—iﬂ—&ﬁs—H@ENS-E—ne%ﬁg—hereﬂﬁha-H-be éeemed—te—gf&ﬁt—prowdmg a significant
contrlbutlon. 11 Statement of Work The Statement of Work Attachment A erteheied-lfeet-l-y—eieby—mphe&t-xeﬁ— provides a detalled descrlptlon




this I:I-GE—N—S-E—Research PrOJect Award All changes to Attachment A must be lncorporated via wrltten modlﬁcatlon to thls Research
Project Award. Additional guidance on report requirements is in Attachment B, Report Requirements. 12. Technical and Administrative
Representatives The following technical and contractual representatives of the Parties are hereby designated erfor this Research Project
Award. Either party may change their designated representatives by written notification to the other. MTEC Consortium Manager
Contractual Representative: Rebecca Harmon, Contracts Administrator Advanced Technology lnternatlonal 315 Slgma Drlve Summervrlle,
SC 29486 Emall Phone Sponsor Ofﬁce Technlcal Representatlve ( 4—SOTR 3

d\d] Medical Research Center 503 Robut Grant Avenue Silver Spring, l\lD 20910
MTEC Research PrOJect Awardee’ s Representatives: Contractual Representative: Technical Representative: Greg Merril, CEO Michael
Brownsteln CMO Adapll\ e Ph.wt Thuapcullc\ Inc 4—2—H—E—)efa-ﬂeAdaptlve Phage Therapeutlcs, Inc 22 Flrstfield Road eHﬁeh—ma-ﬂ-mg—addfess

eeneeras-, MD p%ease—feel—ﬁree—te—eeﬂt&et—]:eﬁaﬂn—WrHﬁfd—rnml l-eu—a—wrl-l-afd—@-ei-v—mafl-Emall —m-ﬂ-l’hom Phone 13 Marklng of
Dehverables Any Data dehvered under %%%%%mﬂeﬁer&&hamm&ﬂm Research PrOJect Award

nteatiorrornotie be-given \hdl] be éeﬁe—marked w1th a sultable notlce or legend 14.
Attachments Attachments listed hereln are hereby incorporated by reference into this MTEC Research Project Award. A. Statement of
Work, ¢ Development of Personalized Bacteriophage Therapeutic for the Treatment of Bacterial Infections' and Milestone Payment
ScheduleB. Report Requirements 15. Government Furnished Property At this time, Government Furnished Property is not provided for use
under this Research Project Award. 16. Data Rights The Government has Unlimited Rights. All rights in data shall be in accordance with
Article H-abeve-9 of the Base Agreement . 17. Prohibition of Use of Human Cadavers, Prohibition of Use of Human Subjects, and
Prohibition of Use of Laboratory Animals clauses In accordance with In accordance with MTEC Base Agreement Clause (s) 20. 14.
Prohibition of Use of Human Cadavers; 20. 15. Prohibition of Use of Human Subjects; and 20. 16 Prohibition of Use of Laboratory Animals,
this effort includes 20. 14 Prohibition of Use of Human Cadavers and therefore requires Human Research Protection Office (HRPQO) and /
For-- or Animal Care and Use Review Office (ACURQ) approval on the Seeretary-ofthe-Navy-Research Project Award. The Research Project
Awardee is hereby instructed that no work pertaining to any task dealing with Human Cadavers , Human Subjects, and / or Laboratory
Animals shall be started until the compliant survey has been received by the Government. The Research Project Awardee will be notified
when it is allowed to start work on all tasks. 18. Entire Agreement This Research Project Award and the MTEC Base Agreement under 35
YUSE207 Febraary1+6-which it is issued constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof. Except as provided herein , 26+7DATE-all Terms and Conditions of the MTEC Base Agreement and its modifications remain
unchanged and in full force and effect. The Research Project Award Awardee is required to sign this document and return to Advanced
Technology International to finalize this action. Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. Advanced Technology International MTEC Consortium
Manager By: /s -J-Gregory L Merrll D—Ryeh-nevs-ky—B\ J—/ s/ Mlca Dolan Name: Gregory L . B-Merril Name: Mica Dolan Title: CEO
Title: Sr . Ry S al-Vice President, Contracts and Procurement Date: 22 AUG 2019
Date: Aug 22 2019Attachment A Statement of Work and Mllestone Payment ScheduleB: Report RequirementsDevelopment of
Personalized Bacteriophage Therapeutic for the Treatment of Bacterial Infections Attachment B Reporting Requirements September 25,
2019 22 Firstfield Road, Suite 125Attention: Mr. Greg Merril, CEO Subject: Modification No. 1 to MTEC Rescarch €enter-Project Award
No. 1; Reference: MTEC Base Agreement No. Dear Mr. Merril: In accordance with the terms and conditions of the referenced MTEC Base
Agreement, Modification No. 1 hereby amends the Research Project Award No. 1 as follows: DESCRIPTION OF MODIFICATION1) The
Estimated Cost and Cost Share clause of the Research Project Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: 4. Estimated
Cost and Cost Share The total estimated cost and cost share for the services to be provided by the Awardee is as follows: ESTIMATED
COST Estimated Cost $ 10, 902, 428 (this is an increase of $ 1, 264, 717) Cost Share $ 990, 559 Total Cost $ 11, 892, 987 (this is an increase of
$ 1,264, 717) 2) The Limitation of Costs clause of the Research Project Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: S.
Limitation of Costs The total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 10, 902,
428 (this is an increase of $ 1, 264, 717). If at any time the Research Project Awardee has reason to believe that the Total Estimated Cost
which will accrue in the performance of this Research Project in the next succeeding thirty (30) days, when added to all other payments
previously accrued, will exceed seventy- five percent (75 %) of the then current total authorized funding, the Research Project Awardee shall
notify the MTEC CM to that effect, advising the estimate of additional funds required for the period specified. The Research Project
Awardee is not obligated to continue performance under this Research Project Award (including actions under the Termination clause of
the MTEC Base Agreement) For— or otherwise incur costs in excess of the amount allotted to the Research Project Award by the MTEC
CM. 3) Attachment A, Statement of Work, of the Research Project Award is hereby replaced in its entirety as attached herein. Except as
provided herein, all Terms and Conditions of the referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Research Project Award, and preceding modifications




remain unchanged and in full force and effect. The Research Project Awardee is required to sign this document and return to Advanced
Technology International to finalize this action. Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. February28; 2047 DBATE-Advanced Technology
International By: /s / Greg Merril By: /s / Massie Erinberth Name: Greg Merril Name: Massie Erinberth Title: ChiefExeeutive-Offieer
Adaptive-CEO Title: Contracts Manager Date: 30 SEPT 2019 Date: Sept 30 2019 (Incorporated as of Mod. No. 1. Attachment A is hereby
replaced in its entirety.) STATEMENT OF WORK Submitted under Request for Project Proposal MTEC 19- 06- Phage July 24, 2020
l hera ]M.Utlk.\ Inc. :Femas—StHﬁmaﬁ-ZZ Flrstﬁeld Road Suit 125Attention : eDevelopment-Mr. Greg Merril, CEO Subject : Modification No

: 5 O—Reya-l-t-}es-Z to MTEC Research Pr0]ect Award No 1 Reference MTEC Base

fl"—he—paﬁ-'tes—hereby—ﬂgree—m tol]o\\ si1=)T hc Term ﬁfst—pafagfaph—ot Arﬁele%—the Task Agreement clause of the Research PrOJect Award is
hereby amended to read as lndlcated in bold below 1. Term of the Task Agreement The perlod of performance for thls Research Project

> )—Eu-repe— and-2019 through July 31, 2022. “)G&nada—The Estlmated Cost and Cost Share clause of the Research Prolect

Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: 2 . Estimated Cost and Cost Share ESTIMATED COST Estimated Cost $ 23,
280, 585 (this is an increase of $ 12, 378, 157) Cost Share $ 990, 559 Total Cost $ 24, 271, 144 (this is an increase of $ 12, 378, 157) 3 --) The
Limitation of Costs clause of the Research Project Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: 3. Limitation of Costs The
total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 23, 280, 585 (this is an increase of $
12, 378, 157) broken out as follows: CLIN FUNDING CLIN 001 $ 13, 465, 717 CLIN 002 $ 9, 814, 868 If at any time the Research Project
Awardee has reason to believe that the Total Estimated Cost which will accrue in the performance of this Research Project Award in the
next succeeding thirty (30) days, when added to all other payments previous-previously Appendix-accrued, will exceed seventy- five percent
(75 %) of the then current total authorized funding, the Awardee shall notify the MTEC CM to that effect, advising the estimate of
additional funds required for the period specified. The Research Project Awardee is not obligated to continue performance under this
Research Project Award (including actions under the Termination clause of the MTEC Base Agreement) or otherwise incur costs in excess
of the amount allotted to the Research Project Award by the MTEC CM. 4) Attachment A , Statement of Work, of the Research Project
Award is femeveel—ﬂﬁd—rep-l-aeed—wrt-h—t-he—hereby amended to read as allachcd hereln A—ppeﬂdﬂhAr Except as provided herein, all 4—Fhe

ppen A her-terms-Terms and eenditions-Conditions of the Heensing
referenced MTEC Base agreemeﬁt—Agreementsha-l-l- Research Prolect Award and precedlng modlﬁcatlons remain unchanged and in lull
force —IN-WHINESS-WHEREOFthe-undersigned-agree-to-the-terms-and effect eonditie f ;
Research Project Awardee is required We;-the-undersigned;-are-duly-atthorized-to bind-sign this document and return to Advanced Technology
International to finalize this action. Adaptive Phage Therapeutics, Inc. Advanced Technology International By: /s / Greg Merril By: /s /
Massie Erinberth Name: Greg Merril Name: Massie Erinberth Title: CEO Title: Sr. Contracts Manager Date: 27 JULY 2020 Date: Jul 27
2020 (Incorporated as of Mod. No. 2; the Statement of Work has been replaced in its entirety.) Attention: Mr. Greg Merril, CEO Subject:
Modification No. 03 to MTEC Research Project Award No. 01; MTEC- 19- 06- Phage- 001 Reference: MTEC Base Agreement No. 2019-
532In accordance with the terms and conditions of the referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Modification No. 03 hereby amends Research
Project Award No. 01 as follows: The period of performance for this Research Project Award is from the July 1, 2019 through December 31,
2023 (this is a seventeen (17) month extension). 2) The Estimated Cost and Cost Share clause of the Research Project Award is hereby
amended to read as indicated in bold below: 2. Estimated Cost and Cost Share ESTIMATED COST Estimated Cost $ $ 31, 214, 089. 29 (this
is an increase of $ 7, 933, 504. 29) Cost Share $ 990, 559. 00 Total Cost $ $ 32, 204, 648. 29 (this is an increase of $ 7, 933, 504. 29) 2.
Limitation of Costs The total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 31, 214,
089. 29 (this is an increase of $ 7, 933, 504. 29) broken out as follows: CLIN FUNDING CLIN 001 $ 16, 444, 848. 44 (an increase of $ 2, 979,
131. 44) CLIN 002 $ 14, 769, 240. 85 (an increase of $ 4, 954, 372. 85) 4) The Consent to Subcontract clause is hereby incorporated into the
Research Project Award as indicated below: 19. Consent to Subcontract The Research Project Awardee intends to subcontract to multiple
vendors for this Research Project Award. The Research Project Awardee is not authorized to enter into any subcontracts without written
permission from the Agreement-Agreements and-do-so-Officer. The Research Project Awardee is required to substantiate cost information
for all second- tier subawardees performing work. The price for each subcontractor is subject to change based on any required revisions to
the work to be performed by affixing-my-signature-hereto-the subawardees; however, the final price for each subawardee cost shall not exceed
the proposed costs identified in the current Statement of Work . Entered-inte-Once the Research Project Awardee has substantiated these
costs, the CM will request approval from the government to (1) adjust the estimated cost (if needed) of this 28th-day-ef December 2048
Research Project Award and (2) remove the consent requirement required by this provision . Such approval shall be implemented via
modification to this Research Project Award. 5) Attachment A, Statement of Work, of the Research Project Award is hereby replaced in its
entlrety as attached herein. Adaptlve Phage Therapeutlcs, Inc. Advanced Technology Internatlonal By:/s ("n‘eum‘\' L. Mcrril G-regery—lr.

BEGA—U—S-E—I—"l"—l—S—BGfl"—H—Gregory L. Merrll Name Massie Erinberth Title: CEO Tltle Sr. Contracts Manager Date 27 SEPT 2021 Date: Sep
27 2021 ( +HIncorporated as of Mod. No. 03; the Statement of Work has been replaced in its entirety. ) NOT-MATERIALAND-(H-Applied
Technologies Center Summerville, SC 29486 www. ati. org September 7, 2022Attention: Mr. Greg Merril, CEO Subject: Modification No.
04 to MTEC Research Project Award No. 01; Reference: MTEC Base Agreement No. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the
referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Modification No. 04 hereby amends Research Project Award No. 01 as follows: DESCRIPTION OF



MODIFICATION1 ) W%%%%H@%E@E@SEDMMThe Estlmated Cost and Cost

Share clause of the Research Project Award i is hereby amended to read




seﬂds—te—l:l-@E—N—S—E—E—phage—ESTIMATED COST Estlmated Cost $ 36 214 089. 29 (thls is &nd— an #eﬁpfedﬂeeﬁeel-l—hﬁes-mcrease of $ 5, 000,
000. 00) Cost Share $ 6, 276, 689. 77 (this is and-- an increase of $ 5, 286, 130. 77) Total Cost $ 42, 490, 779. 06 (this is an increase of $ 10, 286,
130. 77) The total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 36, 214, 089. 29 (this is
an increase of $ 5, 000, 000. 00) broken out as follows CLIN FUNDING CLIN 001 $ 21, 444, 848 44 (an increase of $ 5, 000, 000) CLIN 002
$ 14, 769, 240. 85 If at any time rela 4 ¢ v

aﬂ-y—ef&l—ef—the—M&teﬂa%s—fer—E—Vﬂhr&Hoﬂ—te—t-heﬂh the PhageB&n-leResearch PmJect Awardee has reason to believe that the Total Estlmated

g Materia \\1]laccrue1nbe-adéed-bya-meﬂd-meﬂt—&h4:ppeﬂdﬂh%ﬂ-y

P a fto the performancePh&geBaﬂ-lewﬂ-l—be-refuﬂaed-te




deternﬂﬂ&&en—Hpeﬁ-thnlx (30 dd\ s pﬂe-r—wrl-tten—ne&ee— HGEN—S-E-E—when added to sha-l-l— all malee—sue%rreeerels—ava—rl&ble—fedhexamm&&eﬁ
d-urmg—nefma-l—busmess—lﬂreurs—fer—the-other sele—puﬂsese—&f—veﬂfymg—the-&eeuraeyhe{;l:lGENSEE—s-pa\ ments prevmusly accrued a-nd—eem-p-l-ra-nee

S S exceed seventy- five puccnl ( 5—75 %) ol lhc
l:reense—Fees—then current total authorlzed fundmg, the Awardee shall notlfy the MTEC CM to that effect, advising the estimate of additional
funds required or-for ether—- the period speclﬁed payments—d-ue—H—SAMRBGhefeuﬂder— The pﬁr&es—agfe&Research Pro;ect Awardee is not

obligated to continue performance adh

Seeﬁeﬂé%&meﬂde%eselve—&ny—dlspt&e—&rﬁ*ﬂg—undu this

en y mcludm" a—P—BF—mage—éelwered—wa—emaﬂ-actlons under the Termmatlon clause
of the MTEC Base Agreement ) or eleetreme—agﬂ&tufes—otherwme mcur costs in excess ot sueh—pafty—s—repfeseﬁt&ﬁ-ﬁ—hefefe—%eﬁaﬁéeﬁef

I-n—Wrtﬂess—\Vhereef—lhc paft—tes—have-e*eeuted-t-hrs-amount allotted to the Research Pr()] ect Award by the MTEC CM 3) Attachment A,
Statement of Work, of the Research Project Award is hereby replaced in its entlrety as attached herein. Except as prov1ded hereln, all
Terms and Condltlons of the referenced MTEC Base Agreement , en

W 3 t o chdlch Pro;ect Award(—\’vLR—Prl-R-)ﬂLs-/—Rebeﬁ—J—e—GeﬂﬁeH
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Mllestone Payment Schedule 22 Flrstﬁeld Road A
Delawareecorporation;having-anaddress-at-Suilc 125Attent10n Mr
Greg Merril, CEO Subject: Modification No . Land ;
No 01 Reference MTEC Base ~\<neemem No

fm-pfevefﬂeﬁt—a-l-l-ewaﬂees—a-l-l—eﬂ-the tellm dﬂd u)mhtlons Se%%ﬁmmﬂm%mﬁ%ﬁm
t promises -~ the geed—aﬂd—va-l-tmb-l-e—eeﬁsﬁieraﬂeﬂ-referenced MTEC Base

Agreement Modlﬁcatlon No 05 fheﬁeetpt—&nd—kegal—s&fﬁefeﬁey—&f—w%eh—ﬂfe—lmch\ : W 2 2 vt at-the
J:e&se—ts—ameﬂéed-amends Research Pr0]ect Award No. 01 as follows: | )—Deﬁ-mﬁeﬂs—Reeﬁa%sJFeﬁnsﬂsedﬁn—ﬂﬂs—F&s{—Ameﬂdfneﬁﬁb&Pnet

ase: The Technical -Ree&&ls—fema—&n—and -x-nfegra-l—paft—Admlmstratlve Representatives
he ExpanstonPremises
S 0050 A

vy o ao



ase-is huub\ (lmmdui by—&ddmg—t-he—fel-}ew-rﬂg—new
Seeﬁeﬂ—?rS—to read as indicated in bold below- 12 Techmcal and Admmlstratlve Representatlves Taylor Hummell, Sr. Contracts

Administrator Sponsor Office Technical Representative ( SOTR b)immediatelyafterSeetion38(a-): MTEC Research Project Awardee’ s
Representatlves Contractual Representatlve. Techmcal Representatlve. Greg Merrllﬁm




-+ chall haves . and-Gi)
fl:eﬁarﬁt—sha-l-l-Ste 205 Gaithersburg, MD 20878 Galthersburg, MD Email: Email: Phone. Ph ne: ThlS modlﬁcatlon is lssued unilaterally. The
Research Pr0]ect Awardee is not requlred to ass-rgrh s1gn —eeﬂvey—eﬁet-heﬁﬁse—&aﬂsfeﬂo finallze aﬁy—pefseﬁ-efeﬂt—rt—yh&ay—ﬂgh{—&t-}&er—mfefesf

meh i € vitsSee y-this

Internatlonal MTEC ConsortlumBy?he—I:ease—as—se—iumﬁéed—by—ﬂﬂs—Fﬁsf




Mr. Michael Billard Subject Modification No. 06 to MTEC Research Pr0]ect Award No. 01; Reference MTEC Base Agreement No. Dear
Mr. Billard: In accordance with the terms and conditions of the referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Modification No. 06 hereby amends
Research Project Award No. 01 as follows: The period of performance for this Research Project Award is from August 22, 20219 through
December 31, 2024 (this is a 12 month no - GP-cost extension). 2) The Technical and Administrative Representatives clause of the Research
Project Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: The following technical and contractual representatives of the Parties
are hereby designated for this Research Project Award. Either party may change their designated representatives by written notification to
the other. Taylor Hummell, Contracts Manager 11 Email: Phone: Contractual Representative: Technical Representative: Michael Billard,
VP Project Executlon Snbhendu Basu, COO Adaptlve Phage Therapentlcs, Inc Adaptlve Phage Therapeutlcs, Inc 7 08 QLllﬂLL Or Lhdl d Rd

hﬁﬂﬂg—aﬂ—&ddfess—a—t—%mtt 205 -1—59—7( 8 Qumec Othdld Re&d—Rd Sulte 205 (mnhusbuw Mafyl-arnd-MD 7087‘% (L"FeﬂﬁﬂtLGalthersburg, MD
Email: Email: Phone Phone 3 )—Attachment A, Statement of Work, of the Research Pr0]ect Award is hereby replaced in its entirety -

mises—sha b able-a L\t.k. 7t as set—fefﬂa—provnded herem, all Terms and Condltlons of the referenced
MTEC Base Agreement Research PrOJect Award and precedmg modlﬁcatlons remam unchanged and in full force and effect. The Research
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y:/s er-l-na-m—Bafreﬁ—Mary Kate Knudsen Name er-l-na-m—Baﬂeﬂ-Mlchael Blllard Name Mary Kate
Knudsen Title: ¥me—Pfeﬁdeﬁf—Rea4—Esﬁﬁe—Eega4+Fﬁ1ﬁh€ep3ﬁﬂght—©-VP Project Execution Title: Contracts Administrator Date: 19 DEC
2042 2023 AdexandriaRealt-Estate-Equities-Date: 19 DEC 2023January 25, 2024Attention: Mr. Michael Billard Subject: Modification No. 07
to MTEC Research Project Award No. 01; Reference: MTEC Base Agreement No. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the
referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Modification No. 07 hereby amends Research Project Award No. 01 as follows: Contractual
Representative: Contractual Representative: Technical Representative: Michael Billard, VP Project Execution Edward Fang, MD, Chief
Medical Officer Adaptive Phage Therapeutics , Inc Adaptive Phage Therapeutics A ERIGHTFS RESERVEDExchibit +H034-SEXTH
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managing-member-By: / s / GregoryKay-Sarah Teuscher Name: Gregoery-kay-Michael Billard Name: Sarah Teuscher Title: SV VP, Project
Execution Title: Subcontracts Administrator II Date: 26 JAN 2024 Date: 26 JAN 2024September 6, 2024 708 Quince Orchard Rd, Suite

205Attention: Mr. Michael Billard Subject: Modification No. 08 to MTEC Research Project Award No. 01; Reference: MTEC Base
Agreement No. In accordance with the terms and conditions of the referenced MTEC Base Agreement, Modification No. 08 hereby amends
Research Project Award No. 01 as follows: The period of performance for this Research Project Award is from August 22, 2019 through
June, 20, 2025 (this is a 18 month no - Real-cost extension). ESTIMATED COST Estate-Estimated Legal-Affairs JOINDERBiomX-Cost $ 39,
081, 225. 08 (this is an increase of $ 2, 867, 135. 79) Cost Share $ 6, 276, 689. 77 Total Cost $ 45, 357, 914. 85 (this is an increase of $ 2, 867,
135. 79) The total amount of funding currently available for payment and allotted to this Research Project Award is $ 39, 081, 225. 08 (this is
an increase of $ 2, 867, 135. 79) broken out as follows: CLIN FUNDING CLIN 001 $ 24, 311, 984. 23 (an increase of $ 2, 867, 135. 79) CLIN
002 $ 14, 769, 240. 85 4) The Attachments clause of the Research Project Award is hereby amended to read as indicated in bold below: C.
Prohibition on Contracting with Malign Foreign Talent ProgramsS) Attachment A, Statement of Work, of the Research Project Award is
hereby replaced in its entirety as attached herein. 6) Attachment B, Report Requirements, of the Research Project Award is hereby replaced
in its entirety as attached herein. 7) Attachment C, Prohibition on Contracting with Malign Foreign Talent Programs, is hereby
incorporated in its entirety as attached herein. Except as provided herein, all Terms and Conditions of the referenced MTEC Base
Agreement, Research Project Award, and preceding modifications remain unchanged and in full force and effect. The Research Project
Awardee is required to sign this document and return to Advanced Technology Internatlonal to ﬁnallze thls actlon Adaptlve Phage
Therapeutlcs Inc. Advanced Technology Internatlonal 8 W y -th

an a s / Jonathan Solomon
By /s /Rebbeca Harmon Name: lonat]mn Solomon Name Rebbeca Harmon Tll]L ( EO E+hefebyheerﬁfy—tbat—t-he-s1gn&mre—name—&nd-&t-le
Title : Sr above-are-my-signature,name;-and-titte-. Copyright-©-Contracts Manager Date: SEPT 11 2642- 2024 Date: SEPT 12 2024Attachment
AlexandriaReal-Estate-Equities; ine- AEERIGHTS RESERVED-EXHIBI-B Reporting Requirements FORM-OF-GRANT-OF-WARRANT

en—exeretse—&nd—t-he—eeﬂdrﬁeﬂs—heretﬂaﬁeﬁset—sets forth lhe pollc1es of Parent—Steeld&eléer—h%Eers—(w—éeﬁned—m—bhe
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%ﬁeﬁﬂ&eﬁaﬁeﬁtﬁ—sﬂbseﬂbe—fbﬁaﬂd-pﬁehase—from—l%mm\ Im —a—Bel-awafe-eofpof&&oﬂ—(tlu Company ) 5 prohlbltlng “ ms1der tradlng i
and the procedures to 256-be followed by directors ., 906-shares-officers, employees and other related persons of the Company before
engaging in any trading involving securities of the Company. Insider trading is prohibited by U. S. federal law and Company policy. Any
director, officers, employee or other related person of the Company, while having knowledge of material non- public information about the
Company, is prohibited from: A. trading in securities of the Company; B. disclosing this information to anyone else ( other than to another
director, officer or employee of the Company who as-has subjeet-a need to adjustmentherennder;-know in order to perform his or her duties on
behalf of the Company); orC. recommending to anyone else that the-they trade in any of the Company’ s securities (i. e., * tipping Warrant
Shares-") . For purposes of Commen-Steelthis policy, any references to a director, officer or employee of the Company includes a reference
to such person’ s immediate family members, any other persons who reside with him or her, and any entities with which he or she is
affiliated . The prohibitions and restrictions in this policy apply equally to such family members, persons who reside with the director, officer
or employee, and affiliated entities. In addition, the Company itself must comply with securities laws applicable to its own securities trading
activities, and must not engage in any transaction involving a purchasc priee-or sale of ene-share-its securities, including any offer to purchase
or offer to sell or other disposition of Commen-Steek-under-its securities, when it is in possession of material non- public information
concerning the Company, other than in compliance with applicable law, subject to the policies and procedures adopted by the Company and
the exceptions listed in Section VI of this Policy Warrant-shal-be-equal-to the extent applicable. 1. PenaltiesThe criminal and civil penalties for
illegal insider trading by any individual are extremely serious. These include: A. a prison sentence of up to 20 years and a fine of up to $ 5
million; B. a civil penalty of up to the-three times the profits made Exereise-Priee;as-defined-inr-Seetion2-( b-or losses avoided ) by —Fhis
Warrantis-one-of-the Wﬁﬁ&n&s—te—Pufehﬂse—Gemmeﬁ—Steeletradmg, andC. disgorgement ( payment to the government) of the proﬁts made (or
losses avoided) including profits (or losses avoided) by a ** Warrants-tippee ~ }ssued-pursuantto-. These penalties are cumulative (i . e., can be
imposed together ) and a “ tipper ” can be liable for the same penalties as a person that eertain-made the trade, even if the tippee made no
profit. Company employees are also subject to removal and / or termination for violating this policy. II. DefinitionsA. Material Non- Public
Information Information is material if there is a reasonable likelihood that the information, if disclosed, would affect the market price of the
security upward or downward or that an investor would want to know or would consider the information important in making a decision to
buy or sell the security. Examples of material information may include, but are not limited to: e quarterly earnings or revenue information;
o results of the Company’ s clinical trials and pipeline status; ® new collaboration or licensing arrangements or other significant business
development activities; ® significant write- downs in assets or increases in reserves; ® modifications to the cost structure of the Company or
a significant product candidate; ® changes in leverage or liquidity or non- compliance with financing Agreement-agreements ; ® proposals,
plans and arrangements Plan-of Merger-( the——Merger-Agreement->even if preliminary in nature ) concerning a merger , dated-as-of{4
acquisition or divestiture; ® proposals . 2624-by-plans and arrangements (even if preliminary in nature) concerning any financing,
refinancing or securities offering; e and-- an ameng-important development in the Company > s businesses or prospects , ® cybersecurity risks
BIFXMerger-Sub-LIres BTXMerger- SubLEEC-and Adaptive Phage-Therapeunties; Ine-incidents; e changes in key management; or
developments regarding significant litigation or governmental or regulatory investigations (including decisions or settlements in those
matters) . Seettenr+-Information is non- public if it has not been made widely available to the investing public . Pefinitions-Information must
be reported in a widely distributed press release, in SEC filings, or in other reports made available to all stockholders before it is considered
public information . In additiente-the case offerms—deﬁned—elsew%ereﬁl—thrs—W&rraﬁt—lhe Company S fel-lowrn-g—terms—have—t-he—nm
earnmgs releases or fnd*e&ted—rn—t-lﬂs—See&eﬂ—l—Afﬁ-hafe—me&ns—an\ sen y




deliverany-objeetion-te-any Notiee-of Exereise-withinonc (1) BusinessDay-full trading day (ending at market open on the second trading day)
after the press release or other public disclosure is issued. For example, if a press release is issued on a Monday before the market opens, the
information is considered “ public ” on Tuesday at the time the market opens. If a press release is issued Monday during the trading day or
after the market closes, the information is considered “ public ” on Wednesday at the time the market opens. For purposes of reeeipt-this
policy, the “ market ” is the NYSE American LL.C. When in doubt about whether information about the Company is material and non-
public, any director, officer or employee of the Company should consult with the person from time to time performing the role of the
Company’ s general counsel or chief legal officer or, if the Company does not have such netiee-role, the Company’ s chief financial officer
(the “ Compliance Officer ”) or his or her designee before making any decision to disclose such information (other than to directors, officers
or employees of the Company who need to know it) or to trade in or recommend securities to which the information relates . B. Trading The
Helderand-term “ trading > applies to purchases, sales, gifts, pledges or other dispositions of any assignee-stock or other securities of the
Company , including the Company’ s common stock. Trading includes, without limitation, the exercise of stock options pursuant to a
broker- assisted cashless exercise, selling stock acquired from an option exercise or selling or buying the Company’ s securities in street
name or within an individual retirement account (IRA) or other retirement account. The mere exercise of a stock option for cash (i. e.,
purchasing and holding the stock) is not considered a trading transaction. This policy also will not apply to the delivery of shares owned by
aceeptanee-the option holder to the Company or the withholding of shares otherwise issuable upon exercise of a stock option by the
Company, in each case to satisfy the exercise price payable, or the tax withholding requirements arising, upon the exercise of an option.
However, as previously noted, sale of stock in connection with a stock option exercise, for example, a broker- assisted cashless exercise of an
option or any other sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price or tax withholding of an option, or the sale of
shares received upon exercise of an option, will be subject to this policy Warrant-aeknewledge-and is considered trading. To the extent the
Company adopts a program of automatic purchases of discounted Company stock as part of a Company- wide employee benefit plan and
the employee, officer or director signs up for the program when trading is not prohibited during a blackout period established by the
Company, and the employee, officer or director so signing up does not exit the program until its term expires, such programs usually
working in 6- month intervals, then this activity will not be considered a prohibited trading transaction hereunder. I11. Other Restrictions In
addition to trading while in possession of material non- public information, this policy prohibits all of the following activities: ® engaging in




“ short sales ” and “ selling against the box ” (a variation of selling short) with respect to securities of the Company; e trading in puts, calls,
straddles and options for the Company’ s securities; ® trading in securities of the Company on a short- term basis; ® pledging securities of
the Company, including holding Company securities in a margin account; and e entering into hedging or similar transactions with respect
to Company securities. Directors, officers, employees and other related person of the Company also agree—- are prohibited from trading in
the securities of companies with whom the Company does business or proposes to do business if the person has obtained material non-
public information about that company in the course of his or her services to the Company (and is prohibited from disclosing that
information other than to another director . officer or employee of the Company who has a clear need to know in order to perform his or her
duties on behalf of the Company). For example, trading or giving tips concerning a company that is being considered for acquisition or with
which the Company is in acquisition negotiations, or is involved with ongoing business relations, is prohibited by reasen-ofthe-provistons-of
this policy when paragraph-foltewing-the director purehase-of-aportionofthe-Warrant-Shares-hereunder-, officer the-number-of-Warrant-Shares
avatlable-for— or purchase-hereunderat-employee has non- public information about the potential transaction or the company’ s current
business. Furthermore, no person subject to this policy shall disclose (sometimes called a “ Tip ”’) material non- public information to any
gweﬂ—t-l-me-other person (mcludmg famlly members) where such mformatlon may be }ess—t-h&n—used by such {-he-other person ameuﬁt—st&ted—eﬂ

a O op eht-©-20 anatrta a ¢ S5 .

netavatlablefor-— or her profit by trading in —fhem&neeeﬁeﬁﬁe—e&he%aﬁ&ﬁkshﬂfes—t&the—%%eﬁheﬁ- the securltles of companles to
which such information relates, nor shall any such person or related person make recommendations or express opinions on the basis of
material non- public information as to trading in the Company’ s securities. In this Warrant-case, persons subject to this policy may also be
liable exereised;in-whete-or-for improper transactions by inpart-at-such time-by-means-of-a——eashless-exereisein-whieh-Tippee or any person
to whom the Tlppee discloses such materlal non- pubhc mformatlon regardmg the Company or to whom the-they have made

qaatto-the basns of such mformatlon

physieal—éel-iﬂ&eﬁ-e#a—eeﬁi—ﬁeﬁte—feg&temdqn lhc Company’ s securltles Accordmglysh&fe—fegmfeﬁ%}&me—eﬂ&}eﬁe}defef—m-demgne& the
civil penaltles and crlmmal sanctions for tlppmg are lh\, same as ﬂumber—e{;W&fr&ﬂt—Slﬂrafes—tewh-te-}Hlm Heldeﬁs—eﬁt—rﬂed—pufsuaﬂt—te—sﬁeh

te—ﬂae—@mp&n-y&e#ﬂae—Neﬁee—e#Exemse—fﬁ-)—me—ones (—H—for a person conductmg msnder %ad-mg—tradmg even lf Bay—afteﬁdeiweﬁ'—e-f—the
aggregate—anfetse—Pﬂee—te-dlsclosmg person did not proﬁt from the Gempaﬁy—aﬁd—éﬁl—)—theﬁmﬂaer—eﬁr&diﬂg—tradmg Iv. Blackout Days




A-(as du‘lmd bclo\\)—Fer—pafpeses

ef—are requ1red to observe llu followmg gundehnes whenever contemplatlng tradlng in Company securities: A. Blackout Persons may not

ssta 6 arrant-with respect to Company securltles durlng

a etude-the ﬁumber—perlod from and mcludmg the time the market closes on the second (2nd)
calendar day before the last day of shﬁfes—any calendar quarter until the first full trading day (ending at the market open on the second
trading day) after the release of Commen-Steelkwhieh-quarterly financial information (each, a “ black- out period ). B. Notwithstanding the

above, in a perlod where the tradmg window w ould otherwise be ﬁsﬁ-&b-}e—&pefr@-exereﬂe-ef—t-lﬂ}e—rem&mmg—closed due to sub- paragraph IV A







su-rt—aeﬁem—er—pfeeeed-mg—aﬂy—e}a-xm—t]mt it is not in possessmn perseﬂa&y—sabjeet—te—&te—;&ﬂsd-xefmﬂ—ot materlal non- publlc mformatlon and may
determine that the trading window will remain “ open ” during all or part of the period otherwise “ closed. ” C. The Compliance Officer or
his or her designee may, at his / her sole discretion, close the trading window at any stel-eetrt-time by notification to the Company. D. The
Compliance Officer . or his or her designee, may define other blackout periods that-than sueh-suit-those automatically created by sub-
paragraph IV. A above and . if this aetion-erpreceeding-is improper-oris-done, so commumcate it to the Company an-and -meeﬁveﬂ-teﬂt—veﬂue
directors. E. The following persons are considered “ Blackout Persons > for steh e atves-purposes of
this policy: e Directors; ® Officers of the Company who are required to file reports under Sectlon 16 of the Securltles Exchange Act of 1934,




as amended (the “ Exchange Act ”’); e All members of the legal and financial departments with access to financial reports or forecasts prior
to their publlc release; o All accountlng pefseﬂa-l—personnel semee—ef—pfeeess— o All 1nvest0r relatlons and corporate communications

. (111) Chlef Financial Officer the
ading-Da ng-the-da nating-sen nationa eogn night-e serviee-, or (1v) uper-the Corporate
Secretary (the « Authorlzed Persons ”); and e Any such person S 1mmed1ate famlly members, other persons who reside with him or her,
and entities with which he or she is affiliated. V. Pre- Clearance Procedures for Certain PersonsIn addition to complying with the
prohibition on trading during blackout periods, the following individuals (“ Pre- Clearance Persons ) must consult the Compliance Officer
or his / her designee before actual-actually reeeipt-trading at any time in any of the Company’ s securities (even when the window is “ open ”):
o Officers of the Company who are required to file reports under Section 16 of the Exchange Act; ® Any other person designated by the-party
to-whemany Authorized Person; and e Any such netiee-person’ s immediate family members, other persons who reside with him or her and
entities with which he or she is required-te-affiliated. The Compliance Officer or his or her designee will be able to provide guidance based on
the specific fact situation and is / are authorized to approve exceptions to guidelines in sub- paragraphs IV. A and IV. B above under “
Blackout Periods, ” if in his / her judgment it is clear that no law or regulation would be violated by the proposed requested trading given -
Fo-the extent-particular facts. VI. Pre- Planned Trading for Blackout and Pre- Clearance Persons The Securities and Exchange Commission
has promulgated Rule 10bS- 1 pursuant to the Exchange Act which provides an affirmative defense to persons making a purchase or sale
who demonstrate that a purchase anyneticeprevided-hereundereonstitutes;-or eontains-sale was completed pursuant to a binding contract ,
instruction or written trading plan that meets certain requlrements and that was entered into at a time durmg which the person 1s not aware
of material ;-non- public information regarding-about the Company (era h S sth notie

Gemﬁﬁsaeﬁ—pufsa&ﬂt—te— Guﬁeﬂt—Repeft—eﬁ—Feﬂﬂ—%-—l@l—“ Quallﬁed Plan ”, as further explamed below )J:mt&t-teﬁ-e-f—l:l&bi-l-rﬁy— Blackout

aeeefdaﬂee—wat-h—t-he—fefmu-}a—su for lh above for trades that are executed pursuant t0 a vahd Quahﬁed Plan that was adopted outside of a
black- out period (and when the person was not otherwise in sabseetion2-possession of material non- public information about the Company)
and was pre- cleared by the Company’ s Compliance Officer. A Qualified Plan may not be canceled, suspended, expanded, otherwise
modified or terminated without the approval of the Compliance Officer. For purposes of this exception, a “ Qualified Plan ” is a written plan
for selling the Company’ s securities which meets each of the following requirements: (a) the plan is adopted by the person during a trading
window not during a black- out period and when the person is not in possession of material non- public information; (b) the plan is adhered
to strictly by the person; (c) the plan either (i) specifies the amount of securities to be sold and the date on which the securities are to be sold .
(ii) includes a written formula or algorithm, or computer program, for determining the amount of securities to be sold and the price at
which and the date on which the securities are to be purchased or sold, or (iii) does not permit the person to cxercise this-Warrant-with-respeet



any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to effect sales; provided, in addition, that any the-other person who, maximumnumber
of Warrant-Shares-purehasable-pursuant to the eashless-plan, does cxcrcise preeedure-such influence must not have been aware of the material
non- public information when doing so; (d) the plan includes a representation from the person that the person (i) is not aware of any
material nonpublic information about the Company or its securities and (ii) is adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or
scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b- S under the Exchange Act; (e) the plan provides that trading under the plan cannot begin until
the later of (i) 90 days after the adoption of the plan or (ii) two business days following the disclosure of the Company’ s financial results in a
Form 10- Q or Form 10- K (such period being referred to as the “ cooling- off period ”, but, in either case, not to exceed 120 days following
the adoption of the plan, and provided that if the person is not a director or officer of the Company, such cooling- off period shall be at least
30 days rather than the longer periods sct forth instbseetion2-above); and ( e-e ) at the time it is adopted the plan conforms to all other
requirements of Rule 10bS- 1 under the Exchange Act as then in effect . In accordance with Rule 10bS- 1 under the Exchange Act, any
change to the amount, price, or timing of the purchase or sale of securities underlying a Qualified Plan constitutes termination of the
Qualified Plan and the adoption of a new Qualified Plan, which triggers the cooling- off period described above. A person may not have
more than one Qualified Plan for purchases or sales of securities on the open market during the same period. In addition, a person may not
have more than one single- trade Qualified Plan during any 12- month period. A single- trade plan is one that has the practical effect of
requiring the purchase or sale of securities as a single transaction. With respect to overlapping Qualified Plans, a person may have two
separate plans provided ( 3-i ) Please-issue-satd-Warrant-Shares-in-the name-later- commencing plan does not begin until all trades have been
completed under the first plan or the first plan expires without execution, and trading during the cooling- ef-off period that would have
applied if the later- commencing plan was adopted on the date the earlier- commencing plan terminates and (ii) the separate plans satisfy all
the-other undersigned-conditions applicable to Qualified Plans. With respect to overlapping Qualified Plans, a person may have separate
plans erfor “ sell- to- cover ” transactlons in which the person instructs an agent to sell securltles in order to satlsfy tax w1thholdmg

. a person may have a single- trade plan Ine

3 g - for “ sell- and-supply-required
mfeﬁﬁaﬁeﬁ—Be—net—use—thﬁ—femto pﬁfehase—s-hafes- cover » transactlons )%H%GEREGEWED—%—&W

&S dia isdietion-o ton-Bten d d AExhibit23. | CONSENT
OF INDFPFNDFNT RFUISTFRFD PUBLI( A( ( OUNTIN(} FIRM We hereby eonsent to the mc01p0mt10n by 1eference in the Registration
Statements— Statement on Form S- 3 (Nos. 333- 2355607261419 , 333- 26+4+9-272371 , 333- 29237275935 and 333- 275935-278986 ) and on
Form S- 8 (Nos. 333- 235777, 333- 254922, 333- 263995 and-, 333- 270947 , 333- 278500 and 333- 282059 ) of BiomX Inc. of our report dated
Apri-3-March 25 , 2624-2025 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10- K. Tel- Aviv, Israel / s / Kesselman & Kesselman
Apri-3-March 25 , 2624-2025 Certified Public Accountants (Isr.) A member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International LimitedExhibit 31. 1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13A- 14 (A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 1, Jonathan Solomon, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of BiomX Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge,
the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I are
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) for
the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared; b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; ¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s
disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as
of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and-andd &) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; ane
and5 5- The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and-andb b-) Any fraud, whether or
not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: Apﬂ-l—}March 25, 2024-2025 / s / Jonathan Solomon Jonathan Solomon Chief Executive OfficerExhibit Offieer{Prinetpal-exceuntive-offteer)
Exhibit31. 2 CERTIFIC/\T[ON OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER I, Avraham-Gabay-Marina Wolfson , certify that: 1. [ have reviewed this
Annual Report on Form 10- K of BiomX Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; b) Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; ¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and-andd €-) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant” s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is



reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and-and5 5-. The registrant’ s other certifying officer
(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a) All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; aad-andb b-) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant” s internal control over financial reporting. / s / Marina Welfson Marina Wolfson
“hief Financial Officer (Principal financial officer) Exhibit 32. I CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18
U. S. C. SECTION 1350 In connection with the Annual Report of BiomX Inc. (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31,
2623-2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the *“ Report ™), each of the undersigned, in the capacities and on the dates
indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, that to his or her knowledge: 1. The Report fully complies with the
rcquircmcntx‘ of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and-and2 2-. The information contained in the Report fairly
plnsunts m all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. /s /Jonathan Solomon Jonathan Solomon Chief







